

INNATE IMMUNITY AND NEURODEGENERATIVE DISORDERS

Topic Editors Roger A. Barker and Francesca Cicchetti





FRONTIERS COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

© Copyright 2007-2014 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved.

All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, wherever published, as well as the compilation of all other content on this site, is the exclusive property of Frontiers. For the conditions for downloading and copying of e-books from Frontiers' website, please see the Terms for Website Use. If purchasing Frontiers e-books from other websites or sources, the conditions of the website concerned apply.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Individual articles may be downloaded and reproduced in accordance with the principles of the CC-BY licence subject to any copyright or other notices. They may not be re-sold as an e-book.

As author or other contributor you grant a CC-BY licence to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88919-310-3 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88919-310-3

ABOUT FRONTIERS

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

FRONTIERS JOURNAL SERIES

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing.

All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

DEDICATION TO QUALITY

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view.

By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

WHAT ARE FRONTIERS RESEARCH TOPICS?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area!

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

INNATE IMMUNITY AND NEURODEGENERATIVE DISORDERS

Topic Editors:

Roger A. Barker, University of Cambridge and Addenbrooke's Hospital, Cambridge, United Kingdom

Francesca Cicchetti, Centre de recherche du CHU de Québec Université Laval, Canada



Astrocyte on the periphery of a fetal allograft in a patient with Huntington's disease. Photo taken by Giulia Cisbani, PhD, Université Laval (Cicchetti's laboratory)

Inflammation of the brain in the context of neurodegenerative disorders is an area of intense debate and discussion, not least in terms of its pathogenic significance and the extent to which it drives disease processes and pathology. This inflammation can take several forms including innate responses recruiting microglia, humoral responses involving antibody, complement mediated processes and cellular T-cell activation, of which the role and extent of each may differ between diseases. Whilst some diseases have been more intensely linked to inflammation and long-term degeneration (e.g. MS), more traditional chronic neurodegenerative disorders have been thought of in terms of intrinsic neuronal pathology with a secondary innate response. However, it has been described that microglia activation is an early event of many degenerative

disorders and evidence is accumulating that it may play a critical role in actually causing pathology and driving disease processes. If true, this would have major therapeutic implications, but what is the evidence that this is the case?

The initial observations by Patrick McGeer's group of post-mortem tissue from patients with Parkinson's disease revealed the presence of activated brain microglia and has thus lead to the hypothesis that chronic inflammation could participate to neuronal degenerative processes. The significance of these original observations has only been recently revisited, and the development of more powerful tools to study the brain immune response has certainly contributed to this field of research. Chronic inflammation in the brain can take many forms

but of particular interest has been the resident microglia and the role they play in this process. In this context, microglia have often been thought to become activated only after the disease has begun and then to contribute minimally to the degenerative process. Emerging new concepts challenge this view by proposing that microglial senescence, for example, may release the disease process and/or accelerate it. In addition, microglia, once activated, can adopt different phenotypes which can be both pro-inflammatory and pro-repair and may impact not only on the healthy adult neuronal population but on those new neurons derived from neurogenic niches of the adult brain.

In this Research Topic, we attempt to explore this by first considering the innate immune responses in the brain and the methods by which they can be studied experimentally and in patients with various neurodegenerative disorders. This sets the scene for then discussing a range of different disorders including Alzheimer's, Parkinson's, Huntington's disease and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. These papers seek to discuss the evidence for an innate immune response and whether this is beneficial or detrimental, as well as its therapeutic implications.

Table of Contents

<i>05</i>	Neurodegenerative Disorders: The Glia Way Forward
	Roger A. Barker and Francesca Cicchetti
06	History of Innate Immunity in Neurodegenerative Disorders
	Patrick L. McGeer and Edith G. McGeer
11	Imaging of Microglia in Patients With Neurodegenerative Disorders
	Marios Politis, Paul Su and Paola Piccini
21	Microglial Activation - Tuning and Pruning Adult Neurogenesis
	Christine T. Ekdahl
30	Alzheimer's Disease, Neuroprotection, and CNS Immunosenescence
	Wolfgang J. Streit and Qing-Shan Xue
37	Primary Phagocytosis of Neurons by Inflamed Microglia: Potential Roles in
	Neurodegeneration
	Jonas J. Neher, Urte Neniskyte and Guy C. Brown
46	The Role of the Innate Immune System in ALS
	Sudarshan Phani, Diane Berengere Re and Serge Przedborski
52	Microglia Function in Alzheimer's Disease
	Egle Solito and Magdalena Sastre
<i>62</i>	Aspects of Innate Immunity and Parkinson's Disease
	Yue Huang and Glenda M. Halliday
72	The Glial Response to Intracerebrally Delivered Therapies for Neurodegenerative
	Disorders: Is This a Critical Issue?
	Francesca Cicchetti and Roger A. Barker
02	Current Understanding of the Glial Bespanse to Disorders of the Aging CNS

83 Current Understanding of the Glial Response to Disorders of the Aging CNS Roger A. Barker and Francesca Cicchetti

frontiers in PHARMACOLOGY

Neurodegenerative disorders: the Glia way forward

Roger A. Barker¹* and Francesca Cicchetti²*

¹ Department of Clinical Neuroscience, John van Geest Centre for Brain Repair, University of Cambridge, Cambridge, UK

² Axe Neurosciences, Department of Psychiatry and Neurosciences, Centre de Recherche du CHU de Québec, Université Laval, Québec, QC, Canada *Correspondence: rab46@cam.ac.uk; francesca.cicchetti@crchul.ulaval.ca

Edited and reviewed by:

Nicholas M. Barnes, University of Birmingham, UK

Keywords: immunity, inflammation, neurodegenerative disorders, therapeutics, animal models

The realization that inflammation can affect the brain is not a new one, and many diseases of the CNS, such as multiple sclerosis (MS), have been shown to clearly respond to agents that target the immune system at one level or another. However, it is only more recently that the immune system has been shown to play a role in the normal development and homeostasis of the brain as well as contributing to disorders that have traditionally been thought of as being purely neurodegenerative in nature, such as Huntington's (HD) or Alzheimer's disease (AD). In this special issue of Frontiers in Neuropharmacology, we have sought to bring together experts in this new emerging area of neurobiology.

The best place to start in this special issue is with the paper by McGeer and McGeer (2011) as they lay out the history of the field and the skepticism that it has generated en route, and which still exists today. Indeed, many neurologists and neurobiologists still argue that any inflammatory or glial response in neurodegenerative disorders is simply a secondary phenomenon of no pathogenic or therapeutic relevance. However, evidence has accumulated in favor of it having a role and part of this relates to our ability to better image the microglial responses in patients with neurodegenerative disorders of the brain and Politis et al. (2012) explore this in their review on PET and TSPO radioligands.

A number of our papers summarize the role of microglia in ongoing CNS activities. Ekdahl (2012), for example, discusses how microglia may regulate adult neurogenesis in the healthy and diseased brain possibly through direct synaptic contacts. This is taken on by Streit and Xue (2012) who put forward the theory that the loss of the normal neuroprotective function of microglial, as a result of aging, leads to disease states, especially AD. Neher et al. (2012), on the other hand, discuss how microglia can directly phagocytose apparently healthy neurons as well as those in the diseased brain and by so doing are primary players in the cell loss seen in neurodegenerative disorders. This is explored in more detail by Phani et al. (2012) in Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis (ALS); Solito and Sastre (2012) in AD; and Huang and Halliday (2012) for Parkinson's disease (PD).

Finally in the first of our two reviews, we discuss how the astrocytic and microglial responses are different in a range of new experimental therapies for neurodegenerative disorders. These therapies include chronic deep brain stimulation, which induces a variable astro- and microglial response and in some cases even a collagenous band at the electrode tip. In contrast, growth factor infusions and gene therapies produce much less of a glial response whilst neural grafts vary in the intensity of response they provoke, in part as a function of disease state. The significance of these different responses (the type and magnitude) remains unknown, but what is emerging from these studies is the complex interplay that exists between glial cells and neurons and how astrocytes, in particular, can influence the activity of large neural and blood networks (Cicchetti and Barker, 2014). These new observations will likely help explain the variance seen in clinical trials using these agents in a range of neurodegenerative disorders.

In our second review we summarize the major findings of the papers that make up this special edition and how we can build on this work as we move forward into a new therapeutic era, which includes the use of a whole new range of immune modulating therapies (Barker and Cicchetti, 2012).

REFERENCES

- Barker, R. A., and Cicchetti, F. (2012). Current understanding of the glial response to disorders of the aging CNS. *Front. Pharmacol.* 3:95. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2012.00095
- Cicchetti, F., and Barker, R. A. (2014). The glial response to intracerebrally delivered therapies for neurodegenerative disorders: is this a critical issue? *Front. Pharmacol.* 5:139. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2014.00139
- Ekdahl, C. T. (2012). Microglial activation tuning and pruning adult neurogenesis. Front. Pharmacol. 3:41. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2012.00041
- Huang, Y., and Halliday, G. M. (2012). Aspects of innate immunity and Parkinson's disease. Front. Pharmacol. 3:33. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2012.00033
- McGeer, P. L., and McGeer, E. G. (2011). History of innate immunity in neurodegenerative disorders. *Front. Pharmacol.* 2:77. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2011.00077
- Neher, J. J., Neniskyte, U., and Brown, G. C. (2012). Primary phagocytosis of neurons by inflamed microglia: potential roles in neurodegeneration. *Front. Pharmacol.* 3:27. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2012.00027
- Phani, S., Re, D. B., and Przedborski, S. (2012). The role of the innate immune system in ALS. Front Pharmacol. 3:150. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2012.00150
- Politis, M., Su, P., and Piccini, P. (2012). Imaging of microglia in patients with neurodegenerative disorders. *Front. Pharmacol.* 3:96. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2012.00096
- Solito, E., and Sastre, M. (2012). Microglia function in Alzheimer's disease. Front Pharmacol. 3:14. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2012.00014
- Streit, W. J., and Xue, Q. S. (2012). Alzheimer's disease, neuroprotection, and CNS immunosenescence. *Front. Pharmacol.* 3:138. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2012.00138

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 17 June 2014; accepted: 18 June 2014; published online: 15 July 2014. Citation: Barker RA and Cicchetti F (2014) Neurodegenerative disorders: the Glia way forward. Front. Pharmacol. 5:157. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2014.00157

This article was submitted to Neuropharmacology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pharmacology.

Copyright © 2014 Barker and Cicchetti. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Patrick L. McGeer * and Edith G. McGeer

Kinsmen Laboratory of Neurological Research, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

Edited by:

Roger A. Barker, University of Cambridge and Addenbrooke' Hospital, UK

Reviewed by:

Jason B. Wu, Cedars-Sinai Medical Center, USA Muzamil Ahmad, Indian Institute of Integrative Medicine, India

*Correspondence:

Patrick L. McGeer, Kinsmen Laboratory of Neurological Research, University of British Columbia, 2255 Wesbrook Mall, Vancouver, BC, Canada V6T123. e-mail: mcgeerpl@interchange.ubc.ca The foundations of innate immunity in neurodegenerative disorders were first laid by Del Rio Hortega (1919). He identified and named microglia, recognizing them as cells of mesodermal origin. Van Furth in 1969 elaborated the monocyte phagocytic system with microglia as the brain representatives. Validation of these concepts did not occur until 1987 when HLA-DR was identified on activated microglia in a spectrum of neurological disorders. HLA-DR had already been established as a definitive marker of immunocompetent cells of mesodermal origin. It was soon determined that the observed inflammatory reaction was an innate immune response. A rapid expansion of the field took place as other markers of an innate immune response were found that were made by neurons, astrocytes, oligodendroglia, and endothelial cells. The molecules included complement proteins and their regulators, inflammatory cytokines, chemokines, acute phase reactants, prostaglandins, proteases, protease inhibitors, coagulation factors, fibrinolytic factors, anaphylatoxins, integrins, free radical generators, and other unidentified neurotoxins. The Nimmerjahn movies demonstrated that resting microglia were constantly active, sampling the surround, and responding rapidly to brain damage. Ways of reducing the neurotoxic innate immune response and stimulating a healing response continue to be sought as a means for ameliorating the pathology in a spectrum of chronic degenerative disorders.

Keywords: HLA-DR, Alzheimer disease, Parkinson disease, complement, neuroinflammation

BACKGROUND

Pio Del Rio Hortega, one of the greatest of all neuroscientists, established the basic foundation of neuroinflammation with his classic 1919 paper "El tercer elemento de los centros nerviosis" (Del Rio Hortega, 1919). He had developed an ammoniacal silver carbonate modification of the Golgi technique. With this new method he was able to identify small spidery cells which he named microglia. He recognized that they were of mesodermal origin, and that they migrated to the brain in late embryonic life. He also recognized their phagocytic capacity by examining their reaction to stab wounds. He categorized their morphology as resting, ameboid, and reactive. By further modifying his technique, he later recognized another type of glial cell which was of epithelial origin and had a sparse cytoplasm. He named these cells oligodendroglia, perhaps because of the difficulty he encountered in staining them.

These two glial cell types made up "the third element" which had baffled Ramon y Cajal. Cajal, Hortega's mentor and employer, had clearly identified astrocytes with his methodology, and knew there were still unclassified glial cells. He thought the cells identified by Hortega might be another astrocytic type that was resistant to staining. He objected to Hortega's desire to publish his results on oligodendroglia, and when Hortega went ahead, believing others would make the same discovery, Cajal dismissed him. Hortega's own account of these travails, which he never published, were obtained after his death, later appearing in part in Haymaker and Adams treatise on the histopathology of the nervous system (Haymaker and Adams, 1980a, pp. 484–485).

Hortega's travails were not limited to his falling out with Cajal. The Madrid laboratory he had set up after his departure from Cajal was bombed out in the Spanish civil war. He moved for a time to Paris, and then to Oxford, but was uncomfortable in these locations. As a Spaniard opposed to Franco, he emigrated to Buenos Aires in 1938 where, in 1945, he died of cancer.

His findings and their interpretation were still being actively challenged long after his death. Some scientists supported his conclusions, others did not. Wilder Penfield was the first prominent investigator to uphold Hortega. He described, in the first issue of the American Journal of Pathology, the various stages of microglia, going from resting to reactive (Penfield, 1925). Numerous others did differing experiments, interpreting microglia cells as being of epithelial origin with unknown function. A detailed account of the continuing controversy, which extended for over six decades, appears in Haymaker and Adams (1980b, Chapter VI). This unjustified controversy may help to explain why Hortega never received a Nobel prize for his epic work.

The next giant step was taken by Ralph van Furth. He elaborated the concept of a monocyte phagocytic system to explain the origin and function of resident phagocytes throughout the body. The Memoranda endorsing the concept, which was introduced at the Conference on Mononuclear Phagocytes held in Lieden in 1969, is available on the web Chttp://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2480884/pdf/bullwho00193-0157.pdf. He and his colleagues had studied labeled monocytes and their marrow precursors and followed their appearance as typical macrophages in various organs, including brain (Van Furth and Cohn, 1968). This concept replaced the vague theory of a reticuloendothelial system introduced by Aschoff (1924) which, despite its shortcomings, had become entrenched in medical teaching.

While van Furth's concept of a monocyte phagocytic system was widely accepted, its relationship to brain microglia was not.

Fujita in particular opposed the idea that microglia were the brain representatives of this system. He injected tritiated thymidine into chick embryos and identified labeled brain cells which he interpreted as glioblasts of subependymal origin (Fujita, 1965). He did later studies of human embryonic brain tissue and reached a similar conclusion, that brain microglia were of epithelial and not mesenchymal origin (Fujita, 1973; Fujita and Kitamura, 1973).

Oemichan et al. (1979) and Wood et al. (1979) also concluded that brain microglia could not be phagocytes of monocytic origin. The reason was that they could not detect the same surface antigens on microglial cells that they were able to detect on peripheral monocytes. The idea became established that inflammation of the brain did not involve microglia, and did not occur unless there was invasion of the brain by peripheral monocytes, which then became transformed into macrophages.

IDENTIFICATION OF HLA-DR POSITIVE MICROGLIA IN HUMAN BRAIN

The entry of our laboratory into the neuroinflammatory field was entirely serendipitous. Several researchers had suggested that AD might result from a herpes infection entering through the nasal passages because of involvement of the rhinencephalon (Ball, 1982). Our effort over some years to detect herpes virus in the CNS had failed, although we were able to detect it in some cases in the trigeminal nucleus, the source of herpes labialis (Walker et al., 1989). We sought the advice of local immunologists regarding what might be a broader indicator of a viral infection, and were counseled to look for HLA-DR since this class II glycoprotein would be responsible for presenting viral epitopes to T-cells. We were even presented with a gift of the HB-104 cell line, known to produce high levels of antibodies against HLA-DR.

The results astonished us. A plethora of cells was visible in AD tissue with a morphology that was completely unfamiliar to us. However we were able to confirm that they were microglia by showing them to the founder of our laboratory, Dr. William Gibson, who had been a student and biographer of Hortega (Prados and Gibson, 1946). The morphology was identical to that published by Del Rio Hortega (1919), permitting us to sense in a very small way the excitement he must have experienced.

As many frustrated investigators well know, peer reviewers, whether evaluating applications for research grants, or papers submitted to journals, are typically well versed in the dogmas of the day. Findings that radically conflict with established views are too often dismissed. Our data conflicted with two dogmas. The first was that microglia were of epithelial origin and were not immunocompetent cells. The second was that brain inflammation was not a characteristic of AD. A pathological journal rejected our initial manuscript, reasoning that the absence of a neuropathologist as an author explained the faulty conclusions. A peer reviewer for a renewal of our grant dismissed it with the comment "the hypothesis is ridiculous." Nevertheless, our first paper appeared as a brief report in Neuroscience Letters (McGeer et al., 1987).

This final validation of Hortega depended on the availability of HB-104, a powerful and highly specific monoclonal antibody. The field of immunohistochemistry had been opened by Cesar Milstein's work on the technique for producing monoclonal antibodies. He was a co-winner of the Nobel prize in 1984 for this accomplishment. Then, as now, the ability to visualize brain biochemistry through the eyes of immunohistochemistry depends on the strength and specificity of the antibodies employed. HB-104 was a particularly good antibody, permitting us to make a clear distinction, which had eluded other investigators, between HLA-DR positive microglia and GFAP positive astrocytes.

We were not the first to report class II staining of brain cells. Lampson and Hickey (1986) had reported class II activity in occasional cell bodies of human brain with the "morphologic appearance of microglia or astrocytes." Similarly deTribolet et al. (1984) reported HLA-DR positive cells in the white matter of normal brain which they interpreted as being astrocytes (deTribolet et al., 1984). Rogers et al. reported HLA-DR positive microglia and astrocytes in AD in an abstract at the Society of Neuroscience meeting in 1986 but, as in our case, formal publication was held up by disbelief in the findings. Their work finally appeared in 1988 (Luber-Narod and Rogers, 1988; Rogers et al., 1988).

These data led to a number of unanswered questions. What was the source of the inflammation in AD? Was it a special phenomenon or a general one that applied to many chronic neurological disorders? If it was a general phenomenon, was it localized to the brain or did it involve the peripheral immune system? Was it helpful or harmful to ongoing degenerative processes? What were the implications for treatment? Exploration of these questions led to the opening up of an important new field of neuroscience, namely neuroinflammation.

ESTABLISHMENT OF NEUROINFLAMMATION AS A DISTINCT FIELD OF NEUROSCIENCE RESEARCH

The question as to whether or not the presence of activated microglia in brain was a special one applying to AD, or a general phenomenon was quickly answered. HLA-DR activated microglia were observed in a variety of degenerative neurological conditions, including Parkinson disease (PD), Pick disease, ALS, Huntington disease, multiple sclerosis, AIDS encephalopathy, parkinsonism dementia of Guam, and the Shy–Drager syndrome (McGeer et al., 1988a). Their phagocytic function was easily demonstrated by melanin being observed within the HLA-DR positive microglia of the SN (McGeer et al., 1988b). Each of these diseases has a differing etiology, so the activated microglial response had to be the consequence of initiating factors in each condition and not the fundamental cause.

At this same time, the laboratory of Kreutzberg in Germany was carrying out work of a more fundamental nature. His team was utilizing the facial nerve axotomy model to examine the CNS reaction to a sterile lesion outside of the CNS. They found activated microglia enveloping damaged neurons of facial nerve cell bodies, with phagocytosis of dead cells taking place. They concluded that microglia might function as antigen presenting cells and thus be the effector cells responsible for recruitment of lymphocytes to the brain resulting in an inflammatory reaction. A review of their results appeared in the first volume of Glia (Streit et al., 1988) and a later review (Kreutzberg, 1996).

Further groundwork was laid by four key papers which appeared in a special issue of Glia in 1993 devoted to microglia. They were by Ling and Wong (1993) describing the origin and nature of microglia; Dickson et al. (1993) detailing cytokines and microglia in Alzheimer disease and AIDS; Banati et al. (1993) on the cytotoxicity of microglia; and McGeer et al. (1993) on microglia in neurodegenerative diseases generally.

Since our laboratory and that of Joe Rogers, who had founded the Sun Health Research Institute, had identified HLA-DR activated microglia in AD, we joined forces for further investigation of the phenomenon, particularly the role of complement. The name complement was introduced by Paul Ehrlich in the 1890's to explain the heat labile factor in serum which helped antibodies to kill microorganisms. As a result, complement was considered to be a peripherally generated system for assisting the activity of antibodies. It was therefore believed that complement factors would only be found as an accompaniment to immunoglobulin antibodies.

Eikelenboom and Stam (1982) were the first to report the presence of complement factors in AD senile plaques. Previously it had been reported that immunoglobulins were associated with amyloid deposits, which was consistent with prevailing theory (Ishii and Haga, 1975). Our laboratory was able to detect the opsonizing components of the classical complement pathway in association with plaques, and the membrane attack complex in association with dystrophic neurites, consistent with bystander lysis occurring in AD (McGeer et al., 1989).

Working with Joseph Rogers, we were unable to detect immunoglobulins in AD tissue using a host of antibodies. Then Rogers explored the idea that beta amyloid protein itself might be an activator of complement. In a classic paper he and his colleagues demonstrated that immunoglobulin immunostaining did not colocalize with complement, and that beta amyloid protein and its N-terminal fragments bound to C1q directly, thus initiating the complement cascade independently of antibodies (Rogers et al., 1992). But what was the source of the complement proteins? It was soon determined from RNA studies that brain itself was the source (Johnson et al., 1992; Walker and McGeer, 1992). Meanwhile evolutionary studies were underway, establishing that the complement system could be traced back at least as far as horseshoe crabs and that it was the mainstay of innate immunity in most primitive organisms (Zhu et al., 2005). It far predated the antibody producing adaptive immune system which is an invention of higher vertebrates.

Two principles which had broad implications for the developing field of neuroinflammation emerged from this joint endeavor. The first was establishing that complement was part of the innate immune system and further that it had the potential of exacerbating the pathology through formation of the membrane attack complex. The second was showing that the inflammatory reaction in AD did exacerbate the pathology. We decided to explore whether patients on long term anti-inflammatory therapy were relatively spared from AD. We selected rheumatoid arthritic patients because onset of the disease typically appears at an earlier age than AD and involves aggressive anti-inflammatory therapy. The results showed an estimated sixfold sparing of AD in rheumatoid arthritic patients compared with age matched general populations (McGeer et al., 1990). Many subsequent epidemiological studies, in which consumption of NSAIDs in particular were targeted, confirmed these general findings (McGeer and McGeer, 1995).

Rogers was then motivated to establish a Neuroinflammation Working Group of 37 investigators to assemble the rapidly accumulating data on inflammation in AD. The conclusion of the group was that the data represented "a virtual textbook of inflammatory mediators." Included were complement proteins and their regulators, inflammatory cytokines, chemokines, acute phase reactants, prostaglandins, proteases, protease inhibitors, coagulation factors, fibrinolytic factors, integrins, anaphylatoxins, free radical generators, and other unidentified neurotoxins (Akiyama et al., 2000). All are products of the innate immune system of brain, with major contributions coming from neurons, astrocytes, microglia, and endothelial cells.

Parkinson disease was another chronic degenerative disorder where activated microglia were detected in association with the SN lesions (McGeer et al., 1988b). An accidental model of PD provided new insights into the consequences of chronic neuroinflammation. Langston et al. (1984) had identified a group of young drug users who suddenly developed a parkinsonian syndrome. The causative agent (MPP+) was a metabolite of 1-methyl-4phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP), a contaminant in the street drug they were using. The condition was progressive, and autopsy studies on those who had died from this exposure years previously showed neuroinflammation of the SN similar to that observed in PD (Langston et al., 1999). We found a parallel situation in monkeys. They showed nigral degeneration and activated microglia in the SN 5.5-15 years after systemic exposure to MPTP (McGeer et al., 2003). These findings represent the clearest example of how neuroinflammation, once initiated, can persist, and cause continuing neurodegeneration.

Activated microglia are the pivotal cells. Their functioning *in vivo* has been remarkably demonstrated by the movies of Nimmerjahn et al. (2005). They developed mice transgenic for a green fluorescent protein in microglial cells and used two-photon microscopy through a window in the skull to observe their behavior. Microglial cells in the normal state were found not to be dormant, as implied by their traditional designation as resting, but were extremely active, continuously extending, and retracting their processes to sense their environment. When activated by a laser lesion of a capillary, they surrounded the lesion and phagocytosed the leaking blood.

The innate immune system is the body's first line of defense. As the Nimmerjahn movies demonstrate, it can act immediately. As shown in chronic degenerative diseases, as well as the MPTP model, it can maintain its activity indefinitely without significant engagement of the adaptive immune system. The adaptive immune system is slower to react but more powerful and specific in attacking targets. It depends upon appropriate presentation of epitopes to lymphatic organs so that lymphocytes can be cloned to attack targets where that epitope is exposed. There is a long list of diseases where the adaptive immune system directs self attack on healthy tissues. These conditions are known as autoimmune disorders. They differ from AD and other chronic neurodegenerative disorders where the adaptive immune system does not become significantly engaged. To distinguish between the two, we have suggested that such diseases be described as autotoxic disorders (McGeer and McGeer, 2000).

In theory, the self destruction in autotoxic disorders should be milder and more amenable to therapeutic intervention than the self destruction in autoimmune disorders. The question is how to ameliorate the autotoxic response? Anti-inflammatory and antioxidant approaches have been the most widely utilized to date. But another, and potentially more effective method may be possible. That is to transform microglia from the attack mode, which has been so well characterized, to a healing mode. Such a transformation might result in enhanced phagocytotic activity, coupled with a switch from expressing inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 and TNF to expressing anti-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-4 and IL-10. In the process the beneficial effects of phagocytosis might be enhanced. For example, suppressing the CD-40/CD 40L interaction in transgenic mice enhances the phagocytic activity of microglia and increase A β clearance (Tan et al., 2002). Clearly there is much still to be learned. It can be said that, despite the huge expansion of activity that has taken place in recent years, it is still a field in its infancy.

SUMMARY

Our understanding of the innate immune system in brain commenced with recognition of a single marker, HLA-DR, on a single cell type, microglia, in a single disorder, Alzheimer disease. Twenty

REFERENCES

- Akiyama, H. Barger, S., Barnum, S., Bradt, B., Bauer, J., Cole, G. M., Cooper, N. R., Eikelenboom, P., Emmerling, M., Fiebich, B. L., Finch, C. E., Frautschy, S., Griffin, W. S., Hampel, H., Hull, M., Landreth, G., Lue, L., Mrak, R., Mackenzie, I. R., McGeer, P. L., O'Banion, M. K., Pachter, J., Pasinetti, G., Plata-Salaman, C., Rogers, J., Rydel, R., Shen, Y., Streit, W., Strohmever, R., Tooyoma, I., Van Muiswinkel, F. L., Veerhuis, R., Walker, D., Webster, S., Wegrzyniak, B., Wenk, G., Wyss-Coray, T, and Neuroinflammation Working Group. (2000). Inflammation and Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol. Aging 21, 383-421
- Aschoff, L. (1924). Das reticuloendotheliale system. *Ergeb. Inn. Med. Kinderheilkd.* 26, 1.
- Ball, M. J. (1982). Limbic predilection in Alzheimer dementia: is reactivated herpes virus involved. *Can. J. Neurol. Sci.* 9, 303–306.
- Banati, R. B., Gehrmann, J., Schubert, P., and Kreutzberg, G. W. (1993). Cytotoxicity of microglia. *Glia* 7, 111–118.
- Del Rio Hortega, P. (1919). El tercer elemento de los centros nerviosis. *Bol. Soc. Esp. Biol.* 9, 69–129.
- deTribolet, N., Hamou, M. F., Mach, J.-P., Carrel, S., and Schreyer, M. (1984). Demonstration of HLA-DR antigens in normal human brain. *J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatr.* 47, 417–418.
- Dickson, D. W., Lee, S. C., Mattiace, L. A.,Yen, S. H. C., and Brosnan, C. (1993). Microglia and cytokines in neurological disease, with special

reference to AIDS and Alzheimer's disease. *Glia* 7, 75–83.

- Eikelenboom, P., and Stam, F. C. (1982). Immunoglobulins and complement factors in senile plaques. *Acta Neuropathol.* 57, 239–242.
- Fujita, S. (1965). An autoradiographic study on the origin and fate of the sub-pial glioblast in the embryonic chick spinal cord. J. Comp. Neurol. 124, 51–59.
- Fujita, S. (1973). Genesis of glioblasts in the human spinal cord as revealed by Feulgen cytophotometry. J. Comp. Neurol. 151, 25
- Fujita, S., and Kitamura, T. (1973). Origin of brain macrophages and the nature of so-called microglia. Acta Neuropathol. Suppl. 6, 291–296.
- Haymaker, W., and Adams, R. D. (1980a). Histology and Histopathology of the Nervous System. Springfield, IL: C. C. Thomas, 484–485.
- Haymaker, W., and Adams, R. D. (1980b). *Histology and Histopathology of the Nervous System*, Chapter VI. Springfield, IL: C. C. Thomas, 481–559.
- Ishii, T., and Haga, S. (1975). Identificantion of components of immunoglobulins in senile plaques by means of fluorescent antibody technique. *Acta Neuropathol.* 32, 157–162.
- Johnson, S. A., Lampert-Etchells, M., Pasinetti, G. M., Rozovsky, I., and Finch, C. E. (1992). Complement mRNA in the mammalian brain: responses to Alzheimer's disease and experimental brain lesioning. *Neurobiol. Aging* 13, 641–648.
- Kreutzberg, G. W. (1996). Microglia: a sensor for pathological events in the CNS. Trends Neurosci. 19, 312–318.

five years later, more than a thousand innate immune system markers have been identified which are associated with neurons, astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, and endothelial cells, as well as microglia.

They include, but are not limited to, complement proteins and their regulators, cytokines, chemokines, acute phase reactants, prostaglandins, proteases, protease inhibitors, coagulation factors, fibrinolytic factors, anaphylatoxins, integrins, and free radical generators. They are found in a spectrum of neurological diseases. Some stimulate inflammation, others inhibit it. Shifting the balance from a mode of attack to one of healing holds promise of having significant therapeutic benefit in a spectrum of degenerative diseases. Clearly there is much still to be learned. It can be said that, despite the huge expansion of activity that has taken place in the last 25 years, it is still a field in its infancy.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by the Pacific Alzheimer Research Foundation.

- Lampson, L. A., and Hickey, W. F. (1986). Monoclonal antibody analysis of MHC expression in human brain biopsies: tissue ranging from "histologically normal" to that showing different levels of glial tumor involvement. J. Immunol. 136, 4054–4062.
- Langston, J. W., Forno, L. S., and Tetrud, J., Reeves, A. G., Kaplan, J. A., and Karluk, D. (1999). Evidence of active nerve cell degeneration in the substantia nigra of humans years after 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6tetrahydropyridine exposure. Ann. Neurol. 46, 598–605.
- Langston, J. W., Irwin, I., Langston, E. B., and Forno, L. S. (1984). 1-Metyl-4phenylpyridium ion (MPP+): identification of a metabolite of MPTP, a toxin selective to the substantia nigra. *Neurosci. Lett.* 48, 87–92.
- Ling, E. A., and Wong, W. C. (1993). The origin and nature of ramified and ameboid microglia – a historical review and current concepts. *Glia* 7, 9–18.
- Luber-Narod, J., and Rogers, J. (1988). Immune system associated antigens expressed by cells of the human central nervous system. *Neurosci. Lett.* 94, 17–22.
- McGeer, P. L., Akiyama, H., Itagaki, S., and McGeer, E. (1989). Activation of the classical complement pathway in brain tissue of Alzheimer patients. *Neurosci. Lett.* 107, 341–346.
- McGeer, P. L., Itagaki, S., and McGeer, E. G. (1988a). Expression of the histocompatibility glycoprotein HLA-DR in neurological disease. *Acta Neuropathol.* 76, 550–557.

- McGeer, P. L., Itagaki, S., Akiyama, H., and McGeer, E. G. (1988b). Rate of cell death in parkinsonism indicates active neuropathological process. Ann. Neurol. 24, 574–576.
- McGeer, P. L., Itagaki, S., Tago, H., and McGeer, E. G. (1987). Reactive microglia in patients with senile dementia of the Alzheimer types are positive for the histocompatibility glycoprotein HLA-DR. *Neurosci. Lett.* 79, 195–200.
- McGeer, P. L., Kawamata, T, Walker, D. G., Akiyama, H, Tooyama, I., and McGeer, E. G. (1993). Microglia in degenerative neurological disease. *Glia* 7, 84–92.
- McGeer, P. L., and McGeer, E. G. (1995). The inflammatory response system of brain: implications for therapy of Alzheimer and other neurodegenerative disorders. *Brain Res. Rev.* 21, 195–218.
- McGeer, P. L., and McGeer, E. G. (2000). Autotoxicity and Alzheimer disease. *Arch. Neurol.* 57, 789–790.
- McGeer, P. L., Rogers, J., McGeer, E. G., and Sibley, J. (1990). Does anti-inflammatory treatment protect against Alzheimer disease? *Lancet* 335, 1037.
- McGeer, P. L., Schwab, C., Parent, A., and Doudet, D. (2003). Presence of reactive microglia in monkey substantia nigra years after 1-methyl-4phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine administration. *Ann. Neurol.* 54, 599–604.
- Nimmerjahn, A., Kirchhoff, F., and Helmchen, F. (2005). Resting microglial cells are highly dynamic surveillants of brain parenchyma in vivo. *Science* 308, 1314–1318.

- Oemichan, M., Wietholter, H., and Greaves, M. F. (1979). Immunoloical analysis of human microglia: lack of monocytic and lymphoid membrane differentiation antigens. *J. Neuropath. Exp. Neurol.* 38, 99–103.
- Penfield, W. (1925). Microglia and the process of phagocytosis in gliomas. *Am. J. Pathol.* 1, 77–89.
- Prados, M., and Gibson, W. C. (1946). *Pio del Rio Hortega*, 1882–1945. J. *Neurosurg.* 3, 275–284.
- Rogers, J., Cooper, N. R., Webster, S., Schultz, J., McGeer, P. L., Styren, S. D., Civin, W. H., Brachova, L., Bradt, B., Ward, P., and Lieberburg, I. (1992). Complement activation by β-amyloid in Alzheimer disease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 89, 10016–10020.
- Rogers, J., Luber-Narod, J., Sturen, C. D., and Civin, W. H. (1988). Expression of immune system-associated

antigens by cells of the human central nervous system: relationship to the pathology of Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol. Aging* 9, 339–349.

- Streit, W. J., Graeber, M. B., and Kreutzberg, G. W. (1988). Functional plasticity of microglia: a review. *Glia* 1, 301–307.
- Tan, J., Town, T., Crawford, F., Mori, T., DelleDonne, A., Crescentini, R., Obregan, D., Flavelli, R. A., and Mullan, M. J. (2002). Role of CD40 ligand in amyloidosis in transgenic Alzeheimer's mice. *Nat. Neurosci.* 5, 1288–1293.
- Van Furth, R., and Cohn, Z. A. (1968). The origin and kinetics of mononuclear phagocytes. J. Exp. Med. 128, 415–435.
- Walker, D. G., and McGeer, P. L. (1992). Complement gene expression in human brains: comparison between normal and Alzheimer

disease cases. Brain Res. Mol. Brain Res. 14, 109–116.

- Walker, D. G., O'Kusky, J. R., and McGeer, P. L. (1989). In situ hybridization analysis for herpes simplex virus nucleic acids in Alzheimer disease. *Alzheimer Dis. Assoc. Disord.* 3, 123–131.
- Wood, G. W., Gollahon, K. A., Tilzer, S. A., Vats, T., and Morantz, R. A. (1979). The failure of microglia in normal brain to exhibit mononuclear phagocyte markers. *J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol.* 38, 369–376.
- Zhu, Y., Thangamani, S., and Ho, B. And Ding, J. L. (2005). The ancient origin of the complement system. *EMBO J.* 24, 382–394.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any

commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 24 October 2011; accepted: 14 November 2011; published online: 02 December 2011.

Citation: McGeer PL and McGeer EG (2011) History of innate immunity in neurodegenerative disorders. Front. Pharmacol. 2:77. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2011.00077

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Neuropharmacology, a specialty of Frontiers in Pharmacology.

Copyright © 2011 McGeer and McGeer. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.

Imaging of microglia in patients with neurodegenerative disorders

Marios Politis*, Paul Su and Paola Piccini

Division of Experimental Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Centre for Neuroscience, Hammersmith Hospital, Imperial College London, London, UK

Edited by:

Roger A. Barker, University of Cambridge and Addenbrooke' Hospital, UK

Reviewed by:

Jason B. Wu, Cedars-Sinai Medical Center, USA Roger A. Barker, University of Cambridge and Addenbrooke' Hospital, UK

*Correspondence:

Marios Politis, Hammersmith Hospital, Imperial College London, Cyclotron Building, London W12 0NN, UK. e-mail: marios.politis@imperial.ac.uk

Microglia constitute the main immune defense in the central nervous system. In response to neuronal injury, microglia become activated, acquire phagocytic properties, and release a wide range of pro-inflammatory mediators that are essential for the annihilation of the neuronal insult. Although the role of microglial activation in acute neuronal damage is well defined, the pathophysiological processes underlying destructive or protective role to neurons following chronic exposure to microglial activation is still a subject of debate. It is likely that chronic exposure induces detrimental effects by promoting neuronal death through the release of neurotoxic factors. Positron emission tomography (PET) imaging with the use of translocator protein (TSPO) radioligands provides an *in vivo* tool for tracking the progression and severity of neuroinflammation in neurodegenerative disease. TSPO expression is correlated to the extent of microglial activation and the measurement of TSPO uptake in vivo with PET is a useful indicator of active disease. Although understanding of the interaction between radioligands and TSPO is not completely clear, there is a wide interest in application of TSPO imaging in neurodegenerative disease. In this article, we aim to review the applications of in vivo microglia imaging in neurodegenerative disorders such as Parkinson's disease, Huntington's disease, Dementias, and Multiple Sclerosis.

Keywords: dementia, Huntington, microglia, multiple sclerosis, Parkinson, PET, PK11195

INTRODUCTION

Microglia account for approximately 10% of the adult brain cell population and represent the first and main form of immune defense in the central nervous system (CNS; Lawson et al., 1990; Kreutzberg, 1996). Upon CNS injury and disease, microglia become activated and they can be identified and distinguished from their resting phenotype based on a combination of morphological and immunophenotypic changes (Dheen et al., 2007; Ransohoff and Perry, 2009). Microglia initiate immune responses by enhancing the expression of toll-like receptors (TLR) and a wide range of pro-inflammatory mediators such as tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNFα), interleukin (IL)-1 and IL-6 for the removal of the CNS threat (Suzumura et al., 1996; Hartlage-Rübsamen et al., 1999; Bsibsi et al., 2002; Floden et al., 2005). Microglia may also fulfill a neuroprotective role via the release of neurotrophic factors and promotion of neurogenesis for the restoration of normal physiology (Stadelmann et al., 2002). Hence, the acute inflammatory response is generally beneficial, as it tends to minimize injury and promotes tissue repair. However, chronic neuroinflammation is closely related to various neurodegenerative disorders such as Parkinson's disease (PD), Huntington's disease (HD), Dementias, and Multiple sclerosis (MS), although the consequences of sustained microglial activation in these diseases is unclear.

Activated microglia upregulate expression of the 18-kDa translocator protein (TSPO; Chen and Guilarte, 2008; Cosenza-Nashat et al., 2009; Scarf et al., 2009). TSPO are found in abundance throughout the body in peripheral organs (i.e., liver and

adrenals), and hematogenous cells, but are present at very low levels in the normal healthy CNS (Banati, 2002). Functionally, TSPO has several biological functions including the control of cholesterol transport and neurosteroid synthesis (Papadopoulos et al., 2006), and may also be involved in the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines during inflammation (Choi et al., 2002; Wilms et al., 2003).

Enhanced TSPO expression can be detected in vivo by using positron emission tomography (PET) imaging with the selective TSPO radioligand ¹¹C-PK11195 (Benavides et al., 1988; Pike et al., 1993; Banati et al., 1999), with evidence that increases in ¹¹C-PK11195 binding potential (BP_{ND}) correspond to activation of microglia (Stephenson et al., 1995; Conway et al., 1998; Banati et al., 2000). Although TSPO is also expressed by reactive astrocytes, a ¹¹C-PK11195 PET study of patients with hippocampal sclerosis, a condition histopathologically characterized by marked astrogliosis, did not yield results that were significantly different to healthy normal controls (Banati et al., 1999). This is consistent with the view that reactive astrocytes, in vivo, do not significantly contribute to the ¹¹C-PK11195 signal. Therefore, in the absence of invading blood borne cells or severe focal leakage of bloodbrain barrier, the increased PK11195 binding is likely to indicate the transition of microglia from a resting to an activated state, and is due to an increase in the number, rather than the affinity, of TSPO (Banati et al., 2000). Hence, the measurement of TSPO uptake using PET provides an in vivo tool to monitor progression and severity of neuroinflammation and is a useful indicator of active CNS disease. This article aims to review the use of PET

imaging to promote the understanding of activated microglia in neurodegenerative disease.

PARKINSON'S DISEASE AND RELATED DISORDERS

Parkinson's disease is the second most common neurodegenerative disorder of the elderly and is associated with the motor symptoms of tremor, bradykinesia, and rigidity. It is characterized by the extended loss of dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra pars compacta, resulting in a deficiency of dopamine in the striatum (Braak et al., 2006), and the presence of alpha-synuclein (α -synuclein)-containing lewy bodies. PD is the most common of a group of parkinsonian movement disorders that also includes Multiple system atrophy (MSA), Corticobasal degeneration (CBD), and Progressive supranuclear palsy (PSP).

The presence of activated microglia close to dopaminergic neurons in post-mortem PD patient brains (McGeer et al., 1988a; Mogi et al., 1994; Langston et al., 1999; Imamura et al., 2003), and PD animal models (Czlonkowska et al., 1996; Kim et al., 2009) suggests a close relationship between neurodegeneration and neuroinflammation in PD. Numerous investigations have proposed a deleterious role of microglial activation in PD based on the vulnerability of dopaminergic neurons to various microglia-derived pro-inflammatory cytokines (Ferrari et al., 2006; Stone et al., 2009; De Lella Ezcurra et al., 2010), while α -synuclein can directly induce activation of microglia (Zhang et al., 2005). However, it seems that the plasticity of microglia must be considered with regards to their contribution in PD, and their role; whether beneficial or detrimental, it may depend on the stimuli present and the stage of disease (Li et al., 2007; Michelucci et al., 2009; Sanchez-Guajardo et al., 2010).

Further clues regarding the role of activated microglia has also come from *in vivo* PET imaging studies (**Table 1**). Significant microglial activation, as reflected by an increase in ¹¹C-PK11195 BP_{ND} was reported in the midbrain and putamen of PD patients when compared to controls, and was found to correlate positively with the motor severity of Parkinsonism (Ouchi et al., 2005; Bartels et al., 2010). These findings suggest that activated microglia has a pathogenic importance in the disease and indicate that the early introduction of a neuroprotective drug to suppress microglial activation could be favorable in PD. Additionally, PD patients exhibited significantly increased ¹¹C-PK11195 BP_{ND} in the basal ganglia, pons, and frontal and temporal cortical regions (Gerhard et al., 2006a). In this study, the increased microglial activation remained unchanged for 2 years, while the patients deteriorated clinically during this period. Hence, it is likely that microglia are activated early in PD, where they remain activated for longer periods and possibly drive progression of the disease (Gerhard et al., 2006a).

Multiple system atrophy is a sporadic neurodegenerative disorder involving a progressive akinetic-rigid syndrome, autonomic failure, and cerebellar dysfunction. It is associated by the appearance of abnormal glial cytoplasmic inclusions (GCI) containing (a-synuclein aggregates and neuronal loss within the nigrostriatal and olivopontocerebellar regions (Lantos and Papp, 1994). The presence of activated microglia is also a prominent feature of MSA (Schwarz et al., 1998). In an in vivo PET study of MSA patients, significant ¹¹C-PK11195 BP_{ND} was observed in the putamen, pallidum, pons, substantia nigra pars compacta, and dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, reflecting the known distribution of neuropathological changes in MSA (Gerhard et al., 2003). Although the role of microglia in MSA is inconclusive, microglial activation localization correlated significantly with the locations of GCIs in specific neuroanatomical systems affected in MSA (Ishizawa et al., 2004). A correlation between extent of

Study	Disorder	Subjects	PET technique	Main findings
Ouchi et al. (2005)	PD	10 Early PD patients, 10 NC	¹¹ C-PK11195	¹¹ C-PK11195 BP _{ND} in patients significantly higher than controls Midbrain ¹¹ C-PK11195 BP _{ND} values correlated positively with motor disability
Gerhard et al. (2006a)	PD	18 PD patients, 11 NC	¹¹ C-PK11195	Significantly increased ¹¹ C-PK11195 BP _{ND} in pons, basal ganglia, and frontal and temporal cortical regions ¹¹ C-PK11195 signal remained stable for 2 years in subset of patients
Bartels et al. (2010)	PD	14 PD patients, 8 NC	¹¹ C-PK11195	Higher contralateral putamen and midbrain ¹¹ C-PK11195 BP _{ND} in patients than controls
Gerhard et al. (2003)	MSA	5 MSA patients, 6 NC	¹¹ C-PK11195	MSA patients showed significantly increased ¹¹ C-PK11195 BP _{ND} in regions reflecting the known distribution of pathologic changes in MSA
Gerhard et al. (2006b)	PSP	4 PSP patients, 7 NC	¹¹ C-PK11195	Significantly increased ¹¹ C-PK11195 BP _{ND} in basal ganglia, midbrain, frontal lobe, and cerebellum of patients compared to controls Microglial activation remained stable as demonstrated in follow-up scans of two patients
Gerhard et al. (2004)	CBD	4 CBD patients, 5 NC	¹¹ C-PK11195	CBD patients had significantly increased ¹¹ C-PK11195 BP _{ND} in the cortical regions and basal ganglia that correspond to known distribution of pathological changes in CBD
Henkel et al. (2004)	CBD	1 CBD patient	¹¹ C-PK11195	Marked asymmetric microglial activation in corresponding areas of basal ganglia and temporal and parietal cortices

Table 1 | Positron emission tomography imaging studies assessing microglia in Parkinsonian disorders.

BP_{ND}, binding potential; CBD, corticobasal degeneration; MSA, multiple system atrophy; NC, normal control; PD, Parkinson's disease; PSP, progressive supranuclear palsy.

microglial activation and dopaminergic neurodegeneration has also been reported (Stefanova et al., 2007).

Progressive supranuclear palsy is an adult-onset progressive neurodegenerative disease of unknown cause, characterized by PD-like symptoms such as postural instability and bradykinesia. The pathological hallmark of the disease is neurofibrillary tangles consisting of hyperphosphorylated tau, accompanied by neuronal loss in the thalamus, basal ganglia, and specific brainstem regions (Hauw et al., 1994). Several early studies including immunohistochemical investigations have confirmed the possible involvement of activated microglia in PSP (Kida et al., 1992; Komori et al., 1998; Ishizawa et al., 2000; Ishizawa and Dickson, 2001). ¹¹C-PK11195 PET have also reported significant levels of activated microglia in brain regions known to be affected by the disease process such as the midbrain, cerebellum, pons, frontal lobe, and basal ganglia (Gerhard et al., 2006b). Although these results were unable to support a direct causal contribution to neurodegeneration in PSP, they are at least suggestive of a role of microglia in the disease.

Corticobasal degeneration is a neurodegenerative disorder that affects both cortical and basal ganglial regions, with considerable clinical heterogeneity between patients. Typically, CBD features an asymmetric hypokinetic-rigid syndrome, coupled with alien limb phenomenon and cortical sensory impairment that is unresponsive to dopaminergic therapy (Rebeiz et al., 1968; Gibb et al., 1989). Information on the association of activated microglia in CBD is limited, and mainly coming from immunohistochemical-based assessments (Armstrong et al., 2000; Ishizawa and Dickson, 2001). However, more recent in vivo PET investigations have attempted to quantify microglial activation in CBD patients. Increased ¹¹C-PK11195 BP_{ND} was observed in regions such as the caudate nucleus, putamen, substantia nigra pars compacta, pons, and pre- and post central gyrus (Gerhard et al., 2004; Henkel et al., 2004) that correspond to the expected neuropathological changes seen in CBD (Ishizawa and Dickson, 2001; Dickson et al., 2002). These results indicate an involvement of activated microglia in pathogenesis of CBD.

HUNTINGTON'S DISEASE

Huntington's disease is an autosomal, dominant inherited progressive neurodegenerative disorder associated with motor, cognitive, and psychiatric symptoms. It is caused by an abnormal polyglutamine-repeat expansion on the IT15 gene that codes huntingtin, and involves the progressive loss of medium spiny dopaminergic receptor-bearing striatal GABA-ergic neurons (Vonsattel and DiFiglia, 1998). Although the role of chronic neuroinflammation in the HD pathogenesis is not fully understood, post-mortem assessments have reported high levels of activated microglia close to degenerating neurons (McGeer et al., 1988b; Messmer and Reynolds, 1998; Singhrao et al., 1999; Sapp et al., 2001). Upregulated inflammatory cytokines have also been detected in the striatum and plasma, indicative of an inflammatory component in HD (Dalrymple et al., 2007; Björkqvist et al., 2008).

In vivo imaging studies using ¹¹C-PK11195 PET have found increased microglial activation in both premanifest HD gene carriers and manifest HD patients when compared to healthy controls (Table 2; Pavese et al., 2006; Tai et al., 2007; Politis et al., 2008, 2011). In premanifest HD patients, significant increases in ¹¹C-PK11195 BP_{ND} in the striatum and hypothalamus was reported, which correlated inversely with neuronal dysfunction as measured by ¹¹C-Raclopride; a marker of dopaminergic D2/D3 receptor availability (Tai et al., 2007; Politis et al., 2008). Interestingly, microglial activation in the striatum, and regions related to cognitive function has been shown to predict the 5-year disease clinical onset in premanifest HD patients (Tai et al., 2007; Politis et al., 2011). These results imply that microglial activation is an early event in the HD disease course, with a possible pathogenic involvement that is associated with a subclinical progression of the disease.

In manifest HD patients, significant ¹¹C-PK11195 BP_{ND} in the striatum, hypothalamus, and various cortical regions was found, that correlated with greater disease burden and higher motor disability (Pavese et al., 2006; Politis et al., 2008, 2011). The cortical

Study	Subjects	PET technique	Main findings
Pavese et al. (2006)	11 manifest HD patients, 10 NC	¹¹ C-PK11195	Significantly increased ¹¹ C-PK11195 BP _{ND} in patients than controls Increased ¹¹ C-PK11195 uptake correlated positively with disease severity
Tai et al. (2007)	11 premanifest HD subjects, 10 NC	¹¹ C-PK11195	Significantly higher striatal ¹¹ C-PK11195 BP _{ND} that correlated inversely with D2 receptor availability
Politis et al. (2008)	10 premanifest HD subjects, 9 manifest HD patients, 10 NC	¹¹ C-PK11195	Higher striatal uptake correlated with 5 year probability of clinical disease onset Significantly increased hypothalamic ¹¹ C-PK11195 BP _{ND} in both premanifest and manifest subjects compared to controls Inverse correlation between increased hypothalamic ¹¹ C-PK11195 BP _{ND} and
Politis et al. (2011)	8 premanifest HD subjects, 8 manifest HD patients, 16 NC	¹¹ C-PK11195	D2 receptor availability In premanifest subjects, increased microglial activation in cognitive regions correlated with 5 year probability of clinical disease onset. In manifest HD patients, significantly increased ¹¹ C-PK11195 BP _{ND} in globus pallidus, anterior prefrontal cortex, and limbic striatum

Table 2 | Positron emission tomography imaging studies assessing microglia in Huntington's disease.

 BP_{ND} , binding potential; HD, Huntington's disease; NC, normal control.

microglial activation is likely to indicate the involvement of cortical neurons in HD, a well-recognized phenomenon as the disease progresses. Collectively, these findings are consistent with the postmortem studies (Messmer and Reynolds, 1998; Sapp et al., 2001) and suggest a detrimental microglial contribution to the ongoing neuronal degeneration in HD.

DEMENTIA

Dementias are a group of disorders that are expected to affect more than 100 million people by 2050 raising remarkable financial costs for healthcare (Wimo et al., 2003). AD is the most common cause of dementia and is the most common neurological disorder of the elderly. AD is characterized by the presence of amyloid plaques, neurofibrillary tangles, and activated microglia (for review, see Hardy and Selkoe, 2002). There is a plethora of evidence from post-mortem human AD studies (McGeer et al., 1988a; Venneti et al., 2009) and animal models (Frautschy et al., 1998; Stalder et al., 1999; Leung et al., 2011) reporting a high accumulation of activated microglia in close proximity with the amyloid plaques, and upregulated levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Akiyama et al., 2000; Eikelenboom et al., 2002).

Positron emission tomography enables a broad range of functional processes to assess the AD brain *in vivo* (**Table 3**). ¹¹C-PK11195 has been used to demonstrate increased levels of activated microglia in both AD animal models (Venneti et al., 2009) and AD patients (Cagnin et al., 2001; Edison et al., 2008; Yokokura et al., 2011). In AD patients, significant ¹¹C-PK11195 BP_{ND} was consistently observed in the temporal, parietal, and occipital cortices, regions known to be affected by AD pathology (Cagnin et al., 2001; Edison et al., 2008; Yokokura et al., 2011). The increased activated microglia also inversely correlated with the patient Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) scores, which is compatible with a role of microglia in neuronal damage (Edison et al., 2008). Interestingly, elevated levels of activated microglia were also detected in patients with amnestic mild cognitive impairment (MCI; Okello et al., 2009a), although this was not observed in another study assessing MCI patients (Wiley et al., 2009). MCI could represent an early precursor stage of AD, since it was found that MCI patients with increased amyloid load were significantly more likely to clinically convert to AD within 3 years (Okello et al., 2009b). Therefore, microglial activation could be an early event in the AD pathogenesis that begins at the MCI stage.

Despite the evidence suggestive of a pathogenic role of activated microglia in AD, it is hypothesized that the accumulation of amyloid plaques is actually due to a failure in microglial clearance mechanisms that would normally remove the protein (Bornemann et al., 2001; DiCarlo et al., 2001; Napoli and Neumann, 2009). This indicates a beneficial, rather than detrimental role of microglia in AD. Notwithstanding the abundance of activated microglia close to senile plaques, they maybe inefficient in the clearance of amyloid, hence, resulting in aggregate formation (Bolmont et al., 2008). It has been shown that in the presence of pro-inflammatory cytokines, phagocytic functions of microglia are compromised (Koenigsknecht-Talboo and Landreth, 2005). Therefore, microglia may confer a dichotomous role in AD, where early microglial activation is possibly neuroprotective involving the removal of amyloid. However, chronic neuroinflammation may downregulate amyloid clearance mechanisms, thus, promoting aggregation and progression of disease.

Frontotemporal lobar degeneration (FTLD) which includes frontotemporal dementia is the name given to a group of pathologically, clinically, and genetically heterogeneous disorders involving focal atrophy of the frontal and temporal lobes, while unlike AD, with sparing of the parietal and occipital regions (Neary et al., 1998). Another important dissimilarity between AD and FTLD pathology is the absence of amyloid plaque formation (Paulus et al., 1993; Mirra and Hyman, 2002). Rather, the key histopathological features of FTLD, depending on subtype,

-				
Study	Disorder	Subjects	PET technique	Main findings
Cagnin et al. (2001)	AD	8 AD patients, 15 NC	¹¹ C-PK11195	AD patients showed significantly increased regional ¹¹ C-PK11195 BP _{ND} in the entorhinal, temporoparietal, and cingulate cortex
Edison et al. (2008)	AD	13 AD patients, 10 NC	¹¹ C-PK11195	Significant increased ¹¹ C-PK11195 BP _{ND} in the cortical regions Inverse correlation between increased cortical microglial activation and MMSE scores
Yokokura et al. (2011)	AD	11 AD patients, 10 NC	¹¹ C-PK11195	Significantly increased ¹¹ C-PK11195 uptake in the parietotemporal regions of patients than controls Inverse correlation between dementia scores and ¹¹ C-PK11195 BP _{ND} values
Wiley et al. (2009)	AD, MCI	6 mild-moderate AD patients, 6 MCI patients, 5 NC	¹¹ C-PK11195	No significant differences in brain ¹¹ C-PK11195 BP _{ND} between subject groups
Okello et al. (2009a)	MCI	14 MCI patients, 10 NC	¹¹ C-PK11195	5 of 13 MCI subjects had increased cortical ¹¹ C-PK11195 BP _{ND} compared to controls
Cagnin et al. (2004)	FTLD	5 FTLD patients, 8 NC	¹¹ C-PK11195	Significantly increased $^{11}\mbox{C-PK11195}\ \mbox{BP}_{\rm ND}$ in the frontotemporal regions

 Table 3 | Positron emission tomography imaging studies assessing microglia in dementias.

AD, Alzheimer's disease; BP_{ND}, binding potential; FTLD, frontotemporal lobar degeneration; MCI, mild cognitive impairment; MMSE, mini-mental state examination; NC, normal controls.

includes tau deposition (including Pick bodies) and ubiquitinpositive, tau-negative inclusions (Munoz et al., 2003; Uchihara et al., 2003). *In vivo* PET imaging of FTLD patients detected enhanced microglial activation in the expected frontotemporal regions (Cagnin et al., 2004). In the same study, significant ¹¹C-PK11195 BP_{ND} in the bilateral putamen is also consistent with previous neuropathological data showing the involvement of the basal ganglia in FTLD (Mirra and Hyman, 2002). These observations indicate the presence of an active microglial response that reflects progressive neuronal degeneration. Importantly, the detection of increased microglial activation in affected regions in FTLD suggests that microglial responses occur independently of amyloid deposition, and that neuronal loss alone is enough to induce activation (Cagnin et al., 2004). However, whether this applies to AD pathogenesis requires further investigation.

MULTIPLE SCLEROSIS

Multiple sclerosis is a disease characterized pathologically by inflammatory demyelination and axonal transection, and is the most common cause of non-traumatic disability in young adults (Compston and Coles, 2008).

The involvement of activated microglia has long been proposed in MS (Benveniste, 1997). Post-mortem investigations have detected activated microglia in the cortical GM of MS patients (De Groot et al., 2001; Peterson et al., 2001; Petzold et al., 2002), while histopathological studies have implicated microglia in lesion pathogenesis (for review, see Lassmann, 2008). An observed correlation between neuronal loss and microglial activation was reported in animal experimental MS (Rasmussen et al., 2007). Significant levels of activated microglia was also found in MS patients, especially in the progressive forms of disease that are associated with neurodegeneration (Kutzelnigg et al., 2005; Magliozzi et al., 2010), and selective ablation of parenchymal microglia was able to prevent demyelination and axonal damage (Heppner et al., 2005).

Pathological aspects of MS such as neuroinflammation, demyelination, and neurodegeneration may be explored in vivo with PET (for review, see Kiferle et al., 2011). PET with ¹¹C-PK11195 and other tracers has demonstrated inflammatory processes with microglial involvement in MS (Figure 1; Table 4). In animal experimental MS and human post-mortem brains it has been shown that ¹¹C-PK11195 uptake corresponds to the distribution pattern of activated microglia (Banati et al., 2000). It has also been demonstrated that there is increased ¹¹C-PK11195 BP_{ND} in areas of focal pathology identified by T1- and T2-weighted MRI (Vowinckel et al., 1997; Banati et al., 2000) and in gadoliniumenhanced T1-weighted MRI (Debruyne et al., 2003). Increased ¹¹C-PK11195 BP_{ND} was observed in normal-appearing gray and white anatomical structures (Banati et al., 2000; Debruyne et al., 2003; Versijpt et al., 2005). This is in line with the hypothesis that inflammatory processes initiated by microglia early in MS may constitute the real burden of disease, associated with invisible microglia-mediated damage that occur independently of relapses (Kesselring, 1990; Confavreux et al., 2000). A positive correlation has been suggested between ligand uptake and disease duration, disability, and brain atrophy (Banati et al., 2000; Debruyne et al., 2003; Versijpt et al., 2005), although the correlations were not consistently replicated across the different studies. However, recent



FIGURE 1 | Positron emission tomography images showing increased "C-PK11195 BP_{ND} in a Multiple Sclerosis patient (A) when compared to a healthy normal control (B). Color bar represents intensity of "C-PK11195 tracer binding (BP_{ND}). BP_{ND}, binding potential; MS, multiple sclerosis.

data from our group found a significant association between high ¹¹C-PK11195 BP_{ND} in the cortical gray matter and disability in patients with secondary progressive MS, and with higher ¹¹C-PK11195 BP_{ND} in the secondary progressive group than the relapse-remitting MS group (Politis et al., in press). These findings are consistent with a detrimental role of microglia in MS. Enhanced microglial activation in MS has also been detected using the more recently developed TSPO tracers ¹¹C-vinpocetine and ¹¹C-PBR28 (Vas et al., 2008; Oh et al., 2011).

Microglial activation may contribute to the mechanism of axonal injury *via* the release of soluble factors that may either directly or indirectly cause neuronal dysfunction (Peterson et al., 2001; Barnett and Prineas, 2004; Dutta and Trapp, 2006; Zipp et al., 2006; Dal Bianco et al., 2008; Lassmann, 2008; Magliozzi et al., 2010), and consequently result in progressive increase in impairment and disability. However, activated microglia may also exert protective functions with MS through the release of neurotrophic factors (Stadelmann et al., 2002; Napoli and Neumann, 2009), and triggering of remyelination mechanisms (Li et al., 2005; Setzu et al., 2006). This suggests a possible dichromatic role of microglia in MS.

NEW TSPO LIGANDS

¹¹C-PK11195 was the first tracer to be consistently used for the study of activated microglia and neuroinflammation *in vivo*. However, limitations associated with the application of ¹¹C-PK11195 include a high level of non-specific binding (Petit-Taboué et al., 1991), and a poor signal to noise ratio, which complicates its quantification (Boutin et al., 2007). This has prompted the search for novel PET tracers (termed, second generation radioligands) with improved capacities to quantify TSPO expression.

Radioligands such as ¹¹C-PBR28, ¹¹C-DAA1106, ¹⁸F-FEDAA1106, and ¹⁸F-PBR111 have recently been developed to image TSPO *in vivo* (Gulyás et al., 2002; Ikoma et al., 2007; Fujita et al., 2008; Vas et al., 2008; Yasuno et al., 2008; Oh et al., 2011; for a review, see Chauveau et al., 2008). Published data using the second generation ligands ¹¹C-DAA1106 (Ikoma et al., 2007) and

Table 4	Positron	emission t	tomography	imaging	studies a	assessing	microal	ia in mu	Itiple scleros	is.
14010 1	1.00.000	01111001011	comography	magnig	ocuaitoo i	accoccing	moregi			

Study	Subjects	PET technique	Main Findings
Vowinckel et al. (1997)	2 MS patients	¹¹ C-PK11195	High $^{11}\mbox{C-PK11195}\ \mbox{BP}_{\rm ND}$ in MRI-defined active MS lesions
Banati et al. (2000)	12 MS patients (RR, SP, PP), 8 NC	¹¹ C-PK11195	Increased global and focal (in active MS lesions) $^{11}\mbox{C-PK11195}\ \mbox{BP}_{\rm ND}$ in MS patients
Debruyne et al. (2003)	22 MS patients (RR, SP, PP), 7 NC	¹¹ C-PK11195	Increased ¹¹ C-PK11195 BP _{ND} in MRI-Gadolinium lesions. Higher uptake in T2 lesions during relapse
Versijpt et al. (2005)	22 MS patients (RR, SP, PP), 8 NC	¹¹ C-PK11195	Positive correlation between ¹¹ C-PK11195 BP _{ND} and disease duration Significant correlation between brain atrophy and both disease duration and severity For NAWM, ¹¹ C-PK11195 BP _{ND} increased with amount of atrophy T2-lesional ¹¹ C-PK11195 BP _{ND} values decreased according to increasing atrophy
Vas et al. (2008)	4 MS patients	¹¹ C-PK11195, ¹¹ C-vinpocetine	Regional uptake values increased in regions of brain damage for both tracers, but markedly higher for ¹¹ C-vinpocetine than ¹¹ C-PK11195
Oh et al. (2011)	11 MS patients, 7 NC	¹¹ C-PBR28	High ¹¹ C-PBR28 in MRI-gadolinium lesions in patients Increase in tracer uptake preceded appearance of gadolinium enhancement No difference in global ¹¹ C-PBR28 uptake between patients and healthy controls
Politis et al. (in press)	16 MS patients (RR, SP), 8 NC	¹¹ C-PK11195	Significant correlation between cortical GM $^{11}\mbox{C-PK11195}$ BP_{ND} and disease severity Higher $^{11}\mbox{C-PK11195}$ in SP than RR patients

BP_{ND}, binding potential; GM, gray matter; MRI, magnetic resonance image; MS, multiple sclerosis; NAWM, normal-appearing white matter; NC, normal control; PP, primary progressive multiple sclerosis; RR, relapse-remitting multiple sclerosis; SP, secondary progressive multiple sclerosis.

¹⁸F-FEDAA1106 (Fujimura et al., 2006) in humans were promising, with both tracers showing significantly higher cerebral uptake than ¹¹C-PK11195. Furthermore, increased ¹¹C-DAA1106 binding was reported in AD patients (Yasuno et al., 2008) that were similar to the previous studies that used ¹¹C-PK11195 (Cagnin et al., 2001).

The only published study using the second generation radioligand ¹¹C-PBR28 found areas of focal increases in radiotracer binding in the brain of MS patients (Oh et al., 2011). Interestingly, the increased focal ¹¹C-PBR28 binding preceded the development of some gadolinium-enhancing lesions. Brain parenchymal ¹¹C-PBR28 binding in MS patients was positively correlated with the duration of the disease, however it was not significantly higher than that of healthy volunteers. Interpretation of these results is limited by the lack of characterization of the binding affinity pattern, which might have significantly affected the comparison between subjects.

It has been recently demonstrated that there are three different affinity patterns for second generation TSPO ligands in healthy volunteers as well as patients with MS, which was evident with all the ligands tested (¹¹C-PBR28; ¹¹C-PBR06; ¹⁸F-PBR111; Owen et al., 2010). This presents a methodological problem, as differences in PET signal across subjects cannot be safely interpreted as differences in target density, but may reflect differences in the affinity pattern. A possible approach to solve this problem is based on the use of peripheral binding affinity, which can be characterized to classify subjects into one of the groups, as differences in affinity status between individuals have been shown to be present on peripheral cells as well (Owen et al., 2010).

Interestingly, the difference in binding patterns observed with second generation radioligands was not observed with ¹¹C-PK11195. Also, *in vitro* autoradiography data using ¹¹C-PK11195

suggest a receptor density (B_{MAX}) significantly higher than that found using second generation ligands. It could be speculated that 11 C-PK11195 and newer ligands bind to distinct sites within the TSPO molecule.

Although, data obtained from first generation studies have been promising and suggested that ¹¹C-PK11195 could be useful to image acute inflammatory lesions and microglial activation in MS, a conclusive demonstration of the potential of TSPO imaging for the application as disease biomarker, indicative of microglial activation in MS, is still lacking. Furthermore, despite second generation ligands constituting a potential improvement relative to ¹¹C-PK11195 at least from a methodological point of view, a clear advantage in their clinical application as disease biomarkers has not been demonstrated yet.

For these reasons, we aim to characterize a second generation TSPO PET radioligand *in vivo* in humans, and to evaluate its application as a disease biomarker in MS.

Among second generation TSPO tracers, ¹⁸F-PBR111 presents different advantages, as there is low difference in its affinity for TSPO between high, medium, low affinity binders. Also, it could be potentially used in clinical applications as it is labeled with fluorine-18. Promising preclinical data, and ongoing studies in neurological patients, suggest it could be a good choice amongst second generation TSPO ligands to progress into studies in MS patients.

CONCLUSION

Inflammation coupled with the presence of activated microglia seems to be a common feature of a wide range of CNS diseases. However, despite a large number of research studies, the exact role of microglia in chronic neurodegenerative diseases remains uncertain. In line with the high plasticity of microglia that allows them to perform numerous CNS functions, microglia are likely to play a dichromatic role in disease, depending on signals present in their microenvironment and the duration of activation. While early microglial activation could represents a beneficial response (i.e., removal of CNS threat, promoting tissue repair and removal of misfolded protein), chronic exposure could induces detrimental effects by promoting neuronal death (i.e., through the sustained release of neurotoxic factors), thus, contributing to progression of disease. PET imaging with the use of TSPO radioligands provides a valuable tool that allows us to track the progression and severity of neuroinflammation in the living brain, and is a useful indicator of active CNS disease. Therefore, the early detection

REFERENCES

- Akiyama, H., Arai, T., Kondo, H., Tanno, E., Haga, C., and Ikeda, K. (2000). Cell mediators of inflammation in the Alzheimer disease brain. *Alzheimer Dis. Assoc. Disord.* 14(Suppl. 1), 47–53.
- Armstrong, R. A., Cairns, N. J., and Lantos, P. L. (2000). A quantitative study of the pathological lesions in the neocortex and hippocampus of twelve patients with corticobasal degeneration. *Exp. Neurol.* 163, 348–356.
- Banati, R. B., Goerres, G. W., Myers, R., Gunn, R. N., Turkheimer, F. E., Kreutzberg, G. W., Brooks, D. J., Jones, T., and Duncan, J. S. (1999). [11C](R)-PK11195 positron emission tomography imaging of activated microglia in vivo in Rasmussen's encephalitis. *Neurology* 53, 2199–2203.
- Banati, R. B., Newcombe, J., Gunn, R. N., Cagnin, A., Turkheimer, F. E., Heppner, F., Price, G., Wegner, F., Giovannoni, G., Miller, D. H., Perkin, G. D., Smith, T., Hewson, A. K., Bydder, G., Kreutzberg, G. W., Jones, T., Cuzner, M. L., and Myers, R. (2000). The peripheral benzodiazepine binding site in the brain in multiple sclerosis: quantitative in vivo imaging of microglia as a measure of disease activity. Brain 123(Pt 11), 2321–2337.
- Banati, R. B. (2002). Visualizing microglial activation in vivo. *Glia* 40, 206–217.
- Barnett, M. H., and Prineas, J. W. (2004). Relapsing and remitting multiple sclerosis: pathology of the newly forming lesion. *Ann. Neurol.* 55, 458–468.
- Bartels, A. L., Willemsen, A. T., Doorduin, J., de Vries, E. F., Dierckx, R. A., and Leenders, K. L. (2010). [11C]-PK11195 PET: quantification of neuroinflammation and a monitor of anti-inflammatory treatment in Parkinson's disease? *Parkinsonism Relat. Disord.* 16, 57–59.
- Benavides, J., Cornu, P., Dennis, T., Dubois, A., Hauw, J. J., MacKenzie,

- E. T., Sazdovitch, V., and Scatton, B. (1988). Imaging of human brain lesions with an omega 3 site radioligand. *Ann. Neurol.* 24, 708–712.
- Benvenste, E. N. (1997). Role of macrophages/microglia in multiple sclerosis and experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. J. Mol. Med. (Berl.) 75, 165–173.
- Björkqvist, M., Wild, E. J., Thiele, J., Silvestroni, A., Andre, R., Lahiri, N., Raibon, E., Lee, R. V., Benn, C. L., Soulet, D., Magnusson, A., Woodman, B., Landles, C., Pouladi, M. A., Hayden, M. R., Khalili-Shirazi, A., Lowdell, M. W., Brundin, P., Bates, G. P., Leavitt, B. R., Möller, T., and Tabrizi, S. J. (2008). A novel pathogenic pathway of immune activation detectable before clinical onset in Huntington's disease. J. Exp. Med. 205, 1869–1877.
- Bolmont, T., Haiss, F., Eicke, D., Radde, R., Mathis, C. A., Klunk, W. E., Kohsaka, S., Jucker, M., and Calhoun, M. E. (2008). Dynamics of the microglial/amyloid interaction indicate a role in plaque maintenance. *J. Neurosci.* 28, 4283–4292.
- Bornemann, K. D., Wiederhold, K. H., Pauli, C., Ermini, F., Stalder, M., Schnell, L., Sommer, B., Jucker, M., and Staufenbiel, M. (2001). Abetainduced inflammatory processes in microglia cells of APP23 transgenic mice. Am. J. Pathol. 158, 63–73.
- Boutin, H., Chauveau, F., Thominiaux, C., Kuhnast, B., Grégoire, M. C., Jan, S., Trebossen, R., Dollé, F., Tavitian, B., Mattner, F., and Katsifis, A. (2007). In vivo imaging of brain lesions with [(11)C]CLINME, a new PET radioligand of peripheral benzodiazepine receptors. *Glia* 55, 1459–1468.
- Braak, H., Rub, U., and Del Tredici, K. (2006). Cognitive decline correlates with neuropathological stage in Parkinson's disease. *J. Neurol. Sci.* 248, 255–258.
- Bsibsi, M., Ravid, R., Gveric, D., and van Noort, J. M. (2002). Broad

of microglia using PET could offer opportunities for pharmacological interventions to limit the potential disruptive effects of chronic microglial activation. Furthermore, with the development of newer TSPO tracers, the potential for PET imaging research to promote our understanding of activated microglia in CNS disease can only increase.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Our own research is supported by the Michael J Fox Foundation for Parkinson's Research USA, the Parkinson's UK, and the Cure Huntington's Disease Initiative Foundation USA.

expression of Toll-like receptors in the human central nervous system. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 61, 1013–1021.

- Cagnin, A., Brooks, D. J., Kennedy, A. M., Gunn, R. N., Myers, R., Turkheimer, F. E., Jones, T., and Banati, R. B. (2001). In-vivo measurement of activated microglia in dementia. *Lancet* 358, 461–467.
- Cagnin, A., Rossor, M., Sampson, E. L., Mackinnon, T., and Banati, R. B. (2004). In vivo detection of microglial activation in frontotemporal dementia. *Ann. Neurol.* 56, 894–897.
- Chauveau, F., Boutin, H., Van Camp, N., Dollé, F., and Tavitian, B. (2008). Nuclear imaging of neuroinflammation: a comprehensive review of [11C]PK11195 challengers. *Eur. J. Nucl. Med. Mol. Imaging* 35, 2304–2319.
- Chen, M. K., and Guilarte, T. R. (2008). Translocator protein 18 kDa (TSPO): molecular sensor of brain injury and repair. *Pharmacol. Ther.* 118, 1–17.
- Choi, H. B., Khoo, C., Ryu, J. K., van Breemen, E., Kim, S. U., and McLarnon, J. G. (2002). Inhibition of lipopolysaccharide-induced cyclooxygenase-2, tumor necrosis factor-alpha and [Ca2+]i responses in human microglia by the peripheral benzodiazepine receptor ligand PK11195. J. Neurochem. 83, 546–555.
- Compston, A., and Coles, A. (2008). Multiple sclerosis. *Lancet* 372, 1502–1517.
- Confavreux, C., Vukusic, S., Moreau, T., and Adeleine, P. (2000). Relapses and progression of disability in multiple sclerosis. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 343, 1430–1438.
- Conway, E. L., Gundlach, A. L., and Craven, J. A. (1998). Temporal changes in glial fibrillary acidic protein messenger RNA and [3H]PK11195 binding in relation to imidazoline-I2-receptor and alpha 2-adrenoceptor binding in the hippocampus following transient global

forebrain ischaemia in the rat. *Neuroscience* 82, 805–817.

- Cosenza-Nashat, M., Zhao, M. L., Suh, H. S., Morgan, J., Natividad, R., Morgello, S., and Lee, S. C. (2009). Expression of the translocator protein of 18 kDa by microglia, macrophages and astrocytes based on immunohistochemical localization in abnormal human brain. *Neuropathol. Appl. Neurobiol.* 35, 306–328.
- Czlonkowska, A., Kohutnicka, M., Kurkowska-Jastrzebska, I., and Czlonkowski, A. (1996). Microglial reaction in MPTP (1-methyl-4phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine) induced Parkinson's disease mice model. *Neurodegeneration* 5, 137–143.
- Dal Bianco, A., Bradl, M., Frischer, J., Kutzelnigg, A., Jellinger, K., and Lassmann, H. (2008). Multiple sclerosis and Alzheimer's disease. *Ann. Neurol.* 63, 174–183.
- Dalrymple, A., Wild, E. J., Joubert, R., Sathasivam, K., Björkqvist, M., Petersén, A., Jackson, G. S., Isaacs, J. D., Kristiansen, M., Bates, G. P., Leavitt, B. R., Keir, G., Ward, M., and Tabrizi, S. J. (2007). Proteomic profiling of plasma in Huntington's disease reveals neuroinflammatory activation and biomarker candidates. J. Proteome Res. 6, 2833–2840.
- De Groot, C. J., Bergers, E., Kamphorst, W., Ravid, R., Polman, C. H., Barkhof, F., and van der Valk, P. (2001). Post-mortem MRI-guided sampling of multiple sclerosis brain lesions: increased yield of active demyelinating and (p) reactive lesions. *Brain* 124, 1635–1645.
- De Lella Ezcurra, A. L., Chertoff, M., Ferrari, C., Graciarena, M., and Pitossi, F. (2010). Chronic expression of low levels of tumor necrosis factor-alpha in the substantia nigra elicits progressive neurodegeneration, delayed motor symptoms and microglia/macrophage activation. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 37, 630–640.

- Debruyne, J. C., Versijpt, J., Van Laere, K. J., De Vos, F., Keppens, J., Strijckmans, K., Achten, E., Slegers, G., Dierckx, R. A., Korf, J., and De Reuck, J. L. (2003). PET visualization of microglia in multiple sclerosis patients using [11C]PK11195. *Eur. J. Neurol.* 10, 257–264.
- Dheen, S. T., Kaur, C., and Ling, E. A. (2007). Microglial activation, and its implications in the brain diseases. *Curr. Med. Chem.* 14, 1189–1197.
- DiCarlo, G., Wilcock, D., Henderson, D., Gordon, M., and Morgan, D. (2001). Intrahippocampal LPS injections reduce Abeta load in APP+PS1 transgenic mice. *Neurobiol. Aging* 22, 1007–1012.
- Dickson, D. W., Bergeron, C., Chin, S. S., Duyckaerts, C., Horoupian, D., Ikeda, K., Jellinger, K., Lantos, P. L., Lippa, C. F., Mirra, S. S., Tabaton, M., Vonsattel, J. P., Wakabayashi, K., and Litvan, I. (2002). Office of rare diseases neuropathologic criteria for corticobasal degeneration. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 61, 935–946.
- Dutta, R., and Trapp, B. D. (2006). [Pathology and definition of multiple sclerosis]. *Rev. Prat.* 56, 1293–1298.
- Edison, P., Archer, H. A., Gerhard, A., Hinz, R., Pavese, N., Turkheimer, F. E., Hammers, A., Tai, Y. F., Fox, N., Kennedy, A., Rossor, M., and Brooks, D. J. (2008). Microglia, amyloid, and cognition in Alzheimer's disease: an [11C](R)PK11195-PET and [11C]PIB-PET study. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 32, 412–419.
- Eikelenboom, P., Bate, C., Van Gool, W. A., Hoozemans, J. J., Rozemuller, J. M., Veerhuis, R., and Williams, A. (2002). Neuroinflammation in Alzheimer's disease and prion disease. *Glia* 40, 232–239.
- Ferrari, C. C., Pott Godoy, M. C., Tarelli, R., Chertoff, M., Depino, A. M., and Pitossi, F. J. (2006). Progressive neurodegeneration and motor disabilities induced by chronic expression of IL-1beta in the substantia nigra. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 24, 183–193.
- Floden, A. M., Li, S., and Combs, C. K. (2005). Beta-amyloid-stimulated microglia induce neuron death via synergistic stimulation of tumor necrosis factor alpha and NMDA receptors. J. Neurosci. 25, 2566–2575.
- Frautschy, S. A., Yang, F., Irrizarry, M., Hyman, B., Saido, T. C., Hsiao, K., and Cole, G. M. (1998). Microglial response to amyloid plaques in APPsw transgenic mice. *Am. J. Pathol.* 152, 307–317.
- Fujimura, Y., Ikoma, Y., Yasuno, F., Suhara, T., Ota, M., Matsumoto, R., Nozaki, S., Takano, A., Kosaka,

J., Zhang, M. R., Nakao, R., Suzuki, K., Kato, N., and Ito, H. (2006). Quantitative analyses of 18F-FEDAA1106 binding to peripheral benzodiazepine receptors in living human brain. *J. Nucl. Med.* 47, 43–50.

- Fujita, M., Imaizumi, M., Zoghbi, S. S., Fujimura, Y., Farris, A. G., Suhara, T., Hong, J., Pike, V. W., and Innis, R. B. (2008). Kinetic analysis in healthy humans of a novel positron emission tomography radioligand to image the peripheral benzodiazepine receptor, a potential biomarker for inflammation. *Neuroimage* 40, 43–52.
- Gerhard, A., Banati, R. B., Goerres, G. B., Cagnin, A., Myers, R., Gunn, R. N., Turkheimer, F. E., Good, C. D., Mathias, C. J., Quinn, N., Schwarz, J., and Brooks, D. J. (2003). [11C](R)-PK11195 PET imaging of microglial activation in multiple system atrophy. *Neurology* 61, 686–689.
- Gerhard, A., Pavese, N., Hotton, G., Turkheimer, F., Es, M., Hammers, A., Eggert, K., Oertel, W., Banati, R. B., and Brooks, D. J. (2006a). In vivo imaging of microglial activation with [11C](R)-PK11195 PET in idiopathic Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 21, 404–412.
- Gerhard, A., Trender-Gerhard, I., Turkheimer, F., Quinn, N. P., Bhatia, K. P., and Brooks, D. J. (2006b). In vivo imaging of microglial activation with [11C](R)-PK11195 PET in progressive supranuclear palsy. *Mov. Disord.* 21, 89–93.
- Gerhard, A., Watts, J., Trender-Gerhard, I., Turkheimer, F., Banati, R. B., Bhatia, K., and Brooks, D. J. (2004). In vivo imaging of microglial activation with [11C](R)-PK11195 PET in corticobasal degeneration. *Mov. Disord.* 19, 1221–1226.
- Gibb, W. R., Luthert, P. J., and Marsden, C. D. (1989). Corticobasal degeneration. *Brain* 112, 1171–1192.
- Gulyás, B., Halldin, C., Sandell, J., Karlsson, P., Sóvágó, J., Kárpáti, E., Kiss, B., Vas, A., Cselényi, Z., and Farde, L. (2002). PET studies on the brain uptake and regional distribution of [11C]vinpocetine in human subjects. Acta Neurol. Scand. 106, 325–332.
- Hardy, J., and Selkoe, D. J. (2002). The amyloid hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease: progress and problems on the road to therapeutics. *Science* 297, 353–356.
- Hartlage-Rübsamen, M., Lemke, R., and Schliebs, R. (1999). Interleukinlbeta, inducible nitric oxide synthase, and nuclear factor-kappaB

are induced in morphologically distinct microglia after rat hippocampal lipopolysaccharide/interferongamma injection. J. Neurosci. Res. 57, 388–398.

- Hauw, J. J., Daniel, S. E., Dickson, D., Horoupian, D. S., Jellinger, K., Lantos, P. L., McKee, A., Tabaton, M., and Litvan, I. (1994). Preliminary NINDS neuropathologic criteria for Steele-Richardson-Olszewski syndrome (progressive supranuclear palsy). Neurology 44, 2015–2019.
- Henkel, K., Karitzky, J., Schmid, M., Mader, I., Glatting, G., Unger, J.
 W., Neumaier, B., Ludolph, A. C., Reske, S. N., and Landwehrmeyer, G. B. (2004). Imaging of activated microglia with PET and [11C]PK 11195 in corticobasal degeneration. *Mov. Disord.* 19, 817–821.
- Heppner, F. L., Greter, M., Marino, D., Falsig, J., Raivich, G., Hövelmeyer, N., Waisman, A., Rülicke, T., Prinz, M., Priller, J., Becher, B., and Aguzzi, A. (2005). Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis repressed by microglial paralysis. *Nat. Med.* 11, 146–152.
- Ikoma, Y., Yasuno, F., Ito, H., Suhara, T., Ota, M., Toyama, H., Fujimura, Y., Takano, A., Maeda, J., Zhang, M. R., Nakao, R., and Suzuki, K. (2007). Quantitative analysis for estimating binding potential of the peripheral benzodiazepine receptor with [(11)C]DAA1106. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 27, 173–184.
- Imamura, K., Hishikawa, N., Sawada, M., Nagatsu, T., Yoshida, M., and Hashizume, Y. (2003). Distribution of major histocompatibility complex class II-positive microglia and cytokine profile of Parkinson's disease brains. Acta Neuropathol. 106, 518–526.
- Ishizawa, K., and Dickson, D. W. (2001). Microglial activation parallels system degeneration in progressive supranuclear palsy and corticobasal degeneration. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 60, 647–657.
- Ishizawa, K., Komori, T., Sasaki, S., Arai, N., Mizutani, T., and Hirose, T. (2004). Microglial activation parallels system degeneration in multiple system atrophy. *J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol.* 63, 43–52.
- Ishizawa, K., Lin, W. L., Tiseo, P., Honer, W. G., Davies, P., and Dickson, D. W. (2000). A qualitative and quantitative study of grumose degeneration in progressive supranuclear palsy. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 59, 513–524.
- Kesselring, J. (1990). The pathogenesis of multiple sclerosis. *Schweiz. Med. Wochenschr.* 120, 1083–1090.

- Kida, E., Barcikowska, M., and Niemczewska, M. (1992). Immunohistochemical study of a case with progressive supranuclear palsy without ophthalmoplegia. *Acta Neuropathol.* 83, 328–332.
- Kiferle, L., Politis, M., Muraro, P. A., and Piccini, P. (2011). Positron emission tomography imaging in multiple sclerosis-current status and future applications. *Eur. J. Neurol.* 18, 226–231.
- Kim, S., Moon, M., and Park, S. (2009). Exendin-4 protects dopaminergic neurons by inhibition of microglial activation and matrix metalloproteinase-3 expression in an animal model of Parkinson's disease. J. Endocrinol. 202, 431–439.
- Koenigsknecht-Talboo, J., and Landreth, G. E. (2005). Microglial phagocytosis induced by fibrillar beta-amyloid and IgGs are differentially regulated by proinflammatory cytokines. *J. Neurosci.* 25, 8240–8249.
- Komori, T., Shibata, N., Kobayashi, M., Sasaki, S., and Iwata, M. (1998). Inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS)-like immunoreactivity in argyrophilic, tau-positive astrocytes in progressive supranuclear palsy. Acta Neuropathol. 95, 338–344.
- Kreutzberg, G. W. (1996). Microglia: a sensor for pathological events in the CNS. *Trends Neurosci.* 19, 312–318.
- Kutzelnigg, A., Lucchinetti, C. F., Stadelmann, C., Brück, W., Rauschka, H., Bergmann, M., Schmidbauer, M., Parisi, J. E., and Lassmann, H. (2005). Cortical demyelination and diffuse white matter injury in multiple sclerosis. *Brain* 128, 2705–2712.
- Langston, J. W., Forno, L. S., Tetrud, J., Reeves, A. G., Kaplan, J. A., and Karluk, D. (1999). Evidence of active nerve cell degeneration in the substantia nigra of humans years after 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6tetrahydropyridine exposure. Ann. Neurol. 46, 598–605.
- Lantos, P. L., and Papp, M. I. (1994). Cellular pathology of multiple system atrophy: a review. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatr. 57, 129–133.
- Lassmann, H. (2008). Mechanisms of inflammation induced tissue injury in multiple sclerosis. J. Neurol. Sci. 274, 45–47.
- Lawson, L. J., Perry, V. H., Dri, P., and Gordon, S. (1990). Heterogeneity in the distribution and morphology of microglia in the normal adult mouse brain. *Neuroscience* 39, 151–170.
- Leung, E., Guo, L., Bu, J., Maloof, M., El Khoury, J., and Geula, C. (2011). Microglia activation

mediates fibrillar amyloid-(β toxicity in the aged primate cortex. *Neurobiol. Aging* 32, 387–397.

- Li, L., Lu, J., Tay, S. S., Moochhala, S. M., and He, B. P. (2007). The function of microglia, either neuroprotection or neurotoxicity, is determined by the equilibrium among factors released from activated microglia in vitro. *Brain Res.* 1159, 8–17.
- Li, W. W., Setzu, A., Zhao, C., and Franklin, R. J. (2005). Minocyclinemediated inhibition of microglia activation impairs oligodendrocyte progenitor cell responses and remyelination in a nonimmune model of demyelination. J. Neuroimmunol. 158, 58–66.
- Magliozzi, R., Howell, O. W., Reeves, C., Roncaroli, F., Nicholas, R., Serafini, B., Aloisi, F., and Reynolds, R. (2010). A Gradient of neuronal loss and meningeal inflammation in multiple sclerosis. *Ann. Neurol.* 68, 477–493.
- McGeer, P. L., Itagaki, S., Boyes, B. E., and McGeer, E. G. (1988a). Reactive microglia are positive for HLA-DR in the substantia nigra of Parkinson's and Alzheimer's disease brains. *Neurology* 38, 1285–1291.
- McGeer, P. L., Itagaki, S., and McGeer, E. G. (1988b). Expression of the histocompatibility glycoprotein HLA-DR in neurological disease. Acta Neuropathol. 76, 550–557.
- Messmer, K., and Reynolds, G. P. (1998). Increased peripheral benzodiazepine binding sites in the brain of patients with Huntington's disease. *Neurosci. Lett.* 241, 53–56.
- Michelucci, A., Heurtaux, T., Grandbarbe, L., Morga, E., and Heuschling, P. (2009). Characterization of the microglial phenotype under specific pro-inflammatory and antiinflammatory conditions: effects of oligomeric and fibrillar amyloidbeta. J. Neuroimmunol. 210, 3–12.
- Mirra, S. S., and Hyman, B. T. (2002). "Aging and dementia," in *Greenfield's Neuropathology*, Vol. 2, eds D. I. Graham and P. L. Lantos (London: Arnold), 195–271.
- Mogi, M., Harada, M., Riederer, P., Narabayashi, H., Fujita, K., and Nagatsu, T. (1994). Tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- alpha) increases both in the brain and in the cerebrospinal fluid from parkinsonian patients. *Neurosci. Lett.* 165, 208–210.
- Munoz, D. G., Dickson, D. W., Bergeron, C., Mackenzie, I. R., Delacourte, A., and Zhukareva, V. (2003). The neuropathology and biochemistry of frontotemporal dementia. *Ann. Neurol.* 54(Suppl. 15), 24–28.

- Napoli, I., and Neumann, H. (2009). Microglial clearance function in health and disease. *Neuroscience* 158, 1030–1038.
- Neary, D., Snowden, J. S., Gustafson, L., Passant, U., Stuss, D., Black, S., Freedman, M., Kertesz, A., Robert, P. H., Albert, M., Boone, K., Miller, B. L., Cummings, J., and Benson, D. F. (1998). Frontotemporal lobar degeneration: a consensus on clinical diagnostic criteria. *Neurology* 51, 1546–1554.
- Oh, U., Fujita, M., Ikonomidou, V. N., Evangelou, I. E., Matsuura, E., Harberts, E., Fujimura, Y., Richert, N. D., Ohayon, J., Pike, V. W., Zhang, Y., Zoghbi, S. S., Innis, R. B., and Jacobson, S. (2011). Translocator protein PET imaging for glial activation in multiple sclerosis. J. Neuroimmune Pharmacol. 6, 354–361.
- Okello, A., Edison, P., Archer, H. A., Turkheimer, F. E., Kennedy, J., Bullock, R., Walker, Z., Kennedy, A., Fox, N., Rossor, M., and Brooks, D. J. (2009a). Microglial activation and amyloid deposition in mild cognitive impairment: a PET study. *Neurology* 72, 56–62.
- Okello, A., Koivunen, J., Edison, P., Archer, H. A., Turkheimer, F. E., Någren, K., Bullock, R., Walker, Z., Kennedy, A., Fox, N. C., Rossor, M. N., Rinne, J. O., and Brooks, D. J. (2009b). Conversion of amyloid positive and negative MCI to AD over 3 years: an 11C-PIB PET study. *Neurology* 73, 754–760.
- Ouchi, Y., Yoshikawa, E., Sekine, Y., Futatsubashi, M., Kanno, T., Ogusu, T., and Torizuka, T. (2005). Microglial activation and dopamine terminal loss in early Parkinson's disease. Ann. Neurol. 57, 168–175.
- Owen, D. R., Howell, O. W., Tang, S. P., Wells, L. A., Bennacef, I., Bergstrom, M., Gunn, R. N., Rabiner, E. A., Wilkins, M. R., Reynolds, R., Matthews, P. M., and Parker, C. A. (2010). Two binding sites for [3H]PBR28 in human brain: implications for TSPO PET imaging of neuroinflammation. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 30, 1608–1618.
- Papadopoulos, V., Baraldi, M., Guilarte, T. R., Knudsen, T. B., Lacapère, J. J., Lindemann, P., Norenberg, M. D., Nutt, D., Weizman, A., Zhang, M. R., and Gavish, M. (2006). Translocator protein (18kDa): new nomenclature for the peripheral-type benzodiazepine receptor based on its structure and molecular function. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 27, 402–409.
- Paulus, W., Bancher, C., and Jellinger, K. (1993). Microglial reaction in Pick's disease. *Neurosci. Lett.* 161, 89–92.

- Pavese, N., Gerhard, A., Tai, Y. F., Ho, A. K., Turkheimer, F., Barker, R. A., Brooks, D. J., and Piccini, P. (2006). Microglial activation correlates with severity in Huntington disease: a clinical and PET study. *Neurology* 66, 1638–1643.
- Peterson, J. W., Bö, L., Mörk, S., Chang, A., and Trapp, B. D. (2001). Transected neurites, apoptotic neurons, and reduced inflammation in cortical multiple sclerosis lesions. *Ann. Neurol.* 50, 389–400.
- Petit-Taboué, M. C., Baron, J. C., Barré, L., Travère, J. M., Speckel, D., Camsonne, R., and MacKenzie, E. T. (1991). Brain kinetics and specific binding of [11C]PK 11195 to omega 3 sites in baboons: positron emission tomography study. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 200, 347–351.
- Petzold, A., Eikelenboom, M. J., Gveric, D., Keir, G., Chapman, M., Lazeron, R. H., Cuzner, M. L., Polman, C. H., Uitdehaag, B. M., Thompson, E. J., and Giovannoni, G. (2002). Markers for different glial cell responses in multiple sclerosis: clinical and pathological correlations. *Brain* 125, 1462–1473.
- Pike, V. W., Halldin, C., Crouzel, C., Barré, L., Nutt, D. J., Osman, S., Shah, F., Turton, D. R., and Waters, S. L. (1993). Radioligands for PET studies of central benzodiazepine receptors and PK (peripheral benzodiazepine) binding sites – current status. *Nucl. Med. Biol.* 20, 503–525.
- Politis, M., Gianneti, P., Su, P., Turkheimer, F., Keihaninejad, S., Wu, K., Waldman, A., Malik, O., Matthews, P. M., Reynolds, R., Nicholas, R., and Piccini, P. (in press). Increased PK11195 PET binding in the cortex of MS patients correlates with disability. *Neurology*.
- Politis, M., Pavese, N., Tai, Y. F., Kiferle, L., Mason, S. L., Brooks, D. J., Tabrizi, S. J., Barker, R. A., and Piccini, P. (2011). Microglial activation in regions related to cognitive function predicts disease onset in Huntington's disease: a multimodal imaging study. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 32, 258–270.
- Politis, M., Pavese, N., Tai, Y. F., Tabrizi, S. J., Barker, R. A., and Piccini, P. (2008). Hypothalamic involvement in Huntington's disease: an in vivo PET study. *Brain* 131(Pt 11), 2860–2869.
- Ransohoff, R. M., and Perry, V. H. (2009). Microglial physiology: unique stimuli, specialized responses. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 27, 119–145.
- Rasmussen, S., Wang, Y., Kivisäkk, P., Bronson, R. T., Meyer, M., Imitola,

J., and Khoury, S. J. (2007). Persistent activation of microglia is associated with neuronal dysfunction of callosal projecting pathways and multiple sclerosis-like lesions in relapsing-remitting experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Brain* 130(Pt 11), 2816–2829.

- Rebeiz, J. J., Kolodny, E. H., and Richardson, E. P. Jr. (1968). Corticodentatonigral degeneration with neuronal achromasia. Arch. Neurol. 18, 20–33.
- Sanchez-Guajardo, V., Febbraro, F., Kirik, D., and Romero-Ramos, M. (2010). Microglia acquire distinct activation profiles depending on the degree of alpha-synuclein neuropathology in a rAAV based model of Parkinson's disease. *PLoS ONE* 5, e8784. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0008784
- Sapp, E., Kegel, K. B., Aronin, N., Hashikawa, T., Uchiyama, Y., Tohyama, K., Bhide, P. G., Vonsattel, J. P., and DiFiglia, M. (2001). Early and progressive accumulation of reactive microglia in the Huntington disease brain. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 60, 161–172.
- Scarf, A. M., Ittner, L. M., and Kassiou, M. (2009). The translocator protein (18 kDa): central nervous system disease and drug design. J. Med. Chem. 52, 581–592.
- Schwarz, S. C., Seufferlein, T., Liptay, S., Schmid, R. M., Kasischke, K., Foster, O. J., Daniel, S., and Schwarz, J. (1998). Microglial activation in multiple system atrophy: a potential role for NF-kappaB/rel proteins. *Neuroreport* 9, 3029–3032.
- Setzu, A., Lathia, J. D., Zhao, C., Wells, K., Rao, M. S., Ffrench-Constant, C., and Franklin, R. J. (2006). Inflammation stimulates myelination by transplanted oligodendrocyte precursor cells. *Glia*. 54, 297–303.
- Singhrao, S. K., Neal, J. W., Morgan, B. P., and Gasque, P. (1999). Increased complement biosynthesis by microglia and complement activation on neurons in Huntington's disease. *Exp. Neurol.* 159, 362–376.
- Stadelmann, C., Kerschensteiner, M., Misgeld, T., Brück, W., Hohlfeld, R., and Lassmann, H. (2002). BDNF and gp145trkB in multiple sclerosis brain lesions: neuroprotective interactions between immune and neuronal cells? *Brain* 125(Pt 1), 75–85.
- Stalder, M., Phinney, A., Probst, A., Sommer, B., Staufenbiel, M., and Jucker, M. (1999). Association of microglia with amyloid plaques in brains of APP23 transgenic mice. *Am. J. Pathol.* 154, 1673–1684.

- Stefanova, N., Reindl, M., Neumann, M., Kahle, P. J., Poewe, W., and Wenning, G. K. (2007). Microglial activation mediates neurodegeneration related to oligodendroglial alphasynucleinopathy: implications for multiple system atrophy. *Mov. Dis*ord. 22, 2196–2203.
- Stephenson, D. T., Schober, D. A., Smalstig, E. B., Mincy, R. E., Gehlert, D. R., and Clemens, J. A. (1995). Peripheral benzodiazepine receptors are colocalized with activated microglia following transient global forebrain ischemia in the rat. J. Neurosci. 15(Pt 2), 5263–5274.
- Stone, D. K., Reynolds, A. D., Mosley, R. L., and Gendelman, H. E. (2009). Innate and adaptive immunity for the pathobiology of Parkinson's disease. *Antioxid. Redox Signal.* 11, 2151–2166.
- Suzumura, A., Sawada, M., and Marunouchi, T. (1996). Selective induction of interleukin-6 in mouse microglia by granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor. *Brain Res.* 713, 192–198.
- Tai, Y. F., Pavese, N., Gerhard, A., Tabrizi, S. J., Barker, R. A., Brooks, D. J., and Piccini, P. (2007). Microglial activation in presymptomatic Huntington's disease gene carriers. *Brain* 130(Pt 7), 1759–1766.
- Uchihara, T., Ikeda, K., and Tsuchiya, K. (2003). Pick body disease and Pick syndrome. *Neuropathology* 23, 318–326.
- Vas, A., Shchukin, Y., Karrenbauer, V. D., Cselényi, Z., Kostulas, K., Hillert, J., Savic, I., Takano, A., Halldin, C.,

and Gulyás, B. (2008). Functional neuroimaging in multiple sclerosis with radiolabelled glia markers: preliminary comparative PET studies with [11C]vinpocetine and [11C]PK11195 in patients. *J. Neurol. Sci.* 264. 9–17.

- Venneti, S., Lopresti, B. J., Wang, G., Hamilton, R. L., Mathis, C. A., Klunk, W. E., Apte, U. M., and Wiley, C. A. (2009). PK11195 labels activated microglia in Alzheimer's disease and in vivo in a mouse model using PET. *Neurobiol. Aging* 30, 1217–1226.
- Versijpt, J., Debruyne, J. C., Van Laere, K. J., De Vos, F., Keppens, J., Strijckmans, K., Achten, E., Slegers, G., Dierckx, R. A., Korf, J., and De Reuck, J. L. (2005). Microglial imaging with positron emission tomography and atrophy measurements with magnetic resonance imaging in multiple sclerosis: a correlative study. *Mult. Scler.* 11, 127–134.
- Vonsattel, J. P., and DiFiglia, M. (1998). Huntington disease. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 57, 369–384.
- Vowinckel, E., Reutens, D., Becher, B., Verge, G., Evans, A., Owens, T., and Antel, J. P. (1997). PK11195 binding to the peripheral benzodiazepine receptor as a marker of microglia activation in multiple sclerosis and experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J. Neurosci. Res.* 50, 345–353.
- Wiley, C. A., Lopresti, B. J., Venneti, S., Price, J., Klunk, W. E., DeKosky, S.T., and Mathis, C.A. (2009). Carbon 11-labelled Pittsburgh Compound

B and carbon 11-labelled ®-PK11195 positron emission tomographic imaging in Alzheimer disease. *Arch. Neurol.* 66, 60–67.

- Wilms, H., Claasen, J., Röhl, C., Sievers, J., Deuschl, G., and Lucius, R. (2003). Involvement of benzodiazepine receptors in neuroinflammatory and neurodegenerative diseases: evidence from activated microglial cells in vitro. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 14, 417–424.
- Wimo, A., Winblad, B., Aguero-Torres, H., and von Strauss, E. (2003). The magnitude of dementia occurrence in the world. *Alzheimer Dis. Assoc. Disord.* 17, 63–67.
- Yasuno, F., Ota, M., Kosaka, J., Ito, H., Higuchi, M., Doronbekov, T. K., Nozaki, S., Fujimura, Y., Koeda, M., Asada, T., and Suhara, T. (2008). Increased binding of peripheral benzodiazepine receptor in Alzheimer's disease measured by positron emission tomography with [11C]DAA1106. *Biol. Psychiatry* 64, 835–841.
- Yokokura, M., Mori, N., Yagi, S., Yoshikawa, E., Kikuchi, M., Yoshihara, Y., Wakuda, T., Sugihara, G., Takebayashi, K., Suda, S., Iwata, Y., Ueki, T., Tsuchiya, K. J., Suzuki, K., Nakamura, K., and Ouchi, Y. (2011). In vivo changes in microglial activation and amyloid deposits in brain regions with hypometabolism in Alzheimer's disease. *Eur. J. Nucl. Med. Mol. Imaging* 38, 343–351.
- Zhang, W., Wang, T., Pei, Z., Miller, D. S., Wu, X., Block, M. L., Wilson, B., Zhang, W., Zhou, Y., Hong, J.

S., and Zhang, J. (2005). Aggregated alpha-synuclein activates microglia: a process leading to disease progression in Parkinson's disease. *FASEB J.* 19, 533–542.

Zipp, F., Hartung, H. P., Hillert, J., Schimrigk, S., Trebst, C., Stangel, M., Infante-Duarte, C., Jakobs, P., Wolf, C., Sandbrink, R., Pohl, C., Filippi, M., and CCR1 Antagonist Study Group. (2006). Blockade of chemokine signaling in patients with multiple sclerosis. *Neurology* 67, 1880–1883.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 27 January 2012; accepted: 01 May 2012; published online: 29 May 2012.

Citation: Politis M, Su P and Piccini P (2012) Imaging of microglia in patients with neurodegenerative disorders. Front. Pharmacol. **3**:96. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2012.00096

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Neuropharmacology, a specialty of Frontiers in Pharmacology.

Copyright © 2012 Politis, Su and Piccini. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits noncommercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited. neurogenesis



Christine T. Ekdahl *

Inflammation and Stem Cell Therapy Group, Division of Clinical Neurophysiology, Wallenberg Neuroscience Center, Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund University and Skåne University Hospital, Lund, Sweden

Edited by:

Roger A. Barker, University of Cambridge and Addenbrooke's Hospital, UK

Reviewed by:

Bradley D. Pearce, Emory University School of Medicine, USA Gerd Kempermann, Center for Regenerative Therapies, Germany

*Correspondence:

Christine T. Ekdahl, Inflammation and Stem Cell Therapy Group, Division of Clinical Neurophysiology, Wallenberg Neuroscience Center, Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund University and Skåne University Hospital, Sölvegatan 17, SE-221 84 Lund, Sweden. e-mail: christine.ekdahl_clementson@ med.lu.se

New neurons are continuously generated in two adult brain regions: the subgranular zone of the hippocampus and the subependyma by the lateral ventricles, referred to as the neurogenic niches. During their development from neural stem cells to mature functionally integrated neurons numerous choices are made, such as proliferation or quiescence, cell survival or death, migration or establishment, growth or retraction of processes, synaptic assembly or pruning, or tuning of synaptic transmission. The process is altered by physiological stimuli as well as several brain diseases. Microglia are located within the neurogenic niches and have become interesting candidates for modulating neurogenesis in both the healthy and injured brain. They become activated by foreign antigens or changes in the brain homeostasis and transform this innate immunity into an adaptive immune response by recruiting systemic immune cells. Most studies report an acute decrease in the survival of new neurons following this classically activated microglia reaction. The long-term effects are more complex. In neurodegenerative diseases, microglial activation is more heterogeneous and the transformation from a pro- to an anti-inflammatory cytokine profile and the deactivation of microglia is not well defined. The diversity is reflected by numerous reports describing both beneficial and detrimental effects on neurogenesis, primarily on the proliferation, survival, and cell fate. However, relatively few studies have investigated alterations at later stages of neurogenesis including the functional integration. Though likely, it is not established how a fine-tuned cross-talk between microglia and adult-born neurons would work and how it changes upon microglia activation. This review will therefore launch three hypotheses for how microglia might direct synaptic integration of newborn neurons, currently a fast expanding research field.

Keywords: microglia, neurogenesis, synaptic pruning, synaptic transmission, adult-born neurons, subgranular zone, subependyma, neurogenic niche

FROM NEURAL STEM CELLS TO MATURE FUNCTIONALLY INTEGRATED NEURONS – CHOICES TO BE MADE

Neurogenesis persists in two adult brain regions: the subependyma of the lateral ventricles and the subgranular zone (SGZ) of the hippocampal dentate gyrus. In the subependymal layer, multipotential, self-renewing stem cells are the source of newly generated neurons migrating through the rostral migratory stream and incorporating into the olfactory bulb as interneurons (Seaberg and van der Kooy, 2002). New olfactory neurons are thought to participate in both long-term olfactory memory and predator avoidance (Sakamoto et al., 2011; Sultan et al., 2011). From the SGZ, neuronal and glial progenitors with limited self-renewal capacity migrate into the granule cell layer and develop primarily into granule cells, a few becomes interneurons (Seaberg and van der Kooy, 2002; Liu et al., 2003; Livneh and Mizrahi, 2011). The integration of new hippocampal neurons in the adult brain occurs over several months, with an initial tonic GABA-induced depolarization converting into an intermittent GABA-mediated hyperpolarization when the cells are 3 weeks of age (Ge et al., 2008). Mature excitatory synapses are visualized at about 2 months, while spine density

increases in the new neurons up to 6 months of age (Zhao et al., 2006). Simultaneously, axons grow and establish either functional glutamatergic synapses with hilar interneurons, mossy cells and CA3 pyramidal neurons (Toni and Sultan, 2011) or occasionally GABAergic inhibitory synapses with granule cells (Liu et al., 2003). The continuous integration of adult-born hippocampal neurons is important for synaptic transmission and bidirectional plasticity in the dentate gyrus. It is suggested to account for an efficient integration of novel incoming information and in memory formation (Dupret et al., 2008; Massa et al., 2011; Sahay et al., 2011), such as pattern separation and pattern integration (Deng et al., 2010).

The development of adult-born neurons may also be described as a continuous decision process. Neural stem cells/progenitors will have to decide whether to proliferate or stay in quiescence. Almost immediately after birth some cells undergo apoptotic death, while others survive. The surviving cells will choose a neuronal or glial fate and thereafter either stay and establish contacts within the SGZ or subependyma, the so-called neurogenic niches, or migrate into other brain regions. The integration of new neurons includes both growth and retraction of dendrites and axons, assembly and pruning of excitatory and inhibitory synapses, and homeostatic tuning of the established synaptic transmission. It becomes evident that in order for the new neurons to make the most appropriate choices for the overall function of the surrounding network, they are dependent on environment cues at most likely all developmental stages.

THE NEUROGENIC NICHE

It is conceivable that the local circuitries within the adult neurogenic niches have region-specific instructive roles in directing neuronal production and stem cell maintenance. It has even been suggested that they may shield ongoing neurogenesis from possible external inhibitory influences (Riquelme et al., 2008). The neurogenic niches consists of several cell types and structures, including: (1) astrocytes that envelop and contact all cell types and structures in the niche, secret diffusible signals, and form a gap junctiondependant syncytium by which they propagate signals and may regulate activation and differentiation of stem cells. They also act as neural stem cells/precursors (Riquelme et al., 2008), (2) ependymal cells by the subependymal layer that regulate the absorption of ions, transport factors from the cerebral spinal fluid into the parenchyma, and act as a source of secreted pro-neurogenic factors like transforming growth factor (TGF)-α and basic fibroblast growth factor (Riquelme et al., 2008), (3) blood vessels that undergo a parallel angiogenesis within the niche and often use common factors with neurogenesis such as vascular endothelial growth factor, nitric oxide and erythropoietin (Riquelme et al., 2008), (4) meningeal projections, extracellular matrix (ECM) proteins, basal lamina, and perivascular cells and fibroblasts, which propagate or modulate signals from the blood vessels and cerebral spinal fluid as well as from surrounding brain parenchyma. Emerging evidence underscore the important interaction between the adult-born neurons and ECM proteins. Cell adhesion to its environment includes matrix components, extracellular proteolytic enzymes, integrins, and non-receptor tyrosine kinases, which influence both gene expression and post-transcriptional signaling cascades (Riquelme et al., 2008; Wojcik-Stanaszek et al., 2011), (5) interneurons and other neighboring mature neurons already highly integrated into the hippocampal network, which may modulate neurogenesis by activity- and signaling-dependent mechanisms (Markwardt et al., 2011; Masiulis et al., 2011; Toni and Sultan, 2011), (6) oligodendrocytes, which are numerous in the subependyma but few in the SGZ. Their interaction with the neural progenitor cells is, however, so far unclear (Morrens et al., 2012), and (7) myeloid cells including microglia and dendritic cells, which are located in close proximity to the newborn neurons, where their activity correlates with the neurogenic response (Ekdahl et al., 2003; Monje et al., 2003; Bulloch et al., 2008; Sierra et al., 2010).

MICROGLIAL ACTIVATION IN THE ADULT BRAIN

A microglia activation profile is constantly modulated by either initiating factors, such as pathogen- or damage-associated molecular patterns (Schratt et al., 2006; Aronica and Crino, 2011) or alterations in electromagnetic fields (Richerson et al., 2005), or intracellular transducing signals, or feed-forward loops amplifying resolution mechanisms, or feed-back loops as counter-regulators

(Glass et al., 2010). During brain pathology, the microglial activation is often divided into two phenotypic profiles: the classical M1 and the alternative M2 activation/deactivation state (Gordon, 2003; Mosser, 2003; Michelucci et al., 2009). The classical M1 activation occurs as microglia encounter a foreign antigen. The microglia act as a first line of defense and participate in transforming the innate immunity into an adaptive immune response by recruiting systemic immune cells. The alternative and deactivated M2 phenotype, sometimes called "neuroprotective," is important when switching from a classical inflammatory response to a reduction of pro-inflammatory mediators, an increased production and release of anti-inflammatory cytokines, neurotrophic factors, and a production of cytoactive factors involved in repair and restructuring of the damaged ECM in the brain. However, these M2 phenotypes may also participate in chronic "neuroinflammation" in the brain (Colton, 2009). The heterogeneity becomes evident in for instance neurodegenerative diseases, where the transformation from a pro- to an anti-inflammatory cytokine profile and the deactivation of microglia is neither temporally nor spatially clearly defined. There are even suggestions for a dysfunctional microglia phenotype following long-lasting activation (Graeber, 2010).

In the healthy brain, microglia and/or perivascular cells have been suggested to form an "immunological blood-brain barrier" between the brain parenchyma and the vascular system. However upon activation, by for instance sterile inflammation following trauma, ischemia, or chemical damage, these cells may instead recruit blood-born neutrophils and macrophages and increase the amount of tissue damage (Perry, 2010; Rock et al., 2010; Graeber et al., 2011; Yirmiya and Goshen, 2011). Simultaneously, microglia seems to be able to protect neurons from systemic immune cells by direct engulfment of invading neutrophils (Neumann et al., 2008). Other circulating immune cells are, though, required to maintain and sense brain homeostasis through the choroid plexi, brain meninges and the cerebral blood fluid. For instance, recruitment of systemic circulating T cells specific to CNS antigens can promote the termination of a local neurotoxic inflammatory response together with microglia of a "neuroprotective" phenotype (Ziv et al., 2006; Shechter et al., 2009; Ron-Harel et al., 2011). Taken together, these findings suggest that the activation state of the microglia is closely intermingled with the alertness of systemic immune cells and that there may be a bidirectional cross-talk.

HETEROGENEOUS MICROGLIAL POPULATION WITHIN THE NEUROGENIC NICHES – REGION SPECIFICITY?

Microglial density and phenotype differ between regions of the healthy brain, which could implicate functional differences and sensitivity to the surrounding environment (Lawson et al., 1990; Olah et al., 2011). Also within the subependymal layer of the healthy adult rat brain, microglia constitute a heterogeneous cell population. Here, the vast majority of ionized calcium-binding adapter molecule 1 (Iba1)-immunostained microglia exhibit a ramified or surveying phenotype, followed by an intermediate form with shorter processes, less arborization, and larger soma (Thored et al., 2009). Few express an amoeboid or round morphology (**Figures 1A–D**). There are partly overlapping subpopulations of microglia expressing the phagocytic marker ED1,

associated with a pro-inflammatory profile, as well as major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II, insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1), and triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells-2, the three latter molecules being associated with alternative or anti-inflammatory microglia activation (Thored et al., 2009; Heldmann et al., 2011). Local proliferation of microglia occurs, but parts of the subependymal microglia population are also blood-born (Thored et al., 2009; Heldmann et al., 2011). Interestingly, following middle cerebral artery occlusion microglia develop different morphological phenotypes within the subependymal layer compared to the striatal peri-infarct area. The differences are evident at least 16 weeks post-injury, including fewer amoeboid and round microglia morphologies and an up-regulation of IGF-1 in the subependyma. This may imply a region-specific, permissive microglia population within the neurogenic niche (Thored et al., 2009). However, a regionspecific depletion of parts of the microglia population (expressing CD11b/Mac-1) within the subependyma, early after an ischemic lesion in rats, did not alter the number of newly formed neuroblasts in the striatum or their migratory distance (Heldmann et al., 2011).

In the hippocampal SGZ of rodents housed in an enriched environment, increased number of Iba1+ microglia co-labeled with the anti-inflammatory factors IGF-1 and MHC class II, were found together with T cell recruitment and an increase in neurogenesis. Moreover, T cell deficient mice showed reduced neurogenesis, which could not be overcome by an enriched environment (Ziv et al., 2006). The findings suggest a beneficial role of SGZ microglia possibly instructed by CNSspecific T cells. Conversely, following seizures and in neurodegenerative models of Alzheimer's disease, an increased number of Iba1+ microglia expressing ED1 is evident both acutely and chronically, and primarily cytotoxic for the new neurons (Ekdahl et al., 2003; Bonde et al., 2006; Biscaro, Lindvall, Tesco, Ekdahl, Nitsch, unpublished observation). Taken together, microglia are capable of developing both pro- and anti-inflammatory activation profiles in neurogenic brain areas. Moreover, it is possible that under certain circumstances the temporal and spatial constitution of the activation may even be region-specific.

Apart from the heterogeneous morphology and plethora of immune mediators, the motility and dynamic configurations of the microglia are also likely to reflect different functional aspects. Microglial processes are highly mobile and continuously rebuilt. Two-photon imaging of neocortex has shown active microglia continually surveying their microenvironment even in the normal brain (Nimmerjahn et al., 2005). The motility of microglia and perhaps region-specific features within the neurogenic niches remains to be characterized.

MICROGLIA – BENEFICIAL AND DETRIMENTAL FOR NEUROGENESIS

In the last two decades many studies have implicated a central role for brain parenchymal microglia as well as systemic immune cells during the generation of adult-born neurons (Ekdahl et al., 2009; Whitney et al., 2009; Molina-Holgado and Molina-Holgado, 2010; Russo et al., 2011a). Among the first evidence for a beneficial role

of microglia or microglia-released mediators are in vitro studies on neural stem cell cultures, where the formation of neuroblasts could be rescued by co-culturing with microglia or conditioned media from microglia (Aarum et al., 2003; Walton et al., 2006). This "pro-neurogenic" function of microglia has since then been further supported by a number of studies from the group of M. Schwartz. Originally, they demonstrated that microglia activated with cytokines related to T cell helper cells promoted neurogenesis in vitro (Butovsky et al., 2006) and that CNS-specific T helper cells regulate hippocampal neurogenesis in vivo (Ziv et al., 2006). Interestingly, mice devoided of T cells or both T and B cells showed impairments in several hippocampal-dependent spatial learning tests (Kipnis et al., 2004; Brynskikh et al., 2008; Ron-Harel et al., 2008), which could be improved by replenishing T cells or boosting T cell activation by agonist of self-reactive T cells (Kipnis et al., 2004). Even more intriguingly was the finding that cognitive tasks increased the number of T cells located within the meningeal spaces, where T cell depletion induced a proinflammatory phenotype of the myeloid cells (Derecki et al., 2010). Since neurogenesis is thought to be important for hippocampal plasticity and memory formation, the health of the systemic immune system could possibly directly or through the interaction with innate non-neuronal cell types, like microglia, continuously shape neuroplasticity in both the healthy and damaged brain. Another recent reports on the beneficial role of microglia for newly formed neurons comes from Bachstetter et al. (2011) who have studied the neuronal transmembrane chemokine fractalkine (FKN)/CX3CL1 and its microglia-expressed receptor, CX3CR1pathway. Disruption of this pathway in young adult rodents decreased both survival and proliferation of hippocampal neural progenitor cells (Bachstetter et al., 2011). Unchallenged microglia have also been demonstrated to engulf apoptotic bodies of neural progenitors in the SGZ. During normal neurogenesis in the healthy brain, a large proportion of neural progenitors undergo apoptosis within their first days in life. By rapidly removing cell debri, the scavenging properties of microglia could have an important regulator role at the early stages of neurogenesis (Sierra et al., 2010). However, it is not fully clear whether the phagocytosis is beneficial for the surrounding newborn neurons by reducing pro-inflammatory mediators, or may be detrimental by further inducing apoptotic neuronal death (Magnus et al., 2001; Neher et al., 2011).

The first studies suggesting an acute detrimental role of activated microglia for neurogenesis were performed in rats following intraparenchymal lipopolysaccharide (LPS) injections (Ekdahl et al., 2003; Monje et al., 2003). LPS-induced microglial activation led to a dramatic decrease in the survival of newly formed hippocampal neurons. The pivotal role of microglial activation was further substantiated following both epileptic seizures and irradiation, where hippocampal neurogenesis could be rescued by inhibiting microglia activation through either administration of the anti-inflammatory agent minocycline or nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (Ekdahl et al., 2003; Monje et al., 2003). Pro-inflammatory cytokines like interleukin (IL)-1, IL-6, and tumor necrosis factor (TNF), released acutely by activated microglia, have been suggested as important mediators between the microglia and the new neurons (Monje et al., 2003;



Iosif et al., 2006; Yirmiya and Goshen, 2011). Also prostaglandins released by the microglia may negatively regulate different steps of neurogenesis. In support, mice lacking cyclooxygenase-1 lack both the acute LPS-induced decrease in proliferation, survival, and differentiation of new hippocampal neurons (Russo et al., 2011b).

When the initiating agent for microglia activation is no longer present and the acute pro-inflammatory phase is over, an antiinflammatory cytokine profile may develop, as shown after LPSstimulation (Cacci et al., 2008). This profile may be beneficial for the newly formed neurons, since for instance administration of anti-inflammatory cytokines like TGF-β, has provided beneficial effects on neurogenesis in the subependyma (Mathieu et al., 2010a). However, if the microglia are continuously activated, they may partly sustain their release of oxidative stressors, which could be neurotoxic (Glass et al., 2010; Nathan and Ding, 2010; Polazzi and Monti, 2010). The result may be disease-specific interaction between microglia and the newborn neurons (Graeber et al., 2011). Microglia are, though, important for terminating immune/immune-like responses, by, i.e., recruitment of systemic immune cells (Frank-Cannon et al., 2009; Shechter et al., 2009; Polazzi and Monti, 2010; Rivest, 2011; Ron-Harel et al., 2011), and may thereby protect new neurons and even recruit neural progenitors for repair (Czeh et al., 2010; Mathieu et al., 2010b). The correlation between seizure-induced microglial activation and neurogenesis is a typical example of this complexity. A severe seizure insult induces a strong transient increase in hippocampal neurogenesis (Parent et al., 1997), followed by a chronic decrease below control levels (Hattiangady and Shetty, 2010). In the acute phase, microglia activation is prominent within the SGZ and has been

suggested to compromise the early survival of the new neurons (Ekdahl et al., 2003). Six months later, the microglial activation is decreased but still present (Bonde et al., 2006; Figure 1E). This may imply also a long-term negative correlation between the production of new neurons and the chronically activated microglia. However, the newly formed neurons generated directly after the seizure insult, that survived the acute post-seizure environment, are still present 6 months later. They have even been estimated to comprise about 10% of the total dentate granule cell layer. These adult-born neurons are surrounded by the chronically activated microglia, which may instead favor a possible supportive role of the chronically activated microglia (Bonde et al., 2006). Because the initial seizure insult is followed by additional spontaneous seizures throughout the life of the animals, there is a possibility for recurrent triggering of the microglial activation. Whether subpopulations of microglia with either detrimental or beneficial effect on the surrounding newborn neurons co-exist within the neurogenic niche is not known and may be directly depending on the number of spontaneous seizures. The initial severity of the seizure insult is directly correlated to both the number of activated microglia as well as the neurogenic response (Mohapel et al., 2004). In addition, parts of the newly generated neurons migrate aberrantly out into the dentate hilus, which may perhaps be due to the well-known seizure-induced death of hilar interneurons and the prominent population of activated hilar microglia. Collectively, these findings support a primarily beneficial interaction between microglia and new neurons in the intact brain. However, the cross-talk is complex and probably double-edged in pathological conditions, especially following long-term microglial activation.

THE ROLE OF MICROGLIA DURING FUNCTIONAL INTEGRATION OF ADULT-BORN NEURONS – AN EQUALIZER AMPLIFYING AND FILTERING SYNAPTIC SIGNALING?

Until now, most studies on the cross-talk between microglia and adult-born neurons have focused on the effect on the early stages of neurogenesis, such as proliferation, survival, and neuronal fate. The role of microglia at later stages of neurogenesis, i.e., during synaptic assembly, stability, and transmission is less characterized. Today, there is no direct evidence that microglia could regulate synaptic integration of adult-born neurons. However, there is some evidence and several suggestions that microglia regulate synaptic pruning and transmission in mature neurons, currently a fast expanding research area. Three main working hypotheses can be put forward for how microglia may also regulate synaptic integration of adult-born neurons: (1) involvement of microglia in synaptogenesis and pruning, (2) modulation of perisynaptic structures, and (3) spine structure and synaptic transmission.

MICROGLIA MAY BE INVOLVED IN SYNAPTOGENESIS AND PRUNING OF SYNAPSES ON ADULT-BORN NEURONS

This hypothesis is based on recent studies describing how microglia may be involved in synaptic elimination/stripping/pruning by phagocytic engulfment of synapses on mature neurons in the healthy brain (Paolicelli et al., 2011; Tremblay and Majewska, 2011). By electron microscopy and twophoton in vivo imaging of the primary visual cortex of juvenile mice during visual manipulations, subtle changes in the behavior of quiescent microglia were observed. This included geometric regulation of perisynaptic extracellular spaces, contact with subsets of structurally dynamic and transient dendritic spines, and phagocytic engulfment of intact synapses (Tremblay et al., 2010; Tremblay and Majewska, 2011). The findings were further substantiated by Paolicelli et al. (2011) proposing synaptic pruning by microglia during postnatal development in mice. Mice lacking microglia expressing the chemokine FKN receptor CX3CR1, exhibited a transient reduction in microglia number correlated with a delayed synaptic pruning. This resulted in an excess of dendritic spines and immature electrophysiological properties of CA1 pyramidal neurons at P13 and P16 in the CX3CR1 knockout mice (Paolicelli et al., 2011). The occurrence of synaptic pruning has also been correlated with the duration of the microglia-synaptic contacts. In vivo imaging studies of the ischemic brain, suggest more persistent contacts between microglia processes and dendritic spines and axon terminals, compared to the transient 4-5 min of normal contacts observed in the healthy brain. Following longer interactions in the pathological environment, these contacted synapses often disappeared (Wake et al., 2009; Kettenmann et al., 2011). In several brain pathologies, such as following axonal lesions or immune mediated-cortical lesions, pruning of synapses from the perikaryon and dendrites is evident. The suggested consequence of synaptic pruning during these conditions has been neuroprotection (Cullheim and Thams, 2007; Trapp et al., 2007; Kettenmann et al., 2011).

An interesting possible signaling pathway between the microglia and the synaptic structures on the new neurons is the complement cascade. Since the complements are involved in

opsonization and cytolysis, they have become attractive possible candidates for executing synaptic pruning in both the healthy and injured brain. Mice deficient in the initiating protein in the classical complement cascade, C1q, exhibit large sustained defects in synapse elimination, excessive excitatory synapses and axon terminals in mature neurons (Stevens et al., 2007; Chu et al., 2010). Neural progenitor cells and immature neurons express the receptors for complement fragments C3a and C5a. C3a stimulates neuronal migration and differentiation, by modulating stromal cell-derived factor-1a-induced extracellular-signal-regulated kinases phosphorylation. Mice lacking C3 signaling (including C3a and C5a) have reduced basal neurogenesis as well as decreased survival of ischemia-generated new striatal neurons (Rahpeymai et al., 2006; Shinjyo et al., 2009). Also complement receptor 2 (Cr2) is expressed in adult neural progenitor cells from the dentate gyrus, though, Cr2 knockout mice exhibit increased hippocampal neurogenesis (Moriyama et al., 2011). Together these results suggest a fundamental role of the complements for neurogenesis, including proper synaptic pruning and integration of newly formed neurons. However, in a mouse model of glaucoma, unwanted synapses may be tagged by complement for elimination, which suggests that complement-mediated synaptic pruning can become aberrantly reactivated in neurodegenerative disease (Stevens et al., 2007). In human temporal lobe epilepsy with hippocampal sclerosis, the complements factors are expressed in both astrocytes, mature neurons and microglia, but particularly in microglia (Aronica et al., 2007). Whether it is really the microglia that eliminate the complement-tagged neuronal synaptic terminals on either mature or newly formed neurons, in the intact and the damaged brain, is not yet shown (Perry and O'Connor, 2008; Tremblay and Majewska, 2011). Another suggested pathway between microglia and newborn neurons is the MHC class I and its related receptors, which is expressed in both microglia and in neurospheres and the subependymal layer (Popa et al., 2011). MHC class I molecules have been shown to influence both the strength and pattern of synaptic elimination (Cullheim and Thams, 2007; Kettenmann et al., 2011).

MICROGLIA MAY MODULATE THE PERISYNAPTIC STRUCTURE OF SYNAPSES ON ADULT-BORN NEURONS

Microglia might affect synaptic transmission though proteolytic modification of the perisynaptic environment (Tremblay and Majewska, 2011). This would include inactivation, degradation, and/or activation of the ECM, leading to compartmentalization of proteases, ions, cytokines, and neurotransmitters within individual synapses. One interesting possible pathway is through the matrix metalloproteases (MMP), such as MMP-9, shown already to be involved in the migration and differentiation of adult neural progenitor cells in the subependymal layer (Barkho et al., 2008) Another candidate is via a disintegrin and metalloproteases (ADAMs), implicated in dopamine-induced release of epidermal growth factor from stem cells in the subventricular zone (O'Keeffe and Barker, 2011). Proteolytic remodeling of the ECM by MMPs may convert trophic factors to their biologically active forms (i.e., vascular endothelial growth factor and TGF-B) and thereby influence synaptic integration. ECM ligands, such as integrin receptors, provide outside-in signals for cells to sense their microenvironment. This leads to modulation of receptor tyrosine kinases, which closely cooperate with growth factors (Wojcik-Stanaszek et al., 2011).

MICROGLIA MAY MODULATE THE STRUCTURE OF DENDRITIC SPINES AND SYNAPTIC TRANSMISSION IN ADULT-BORN NEURONS

Another mechanism by which microglia may regulate neuronal activity is through remodeling of dendritic spine morphology, including size, shape, and motility (Tremblay and Majewska, 2011), as well as synaptic adhesion and transmission. The dendritic structure is closely associated with its synaptic activity and activity-driven changes in synaptic efficacy may modulate spine morphology due to alterations in the underlying actin cytoskeleton (Fortin et al., 2011).

There are also several immune mediators involved in synaptic remodeling of mature neurons. For instance, in cultured hippocampal neurons, TNF receptor-associated protein 1 knockdown modulated the morphology of dendritic spines (Kubota et al., 2009). TNF deficient mice displayed also smaller dendritic trees in the hippocampus (McCoy and Tansey, 2008). Furthermore, mice lacking IL-1ß receptor had reduced dendritic spine size (Goshen et al., 2009) and IL-6 over-expression in cerebellar granule cells caused impairments in granule cell adhesion, migration, and increased formation of excitatory synapses on granule cells (Wei et al., 2011). MicroRNAs, which may control the expression of hundreds of genes (Schratt et al., 2006), were recently suggested to be interacting with immune mediators. Knocking down miR-132 in PC12 cells resulted in an increased expression of especially pro-inflammatory molecules. Interestingly, retroviral knockdown of miR-132 impaired the integration of newborn neurons in the adult hippocampus. (Luikart et al., 2011). However, whether or not the structural synaptic changes in either mature or newly formed neurons directly depend on cytokines released by the microglia is not clear.

When synapses have been established, microglia might finetune the synaptic strength to ensure proper synaptic transmission and plasticity (Beique et al., 2011). Mice lacking CX3CR1 show alterations in both hippocampal long-term potentiation (LTP) and long-term depression (LTD), supporting a microglia-driven neuronal plasticity during development and in mature neurons (Bachstetter et al., 2011; Maggi et al., 2011; Paolicelli et al., 2011). In addition, LPS-activated microglia in acute mice hippocampal slices enhance the frequencies of excitatory postsynaptic currents in mature neurons. This effect was abolished by applying purinergic antagonists, especially against the P2Y1 receptor, which is only expressed on interneurons and astrocytes in the hippocampus. By producing ATP, microglia may thereby act on astrocytes through purinergic signaling, which could amplify the ATP production, release glutamate, and act on mature neuronal glutamatergic receptors (Tremblay et al., 2011). Moreover, prolonged changes in electrical activity may lead to uniform adjustments in the strength of all synapses, called homeostatic synaptic scaling/tuning (Stellwagen and Malenka, 2006). Synaptic scaling in response to prolonged blockade of neuronal activity in vitro can be mediated by TNF-α from glial cells (astrocytes and/or microglia; Stellwagen and Malenka, 2006). Also, TNF- α may increase the expression of

AMPA receptors on synapses (Pickering et al., 2005), resulting in excitatory synaptic scaling, and decrease GABAA receptor expression (McCoy and Tansey, 2008). When adult-born hippocampal neurons integrate into a pathological environment, hosting either seizure- (Jakubs et al., 2006) or LPS-induced microglial activation (Jakubs et al., 2008; **Figures 1F,G**), they possess an increased inhibitory synaptic drive onto their afferent synapses, compared to new neurons formed in healthy conditions. Conversely, in a less severe seizure-environment, without a prominent microglial activation, this increase is lacking (Wood et al., 2011). How or whether it is really the microglial activation that account for these changes observed in the synaptic transmission of newborn neurons needs further investigations, though, it is a tempting speculation.

Microglia may also regulate synaptic transmission in newly formed neurons by directly targeting synaptic adhesion molecules. Seizure-induced microglial activation is associated with structural changes in dendrite spine formation (Murphy et al., 2011), as well as altered expression of synaptic adhesion molecules and scaffolding proteins on newly formed hippocampal neurons (Jackson, Chugh, Nilsson, Karlström, Lindvall, Ekdahl, unpublished observation). In support, several adhesion molecules have been shown to modulate synaptic integration of newborn neurons. One of the most studied adhesion molecules is the polysialated neural cell adhesion molecule (NCAM), which is specifically expressed on new neurons (Gascon et al., 2010). Another interesting pathway is the N-cadherin/beta-catenin/neurogenin signaling cascade, which has been shown to modulate adhesion, neuronal differentiation, and neurite outgrowth in neurospheres (Chen et al., 2006). Also the adhesion molecules neuroligin 3 and 4 are involved in presynaptic differentiation and synapse formation in human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived neurons (Kim et al., 2011). The adhesion molecules may be regulated by immune mediators released by microglia, such as TNF. A recent report described reduced expression of the N-cadherin by TNF receptor-associated protein 1 knockdown in cultured hippocampal neurons (Kubota et al., 2009).

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Various brain pathologies and physiological stimulations modify neurogenesis (Zhao et al., 2008). Two of the strongest modulators include epileptic seizures involving the SGZ of the dentate gyrus (Bengzon et al., 1997; Parent et al., 1997; Jakubs et al., 2006) and ischemia close to the subependymal layer (Arvidsson et al., 2002). Understanding the signaling pathways between the new neurons and the environment within the neurogenic niches in pathological conditions, may yield new targets for therapeutic interventions. Several drugs are currently studied in order to increase the neuroprotective functions of microglia or to shift the microglial phenotype toward neuroprotection (Polazzi and Monti, 2010). However, microglia in particular may exhibit strong compensatory mechanisms upon external modulation and quickly rearrange their proliferation capacity and phenotypic characteristics. The heterogeneity of the microglial activation makes predictions of the outcome from immune-modulating therapies very difficult (Rivest, 2011). Future studies on the impact of more subtle tunings of the cross-talk between microglia and the newly formed neurons may perhaps ease these interventions.

- Aarum, J., Sandberg, K., Haeberlein, S. L., and Persson, M. A. (2003). Migration and differentiation of neural precursor cells can be directed by microglia. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 100, 15983–15988.
- Aronica, E., Boer, K., van Vliet, E. A., Redeker, S., Baayen, J. C., Spliet, W. G., van Rijen, P. C., Troost, D., da Silva, F. H., Wadman, W. J., and Gorter, J. A. (2007). Complement activation in experimental and human temporal lobe epilepsy. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 26, 497–511.
- Aronica, E., and Crino, P. B. (2011). Inflammation in epilepsy: clinical observations. *Epilepsia* 52(Suppl. 3), 26–32.
- Arvidsson, A., Collin, T., Kirik, D., Kokaia, Z., and Lindvall, O. (2002). Neuronal replacement from endogenous precursors in the adult brain after stroke. *Nat. Med.* 8, 963–970.
- Bachstetter, A. D., Morganti, J. M., Jernberg, J., Schlunk, A., Mitchell, S. H., Brewster, K. W., Hudson, C. E., Cole, M. J., Harrison, J. K., Bickford, P. C., and Gemma, C. (2011). Fractalkine and CX 3 CR1 regulate hippocampal neurogenesis in adult and aged rats. *Neurobiol. Aging* 32, 2030–2044.
- Barkho, B. Z., Munoz, A. E., Li, X., Li, L., Cunningham, L. A., and Zhao, X. (2008). Endogenous matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-3 and MMP-9 promote the differentiation and migration of adult neural progenitor cells in response to chemokines. *Stem Cells* 26, 3139–3149.
- Beique, J. C., Na, Y., Kuhl, D., Worley, P. F., and Huganir, R. L. (2011). Arcdependent synapse-specific homeostatic plasticity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 108, 816–821.
- Bengzon, J., Kokaia, Z., Elmer, E., Nanobashvili, A., Kokaia, M., and Lindvall, O. (1997). Apoptosis and proliferation of dentate gyrus neurons after single and intermittent limbic seizures. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 94, 10432–10437.
- Bonde, S., Ekdahl, C. T., and Lindvall, O. (2006). Long-term neuronal replacement in adult rat hippocampus after status epilepticus despite chronic inflammation. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 23, 965–974.
- Brynskikh, A., Warren, T., Zhu, J., and Kipnis, J. (2008). Adaptive immunity affects learning behavior in mice. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 22, 861–869.
- Bulloch, K., Miller, M. M., Gal-Toth, J., Milner, T. A., Gottfried-Blackmore, A., Waters, E. M., Kaunzner, U. W., Liu, K., Lindquist, R., Nussenzweig, M. C., Steinman, R. M., and McEwen, B. S. (2008). CD11c/EYFP

transgene illuminates a discrete network of dendritic cells within the embryonic, neonatal, adult, and injured mouse brain. *J. Comp. Neurol.* 508, 687–710.

- Butovsky, O., Ziv, Y., Schwartz, A., Landa, G., Talpalar, A. E., Pluchino, S., Martino, G., and Schwartz, M. (2006). Microglia activated by IL-4 or IFN-gamma differentially induce neurogenesis and oligodendrogenesis from adult stem/progenitor cells. *Mol. Cell. Neurosci.* 31, 149–160.
- Cacci, E., Ajmone-Cat, M. A., Anelli, T., Biagioni, S., and Minghetti, L. (2008). In vitro neuronal and glial differentiation from embryonic or adult neural precursor cells are differently affected by chronic or acute activation of microglia. *Glia* 56, 412–425.
- Chen, J., Zacharek, A., Li, Y., Li, A., Wang, L., Katakowski, M., Roberts, C., Lu, M., and Chopp, M. (2006). N-cadherin mediates nitric oxideinduced neurogenesis in young and retired breeder neurospheres. *Neuroscience* 140, 377–388.
- Chu, Y., Jin, X., Parada, I., Pesic, A., Stevens, B., Barres, B., and Prince, D. A. (2010). Enhanced synaptic connectivity and epilepsy in C1q knockout mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 7975–7980.
- Colton, C. A. (2009). Heterogeneity of microglial activation in the innate immune response in the brain. *J. Neuroimmune Pharmacol.* 4, 399–418.
- Cullheim, S., and Thams, S. (2007). The microglial networks of the brain and their role in neuronal network plasticity after lesion. *Brain Res. Rev.* 55, 89–96.
- Czeh, M., Gressens, P., and Kaindl, A. M. (2010). The yin and yang of microglia. *Dev. Neurosci.* 33, 199–209.
- Deng, W., Aimone, J. B., and Gage, F. H. (2010). New neurons and new memories: how does adult hippocampal neurogenesis affect learning and memory? *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 11, 339–350.
- Derecki, N. C., Cardani, A. N., Hui Yang, C., Quinnies, K. M., Crihfield, A., Lynch, K. L., and Kipnis, J. (2010). Regulation of learning and memory by meningeal immunity: a key role for IL-4. *J. Exp. Med.* 207, 1067–1080.
- Dupret, D., Revest, J. M., Koehl, M., Ichas, F., De Giorgi, F., Costet, P., Abrous, D. N., and Piazza, P. V. (2008). Spatial relational memory requires hippocampal adult neurogenesis. *PLoS ONE* 3, e1959. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0001959

- Ekdahl, C. T., Claasen, J. H., Bonde, S., Kokaia, Z., and Lindvall, O. (2003). Inflammation is detrimental for neurogenesis in adult brain. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 100, 13632–13637.
- Ekdahl, C. T., Kokaia, Z., and Lindvall, O. (2009). Brain inflammation and adult neurogenesis: the dual role of microglia. *Neuroscience* 158, 1021–1029.
- Fortin, D. A., Srivastava, T., and Soderling, T. R. (2011). Structural modulation of dendritic spines during synaptic plasticity. *Neuroscientist.* doi:10.1177/1073858411407206 [Epub ahead of print].
- Frank-Cannon, T. C., Alto, L. T., McAlpine, F. E., and Tansey, M. G. (2009). Does neuroinflammation fan the flame in neurodegenerative diseases? *Mol. Neurodegener.* 4, 47.
- Gascon, E., Vutskits, L., and Kiss, J. Z. (2010). The role of PSA-NCAM in adult neurogenesis. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* 663, 127–136.
- Ge, S., Sailor, K. A., Ming, G. L., and Song, H. (2008). Synaptic integration and plasticity of new neurons in the adult hippocampus. *J. Physiol.* 586, 3759–3765.
- Glass, C. K., Saijo, K., Winner, B., Marchetto, M. C., and Gage, F. H. (2010). Mechanisms underlying inflammation in neurodegeneration. *Cell* 140, 918–934.
- Gordon, S. (2003). Alternative activation of macrophages. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 3, 23–35.
- Goshen, I., Avital, A., Kreisel, T., Licht, T., Segal, M., and Yirmiya, R. (2009). Environmental enrichment restores memory functioning in mice with impaired IL-1 signaling via reinstatement of long-term potentiation and spine size enlargement. J. Neurosci. 29, 3395–3403.
- Graeber, M. B. (2010). Changing face of microglia. *Science* 330, 783–788.
- Graeber, M. B., Li, W., and Rodriguez, M. L. (2011). Role of microglia in CNS inflammation. *FEBS Lett.* 585, 3798–3805.
- Hattiangady, B., and Shetty, A. K. (2010). Decreased neuronal differentiation of newly generated cells underlies reduced hippocampal neurogenesis in chronic temporal lobe epilepsy. *Hippocampus* 20, 97–112.
- Heldmann, U., Mine, Y., Kokaia, Z., Ekdahl, C. T., and Lindvall, O. (2011). Selective depletion of Mac-1-expressing microglia in rat subventricular zone does not alter neurogenic response early after stroke. *Exp. Neurol.* 229, 391–398.

- Iosif, R. E., Ekdahl, C. T., Ahlenius, H., Pronk, C. J., Bonde, S., Kokaia, Z., Jacobsen, S. E., and Lindvall, O. (2006). Tumor necrosis factor receptor 1 is a negative regulator of progenitor proliferation in adult hippocampal neurogenesis. *J. Neurosci.* 26, 9703–9712.
- Jakubs, K., Bonde, S., Iosif, R. E., Ekdahl, C. T., Kokaia, Z., Kokaia, M., and Lindvall, O. (2008). Inflammation regulates functional integration of neurons born in adult brain. J. Neurosci. 28, 12477–12488.
- Jakubs, K., Nanobashvili, A., Bonde, S., Ekdahl, C. T., Kokaia, Z., Kokaia, M., and Lindvall, O. (2006). Environment matters: synaptic properties of neurons born in the epileptic adult brain develop to reduce excitability. *Neuron* 52, 1047–1059.
- Kettenmann, H., Hanisch, U. K., Noda, M., and Verkhratsky, A. (2011). Physiology of microglia. *Physiol. Rev.* 91, 461–553.
- Kim, J. E., O'Sullivan, M. L., Sanchez, C. A., Hwang, M., Israel, M. A., Brennand, K., Deerinck, T. J., Goldstein, L. S., Gage, F. H., Ellisman, M. H., and Ghosh, A. (2011). Investigating synapse formation and function using human pluripotent stem cell-derived neurons. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 3005–3010
- Kipnis, J., Cohen, H., Cardon, M., Ziv, Y., and Schwartz, M. (2004). T cell deficiency leads to cognitive dysfunction: implications for therapeutic vaccination for schizophrenia and other psychiatric conditions. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 101, 8180–8185.
- Kubota, K., Inoue, K., Hashimoto, R., Kumamoto, N., Kosuga, A., Tatsumi, M., Kamijima, K., Kunugi, H., Iwata, N., Ozaki, N., Takeda, M., and Tohyama, M. (2009). Tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated protein 1 regulates cell adhesion and synaptic morphology via modulation of N-cadherin expression. J. Neurochem. 110, 496–508.
- Lawson, L. J., Perry, V. H., Dri, P., and Gordon, S. (1990). Heterogeneity in the distribution and morphology of microglia in the normal adult mouse brain. *Neuroscience* 39, 151–170.
- Liu, S., Wang, J., Zhu, D., Fu, Y., Lukowiak, K., and Lu, Y. M. (2003). Generation of functional inhibitory neurons in the adult rat hippocampus. J. Neurosci. 23, 732–736.
- Livneh, Y., and Mizrahi, A. (2011). Long-term changes in the morphology and synaptic distributions of adult-born neurons. J. Comp. Neurol. 519, 2212–2224.

- Luikart, B. W., Bensen, A. L., Washburn, E. K., Perederiy, J. V., Su, K. G., Li, Y., Kernie, S. G., Parada, L. F., and Westbrook, G. L. (2011). miR-132 mediates the integration of newborn neurons into the adult dentate gyrus. *PLoS ONE* 6, e19077. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0019077
- Maggi, L., Scianni, M., Branchi, I., D'Andrea, I., Lauro, C., and Limatola, C. (2011). CX₃CR1 deficiency alters hippocampal-dependent plasticity phenomena blunting the effects of enriched environment. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 5:22. doi:10.3389/fncel.2011.00022
- Magnus, T., Chan, A., Grauer, O., Toyka, K. V., and Gold, R. (2001). Microglial phagocytosis of apoptotic inflammatory T cells leads to down-regulation of microglial immune activation. *J. Immunol.* 167, 5004–5010.
- Markwardt, S. J., Dieni, C. V., Wadiche, J. I., and Overstreet-Wadiche, L. (2011). Ivy/neurogliaform interneurons coordinate activity in the neurogenic niche. *Nat. Neurosci.* 14, 1407–1409.
- Masiulis, I., Yun, S., and Eisch, A. J. (2011). The interesting interplay between interneurons and adult hippocampal neurogenesis. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 44, 287–302.
- Massa, F., Koehl, M., Wiesner, T., Grosjean, N., Revest, J. M., Piazza, P. V., Abrous, D. N., and Oliet, S. H. (2011). Conditional reduction of adult neurogenesis impairs bidirectional hippocampal synaptic plasticity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 6644–6649.
- Mathieu, P., Piantanida, A. P., and Pitossi, F. (2010a). Chronic expression of transforming growth factorbeta enhances adult neurogenesis. *Neuroimmunomodulation* 17, 200–201.
- Mathieu, P., Battista, D., Depino, A., Roca, V., Graciarena, M., and Pitossi, F. (2010b). The more you have, the less you get: the functional role of inflammation on neuronal differentiation of endogenous and transplanted neural stem cells in the adult brain. *J. Neurochem.* 112, 1368–1385.
- McCoy, M. K., and Tansey, M. G. (2008). TNF signaling inhibition in the CNS: implications for normal brain function and neurodegenerative disease. J. Neuroinflammation 5, 45.
- Michelucci, A., Heurtaux, T., Grandbarbe, L., Morga, E., and Heuschling,
 P. (2009). Characterization of the microglial phenotype under specific pro-inflammatory and antiinflammatory conditions: effects of

oligomeric and fibrillar amyloidbeta. J. Neuroimmunol. 210, 3–12.

- Mohapel, P., Ekdahl, C. T., and Lindvall, O. (2004). Status epilepticus severity influences the long-term outcome of neurogenesis in the adult dentate gyrus. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 15, 196–205.
- Molina-Holgado, E., and Molina-Holgado, F. (2010). Mending the broken brain: neuroimmune interactions in neurogenesis. J. Neurochem. 114, 1277–1290.
- Monje, M. L., Toda, H., and Palmer, T. D. (2003). Inflammatory blockade restores adult hippocampal neurogenesis. *Science* 302, 1760–1765.
- Moriyama, M., Fukuhara, T., Britschgi, M., He, Y., Narasimhan, R., Villeda, S., Molina, H., Huber, B. T., Holers, M., and Wyss-Coray, T. (2011). Complement receptor 2 is expressed in neural progenitor cells and regulates adult hippocampal neurogenesis. J. Neurosci. 31, 3981–3989.
- Morrens, J., Van Den Broeck, W., and Kempermann, G. (2012). Glial cells in adult neurogenesis. *Glia* 60, 159–174.
- Mosser, D. M. (2003). The many faces of macrophage activation. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 73, 209–212.
- Murphy, B. L., Pun, R. Y., Yin, H., Faulkner, C. R., Loepke, A. W., and Danzer, S. C. (2011). Heterogeneous integration of adult-generated granule cells into the epileptic brain. *J. Neurosci.* 31, 105–117.
- Nathan, C., and Ding, A. (2010). Nonresolving inflammation. *Cell* 140, 871–882.
- Neher, J. J., Neniskyte, U., Zhao, J. W., Bal-Price, A., Tolkovsky, A. M., and Brown, G. C. (2011). Inhibition of microglial phagocytosis is sufficient to prevent inflammatory neuronal death. J. Immunol. 186, 4973–4983.
- Neumann, J., Sauerzweig, S., Ronicke, R., Gunzer, F., Dinkel, K., Ullrich, O., Gunzer, M., and Reymann, K. G. (2008). Microglia cells protect neurons by direct engulfment of invading neutrophil granulocytes: a new mechanism of CNS immune privilege. J. Neurosci. 28, 5965–5975.
- Nimmerjahn, A., Kirchhoff, F., and Helmchen, F. (2005). Resting microglial cells are highly dynamic surveillants of brain parenchyma in vivo. Science 308, 1314–1318.
- O'Keeffe, G. C., and Barker, R. A. (2011). Dopamine stimulates epidermal growth factor release from adult neural precursor cells derived from the subventricular zone by a disintegrin and metalloprotease. *Neuroreport* 22, 956–958.
- Olah, M., Biber, K., Vinet, J., and Boddeke, H. W. (2011). Microglia

phenotype diversity. CNS Neurol. Disord. Drug Targets 10, 108–118.

- Paolicelli, R. C., Bolasco, G., Pagani, F., Maggi, L., Scianni, M., Panzanelli, P., Giustetto, M., Ferreira, T. A., Guiducci, E., Dumas, L., Ragozzino, D., and Gross, C. T. (2011). Synaptic pruning by microglia is necessary for normal brain development. *Science* 333, 1456–1458.
- Parent, J. M., Yu, T. W., Leibowitz, R. T., Geschwind, D. H., Sloviter, R. S., and Lowenstein, D. H. (1997). Dentate granule cell neurogenesis is increased by seizures and contributes to aberrant network reorganization in the adult rat hippocampus. J. Neurosci. 17, 3727–3738.
- Perry, V. H. (2010). Contribution of systemic inflammation to chronic neurodegeneration. Acta Neuropathol. 120, 277–286.
- Perry, V. H., and O'Connor, V. (2008). C1q: the perfect complement for a synaptic feast? *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 9, 807–811.
- Pickering, M., Cumiskey, D., and O'Connor, J. J. (2005). Actions of TNF-alpha on glutamatergic synaptic transmission in the central nervous system. *Exp. Physiol.* 90, 663–670.
- Polazzi, E., and Monti, B. (2010). Microglia and neuroprotection: from in vitro studies to therapeutic applications. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 92, 293–315.
- Popa, N., Cedile, O., Pollet-Villard, X., Bagnis, C., Durbec, P., and Boucraut, J. (2011). RAE-1 is expressed in the adult subventricular zone and controls cell proliferation of neurospheres. *Glia* 59, 35–44.
- Rahpeymai, Y., Hietala, M. A., Wilhelmsson, U., Fotheringham, A., Davies, I., Nilsson, A. K., Zwirner, J., Wetsel, R. A., Gerard, C., Pekny, M., and Pekna, M. (2006). Complement: a novel factor in basal and ischemiainduced neurogenesis. *EMBO J.* 25, 1364–1374.
- Richerson, S., Ingram, M., Perry, D., and Stecker, M. M. (2005). Classification of the extracellular fields produced by activated neural structures. *Biomed. Eng. Online* 4, 53. doi:10.1186/1475-925X-4-53
- Riquelme, P. A., Drapeau, E., and Doetsch, F. (2008). Brain microecologies: neural stem cell niches in the adult mammalian brain. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci.* 363, 123–137.
- Rivest, S. (2011). The promise of antiinflammatory therapies for CNS injuries and diseases. *Expert Rev. Neurother*, 11, 783–786.

- Rock, K. L., Latz, E., Ontiveros, F., and Kono, H. (2010). The sterile inflammatory response. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 28, 321–342.
- Ron-Harel, N., Cardon, M., and Schwartz, M. (2011). Brain homeostasis is maintained by "danger" signals stimulating a supportive immune response within the brain's borders. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 25, 1036–1043.
- Ron-Harel, N., Segev, Y., Lewitus, G. M., Cardon, M., Ziv, Y., Netanely, D., Jacob-Hirsch, J., Amariglio, N., Rechavi, G., Domany, E., and Schwartz, M. (2008). Age-dependent spatial memory loss can be partially restored by immune activation. *Rejuvenation Res.* 11, 903–913.
- Russo, I., Barlati, S., and Bosetti, F. (2011a). Effects of neuroinflammation on the regenerative capacity of brain stem cells. *J. Neurochem.* 116, 947–956.
- Russo, I., Amornphimoltham, P., Weigert, R., Barlati, S., and Bosetti, F. (2011b). Cyclooxygenase-1 is involved in the inhibition of hippocampal neurogenesis after lipopolysaccharide-induced neuroinflammation. *Cell Cycle* 10, 2568–2573.
- Sahay, A., Scobie, K. N., Hill, A. S., O'Carroll, C. M., Kheirbek, M. A., Burghardt, N. S., Fenton, A. A., Dranovsky, A., and Hen, R. (2011). Increasing adult hippocampal neurogenesis is sufficient to improve pattern separation. *Nature* 472, 466–470.
- Sakamoto, M., Imayoshi, I., Ohtsuka, T., Yamaguchi, M., Mori, K., and Kageyama, R. (2011). Continuous neurogenesis in the adult forebrain is required for innate olfactory responses. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 8479–8484.
- Schratt, G. M., Tuebing, F., Nigh, E. A., Kane, C. G., Sabatini, M. E., Kiebler, M., and Greenberg, M. E. (2006). A brain-specific microRNA regulates dendritic spine development. *Nature* 439, 283–289.
- Seaberg, R. M., and van der Kooy, D. (2002). Adult rodent neurogenic regions: the ventricular subependyma contains neural stem cells, but the dentate gyrus contains restricted progenitors. *J. Neurosci.* 22, 1784–1793.
- Shechter, R., London, A., Varol, C., Raposo, C., Cusimano, M., Yovel, G., Rolls, A., Mack, M., Pluchino, S., Martino, G., Jung, S., and Schwartz, M. (2009). Infiltrating bloodderived macrophages are vital cells playing an anti-inflammatory role

in recovery from spinal cord injury in mice. *PLoS Med.* 6, e1000113. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1000113

- Shinjyo, N., Stahlberg, A., Dragunow, M., Pekny, M., and Pekna, M. (2009). Complement-derived anaphylatoxin C3a regulates in vitro differentiation and migration of neural progenitor cells. *Stem Cells* 27, 2824–2832.
- Sierra, A., Encinas, J. M., Deudero, J. J., Chancey, J. H., Enikolopov, G., Overstreet-Wadiche, L. S., Tsirka, S. E., and Maletic-Savatic, M. (2010). Microglia shape adult hippocampal neurogenesis through apoptosiscoupled phagocytosis. *Cell Stem Cell* 7, 483–495.
- Stellwagen, D., and Malenka, R. C. (2006). Synaptic scaling mediated by glial TNF-alpha. *Nature* 440, 1054–1059.
- Stevens, B., Allen, N. J., Vazquez, L. E., Howell, G. R., Christopherson, K. S., Nouri, N., Micheva, K. D., Mehalow, A. K., Huberman, A. D., Stafford, B., Sher, A., Litke, A. M., Lambris, J. D., Smith, S. J., John, S. W., and Barres, B. A. (2007). The classical complement cascade mediates CNS synapse elimination. *Cell* 131, 1164–1178.
- Sultan, S., Rey, N., Sacquet, J., Mandairon, N., and Didier, A. (2011). Newborn neurons in the olfactory bulb selected for long-term survival through olfactory learning are prematurely suppressed when the olfactory memory is erased. *J. Neurosci.* 31, 14893–14898.
- Thored, P., Heldmann, U., Gomes-Leal, W., Gisler, R., Darsalia, V., Taneera, J.,

Nygren, J. M., Jacobsen, S. E., Ekdahl, C. T., Kokaia, Z., and Lindvall, O. (2009). Long-term accumulation of microglia with proneurogenic phenotype concomitant with persistent neurogenesis in adult subventricular zone after stroke. *Glia* 57, 835–849.

- Toni, N., and Sultan, S. (2011). Synapse formation on adult-born hippocampal neurons. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 33, 1062–1068.
- Trapp, B. D., Wujek, J. R., Criste, G. A., Jalabi, W., Yin, X., Kidd, G. J., Stohlman, S., and Ransohoff, R. (2007). Evidence for synaptic stripping by cortical microglia. *Glia* 55, 360–368.
- Tremblay, M. E., Lowery, R. L., and Majewska, A. K. (2010). Microglial interactions with synapses are modulated by visual experience. *PLoS Biol.* 8, e1000527. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.1000527
- Tremblay, M. E., and Majewska, A. K. (2011). A role for microglia in synaptic plasticity? *Commun. Integr. Biol.* 4, 220–222.
- Tremblay, M. E., Stevens, B., Sierra, A., Wake, H., Bessis, A., and Nimmerjahn, A. (2011). The role of microglia in the healthy brain. *J. Neurosci.* 31, 16064–16069.
- Wake, H., Moorhouse, A. J., Jinno, S., Kohsaka, S., and Nabekura, J. (2009). Resting microglia directly monitor the functional state of synapses in vivo and determine the fate of ischemic terminals. *J. Neurosci.* 29, 3974–3980.
- Walton, N. M., Sutter, B. M., Laywell, E. D., Levkoff, L. H., Kearns, S. M.,

Marshall, G. P. II, Scheffler, B., and Steindler, D. A. (2006). Microglia instruct subventricular zone neurogenesis. *Glia* 54, 815–825.

- Wei, H., Zou, H., Sheikh, A. M., Malik, M., Dobkin, C., Brown, W. T., and Li, X. (2011). IL-6 is increased in the cerebellum of autistic brain and alters neural cell adhesion, migration and synaptic formation. *J. Neuroinflammation* 8, 52.
- Whitney, N. P., Eidem, T. M., Peng, H., Huang, Y., and Zheng, J. C. (2009). Inflammation mediates varying effects in neurogenesis: relevance to the pathogenesis of brain injury and neurodegenerative disorders. J. Neurochem. 108, 1343–1359.
- Wojcik-Stanaszek, L., Gregor, A., and Zalewska, T. (2011). Regulation of neurogenesis by extracellular matrix and integrins. *Acta Neurobiol. Exp.* (*Wars*) 71, 103–112.
- Wood, J. C., Jackson, J. S., Jakubs, K., Chapman, K. Z., Ekdahl, C. T., Kokaia, Z., Kokaia, M., and Lindvall, O. (2011). Functional integration of new hippocampal neurons following insults to the adult brain is determined by characteristics of pathological environment. *Exp. Neurol.* 229, 484–493.
- Yirmiya, R., and Goshen, I. (2011). Immune modulation of learning, memory, neural plasticity and neurogenesis. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 25, 181–213.
- Zhao, C., Deng, W., and Gage, F. H. (2008). Mechanisms and functional implications of adult neurogenesis. *Cell* 132, 645–660.

- Zhao, C., Teng, E. M., Summers, R. G. Jr., Ming, G. L., and Gage, F. H. (2006). Distinct morphological stages of dentate granule neuron maturation in the adult mouse hippocampus. J. Neurosci. 26, 3–11.
- Ziv, Y., Ron, N., Butovsky, O., Landa, G., Sudai, E., Greenberg, N., Cohen, H., Kipnis, J., and Schwartz, M. (2006).
 Immune cells contribute to the maintenance of neurogenesis and spatial learning abilities in adulthood. *Nat. Neurosci.* 9, 268–275.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 30 November 2011; paper pending published: 20 December 2011; accepted: 23 February 2012; published online: 09 March 2012.

Citation: Ekdahl CT (2012) Microglial activation – tuning and pruning adult neurogenesis. Front. Pharmacol. **3**:41. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2012.00041

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Neuropharmacology, a specialty of Frontiers in Pharmacology.

Copyright © 2012 Ekdahl. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.



Alzheimer's disease, neuroprotection, and CNS immunosenescence

Wolfgang J. Streit * and Qing-Shan Xue

Department of Neuroscience, University of Florida College of Medicine and McKnight Brain Institute, Gainesville, FL, USA

Edited by:

Roger A. Barker, University of Cambridge and Addenbrooke's Hospital, UK

Reviewed by:

Francesca Cicchetti, Université Laval, Canada Hans Lassmann, Center for Brain Research, Austria

*Correspondence:

Wolfgang J. Streit, Department of Neuroscience, University of Florida, PO Box 100244, Gainesville, FL 32610-0244, USA. e-mail: streit@mbi.ufl.edu

INTRODUCTION

The role of CNS microglial cells in the development of Alzheimer's disease(AD) has been the subject of considerable interest since McGeer's initial description of reactive microglia in human AD brain in 1987 (McGeer et al., 1987). Most of the numerous studies that followed corroborated McGeer's findings and collectively over the years they coalesced into the amyloid cascadeneuroinflammation hypothesis, which claims that neurodegenerative changes in AD (neurofibrillary degeneration) are the result of an uncontrolled, chronic intracerebral inflammatory reaction triggered by the accumulation/aggregation of amyloid-beta (AB) protein in plaques. Today, the neuroinflammation hypothesis is difficult to uphold given that clinical trials with anti-inflammatory drugs and strategies to remove AB from the brain have met with disappointing results and have yielded little in the way of effective treatments for humans. In this paper, we briefly describe our own vision of what may be the role of microglia in AD pathogenesis, which is different in that our primary focus is not on a single protein $(A\beta)$ as the cause of AD, but instead relies on the incontrovertible fact that the incidence of sporadic AD is strongly correlated with aging. Our theory, which we call the microglial dysfunction hypothesis, states that neurodegeneration in AD is the result of an aging-related, gradually progressive breakdown of innate CNS immunity and loss of neuroprotection, i.e., microglial cell senescence. In contrast to normal aging this deterioration of innate CNS immunity appears to be accelerated in AD. The difference in perspective between the dysfunction hypothesis and the neuroinflammation theory is due in large part to our conviction that microglia are entirely beneficial cells, whose single-most important function is to provide neuronal protection at all times in the normal and injured CNS. In the following, we shall discuss succinctly several microglial neuroprotective functions and how senescent deterioration of these could contribute to development of neurodegenerative changes.

This review is focused on discussing in some detail possible neuroprotective functions of microglial cells. We strive to explain how loss of these essential microglial functions might contribute toward the development of characteristic neuropathological features that characterize Alzheimer's disease. The conceptual framework guiding our thinking is provided by the hypothesis that microglial senescence accounts for impaired neuronal protection and consequent neurodegeneration.

Keywords: Alzheimer's disease, CNS immunosenescence, impaired neuronal protection, microglial cells, microglial senescence, neurodegeneration, neuropathological features, neuroprotection

THE BRAIN'S INNATE IMMUNE SYSTEM IS NEUROPROTECTIVE

Even though doubts about the very existence of microglia were expressed in textbooks until the early 1990s (Graeber, 2010), the notion that microglia are the key cellular elements comprising the brain's innate immune system (Graeber and Streit, 1990; Streit and Kincaid-Colton, 1995) is now widely recognized. A common view that has been expressed many times is that together with peripheral macrophages, such as Kupffer cells of the liver, Langerhans cells of the epidermis, or alveolar macrophages in the lung, microglia are another member of the mononuclear phagocyte system, i.e., a tissue-specific macrophage. While there is little doubt regarding validity of a mononuclear lineage relationship, microglia in the CNS do not maintain a macrophage state constitutively or continuously. In the normal adult brain, microglia display a welldifferentiated, dendritic morphology similar to that of other brain cells. They exhibit multiple, finely branched cytoplasmic processes with which they constantly explore the CNS microenvironment searching for disturbances that may require their quick response (Nimmerjahn et al., 2005; Tremblay et al., 2010). These ramified microglia are sensors of pathology (Kreutzberg, 1996; Stence et al., 2001; Petersen and Dailey, 2004; Davalos et al., 2005) and they do not exhibit macrophage morphology, nor do they express the typical macrophage marker, CD68 (recognized by ED1 antibody in the rat). Even activated microglia with hypertrophic morphology express the CD68 antigen only after having engaged in phagocytic activity (Graeber et al., 1998). It is therefore only under conditions of tissue/cell necrosis when debris must be phagocytized that microglia show expression of CD68 and can therefore be considered brain macrophages. The currently popular idea of differentiating functionally distinct macrophage phenotypes classified as M1 (cytotoxic), M2 (reparative), and a third, "deactivated" form might thus apply merely to those few microglial cells that at any given time are in a macrophage state during CNS injury or disease. To generalize and assume that the M1/M2 classification applies to the microglial population at large represents a rather indiscriminate extrapolation of in vitro studies performed with peripheral macrophages (Colton, 2009; Michelucci et al., 2009; Moon et al., 2011), and it could be misleading to assume that resting and activated microglia within the brain microenvironment function in the same manner as peripheral (professional) macrophages that have been cultured and manipulated in vitro with cytokines. There is currently no way of reliably identifying functionally distinct microglial phenotypes in brain tissue in situ and without this capability no real progress on functional involvement of putative M1 or M2 microglial subtypes in the cellular pathogenesis of AD can be made. In part because of this we are assuming that all microglia are potentially beneficial cells and our view of microglial involvement in AD is rooted firmly in that assumption. It is known that the CNS parenchyma represents a unique compartment that is segregated to a large extent from the rest of the body by the blood brain barrier (BBB), and that it represents an immunologically subdued environment (Ford et al., 1995; Perry et al., 1995; Carson et al., 1998; Hoek et al., 2000; Cardona et al., 2006), although not necessarily an "immunologically privileged site" (Galea et al., 2007). There are no constitutively active (professional) macrophages in the brain parenchyma under normal conditions. Our definition of a microglial cell is that of a cell type of the mononuclear cell lineage that has evolved to be highly adapted and specialized for residing within the unique CNS microenvironment. As such its immunological potential is limited largely to phagocytosis while its neuroprotective capabilities are maximized, and one might thus view microglia as a hybrid between a moderately immunocompetent mononuclear cell and a powerful neuroprotective glial cell.

We view the neuroprotective capabilities of microglia in the broadest possible meaning of the term, namely, anything that microglia do that is beneficial for and/or conducive toward proper neuronal functioning. One obvious beneficial function of microglia is simply their ability to transform into macrophages that can clear out debris and process waste when/if the need arises. These microglia-derived macrophages are not necessarily cytotoxic because much of the debris generated within the brain, for example after trauma or is chemia, is sterile (Chen and Nunez, 2010) and would thus not require elaboration of cytotoxins to kill microorganisms. Direct infection of the CNS with microorganisms is largely prevented by the natural barriers of skull, meninges, and BBB, but if these fail and when microorganisms do gain access to the parenchyma, they are likely to be eliminated quickly and efficiently by microglial cells and probably without too much collateral damage, as there are multiple mechanisms involved in post-infection neuropathology other than microglial neurotoxicity (Nau and Bruck, 2002; Mariani and Kielian, 2009; Ribes et al., 2011). One condition that deserves special mention is infection with the human immunodeficiency virus-1 (HIV-1), where microglial cells themselves are the target of the infectious agent (Michaels et al., 1988). It is therefore reasonable to assume that the functionality of HIV-infected microglia is compromised, although in ways that are not yet entirely understood. From our perspective, compromised microglial function includes primarily an impaired ability to provide neuroprotection, and it is perhaps because of



FIGURE 1 | Lectin staining of microglia (brown) in the normal cerebral cortex of a rabbit shows two microglial cells (arrows) extending their processes around cortical neurons. This close spatial relationship suggests ongoing interactions between resting microglia and neurons. Neurons are stained with cresyl violet. Scale bar: $50 \,\mu$ m.

this that patients with HIV/AIDS frequently suffer from the consequences of neurodegeneration, a.k.a. HIV-associated dementia (Anthony and Bell, 2008). It seems obvious that compromised innate immunity within the CNS due to HIV infection is what accounts at least in part for the high incidence of opportunistic CNS infections in HIV/AIDS patients, notably toxoplasmosis (Mariani and Kielian, 2009).

A second and very direct neuroprotective function provided by microglia is the production and secretion of neurotrophic factors, notably BDNF (Elkabes et al., 1996; Batchelor et al., 1999; Suzuki et al., 2001; Nakajima et al., 2002; Coull et al., 2005) and NGF (Mallat et al., 1989; Heese et al., 1997; Frade and Barde, 1998), but also others like TGF-β (Kiefer et al., 1993; Lehrmann et al., 1998), bFGF (Araujo and Cotman, 1992), and GDNF (Batchelor et al., 1999; Suzuki et al., 2001). Production of neurotrophins by microglia is usually increased after injury/during recovery when the cells become activated and neurons require more neurotrophic support than under normal conditions. However, even under normal conditions microglia are likely to sustain neuronal functioning during periods of high activity or sub-pathological stress when smaller doses of neurotrophic factors may be required. Although it is difficult to demonstrate directly that this type of specific microglialneuronal interaction actually occurs, histological images showing some neurons covered tightly by microglial processes suggests that this could be the case (Figure 1). Different neuronal populations require different neurotrophic factors and quite possibly microglia have the ability to sense which factors and how much of them may be needed in any particular circumstance. Their ability to migrate and home in on neurons in need is essential for facilitating such targeted neuroprotection.

A third way in which microglia can be neuroprotective is by diverting noxious and potentially harmful substances away from neurons. It has long been known that astrocytes take up excess glutamate from the extracellular space under conditions of heightened neuronal activity in an effort to minimize glutamate-mediated excitotoxicity. During the past 10 years it has become clear that astrocytes are not alone in this effort and that activated microglial cells also participate in the removal of glutamate by upregulating primarily glutamate transporter-1 (GLT-1) in vivo following traumatic lesions as well as in vitro after stimulation with LPS, TNF- α , or neuronal conditioned medium (Lopez-Redondo et al., 2000; Nakajima et al., 2001, 2008; van Landeghem et al., 2001). Interestingly, glutamate uptake by microglia is coupled to enhanced glutathione synthesis by microglia, perhaps reflecting an effort by the cells to protect themselves from damage (Persson et al., 2006). These studies underscore the extensive crosstalk that takes place continuously between microglia and neurons. In addition to glutamate, a second substance with considerable and non-specific damage potential is free, redox-active iron, which may be present either as ferric (Fe^{+3}) or ferrous (Fe^{+2}) ions. We propose that the sequestration of free iron in the CNS by ferritin in microglia constitutes an important neuroprotective mechanism that becomes most relevant when there is a breach in the BBB and the possibility exists of free iron entering the brain parenchyma. The evidence for this mechanism of microglial neuroprotection is as follows: we and others have previously reported that many of the dystrophic (senescent) microglia in human brain are positive for the iron storage protein, ferritin (Simmons et al., 2007; Lopes et al., 2008), suggesting that the sequestration and concomitant accidental escape of free iron atoms can contribute to microglial senescence by increasing oxidative stress within these cells. This has raised the interesting and novel possibility that microglia rather than neurons may be primary victims of oxidative damage (Dringen, 2005; Lopes et al., 2008; Nakanishi and Wu, 2009), representing somewhat of a paradigm shift since in the past microglia have been seen primarily as a source of free radicals that endanger neuronal survival (Colton and Gilbert, 1987; Boje and Arora, 1992; Chao et al., 1992). It seems plausible then to think that microglia can protect neurons by taking the brunt of at least some oxidative stress and deflecting it away, which makes sense since microglia are relatively expendable and possess renewal capacity from within the CNS (mitosis) or from bone-marrow derived precursor cells. One might draw the analogy to the game of chess where pawns are sacrificed to save the more valuable pieces. Compatible with this idea of microglial self-sacrifice is evidence from animal experiments showing that activated microglia in the axotomized facial nucleus are negative for ferritin (unpublished) and that therefore ferritin expression in microglia is not necessarily linked to microglial activation. Importantly, transection of the facial nerve leaves the BBB undisturbed, but conversely, when a brain lesion does result in a breach of the BBB some microglia do become ferritin-positive and even dystrophic (Xue et al., 2010). Thus, neuroprotective microglia are like the HazMat Team in the CNS which will put itself in harm's way to protect neurons.

A final aspect of microglial neuroprotection within the scope of this discussion concerns their emerging role in the regulation of the plasticity of neuronal circuits, that is, their involvement in the pruning/elimination and maintenance of synaptic connections. This aspect of the microglial functional repertoire was recognized for the first time more than 40 years ago by Blinzinger and Kreutzberg (1968), yet it remained largely unexplored until quite recently when a number of laboratories started to reexamine and

delve deeper into this phenomenon. It now appears that microglial regulation of neuronal connectivity is important during development, as well as in the normal and injured adult brain (Wake et al., 2009; Tremblay et al., 2010; Paolicelli et al., 2011). The stripping of synapses from axotomized motoneurons (Blinzinger and Kreutzberg, 1968) perhaps best illustrates a direct neuroprotective effect of such cellular action in that displacement of synapses from the surface of injured motoneurons may prevent afferent excitation, which is hardly needed at a time when motoneurons are working to regenerate their severed axons (Streit, 1993). In fact, tight microglial ensheathment of injured motoneurons instantaneously fulfills multiple goals of neuroprotection: while preventing unnecessary excitation through synaptic displacement, it also puts microglia into very close proximity to the neuronal cell soma to facilitate targeted delivery of neurotrophic factors and, in addition, it perfectly prepositions microglia for rapid phagocytosis should a neuron fail to survive as a result of having been axotomized. Elimination of synapses during development (Paolicelli et al., 2011) or during altered sensory processing (Tremblay et al., 2010) is neuroprotective insofar as it facilitates the proper formation and rearrangement of synaptic connections and thus optimizes neuronal functioning.

NEUROINFLAMMATION AND THE SIGNIFICANCE OF MICROGLIAL ACTIVATION IN AD

Countless studies in laboratory animals involving experimental CNS lesions have shown that microglia become activated rapidly in response to neuronal injury (Kreutzberg, 1996; Kettenmann et al., 2011). This prompt cellular reaction to CNS tissue injury (glial activation), which can occur within seconds after injury (Nimmerjahn et al., 2005), constitutes acute neuroinflammation. The primary purpose of such acute inflammation, being limited in its range to the immediate vicinity of the lesion, is to initiate wound healing and to restore homeostasis as soon as possible, and microglial activation subsides as healing occurs. Excess microglia generated during the activation response via mitosis of resident cells undergo programmed cell death which reduces cell numbers back to baseline (Gehrmann and Banati, 1995; Jones et al., 1997; Conde and Streit, 2006), constituting a form of physiological cell death perhaps similar to what happens in normal ontogenetic development. One seemingly trivial insight to be gained from these lesion studies is that they clearly establish the causeand-effect relationship between injury and subsequent microglial activation underscoring the fundamental definition of inflammation, i.e., the cellular response to injury. In the context of AD and the amyloid cascade-neuroinflammation theory a cause-andeffect relationship is anything but trivial. Although deposition of the Aß protein is seen by many as a trigger for microglial activation in AD and has thus given rise to a large body of literature resulting from sundry experimental approaches, there is no consensus to date whether or not Aß actually stimulates microglial activation. Case in point, we and others have observed that some human brains with substantial AB loads reveal a notable lack of microglial activation (Itagaki et al., 1989; Ohgami et al., 1991; Streit et al., 2009; Figure 2). Similarly, the supposition that microglial cells are involved in the clearance of AB has not been proven. Generally speaking, studies performed in vitro with cultured microglia



FIGURE 2 | Double immunofluorescent staining for microglia (Iba1) and Aβ protein (10D5) in the cerebral cortex of a human with Down syndrome reveals apparently normal, non-activated microglia in and around Aβ deposits. Microglia are ramified and show no evidence of having internalized any Aβ protein. Two microglial cells show presence of intracellular, autofluorescent lipofuscin (arrows). Scale bar: 50 μm.

provide the only convincing evidence that microglia can phagocytize A β protein, but these stand in stark contrast to most studies in A β -overexpressing animal models (which do not) and certainly to studies in human brain which reveal a lack of A β phagocytosis by microglia. Thus, the relationship between A β , microglial activation, and/or neuroinflammation remains enigmatic and perplexing even after more than 20 years of intense research. If one also considers the alleged causal connection between amyloid deposits and neurofibrillary degeneration the picture gets blurred even more as this connection seems to grow weaker and evidence is mounting against rather than in favor of it.

Yet another issue that complicates our understanding of neuroinflammation in AD is found in the fact that primary infections outside of the CNS influence the state of microglial cells. In particular, sepsis, which is more commonly found in elderly patients due to compromised immune function, will induce microglial activation within the brain (Lemstra et al., 2007; Streit et al., 2009). It is likely that there are other types of systemic pathology that may do so as well (Mattiace et al., 1990). Nearly all prior studies that have reported microglial activation and/or upregulation of inflammatory cytokines in the CNS of AD subjects have not made a distinction between cases that were free of peripheral infectious disease and those that were not, and it is therefore quite possible that neuroinflammatory changes reported could have been the result of peripheral diseases. Studies are underway in our laboratory to further investigate this possibility.

MICROGLIAL SENESCENCE AND NEURODEGENERATION – CONNECTING THE DOTS

The discovery of dystrophic microglia in human brain represents a critical step in conceiving the microglial dysfunction hypothesis because it raises the possibility that microglia are subject to senescence and degeneration (Streit et al., 2004). Dystrophic microglia were first identified in the aged human brain as cells displaying abnormal morphological features, such as shortened, gnarled, beaded, or fragmented cytoplasmic processes, as well as loss of fine ramifications and formation of spheroidal swellings. Because they are present in greater numbers in aged vs. young humans microglial dystrophy is thought to reflect degenerative changes related to cell senescence. Our subsequent demonstration of a close spatial and temporal relationship between neurofibrillary degeneration (tau pathology) and microglial dystrophy in subjects with either AD or Down syndrome has provided another crucial piece in the puzzle consolidating the dysfunction theory by linking microglial senescence and neurodegeneration (Streit et al., 2009; Xue and Streit, 2011). Additional support for this link is derived also from the well-known fact that aged rodents typically do not develop neurofibrillary degeneration, and that microglial degeneration has been undetectable in uninjured rodent brain (Streit and Xue, 2010). Clearly, the next major step in advancing this line of thinking would be to induce microglial dystrophy experimentally and determine if it is accompanied by neurodegenerative changes. Current efforts in our laboratory are directed toward that goal.

The morphological abnormalities that characterize dystrophic microglia have been described in detail before (Streit et al., 2004, 2009; Xue and Streit, 2011), suffice it to say here that the most advanced and striking change involves fragmentation of the cells' cytoplasm, which is termed cytorrhexis (**Figure 3**). Cytorrhexis reflects obvious degeneration of cell structure and it appears to be the end result of a progression from beading of processes to subsequent fragmentation not unlike what has been observed during axonal degeneration (Kerschensteiner et al., 2005; Coleman and Freeman, 2010). We view microglial cytorrhexis as a form of accidental cell death with as of yet unknown causes, although much points toward undue oxidative stress as a likely etiologic factor. Our prior work has shown that cytorrhexis does not involve detectable nuclear fragmentation further supporting the idea of an accidental rather than an apoptotic mechanism (Fendrick et al., 2007).

With regard to the aforementioned neuroprotective roles of microglia, there are a number of interesting points to consider in terms of how deterioration of these neuroprotective functions could be critically important in the development of aging-related neurodegenerative diseases. Phagocytosis of debris by microglia is an essential cellular activity that ensures maintenance of a clean, debris-free brain parenchyma, and is conducive toward facilitating optimal interneuronal electrochemical signaling. A substantial decline in microglial phagocytosis due to cell senescence and/or degeneration would almost certainly contribute to NDD development (Neumann et al., 2009). In addition, impaired phagocytosis could be a factor contributing to reduced clearance of amyloid deposits, a possibility that has been raised in previous reports (Fiala et al., 2005; Streit et al., 2008; Njie et al., 2012). Areas of the human brain showing advanced tau pathology are characterized by widespread presence of cytorrhectic microglia but also reveal a conspicuous absence of phagocytic activity. This very likely reflects the fact that fragmented microglia cells no longer are capable of performing phagocytosis, which explains why areas of tau pathology are littered with uncleared microglial debris. Although not yet shown, it would hardly come as a surprise to find out that the ability



FIGURE 3 | Comparison of normal (ramified) and degenerating (dystrophic) microglia using Iba1 immunostaining in human cerebral cortex. (A) 22-year-old male non-demented subject reveals cells with

of cytorrhectic microglia to produce sufficient amounts of neurotrophic factors is much reduced. The possibility also exists that dying microglial cells could elaborate toxic factors, which might be a way to reconcile the dysfunction and neuroinflammation

ideas. For quite some time now the presence of increased brain iron and/or a disturbance in iron metabolism has been seen as a major factor contributing directly to free radical mediated neuronal degeneration (Jellinger et al., 1990; Dexter et al., 1991; Youdim and Riederer, 1993; Lynch et al., 2000; Berg et al., 2001; Zecca et al., 2004; Smith et al., 2010). Here again, microglial degeneration offers an opportunity to deepen our understanding of the importance of brain iron in the pathogenesis of neurodegenerative diseases. As levels of brain iron increase with aging, perhaps due in part to presence of microbleeds, the burden for resident microglial cells in sequestering free iron through ferritin expression becomes progressively higher. At the same time the risk for microglia to develop degenerative changes through iron-mediated oxidative stress is heightened, thus resulting in an ever increasing number of dystrophic and dysfunctional microglial cells with impaired ability to provide neuroprotection. Observations in humans showing that a large proportion of ferritin-positive microglia are dystrophic and that these dystrophic cells accumulate in advanced lesions (senile plaques) substantiate this line of thinking (Kaneko et al., 1989; Lopes et al., 2008; Xue and Streit, 2011).

As mentioned, there is an increasing number of recent studies that suggest significant involvement of microglia in synaptic plasticity (Tremblay et al., 2011). If microglia are indeed the electricians of the brain and important for maintaining synaptic integrity of neuronal circuits (Graeber, 2010), then their deterioration in the

REFERENCES

- Anthony, I. C., and Bell, J. E. (2008). The neuropathology of HIV/AIDS. *Int. Rev. Psychiatry* 20, 15–24.
- Araujo, D. M., and Cotman, C. W. (1992). Beta-amyloid stimulates glial cells in vitro to produce growth factors that accumulate in senile plaques in Alzheimer's disease. *Brain Res.* 569, 141–145.

Batchelor, P. E., Liberatore, G. T., Wong, J. Y., Porritt, M. J., Frerichs, F., Donnan, G. A., and Howells, D. W. (1999). Activated macrophages and microglia induce dopaminergic sprouting in the injured striatum and express brain-derived neurotrophic factor and glial cell linederived neurotrophic factor. J. Neurosci. 19, 1708–1716. normal morphology; (B) 48-year-old female subject with Down syndrome shows cells displaying obvious cytoplasmic fragmentation. Scale bar: $50\,\mu$ m.

AD brain could certainly play a direct role in the loss of synapses which represents a hallmark feature of the disease (DeKosky and Scheff, 1990; Terry et al., 1991; Lassmann et al., 1993). Naturally, if the dysfunction hypothesis is correct and microglial degeneration contributes to neurodegeneration, the loss of synapses secondary to neuronal degeneration would also fit into this scenario. Some studies have suggested a role for microglia in synapse elimination as well as in synaptogenesis during CNS development (Bessis et al., 2007), and these functions are likely to be performed much more effectively by young microglial cells in the developing brain than by senescent ones in the aged CNS.

CONCLUSION

As the brain's innate immune system one might be inclined to think of microglia primarily as immunological defenders that fight invading microorganisms. However, in so doing one underestimates their importance as supportive and neuroprotective glial cells essential for helping to maintain neuronal functioning in the normal CNS and especially their crucial involvement in CNS repair and regeneration during injury and disease. We believe that microglial neuroprotection constitutes a most important aspect of the cells' biological significance because it defines a single common denominator that contributes to improved understanding of CNS development, normal adult brain function, as well mechanisms of injury, disease, and repair. Specifically, with regard to aging-related neurodegenerative diseases, which represent one of the greatest challenges for biomedical science in this day and age, we think that the concept of CNS immunosenescence has considerable potential for advancing progress in terms of new and improved approaches toward treatment and prevention.

- Berg, D., Gerlach, M., Youdim, M. B., Double, K. L., Zecca, L., Riederer, P., and Becker, G. (2001). Brain iron pathways and their relevance to Parkinson's disease. *J. Neurochem.* 79, 225–236.
- Bessis, A., Bechade, C., Bernard, D., and Roumier, A. (2007). Microglial control of neuronal death and synaptic properties. *Glia* 55, 233–238.
- Blinzinger, K., and Kreutzberg, G. (1968). Displacement of synaptic terminals from regenerating motoneurons by microglial celss. Z. Zellforsch. 85, 145–157.
- Boje, K. M., and Arora, P. K. (1992). Microglial-produced nitric oxide and reactive nitrogen oxides mediate neuronal cell death. *Brain Res.* 587, 250–256.

- Cardona, A. E., Pioro, E. P., Sasse, M. E., Kostenko, V., Cardona, S. M., Dijkstra, I. M., Huang, D., Kidd, G., Dombrowski, S., Dutta, R., Lee, J.-C., Cook, D. N., Jung, S., Lira, S. A., Littman, D. R., and Ransohoff, R. M. (2006). Control of microglial neurotoxicity by the fractalkine receptor. *Nat. Neurosci.* 9, 917–924.
- Carson, M. J., Reilly, C. R., Sutcliffe, J. G., and Lo, D. (1998). Mature microglia resemble immature antigen-presenting cells. *Glia* 22, 72–85.
- Chao, C. C., Hu, S., Molitor, T. W., Shaskan, E. G., and Peterson, P. K. (1992). Activated microglia mediate neuronal cell injury via a nitric oxide mechanism. *J. Immunol.* 149, 2736–2741.
- Chen, G. Y., and Nunez, G. (2010). Sterile inflammation: sensing and reacting to damage. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 10, 826–837.
- Coleman, M. P., and Freeman, M. R. (2010). Wallerian degeneration, wld(s), and nmnat. *Annu. Rev. Neurosci.* 33, 245–267.
- Colton, C. A. (2009). Heterogeneity of microglial activation in the innate immune response in the brain. *J. Neuroimmune Pharmacol.* 4, 399–418.
- Colton, C. A., and Gilbert, D. L. (1987). Production of superoxide anions by a CNS macrophage, the microglia. *FEBS Lett.* 223, 284–288.
- Conde, J. R., and Streit, W. J. (2006). Effect of aging on the microglial response to peripheral nerve injury. *Neurobiol. Aging* 27, 1451–1461.
- Coull, J. A., Beggs, S., Boudreau, D., Boivin, D., Tsuda, M., Inoue, K., Gravel, C., Salter, M. W., and De Koninck, Y. (2005). BDNF from microglia causes the shift in neuronal anion gradient underlying neuropathic pain. *Nature* 438, 1017–1021.
- Davalos, D., Grutzendler, J., Yang, G., Kim, J. V., Zuo, Y., Jung, S., Littman, D. R., Dustin, M. L., and Gan, W. B. (2005). ATP mediates rapid microglial response to local brain injury in vivo. *Nat. Neurosci.* 8, 752–758.
- DeKosky, S. T., and Scheff, S. W. (1990). Synapse loss in frontal cortex biopsies in Alzheimer's disease: correlation with cognitive severity. Ann. Neurol. 27, 457–464.
- Dexter, D. T., Carayon, A., Javoy-Agid, F., Wells, F. R., Daniel, S. E., Lees, A., Jenner, P., and Marsden, C. D. (1991). Alterations in levels of iron, ferritin and other trace metals in Parkinson's disease and other neurodegenerative

diseases affecting the basal ganglia. *Brain* 114, 1953–1975.

- Dringen, R. (2005). Oxidative and antioxidative potential of brain microglial cells. *Antioxid. Redox Signal.* 7, 1223–1233.
- Elkabes, S., DiCicco-Bloom, E. M., and Black, I. B. (1996). Brain microglia/macrophages express neurotrophins that selectively regulate microglial proliferation and function. J. Neurosci. 16, 2508–2521.
- Fendrick, S. E., Xue, Q. S., and Streit, W. J. (2007). Formation of multinucleated giant cells and microglial degeneration in rats expressing a mutant Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase gene. J. Neuroinflammation 4, 9.
- Fiala, M., Lin, J., Ringman, J., Kermani-Arab, V., Tsao, G., Patel, A., Lossinsky, A. S., Graves, M. C., Gustavson, A., Sayre, J., Sofroni, E., Suarez, T., Chiappelli, F., and Bernard, G. (2005). Ineffective phagocytosis of amyloidbeta by macrophages of Alzheimer's disease patients. J. Alzheimers Dis. 7, 221–232.
- Ford, A. L., Goodsall, A. L., Hickey, W. F., and Sedgwick, J. D. (1995). Normal adult ramified microglia separated from other central nervous system macrophages by flow cytometric sorting. Phenotypic differences defined and direct ex vivo antigen presentation to myelin basic proteinreactive CD4+ T cells compared. J. Immunol. 154, 4309–4321.
- Frade, J. M., and Barde, Y. A. (1998). Microglia-derived nerve growth factor causes cell death in the developing retina. *Neuron* 20, 35–41.
- Galea, I., Bechmann, I., and Perry, V. H. (2007). What is immune privilege (not)? *Trends Immunol.* 28, 12–18.
- Gehrmann, J., and Banati, R. B. (1995). Microglial turnover in the injured CNS: activated microglia undergo delayed DNA fragmentation following peripheral nerve injury. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 54, 680–688.
- Graeber, M. B. (2010). Changing face of microglia. *Science* 330, 783–788.
- Graeber, M. B., Lopez-Redondo, F., Ikoma, E., Ishikawa, M., Imai, Y., Nakajima, K., Kreutzberg, G. W., and Kohsaka, S. (1998). The microglia/macrophage response in the neonatal rat facial nucleus following axotomy. *Brain Res.* 813, 241–253.
- Graeber, M. B., and Streit, W. J. (1990). Microglia: immune network in the CNS. Brain Pathol. 1, 2–5.
- Heese, K., Fiebich, B. L., Bauer, J., and Otten, U. (1997). Nerve growth factor (NGF) expression in rat microglia is induced by adenosine

A2a-receptors. Neurosci. Lett. 231, 83–86.

- Hoek, R. M., Ruuls, S. R., Murphy, C. A., Wright, G. J., Goddard, R., Zurawski, S. M., Blom, B., Homola, M. E., Streit, W. J., Brown, M. H., Barclay, A. N., and Sedgwick, J. D. (2000). Down-regulation of the macrophage lineage through interaction with OX2 (CD200). *Science* 290, 1768–1771.
- Itagaki, S., McGeer, P. L., Akiyama, H., Zhu, S., and Selkoe, D. (1989). Relationship of microglia and astrocytes to amyloid deposits of Alzheimer disease. *J. Neuroimmunol.* 24, 173–182.
- Jellinger, K., Paulus, W., Grundke-Iqbal, I., Riederer, P., and Youdim, M. B. (1990). Brain iron and ferritin in Parkinson's and Alzheimer's diseases. J. Neural Transm. Park. Dis. Dement. Sect. 2, 327–340.
- Jones, L. L., Banati, R. B., Graeber, M. B., Bonfanti, L., Raivich, G., and Kreutzberg, G. W. (1997). Population control of microglia: does apoptosis play a role? *J. Neurocytol.* 26, 755–770.
- Kaneko, Y., Kitamoto, T., Tateishi, J., and Yamaguchi, K. (1989). Ferritin immunohistochemistry as a marker for microglia. *Acta Neuropathol.* 79, 129–136.
- Kerschensteiner, M., Schwab, M. E., Lichtman, J. W., and Misgeld, T. (2005). In vivo imaging of axonal degeneration and regeneration in the injured spinal cord. *Nat. Med.* 11, 572–577.
- Kettenmann, H., Hanisch, U. K., Noda, M., and Verkhratsky, A. (2011). Physiology of microglia. *Physiol. Rev.* 91, 461–553.
- Kiefer, R., Gold, R., Gehrmann, J., Lindholm, D., Wekerle, H., and Kreutzberg, G. W. (1993). Transforming growth factor beta expression in reactive spinal cord microglia and meningeal inflammatory cells during experimental allergic neuritis. J. Neurosci. Res. 36, 391–398.
- Kreutzberg, G. W. (1996). Microglia: a sensor for pathological events in the CNS. *Trends Neurosci*. 19, 312–318.
- Lassmann, H., Fischer, P., and Jellinger, K. (1993). Synaptic pathology of Alzheimer's disease. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 695, 59–64.
- Lehrmann, E., Kiefer, R., Christensen, T., Toyka, K. V., Zimmer, J., Diemer, N. H., Hartung, H. P., and Finsen, B. (1998). Microglia and macrophages are major sources of locally produced transforming growth factorbetal after transient middle cerebral artery occlusion in rats. *Glia* 24, 437–448.

- Lemstra, A. W., Groen in't Woud, J. C., Hoozemans, J. J., van Haastert, E. S., Rozemuller, A. J., Eikelenboom, P., and van Gool, W. A. (2007). Microglia activation in sepsis: a casecontrol study. *J. Neuroinflammation* 4, 4.
- Lopes, K. O., Sparks, D. L., and Streit, W. J. (2008). Microglial dystrophy in the aged and Alzheimer's disease brain is associated with ferritin immunoreactivity. *Glia* 56, 1048–1060.
- Lopez-Redondo, F., Nakajima, K., Honda, S., and Kohsaka, S. (2000). Glutamate transporter GLT-1 is highly expressed in activated microglia following facial nerve axotomy. *Brain Res. Mol. Brain Res.* 76, 429–435.
- Lynch, T., Cherny, R. A., and Bush, A. I. (2000). Oxidative processes in Alzheimer's disease: the role of a beta-metal interactions. *Exp. Gerontol.* 35, 445–451.
- Mallat, M., Houlgatte, R., Brachet, P., and Prochiantz, A. (1989). Lipopolysaccharide-stimulated rat brain macrophages release NGF in vitro. *Dev. Biol.* 133, 309–311.
- Mariani, M. M., and Kielian, T. (2009). Microglia in infectious diseases of the central nervous system. J. Neuroimmune Pharmacol. 4, 448–461.
- Mattiace, L. A., Davies, P., and Dickson, D. W. (1990). Detection of HLA-DR on microglia in the human brain is a function of both clinical and technical factors. *Am. J. Pathol.* 136, 1101–1114.
- McGeer, P. L., Itagaki, S., Tago, H., and McGeer, E. G. (1987). Reactive microglia in patients with senile dementia of the Alzheimer type are positive for the histocompatibility glycoprotein HLA-DR. *Neurosci. Lett.* 79, 195–200.
- Michaels, J., Price, R. W., and Rosenblum, M. K. (1988). Microglia in the giant cell encephalitis of acquired immune deficiency syndrome: proliferation, infection and fusion. *Acta Neuropathol.* 76, 373–379.
- Michelucci, A., Heurtaux, T., Grandbarbe, L., Morga, E., and Heuschling, P. (2009). Characterization of the microglial phenotype under specific pro-inflammatory and antiinflammatory conditions: effects of oligomeric and fibrillar amyloidbeta. J. Neuroimmunol. 210, 3–12.
- Moon, M. L., McNeil, L. K., and Freund, G. G. (2011). Macrophages make me sick: how macrophage activation states influence sickness behavior. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 36, 1431–1440.
- Nakajima, K., Tohyama, Y., Kohsaka, S., and Kurihara, T. (2001). Ability of
rat microglia to uptake extracellular glutamate. *Neurosci. Lett.* 307, 171–174.

- Nakajima, K., Tohyama, Y., Kohsaka, S., and Kurihara, T. (2002). Ceramide activates microglia to enhance the production/secretion of brainderived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) without induction of deleterious factors in vitro. J. Neurochem. 80, 697–705.
- Nakajima, K., Yamamoto, S., Kohsaka, S., and Kurihara, T. (2008). Neuronal stimulation leading to upregulation of glutamate transporter-1 (GLT-1) in rat microglia in vitro. *Neurosci. Lett.* 436, 331–334.
- Nakanishi, H., and Wu, Z. (2009). Microglia-aging: roles of microglial lysosome- and mitochondriaderived reactive oxygen species in brain aging. *Behav. Brain Res.* 201, 1–7.
- Nau, R., and Bruck, W. (2002). Neuronal injury in bacterial meningitis: mechanisms and implications for therapy. *Trends Neurosci.* 25, 38–45.
- Neumann, H., Kotter, M. R., and Franklin, R. J. (2009). Debris clearance by microglia: an essential link between degeneration and regeneration. *Brain* 132, 288–295.
- Nimmerjahn, A., Kirchhoff, F., and Helmchen, F. (2005). Resting microglial cells are highly dynamic surveillants of brain parenchyma in vivo. *Science* 308, 1314–1318.
- Njie, E. G., Boelen, E., Stassen, F. R., Steinbusch, H. W., Borchelt, D. R., and Streit, W. J. (2012). Ex vivo cultures of microglia from young and aged rodent brain reveal age-related changes in microglial function. *Neurobiol. Aging* 33, 195.e1–195.e12.
- Ohgami, T., Kitamoto, T., Shin, R. W., Kaneko, Y., Ogomori, K., and Tateishi, J. (1991). Increased senile plaques without microglia in Alzheimer's disease. Acta Neuropathol. 81, 242–247.
- Paolicelli, R. C., Bolasco, G., Pagani, F., Maggi, L., Scianni, M., Panzanelli, P., Giustetto, M., Ferreira, T. A., Guiducci, E., Dumas, L., Ragozzino,

D., and Gross, C. T. (2011). Synaptic pruning by microglia is necessary for normal brain development. *Science* 333, 1456–1458.

- Perry, V. H., Bell, M. D., Brown, H. C., and Matyszak, M. K. (1995). Inflammation in the nervous system. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 5, 636–641.
- Persson, M., Sandberg, M., Hansson, E., and Ronnback, L. (2006). Microglial glutamate uptake is coupled to glutathione synthesis and glutamate release. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 24, 1063–1070.
- Petersen, M. A., and Dailey, M. E. (2004). Diverse microglial motility behaviors during clearance of dead cells in hippocampal slices. *Glia* 46, 195–206.
- Ribes, S., Ebert, S., Regen, T., Agarwal, A., Tauber, S. C., Czesnik, D., Spreer, A., Bunkowski, S., Eiffert, H., Hanisch, U. K., Hammerschmidt, S., and Nauet, R. (2011). Toll-like receptor stimulation enhances phagocytosis and intracellular killing of nonencapsulated and encapsulated Streptococcus pneumoniae by murine microglia. *Infect. Immun.* 78, 865–871
- Simmons, D. A., Casale, M., Alcon, B., Pham, N., Narayan, N., and Lynch, G. (2007). Ferritin accumulation in dystrophic microglia is an early event in the development of Huntington's disease. *Glia* 55, 1074–1084.
- Smith, M. A., Zhu, X., Tabaton, M., Liu, G., McKeel, D. W. Jr., Cohen, M. L., Wang, X., Siedlak, S. L., Dwyer, B. E., Hayashi, T., Nakamura, M., Nunomura, A., and Perry, G. (2010). Increased iron and free radical generation in preclinical Alzheimer disease and mild cognitive impairment. J. Alzheimers Dis. 19, 363–372.
- Stence, N., Waite, M., and Dailey, M. E. (2001). Dynamics of microglial activation: a confocal time-lapse analysis in hippocampal slices. *Glia* 33, 256–266.
- Streit, W. J. (1993). Microglial-neuronal interactions. J. Chem. Neuroanat. 6, 261–266.
- Streit, W. J., Braak, H., Xue, Q. S., and Bechmann, I. (2009). Dystrophic

(senescent) rather than activated microglial cells are associated with tau pathology and likely precede neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's disease. *Acta Neuropathol.* 118, 475–485.

- Streit, W. J., and Kincaid-Colton, C. A. (1995). The brain's immune system. *Sci. Am.* 273, 54–55, 58–61.
- Streit, W. J., Miller, K. R., Lopes, K. O., and Njie, E. (2008). Microglial degeneration in the aging brain – bad news for neurons? *Front. Biosci.* 13, 3423–3438.
- Streit, W. J., Sammons, N. W., Kuhns, A. J., and Sparks, D. L. (2004). Dystrophic microglia in the aging human brain. *Glia* 45, 208–212.
- Streit, W. J., and Xue, Q. S. (2010). The Brain's aging immune system. *Aging Dis.* 1, 254–261.
- Suzuki, H., Imai, F., Kanno, T., and Sawada, M. (2001). Preservation of neurotrophin expression in microglia that migrate into the gerbil's brain across the bloodbrain barrier. *Neurosci. Lett.* 312, 95–98.
- Terry, R. D., Masliah, E., Salmon, D. P., Butters, N., DeTeresa, R., Hill, R., Hansen, L. A., and Katzman, R. (1991). Physical basis of cognitive alterations in Alzheimer's disease: synapse loss is the major correlate of cognitive impairment. *Ann. Neurol.* 30, 572–580.
- Tremblay, M. E., Lowery, R. L., and Majewska, A. K. (2010). Microglial interactions with synapses are modulated by visual experience. *PLoS Biol.* 8, e1000527. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.1000527
- Tremblay, M. E., Stevens, B., Sierra, A., Wake, H., Bessis, A., and Nimmerjahn, A. (2011). The role of microglia in the healthy brain. *J. Neurosci.* 31, 16064–16069.
- van Landeghem, F. K., Stover, J. F., Bechmann, I., Bruck, W., Unterberg, A., Buhrer, C., and von Deimling, A. (2001). Early expression of glutamate transporter proteins in ramified microglia after controlled cortical impact injury in the rat. *Glia* 35, 167–179.

- Wake, H., Moorhouse, A. J., Jinno, S., Kohsaka, S., and Nabekura, J. (2009) Resting microglia directly monitor the functional state of synapses in vivo and determine the fate of ischemic terminals. *J. Neurosci.* 29, 3974–3980.
- Xue, Q. S., and Streit, W. J. (2011). Microglial pathology in Down syndrome. Acta Neuropathol. 122, 455–466.
- Xue, Q. S., Yang, C., Hoffman, P. M., and Streit, W. J. (2010). Microglial response to murine leukemia virusinduced encephalopathy is a good indicator of neuronal perturbations. *Brain Res.* 1319, 131–141.
- Youdim, M. B., and Riederer, P. (1993). The role of iron in senescence of dopaminergic neurons in Parkinson's disease. J. Neural Transm. Suppl. 40, 57–67.
- Zecca, L., Youdim, M. B., Riederer, P., Connor, J. R., and Crichton, R. R. (2004). Iron, brain ageing and neurodegenerative disorders. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 5, 863–873.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 13 January 2012; paper pending published: 16 February 2012; accepted: 25 June 2012; published online: 17 July 2012.

Citation: Streit WJ and Xue Q-S (2012) Alzheimer's disease, neuroprotection, and CNS immunosenescence. Front. Pharmacol. 3:138. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2012.00138 This article was submitted to Frontiers in Neuropharmacology, a specialty of Frontiers in Pharmacology.

Copyright © 2012 Streit and Xue. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and subject to any copyright notices concerning any third-party graphics etc.



Jonas J. Neher *, Urte Neniskyte and Guy C. Brown

Department of Biochemistry, University of Cambridge, Cambridge, UK

Edited by:

Roger A. Barker, University of Cambridge, UK

Reviewed by:

Steve Lacroix, Laval University, Canada V. Hugh Perry, University of Southampton, UK

*Correspondence:

Jonas J. Neher, Department of Biochemistry, University of Cambridge, Tennis Court Road, Cambridge CB2 1QW, UK. e-mail: jjn24@bioc.cam.ac.uk Microglial phagocytosis of dead or dying neurons can be beneficial by preventing the release of damaging and/or pro-inflammatory intracellular components. However, there is now evidence that under certain conditions, such as inflammation, microglia can also phagocytose viable neurons, thus executing their death. Such phagocytic cell death may result from exposure of phosphatidylserine (PS) or other eat-me signals on otherwise viable neurons as a result of physiological activation or sub-toxic insult, and neuronal phagocytosis by activated microglia. In this review, we discuss the mechanisms of phagocytic cell death and its potential roles in Alzheimer's Disease, Parkinson's Disease, and Frontotemporal Dementia.

Keywords: microglia, phagocytosis, inflammation, neurodegeneration, phosphatidylserine, MFG-E8, lactadherin, reactive oxygen and nitrogen species

INTRODUCTION

Phagocytosis of host cells is generally thought to be secondary to the target cell dying by some means such as apoptosis (Savill et al., 2002; Ravichandran, 2003). However, phagocytosis can execute cell death of viable cells, and we shall refer to this form of cell death as "primary phagocytosis," with the defining characteristic that inhibition of phagocytosis prevents cell death. Examples of primary phagocytosis outside the brain include macrophage phagocytosis of "aged" erythrocytes (Föller et al., 2008; Lee et al., 2011) and activated neutrophils (Lagasse and Weissman, 1994; Jitkaew et al., 2009; Stowell et al., 2009; Bratton and Henson, 2011). In C. elegans, primary phagocytosis has been shown to contribute to programmed cell death of neuronal precursors during development (Hoeppner et al., 2001; Reddien et al., 2001), the elimination of cells subjected to sub-toxic insults (Neukomm et al., 2011) or simply as a result of phosphatidylserine (PS) exposure on the surface of cells (Darland-Ransom et al., 2008). In this review, we will briefly discuss the mechanisms of phagocytosis of cells, current evidence for primary phagocytosis in the central nervous system (CNS) and the resulting implications for neurodegenerative disease.

MECHANISMS OF PHAGOCYTOSIS OF HOST CELLS

The process of phagocytosis is normally initiated by the release of attractive signals from the target cell (referred to as "come-getme" signals) leading to chemotaxis of a nearby macrophage. Upon reaching the target cell, the macrophage recognizes cell-surface signals on the target cell ("eat-me" signals), which then induce its

uptake. The best characterized "eat-me" signal is the cell-surface exposure of phosphatidylserine (PS; Fadok et al., 1992; Martin et al., 1995), although display of proteins such as calreticulin has also been implicated (Gardai et al., 2005). In healthy cells, PS is found exclusively on the inner leaflet of the plasma membrane, because the aminophospholipid translocase removes PS from the outer leaflet. However, a second enzyme, the phospholipid scramblase, can cause PS exposure by randomizing phospholipid distribution between the inner and outer leaflets. PS exposure may occur as a result of: (i) apoptosis (by unknown mechanisms), (ii) necrosis (due to plasma membrane rupture), (iii) calcium elevation (which stimulates the phospholipid scramblase and inhibits the aminophospholipid translocase), (iv) ATP depletion (which inhibits the aminophospholipid translocase), (v) oxidative stress (which inhibits the aminophospholipid translocase and stimulates the scramblase), and/or (vi) fusion of intracellular vesicles with the plasma membrane (Bratton et al., 1997; Gleiss et al., 2002; Tyurina et al., 2007).

While PS display has generally been regarded as an early sign of apoptotic cell death, it is now clear that PS exposure can be reversible and independent of apoptosis (Dias-Baruffi et al., 2003; Mackenzie et al., 2005; Tyurina et al., 2007; Jitkaew et al., 2009; Neher et al., 2011), and therefore may lead to the phagocytosis of viable host cells in the presence of macrophages. For example, galectin-1 induces PS exposure on the surface of neutrophils, which is fully reversible when galectin-1 is removed and does not lead to cell death. However, when macrophages are present at the time of PS exposure these cells are phagocytosed and thus killed (Dias-Baruffi et al., 2003; Stowell et al., 2009). Whether exposure of PS by itself is sufficient for recognition and removal is not entirely clear: PS exposure may be sufficient for some cells (Fadok et al., 2001), while others may require PS oxidation or other costimulatory signals to induce phagocytosis (Borisenko et al., 2003, 2004). Furthermore, some healthy cells actively protect themselves from phagocytic removal by displaying signals on their surface,

Abbreviations: AD, Alzheimer's disease; DAP12, DNAX adaptor protein-12; FTD, Frontotemporal dementia; MerTK, Mer receptor tyrosine kinase; MFG-E8, milk fat globule EGF-like factor 8; MS, multiple sclerosis; PD, Parkinson's disease; PS, phosphatidylserine; Tim4, T-cell immunoglobulin- and mucin-domain-containing molecule-4; TLR, Toll-like receptor; TREM2, triggering receptor expressed by myeloid cells-2; VR, vitronectin receptor.

which inhibit phagocytosis ("don't-eat-me" signals, such as CD200 or CD47; see below).

A range of receptors on the macrophage can mediate recognition of PS on target cells, implying redundancy on first glance. However, not all receptors are expressed by a macrophage at any one time, but rather are dependent on its activation state, e.g., classically activated/pro-inflammatory vs. alternatively activated/anti-inflammatory macrophages. For example, resting peritoneal mouse macrophages express the PS receptors Tim4 (Tcell immunoglobulin- and mucin-domain-containing molecule-4; Kobayashi et al., 2007; Miyanishi et al., 2007), and alternatively activated human monocyte-derived macrophages express stabilin-1 (Park et al., 2009) and stabilin-2 (Park et al., 2008). In contrast, inflammatory activated (thioglycollate-elicited) peritoneal macrophages upregulate the PS-binding protein MFG-E8 (Milk fat globule EGF-like factor 8, also known as lactadherin, SED1; Hanayama et al., 2002) and the Mer receptor tyrosine kinase (MerTK), which recognizes PS or other eat-me signals through bridging molecules Gas6, protein S, galectin-3, tubby, and Tulp1 (Scott et al., 2001; Seitz et al., 2007; Shao et al., 2009; Caberoy et al., 2011). At the same time, activated (thioglycollate-elicited) macrophages downregulate expression of other phagocytic proteins such as Tim4 (Miyanishi et al., 2007). Interestingly, it therefore appears from the literature that resting macrophages express receptors that bind PS directly (i.e., Tim4, stabilin-1/2), whereas activated/pro-inflammatory macrophages utilize phagocytic pathways that recruit bridging proteins (e.g., MFG-E8, Gas6), which bind both PS on the target cell and a receptor on the macrophage [e.g., vitronectin receptor (VR), MerTK].

Microglia are resident brain macrophages, which continuously and actively survey their microenvironment (Nimmerjahn et al., 2005). Microglia represent a distinct population of tissue macrophages as they arise at least in part from primitive myeloid progenitors during early embryonic stages and are thought to be maintained by self-replication throughout life in the healthy brain (Ginhoux et al., 2010). However, under specific conditions, such as brain injury and inflammation, peripheral monocytes can be recruited to the brain. This occurs for example after stroke, but whether peripheral monocytes modify the pathology of chronic neurodegenerative diseases is disputed. In Alzheimer's disease (AD) for example, recent evidence indicates that peripheral monocytes do not invade the brain, but contribute to removal of amyloid- β (A β) in the perivascular environment (Mildner et al., 2011). While it is beyond the scope of this review to discuss this issue in detail, it appears that invading peripheral monocytes may mediate effects distinct from resident microglia (Prinz et al., 2011). Nevertheless, microglia share a number of similarities with peripheral macrophages, including their recognition of both exogenous "non-self" ligands (e.g., lipopolysaccharide, LPS) and endogenous "self" ligands (such as Aβ, HSP60, and HMGB1) through pattern recognition receptors (such as Toll-like receptor-2 and -4; Kawai and Akira, 2010). Recognition of these ligands results in inflammation and associated neurodegeneration due to inflammatory activation of microglia, which also renders the microglia highly phagocytic (Babcock et al., 2006; Boivin et al., 2007; Hanisch and Kettenmann, 2007; Neher et al., 2011; Neniskyte et al., 2011). Other macrophage populations in the brain, with phenotypes distinct

from microglia, include those associated with the perivascular space, the circumventricular organs, the choroid plexus, and the meninges (Ransohoff and Perry, 2009).

Although data on microglia is limited, they appear to express similar phagocytic receptors and bridging proteins as peripheral macrophages. For example, primary microglia in culture express MFG-E8 (Neher et al., 2011) and MerTK (Grommes et al., 2008), possibly consistent with a partially activated microglial phenotype induced by cell-isolation procedures (Streit et al., 1999) as expression levels of these two proteins are low in homogenates of the naïve brain (Binder et al., 2008; Fuller and Van Eldik, 2008). In support of this notion, it has been reported that stimulation of microglia with the TLR4 ligand LPS increases MerTK expression in culture, and MerTK and its ligand Gas6 are also upregulated after a demyelinating insult in the brain (Binder et al., 2008). The expression of PS receptors in resting microglia has not been investigated in detail, but the mRNA levels of Tim4 appear to be low in brain homogenates (Miyanishi et al., 2007; Tanaka et al., 2009). Importantly, in the CNS, surrounding astrocytes may support microglial phagocytic function by producing bridging proteins such as MFG-E8 (Boddaert et al., 2007; Cahoy et al., 2008; Kranich et al., 2010) and protein S (Stitt et al., 1995), thus enabling efficient clearance of PS-exposing neurons.

A different phagocytic receptor, triggering receptor expressed by myeloid cells-2 (TREM2), mediates microglial clearance of debris and apoptotic neurons in vitro after activation by TREM2 ligands expressed on neuronal cells. Accordingly, knockdown of TREM2 impairs phagocytic function of microglia and increases the generation of pro-inflammatory cytokines in vitro (Takahashi et al., 2005). The function of TREM2 and its signaling partner DNAX adaptor protein-12 (DAP12) are essential for CNS immune homeostasis as loss-of-function mutations cause Nasu-Hakola disease (also known as polycystic lipomembranous osteodysplasia with sclerosing leukoencephalopathy, PLOSL), which presents with inflammation and neurodegeneration (Neumann and Takahashi, 2007). This supports the idea that microglial phagocytosis of dead and dving cells (rather than viable cells) can be protective and anti-inflammatory. The only identified TREM2 agonist is the endogenous "self" ligand HSP60, which upon binding to TREM2 strongly stimulates microglial phagocytosis (Stefano et al., 2009). Interestingly, HSP60 is also a ligand for TLR4, and TLR4 activation by HSP60 can cause microglial activation and inflammatory neurodegeneration in vitro (Lehnardt et al., 2008). Thus, TLR4 activation by HSP60 may contribute to the inflammation and neurodegeneration seen in Nasu-Hakola disease, where the anti-inflammatory signaling via HSP60 and TREM2 would be missing.

Wang and Neumann (2010) identified Siglec-11 as a microglial receptor, which binds polysialylated proteins on the surface of neurons (in particular neuronal cell adhesion molecule, NCAM) resulting in inhibition of inflammation and phagocytosis. Transfection of mouse microglia with human Siglec-11 reduced the spontaneous phagocytosis of neurites and neuronal cell bodies occurring in neuronal–microglial co-cultures, and this was dependent on the presence of polysialylated proteins on the surface of neurons. Thus polysialylation can act as a "don't-eat-me" signal for neurons *in vitro*.

Several other molecules can downregulate microglial activity. CD200 and CD47 are both expressed on the surface of neurons, and are known to act as "don't-eat-me-signals." The CD200 receptor (OX2) is found on microglia (Wright et al., 2000), and CD200 suppresses brain inflammation in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis and after facial nerve transection (Hoek et al., 2000). CD47 expression on cells and myelin sheaths inhibits phagocytosis by microglia via a CD47 receptor, SIRP α (Gitik et al., 2011).

Another signaling pathway that has been shown to modulate microglial activity is the CX3CL1 (fractalkine)/CX3CR1 pathway. CX3CL1 is expressed by neurons, while its receptor is predominantly expressed by microglia in the brain (Harrison et al., 1998). Inflammatory microglial activity can be suppressed by the neuronal chemokine CX3CL1 (also known as fractalkine) via the microglial chemokine receptor CX3CR1 as shown in neuronmicroglia co-cultures (Zujovic et al., 2000) and in CX3CR1deficient mice after systemic injection of LPS, in the MPTP model of Parkinson's Disease (PD), as well as in a transgenic model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (Cardona et al., 2006). Furthermore, CX3CR1 knockout restricts natural killer cell recruitment in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis thereby worsening disease outcome (Huang et al., 2006). However, in other circumstances fractalkine/fractalkine receptor knockout has been shown to improve neuropathology. For example, CX3CR1 deficiency resulted in improved outcome after spinal cord injury possibly due to enhanced recruitment of bone marrow derived macrophages, which also displayed reduced release of inflammatory mediators (Donnelly et al., 2011). Further, it has been reported that CX3CL1 deficient mice displayed smaller infarcts (about 30%) 24 h after middle cerebral artery occlusion (MCAo; Soriano et al., 2002), although the mechanisms of this effect were not analyzed in this study. However, a different group showed an even more pronounced reduction of infarct size (more than 50%), reduced blood brain barrier damage, leukocyte infiltration, neuronal death, and levels of IL-1ß (Denes et al., 2008) between 1 and 3 days after MCAo. Importantly, a recent study analyzed the influence of the fractalkine/fractalkine receptor pathway after permanent MCAo (Cipriani et al., 2011). Similar to the two studies described above, they found reduced infarct size in both CX3CL1 and CX3CR1 knockout mice 24 h after the insult. Interestingly, icv infusion of recombinant CX3CL1 in rats also reduced infarct size and this effect persisted for up to 56 days. When analyzing the in vitro responses of wildtype and CX3CL1 knockout microglia to medium from oxygen-glucose deprived neurons, the authors found that microglial phagocytic activity was suppressed only in wildtype, but not in CX3CL1 knockout microglia. In the same experiment, the release of TNF- α was reduced in CX3CL1 knockout but not in wildtype microglia demonstrating a changed microglial response resulting from fractalkine knockout.

Fractalkine is normally displayed on the cell surface of neurons, but its release is induced by stress such as nerve injury or excitotoxicity, when it may suppress microglial inflammation but can also act as a chemokine for leukocyte infiltration as well as microglial recruitment. Additionally, soluble fractalkine may also promote microglial phagocytosis of neuronal debris by stimulating microglial production and release of MFG-E8 (Harrison et al., 1998; Cook et al., 2010; Fuhrmann et al., 2010; Noda et al., 2011) and induces upregulation of microglial integrin β_5 expression, which is one of the subunits of the receptor for MFG-E8, the VR (Leonardi-Essmann et al., 2005). Interpretation of experiments in CX3CL1 or CX3CR1 knockout animals are therefore difficult as the outcome may be due to any of the above mechanisms or combinations thereof. However, from the literature described above, it appears that suppression of leukocyte recruitment and microglial inflammation may dominate the outcome.

EVIDENCE FOR PRIMARY PHAGOCYTOSIS IN THE CNS

Activation of microglial phagocytosis is generally considered to be beneficial via removal of pathogens or potentially proinflammatory debris and apoptotic cells (Neumann et al., 2009). However, we and others have shown that microglia can also phagocytose viable synapses and neurons. For example, during development microglia may be involved in synaptic pruning, i.e., elimination of synapses, and mice lacking the fractalkine receptor, CX3CR1, show higher densities of spines and functional synapses during early postnatal development, which the authors attributed to temporarily reduced microglial density (Paolicelli et al., 2011). Furthermore, microglia kill developing neurons in cerebellar organotypic slices leading to an increase in the number of fully differentiated Purkinje cell clusters (Marín-Teva et al., 2004). Similarly, two phagocytosis-related proteins, CD11b and DAP12, appear to mediate developmental neuronal death in the hippocampus in vivo (Wakselman et al., 2008). In animals with a loss-of-function mutation in DAP12 as well as by inhibition of the complement receptor 3 subunit CD11b, neuronal death was reduced at postnatal day 1 by about 25%. Both in cerebellar slices and in the hippocampus, this effect appeared to be mediated through the release of reactive oxygen species, although it is unclear whether phagocytosis is required for this developmental death. These data are reminiscent of findings in the nematode, where knockdown of phagocytic genes was shown to result in the survival of neuronal precursor cells that would otherwise die during development (Hoeppner et al., 2001; Reddien et al., 2001) indicating a potential role for primary phagocytosis of immature neurons.

Importantly, we and others have found that stressed but viable cells can reversibly expose PS in vitro (Tyurina et al., 2007; Jitkaew et al., 2009; Kim et al., 2010; Neher et al., 2011) and therefore macrophages may potentially phagocytose viable cells. In particular, we have shown that microglia activated with LPS (a bacterial TLR4 agonist), lipoteichoic acid (LTA, a bacterial TLR2 agonist), or nanomolar concentrations of AB (an endogenous TLR2/4 agonist) phagocytose viable neurons in vitro (Figure 1). We found that microglial activation with these ligands greatly increases their phagocytic activity, and video imaging of the inflamed glialneuronal cultures showed highly mobile microglia phagocytosing large numbers of neurons appearing morphologically healthy (Neher et al., 2011). Mechanistically, we showed that inflammatory activated microglia release reactive oxygen and nitrogen species, which induce reversible PS exposure on neurons and neuronal phagocytosis by microglia (Neher et al., 2011; Neniskyte et al.,



2011). Specifically, when inflammatory activated microglia were co-cultured with neurons but physically separated by a transwell membrane, neurons showed increased PS exposure but no signs of cell death. When microglia were then allowed to interact with these neurons, the neurons were phagocytosed and thus killed. However, if the activated microglia were removed from the transwell co-culture, the neuronal PS exposure was fully reversed and neurons remained viable for as long as they were cultured. This implied that inflamed microglia release soluble mediators that cause reversible PS exposure on neurons. We identified these soluble mediators to be reactive oxygen or nitrogen species, probably peroxynitrite, based on the findings that the reversible PS exposure and neuronal loss in glial-neuronal cultures is prevented by inhibitors of the NADPH oxidase (PHOX) or nitric oxide synthases (NOS), or addition of superoxide dismutase or a peroxynitrite scavenger. Furthermore, addition of 5-10 µM peroxynitrite alone caused neuronal loss in the presence of microglia, but reversible PS exposure and no neuronal loss or death in the absence of microglia (Neher et al., 2011).

We further identified a pathway consisting of neuronal PS exposure, recognition of PS by the bridging molecule MFG-E8, and MFG-E8 binding to the VR to be essential for neuronal loss. Again, blocking different components of the PS/MFG-E8/VR pathway (proteins blocking the exposed PS, antibodies to MFG-E8, VR antagonists) rescued neurons, leaving apparently healthy cells behind (Neher et al., 2011; Neniskyte et al., 2011; Fricker et al., 2012). If the neurons had been killed first and then eaten, then blocking phagocytosis would leave dead neurons. Instead, blocking phagocytosis in LPS or LTA-treated cultures prevented essentially all neuronal loss and death, leaving neurons with intact plasma and mitochondrial membrane potentials, and these neurons remained alive for as long as untreated cultures (Neher et al., 2011).

More recently we have found that LPS-induced neuronal loss is absent in glial-neuronal cultures from *Mfge8* knockout mice, but can be reconstituted by adding purified MFG-E8 to these cultures (Fricker et al., 2012). The absence or presence of MFG-E8 had no apparent effect on microglial inflammation, and this is very strong evidence that the inflammatory neuronal death is mediated by the MFG-E8 pathway of phagocytosis. Further, we have shown that LPS (5 μ g and 1 μ g, respectively) injection into the striatum of rats and mice *in vivo* causes strong microglial inflammation and loss of 20–30% of neurons, which is reduced by approximately 50% through co-injection of a VR inhibitor and in *Mfge8* knockout mice (Fricker et al., 2012).

Similarly, McArthur et al. (2010) recently reported that a microglial cell-line (BV2), when activated with LPS or A β phagocytosed viable neuron-like cells (PC12). Although a rescue of neurons by blocking phagocytosis was not shown in this study, these data further support the idea that inflammatory activated microglia may phagocytose stressed but viable neurons, thereby executing neuronal death. Altogether, this suggests the possibility that inflammatory neuronal loss in human pathologies may be prevented by inhibitors of specific phagocytic pathways.

POTENTIAL ROLES OF PRIMARY PHAGOCYTOSIS IN NEURODEGENERATIVE DISEASES

Alzheimer's disease is characterized by extracellular plaques of which the main constituent is $A\beta$. These plaques are associated with inflammatory activated microglia, and there is evidence that inflammation may contribute to the disease (Griffin et al., 1998; Combs, 2009). Some studies have indicated a beneficial role of microglia in the disease process, which may be due to phagocytic removal of A β , although it is possible that this effect is mostly mediated by invading (CCR2+) peripheral monocytes rather than resident microglia (Simard et al., 2006; El Khoury et al., 2007). However, it has recently become clear that these data may have been confounded by the fact that many studies investigating monocyte recruitment to the brain used whole-body irradiation, which may prompt invasion of peripheral monocytes. By shielding the brain, a recent study found that peripheral monocytes did not invade the brain and that amyloid clearance was mediated by perivascular myeloid cells (Mildner et al., 2011).

In humans, AD is also characterized by extensive loss of neurons and synapses by means that are not entirely clear. In contrast, in most animal models of AD neuronal loss is limited, restricted to specific brain regions and negatively correlated to plaque load. However, interestingly in these models neuronal loss occurs predominantly in the hippocampus, the area affected most severely in the human condition (Calhoun et al., 1998; Fuhrmann et al., 2010; Rupp et al., 2011).

High concentrations of $A\beta$ (μ M) can induce direct toxicity to neurons, but low concentrations (nM, which may be more relevant to AD) induce neuronal loss via inflammatory activation of glia *in vitro* (Maezawa et al., 2011). We found that nanomolar concentrations of A β caused microglia to phagocytose viable neurons and synapses in culture, and if we blocked this phagocytosis then all neuronal loss and death was prevented (Neniskyte et al., 2011). This suggests the possibility that microglial phagocytosis of synapses and neurons contributes to AD.

In line with this hypothesis, AB can induce PS exposure on neurons (Mohmmad Abdul and Butterfield, 2005), and there appears to be an increase in PS-exposed neurons in AD and mild cognitive impairment, as evidenced by PS-exposing synaptosomes isolated from patients' brains (Bader Lange et al., 2008, 2010). We have found that the PS-binding bridging protein MFG-E8 and its VR mediate inflammatory neuronal loss by primary phagocytosis in vitro (Neher et al., 2011; Neniskyte et al., 2011; Fricker et al., 2012). Levels of MFG-E8 are reduced in the brains of AD mice and patients with AD (Boddaert et al., 2007; Fuller and Van Eldik, 2008) possibly due to phagocytosis and degradation, while integrin β_3 , a subunit of the MFG-E8 recognizing VR is strongly upregulated on reactive microglia in AD (Akiyama et al., 1991). However, it has also been reported that MFG-E8 can interact directly with A β (Boddaert et al., 2007), and it therefore remains to be determined whether in AD MFG-E8 mediates phagocytosis of AB or of PS-exposing synapses and/or neurons.

Microglia have been shown to contribute to neuronal loss in an Alzheimer's mouse model (Fuhrmann et al., 2010). Two-photon imaging of neuronal loss in the brain of living triple transgenic APP/PS1/tau AD mice revealed an involvement of microglia in neuron elimination. Microglial number and migration velocity was increased prior to loss of neurons and knockout of the microglial chemokine receptor CX3CR1, which is critical for microglial chemotaxis, prevented this neuron loss (Fuhrmann et al., 2010). However, testing whether phagocytosis of neurons in AD is primary or secondary to neuronal death by other means *in vivo* is challenging. Primary phagocytosis (unlike apoptosis or necrosis) leaves no cell corpse to diagnose the cause of death. Furthermore, most mouse models expressing mutant APP and presenilins lack significant neuronal loss unless they also include mutant tau, and we currently lack suitable phagocytosis inhibitors that cross the blood–brain barrier. However, in principle, mouse models deficient in phagocytic genes could be used to test for primary phagocytosis.

More support for an involvement of phagocytosis of cells in AD comes from recent genome wide association studies. These analyses revealed that variants in a number of phagocytosis-related genes promote late onset AD, including ApoE, ApoJ (clusterin), ABCA7, and CR1 (Jun et al., 2010; Morgan, 2011). ApoE genotype has the largest effect on AD incidence, and is known to modulate phagocytosis of apoptotic cells in vitro and in vivo (Grainger et al., 2004). Clusterin expression is upregulated by exposure to phosphatidylserine and it facilitates the uptake of cellular debris through a pathway mediated by the LDL receptorrelated protein (LRP), megalin, and other yet undefined endocytic receptors (Bach et al., 2001; Bartl et al., 2001). Optimal ligand-induced signaling through LRP requires the presence of another protein related to increased AD risk, namely ABCA7. After stimulation, ABCA7 is transported to the cell membrane, localizes to the phagocytic cup and enhances the clearance of apoptotic cells in vitro and in vivo (Jehle et al., 2006). Altogether, accumulating evidence suggests that microglial phagocytosis of neurons may have a role in AD. Since impaired phagocytosis of cells can lead to inflammation, it remains to be determined whether phagocytosis may contribute to AD pathology through primary phagocytosis of viable synapses/neurons or through inflammation resulting from impaired phagocytosis of dying cells.

Parkinson's disease is characterized by motor dysfunction, resulting from progressive loss of neurons, particularly dopaminergic neurons of the pars compacta region of the substantia nigra (SN). The causes of neuronal loss may include: α -synuclein inclusions (which may be directly toxic to neurons), mitochondrial dysfunction, and glial inflammation (Tansey et al., 2007). A role for glial inflammation is suggested by the findings of: (i) inflamed glia and pro-inflammatory cytokines in the SN of patients and animal models, (ii) pro-inflammatory agents, e.g., LPS, causing loss of dopaminergic neurons in culture and in vivo, and (iii) anti-inflammatory drugs being protective in patients and animal models (McGeer et al., 1988; Herrera et al., 2005; Block et al., 2007; Tansey et al., 2007). We have found that LPS injection into rodent striatum causes microglial inflammation and neuronal loss reminiscent of the dopaminergic neuronal loss in LPS-induced PD. Using this model, we found that neuronal loss and death is reduced in Mfge8 knockout mice or by co-injection of phagocytosis inhibitors (Fricker et al., 2012), suggesting that primary phagocytosis may contribute to inflammatory neuronal loss as it may occur in PD.

Substantia nigra neurons are black because they contain neuromelanin. Neuromelanin granules are found within activated microglia of the SN in PD patients, suggesting microglial phagocytosis of neurons (McGeer et al., 1988; Banati et al., 1998), even though there is little evidence of neuronal apoptosis in PD (Banati et al., 1998). Furthermore, addition of human neuromelanin causes microglial activation and dopaminergic neuronal loss in culture and in vivo, and this neuronal loss is prevented if a microglial phagocytosis receptor (Mac-1/CR3) is genetically deleted (Zhang et al., 2011b). Thus the neuromelanin-induced neuronal loss could be due to primary phagocytosis, however these results were interpreted in terms of a Mac-1 requirement for phagocytosis of neuromelanin (Zhang et al., 2011b). Interestingly, Aβ-induced neuronal loss is also dependent on Mac-1 (Zhang et al., 2011a), suggesting either that Mac-1 is an Aβ receptor or that neuronal loss is occurring by primary phagocytosis.

Importantly, it has been reported that in the 6hydroxydopamine model of PD microglia become activated before any significant decrease in the number of dopaminergic neurons. Phagocytic microglia are found attached to morphologically intact neurons with normal chromatin distribution, suggesting that microglia may engulf pre-apoptotic neurons precluding the possibility of their recovery (Marinova-Mutafchieva et al., 2009), in accordance with a role for primary phagocytosis in PD.

Frontotemporal lobar degeneration (FTD) has a strong genetic component, and one of the major causes is inactivating mutations in the progranulin gene (Baker et al., 2006; Cruts et al., 2006). Progranulin deficiency leads to exaggerated microglial response after insult as well as to age-dependent accumulation of activated microglia (Ahmed et al., 2007; Yin et al., 2010a,b). Importantly, progranulin was recently found to inhibit phagocytosis of apoptotic/PS-exposed cells in culture and *in vivo*, and it was suggested that neuronal loss in FTD was due to primary phagocytosis that progranulin normally suppressed (Kao et al., 2011). Strikingly, polymorphisms in the progranulin gene are also associated with AD, PD, and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (Brouwers et al., 2007, 2008; Sleegers et al., 2008). Therefore it is possible that premature neuronal phagocytosis as observed in the FTD model may also contribute to pathogenesis of other neurodegenerative diseases.

CONCLUSION

We have recently found that inflammatory activated microglia can execute neuronal death through phagocytosis. This primary phagocytosis is a potential mechanism for neuronal loss in neurodegenerative diseases that present with inflammation and microglial activation, and we have reviewed evidence here suggestive of such a mechanism. Primary phagocytosis may have been overlooked as a form of cell death as it is difficult to assess whether a neuron was viable prior to its phagocytosis and because the general assumption has always been that a cell must die before it is phagocytosed. The only way to determine whether phagocytosis mediates cell death is by comparing neuronal survival in the presence and absence of phagocytosis. It will be important to test the contribution of primary phagocytosis to neuronal death using models of neurodegenerative disease in mice that are deficient in phagocytic components.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by the Wellcome Trust (Grant RG50995).

REFERENCES

- Ahmed, Z., Mackenzie, I. R., Hutton, M. L., and Dickson, D. W. (2007). Progranulin in frontotemporal lobar degeneration and neuroinflammation. J. Neuroinflammation 4, 7.
- Akiyama, H., Kawamata, T., Dedhar, S., and McGeer, P. L. (1991). Immunohistochemical localization of vitronectin, its receptor and beta-3 integrin in Alzheimer brain tissue. *J. Neuroimmunol.* 32, 19–28.
- Babcock, A. A., Wirenfeldt, M., Holm, T., Nielsen, H. H., Dissing-Olesen, L., Toft-Hansen, H., Millward, J. M., Landmann, R., Rivest, S., Finsen, B., and Owens, T. (2006). Toll-like receptor 2 signaling in response to brain injury: an innate bridge to neuroinflammation. J. Neurosci. 26, 12826–12837
- Bach, U. C., Baiersdörfer, M., Klock, G., Cattaruzza, M., Post, A., and Koch-Brandt, C. (2001). Apoptotic cell debris and phosphatidylserinecontaining lipid vesicles induce apolipoprotein J (clusterin) gene expression in vital fibroblasts. *Exp. Cell Res.* 265, 11–20.

Bader Lange, M. L., Cenini, G., Piroddi, M., Abdul, H. M., Sultana, R., Galli, F., Memo, M., and Butterfield, D. A. (2008). Loss of phospholipid asymmetry and elevated brain apoptotic protein levels in subjects with amnestic mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer disease. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 29, 456–464.

- Bader Lange, M. L., St Clair, D., Markesbery, W. R., Studzinski, C. M., Murphy, M. P., and Butterfield, D. A. (2010). Age-related loss of phospholipid asymmetry in APP(NLh)/APP(NLh) x PS-1(P264L)/PS-1(P264L) human double mutant knock-in mice: relevance to Alzheimer disease. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 38, 104–115.
- Baker, M., Mackenzie, I. R., Pickering-Brown, S. M., Gass, J., Rademakers, R., Lindholm, C., Snowden, J., Adamson, J., Sadovnick, A. D., Rollinson, S., Cannon, A., Dwosh, E., Neary, D., Melquist, S., Richardson, A., Dickson, D., Berger, Z., Eriksen, J., Robinson, T., Zehr, C., Dickey, C. A., Crook, R., McGowan, E., Mann, D., Boeve, B., Feldman, H., and Hutton, M. (2006). Mutations in progranulin

cause tau-negative frontotemporal dementia linked to chromosome 17. *Nature* 442, 916–919.

- Banati, R. B., Daniel, S. E., and Blunt, S. B. (1998). Glial pathology but absence of apoptotic nigral neurons in long-standing Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 13, 221–227.
- Bartl, M. M., Luckenbach, T., Bergner, O., Ullrich, O., and Koch-Brandt, C. (2001). Multiple receptors mediate apoJ-dependent clearance of cellular debris into nonprofessional phagocytes. *Exp. Cell Res.* 271, 130–141.
- Binder, M. D., Cate, H. S., Prieto, A. L., Kemper, D., Butzkueven, H., Gresle, M. M., Cipriani, T., Jokubaitis, V. G., Carmeliet, P., and Kilpatrick, T. J. (2008). Gas6 deficiency increases oligodendrocyte loss and microglial activation in response to cuprizoneinduced demyelination. J. Neurosci. 28, 5195–5206.
- Block, M., Zecca, L., and Hong, J. (2007). Microglia-mediated neurotoxicity: uncovering the molecular mechanisms. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 8, 57–69.
- Boddaert, J., Kinugawa, K., Lambert, J. C., Boukhtouche, F., Zoll, J., Merval,

- R., Blanc-Brude, O., Mann, D., Berr, C., Vilar, J., Garabedian, B., Journiac, N., Charue, D., Silvestre, J. S., Duyckaerts, C., Amouyel, P., Mariani, J., Tedgui, A., and Mallat, Z. (2007). Evidence of a role for lactadherin in Alzheimer's disease. *Am. J. Pathol.* 170, 921–929.
- Boivin, A., Pineau, I., Barrette, B., Filali, M., Vallieres, N., Rivest, S., and Lacroix, S. (2007). Toll-like receptor signaling is critical for Wallerian degeneration and functional recovery after peripheral nerve injury. *J. Neurosci.* 27, 12565–12576.
- Borisenko, G. G., Iverson, S. L., Ahlberg, S., Kagan, V. E., and Fadeel, B. (2004).
 Milk fat globule epidermal growth factor 8 (MFG-E8) binds to oxidized phosphatidylserine: implications for macrophage clearance of apoptotic cells. *Cell Death Differ.* 11, 943–945.
- Borisenko, G. G., Matsura, T., Liu, S. X., Tyurin, V. A., Jianfei, J., Serinkan, F. B., and Kagan, V. E. (2003). Macrophage recognition of externalized phosphatidylserine and phagocytosis of apoptotic Jurkat cells – existence of a threshold. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 413, 41–52.

- Bratton, D. L., Fadok, V. A., Richter, D. A., Kailey, J. M., Guthrie, L. A., and Henson, P. M. (1997). Appearance of phosphatidylserine on apoptotic cells requires calciummediated nonspecific flip-flop and is enhanced by loss of the aminophospholipid translocase. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 26159–26165.
- Bratton, D. L., and Henson, P. M. (2011). Neutrophil clearance: when the party is over, clean-up begins. *Trends Immunol.* 32, 350–357.
- Brouwers, N., Nuytemans, K., van der Zee, J., Gijselinck, I., Engelborghs, S., Theuns, J., Kumar-Singh, S., Pickut, B. A., Pals, P., Dermaut, B., Bogaerts, V., De Pooter, T., Serneels, S., Van den Broeck, M., Cuijt, I., Mattheijssens, M., Peeters, K., Sciot, R., Martin, J. J., Cras, P., Santens, P., Vandenberghe, R., De Deyn, P. P., Cruts, M., Van Broeckhoven, C., and Sleegers, K. (2007). Alzheimer and Parkinson diagnoses in progranulin null mutation carriers in an extended founder family. Arch. Neurol. 64, 1436–1446.
- Brouwers, N., Sleegers, K., Engelborghs, S., Maurer-Stroh, S., Gijselinck, I., van der Zee, J., Pickut, B. A., Van den Broeck, M., Mattheijssens, M., Peeters, K., Schymkowitz, J., Rousseau, F., Martin, J. J., Cruts, M., De Deyn, P. P., and Van Broeckhoven, C. (2008). Genetic variability in progranulin contributes to risk for clinically diagnosed Alzheimer disease. *Neurology* 71, 656–664.
- Caberoy, N. B., Alvarado, G., Bigcas, J. L., and Li, W. (2011). Galectin-3 is a new MerTK-specific eat-me signal. J. Cell. Physiol. 227, 401–407.
- Cahoy, J., Emery, B., Kaushal, A., Foo, L., Zamanian, J., Christopherson, K., Xing, Y., Lubischer, J., Krieg, P., Krupenko, S., Thompson, W. J., and Barres, B. A. (2008). A transcriptome database for astrocytes, neurons, and oligodendrocytes: a new resource for understanding brain development and function. J. Neurosci. 28, 264–278.
- Calhoun, M. E., Wiederhold, K. H., Abramowski, D., Phinney, A. L., Probst, A., Sturchler-Pierrat, C., Staufenbiel, M., Sommer, B., and Jucker, M. (1998). Neuron loss in APP transgenic mice. *Nature* 395, 755–756.
- Cardona, A. E., Pioro, E. P., Sasse, M. E., Kostenko, V., Cardona, S. M., Dijkstra, I. M., Huang, D., Kidd, G., Dombrowski, S., Dutta, R., Lee, J. C., Cook, D. N., Jung, S., Lira, S. A., Littman, D. R., and Ransohoff, R. M. (2006). Control of microglial neurotoxicity by the fractalkine receptor. *Nat. Neurosci.* 9, 917–924.

- Cipriani, R., Villa, P., Chece, G., Lauro, C., Paladini, A., Micotti, E., Perego, C., De Simoni, M. G., Fredholm, B. B., Eusebi, F., and Limatola, C. (2011). CX3CL1 is neuroprotective in permanent focal cerebral ischemia in rodents. *J. Neurosci.* 31, 16327–16335.
- Combs, C. K. (2009). Inflammation and microglia actions in Alzheimer's disease. J. Neuroimmune Pharmacol. 4, 380–388.
- Cook, A., Hippensteel, R., Shimizu, S., Nicolai, J., Fatatis, A., and Meucci, O. (2010). Interactions between chemokines: regulation of fractalkine/CX3CL1 homeostasis by SDF/CXCL12 in cortical neurons. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 10563–10571.
- Cruts, M., Gijselinck, I., van der Zee, J., Engelborghs, S., Wils, H., Pirici, D., Rademakers, R., Vandenberghe, R., Dermaut, B., Martin, J. J., van Duijn, C., Peeters, K., Sciot, R., Santens, P., De Pooter, T., Mattheijssens, M., Van den Broeck, M., Cuijt, I., Vennekens, K., De Deyn, P. P., Kumar-Singh, S., and Van Broeckhoven, C. (2006). Null mutations in progranulin cause ubiquitin-positive frontotemporal dementia linked to chromosome 17q21. Nature 442, 920–924.
- Darland-Ransom, M., Wang, X., Sun, C. L., Mapes, J., Gengyo-Ando, K., Mitani, S., and Xue, D. (2008). Role of *C. elegans* TAT-1 protein in maintaining plasma membrane phosphatidylserine asymmetry. *Sci*ence 320, 528–531.
- Denes, A., Ferenczi, S., Halasz, J., Kornyei, Z., and Kovacs, K. J. (2008). Role of CX3CR1 (fractalkine receptor) in brain damage and inflammation induced by focal cerebral ischemia in mouse. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 28, 1707–1721.
- Dias-Baruffi, M., Zhu, H., Cho, M., Karmakar, S., McEver, R. P., and Cummings, R. D. (2003). Dimeric galectin-1 induces surface exposure of phosphatidylserine and phagocytic recognition of leukocytes without inducing apoptosis. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 41282–41293.
- Donnelly, D. J., Longbrake, E. E., Shawler, T. M., Kigerl, K. A., Lai, W., Tovar, C. A., Ransohoff, R. M., and Popovich, P. G. (2011). Deficient CX3CR1 signaling promotes recovery after mouse spinal cord injury by limiting the recruitment and activation of Ly6Clo/iNOS+ macrophages. J. Neurosci. 31, 9910–9922.
- El Khoury, J., Toft, M., Hickman, S. E., Means, T. K., Terada, K., Geula, C.,

and Luster, A. D. (2007). Ccr2 deficiency impairs microglial accumulation and accelerates progression of Alzheimer-like disease. *Nat. Med.* 13, 432–438.

- Fadok, V. A., de Cathelineau, A, Daleke, D. L., Henson, P. M., and Bratton, D. L. (2001). Loss of phospholipid asymmetry and surface exposure of phosphatidylserine is required for phagocytosis of apoptotic cells by macrophages and fibroblasts. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 1071–1077.
- Fadok, V. A., Voelker, D. R., Campbell, P. A., Cohen, J. J., Bratton, D. L., and Henson, P. M. (1992). Exposure of phosphatidylserine on the surface of apoptotic lymphocytes triggers specific recognition and removal by macrophages. J. Immunol. 148, 2207–2216.
- Föller, M., Huber, S. M., and Lang, F. (2008). Erythrocyte programmed cell death. *IUBMB Life* 60, 661–668.
- Fricker, M., Neher, J. J., Zhao, J. W., Thery, C., Tolkovsky, A. M., and Brown, G. C. (2012). MFG-E8 mediates primary phagocytosis of viable neurons during neuroinflammation. J. Neurosci. (in press).
- Fuhrmann, M., Bittner, T., Jung, C. K., Burgold, S., Page, R. M., Mitteregger, G., Haass, C., LaFerla, F. M., Kretzschmar, H., and Herms, J. (2010). Microglial Cx3cr1 knockout prevents neuron loss in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Nat. Neurosci. 13, 411–413.
- Fuller, A., and Van Eldik, L. (2008). MFG-E8 regulates microglial phagocytosis of apoptotic neurons. J. Neuroimmune Pharmacol. 3, 246–256.
- Gardai, S. J., McPhillips, K. A., Frasch, S. C., Janssen, W. J., Starefeldt, A., Murphy-Ullrich, J. E., Bratton, D. L., Oldenborg, P. A., Michalak, M., and Henson, P. M. (2005). Cellsurface calreticulin initiates clearance of viable or apoptotic cells through trans-activation of LRP on the phagocyte. *Cell* 123, 321–334.
- Ginhoux, F., Greter, M., Leboeuf, M., Nandi, S., See, P., Gokhan, S., Mehler, M. F., Conway, S. J., Ng, L. G., Stanley, E. R., Samokhvalov, I. M., and Merad, M. (2010). Fate mapping analysis reveals that adult microglia derive from primitive macrophages. *Science* 330, 841–845.
- Gitik, M., Liraz-Zaltsman, S., Oldenborg, P. A., Reichert, F., and Rotshenker, S. (2011). Myelin downregulates myelin phagocytosis by microglia and macrophages through interactions between CD47 on myelin and SIRPα (signal regulatory protein-α) on phagocytes. J. Neuroinflammation 8, 24.

- Gleiss, B., Gogvadze, V., Orrenius, S., and Fadeel, B. (2002). Fastriggered phosphatidylserine exposure is modulated by intracellular ATP. FEBS Lett. 519, 153–158.
- Grainger, D. J., Reckless, J., and McKilligin, E. (2004). Apolipoprotein E modulates clearance of apoptotic bodies in vitro and in vivo, resulting in a systemic proinflammatory state in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. *J. Immunol.* 173, 6366–6375.
- Griffin, W. S., Sheng, J. G., Royston, M. C., Gentleman, S. M., McKenzie, J. E., Graham, D. I., Roberts, G. W., and Mrak, R. E. (1998). Glial-neuronal interactions in Alzheimer's disease: the potential role of a 'cytokine cycle' in disease progression. *Brain Pathol.* 8, 65–72.
- Grommes, C., Lee, C. Y., Wilkinson, B. L., Jiang, Q., Koenigsknecht-Talboo, J. L., Varnum, B., and Landreth, G. E. (2008). Regulation of microglial phagocytosis and inflammatory gene expression by Gas6 acting on the Axl/Mer family of tyrosine kinases. J. Neuroimmune Pharmacol. 3, 130–140.
- Hanayama, R., Tanaka, M., Miwa, K., Shinohara, A., Iwamatsu, A., and Nagata, S. (2002). Identification of a factor that links apoptotic cells to phagocytes. *Nature* 417, 182–187.
- Hanisch, U., and Kettenmann, H. (2007). Microglia: active sensor and versatile effector cells in the normal and pathologic brain. *Nat. Neurosci.* 10, 1387–1394.
- Harrison, J. K., Jiang, Y., Chen, S., Xia, Y., Maciejewski, D., McNamara, R. K., Streit, W. J., Salafranca, M. N., Adhikari, S., Thompson, D. A., Botti, P., Bacon, K. B., and Feng, L. (1998). Role for neuronally derived fractalkine in mediating interactions between neurons and CX3CR1-expressing microglia. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 95, 10896–10901.
- Herrera, A. J., Tomás-Camardiel, M., Venero, J. L., Cano, J., and Machado, A. (2005). Inflammatory process as a determinant factor for the degeneration of substantia nigra dopaminergic neurons. *J. Neural Transm.* 112, 111–119.
- Hoek, R. M., Ruuls, S. R., Murphy, C. A., Wright, G. J., Goddard, R., Zurawski, S. M., Blom, B., Homola, M. E., Streit, W. J., Brown, M. H., Barclay, A. N., and Sedgwick, J. D. (2000). Down-regulation of the macrophage lineage through interaction with OX2 (CD200). *Science* 290, 1768–1771.
- Hoeppner, D. J., Hengartner, M. O., and Schnabel, R. (2001). Engulfment

genes cooperate with ced-3 to promote cell death in *Caenorhabditis elegans. Nature* 412, 202–206.

- Huang, D., Shi, F. D., Jung, S., Pien, G. C., Wang, J., Salazar-Mather, T. P., He, T. T., Weaver, J. T., Ljunggren, H. G., Biron, C. A., Littman, D. R., and Ransohoff, R. M. (2006). The neuronal chemokine CX3CL1/fractalkine selectively recruits NK cells that modify experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis within the central nervous system. *FASEB J.* 20, 896–905.
- Jehle, A. W., Gardai, S. J., Li, S., Linsel-Nitschke, P., Morimoto, K., Janssen, W. J., Vandivier, R. W., Wang, N., Greenberg, S., Dale, B. M., Qin, C., Henson, P. M., and Tall, A. R. (2006). ATP-binding cassette transporter A7 enhances phagocytosis of apoptotic cells and associated ERK signaling in macrophages. J. Cell Biol. 174, 547–556.
- Jitkaew, S., Witasp, E., Zhang, S., Kagan, V. E., and Fadeel, B. (2009). Induction of caspase- and reactive oxygen species-independent phosphatidylserine externalization in primary human neutrophils: role in macrophage recognition and engulfment. J. Leukoc. Biol. 85, 427–437.
- Jun, G., Naj, A. C., Beecham, G. W., Wang, L. S., Buros, J., Gallins, P. J., Buxbaum, J. D., Ertekin-Taner, N., Fallin, M. D., Friedland, R., Inzelberg, R., Kramer, P., Rogaeva, E., St George-Hyslop, P., Alzheimer's Disease Genetics Consortium, Cantwell, L. B., Dombroski, B. A., Saykin, A. J., Reiman, E. M., Bennett, D. A., Morris, J. C., Lunetta, K. L., Martin, E. R., Montine, T. I., Goate, A. M., Blacker, D., Tsuang, D. W., Beekly, D., Cupples, L. A., Hakonarson, H., Kukull, W., Foroud, T. M., Haines, J., Mayeux, R., Farrer, L. A., Pericak-Vance, M. A., and Schellenberg, G. D. (2010). Meta-analysis confirms CR1, CLU, and PICALM as Alzheimer disease risk loci and reveals interactions. with APOE genotypes. Arch. Neurol. 67, 1473-1484.
- Kao, A. W., Eisenhut, R. J., Martens, L. H., Nakamura, A., Huang, A., Bagley, J. A., Zhou, P., de Luis, A., Neukomm, L. J., Cabello, J., Farese, R. V. Jr., and Kenyon, C. (2011). A neurodegenerative disease mutation that accelerates the clearance of apoptotic cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 4441–4446.
- Kawai, T., and Akira, S. (2010). The role of pattern-recognition receptors in innate immunity: update on Tolllike receptors. *Nat. Immunol.* 11, 373–384.

- Kim, Y. E., Chen, J., Chan, J. R., and Langen, R. (2010). Engineering a polarity-sensitive biosensor for time-lapse imaging of apoptotic processes and degeneration. *Nat. Methods* 7, 67–73.
- Kobayashi, N., Karisola, P., Peña-Cruz, V., Dorfman, D. M., Jinushi, M., Umetsu, S. E., Butte, M. J., Nagumo, H., Chernova, I., Zhu, B., Sharpe, A. H., Ito, S., Dranoff, G., Kaplan, G. G., Casasnovas, J. M., Umetsu, D. T., Dekruyff, R. H., and Freeman, G. J. (2007). TIM-1 and TIM-4 glycoproteins bind phosphatidylserine and mediate uptake of apoptotic cells. *Immunity* 27, 927–940.
- Kranich, J., Krautler, N. J., Falsig, J., Ballmer, B., Li, S., Hutter, G., Schwarz, P., Moos, R., Julius, C., Miele, G., and Aguzzi, A. (2010). Engulfment of cerebral apoptotic bodies controls the course of prion disease in a mouse straindependent manner. J. Exp. Med. 207, 2271–2281.
- Lagasse, E., and Weissman, I. L. (1994). bcl-2 inhibits apoptosis of neutrophils but not their engulfment by macrophages. J. Exp. Med. 179, 1047–1052.
- Lee, S. J., Park, S. Y., Jung, M. Y., Bae, S. M., and Kim, I. S. (2011). Mechanism for phosphatidylserinedependent erythrophagocytosis in mouse liver. *Blood* 117, 5215–5223.
- Lehnardt, S., Schott, E., Trimbuch, T., Laubisch, D., Krueger, C., Wulczyn, G., Nitsch, R., and Weber, J. (2008). A vicious cycle involving release of heat shock protein 60 from injured cells and activation of toll-like receptor 4 mediates neurodegeneration in the CNS. J. Neurosci. 28, 2320–2331.
- Leonardi-Essmann, F., Emig, M., Kitamura, Y., Spanagel, R., and Gebicke-Haerter, P. (2005). Fractalkineupregulated milk-fat globule EGF factor-8 protein in cultured rat microglia. J. Neuroimmunol. 160, 92–101.
- Mackenzie, A. B., Young, M. T., Adinolfi, E., and Surprenant, A. (2005). Pseudoapoptosis induced by brief activation of ATP-gated P2 × 7 receptors. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 33968–33976.
- Maezawa, I., Zimin, P. I., Wulff, H., and Jin, L. W. (2011). Amyloid-beta protein oligomer at low nanomolar concentrations activates microglia and induces microglial neurotoxicity. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 3693–3706.
- Marinova-Mutafchieva, L., Sadeghian, M., Broom, L., Davis, J. B., Medhurst, A. D., and Dexter, D. T. (2009). Relationship between

microglial activation and dopaminergic neuronal loss in the substantia nigra: a time course study in a 6hydroxydopamine model of Parkinson's disease. *J. Neurochem.* 110, 966–975.

- Marín-Teva, J., Dusart, I., Colin, C., Gervais, A., van Rooijen, N., and Mallat, M. (2004). Microglia promote the death of developing Purkinje cells. *Neuron* 41, 535–547.
- Martin, S. J., Reutelingsperger, C. P., McGahon, A. J., Rader, J. A., van Schie, R. C., LaFace, D. M., and Green, D. R. (1995). Early redistribution of plasma membrane phosphatidylserine is a general feature of apoptosis regardless of the initiating stimulus: inhibition by overexpression of Bcl-2 and Abl. J. Exp. Med. 182, 1545–1556.
- McArthur, S., Cristante, E., Paterno, M., Christian, H., Roncaroli, F., Gillies, G. E., and Solito, E. (2010). Annexin A1: a central player in the antiinflammatory and neuroprotective role of microglia. *J. Immunol.* 185, 6317–6328.
- McGeer, P. L., Itagaki, S., Boyes, B. E., and McGeer, E. G. (1988). Reactive microglia are positive for HLA-DR in the substantia nigra of Parkinson's and Alzheimer's disease brains. *Neurology* 38, 1285–1291.
- Mildner, A., Schlevogt, B., Kierdorf, K., Bottcher, C., Erny, D., Kummer, M. P., Quinn, M., Bruck, W., Bechmann, I., Heneka, M. T., Priller, J., and Prinz, M. (2011). Distinct and nonredundant roles of microglia and myeloid subsets in mouse models of Alzheimer's disease. J. Neurosci. 31, 11159–11171.
- Miyanishi, M., Tada, K., Koike, M., Uchiyama, Y., Kitamura, T., and Nagata, S. (2007). Identification of Tim4 as a phosphatidylserine receptor. *Nature* 450, 435–439.
- Mohmmad Abdul, H., and Butterfield, D. A. (2005). Protection against amyloid beta-peptide (1-42)-induced loss of phospholipid asymmetry in synaptosomal membranes by tricyclodecan-9-xanthogenate (D609) and ferulic acid ethyl ester: implications for Alzheimer's disease. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1741, 140–148.
- Morgan, K. (2011). The three new pathways leading to Alzheimer's disease. Neuropathol. Appl. Neurobiol. 37, 353–357.
- Neher, J. J., Neniskyte, U., Zhao, J. W., Bal-Price, A., Tolkovsky, A. M., and Brown, G. C. (2011). Inhibition of microglial phagocytosis is sufficient to prevent inflammatory neuronal death. J. Immunol. 186, 4973–4983.

- Neniskyte, U., Neher, J. J., and Brown, G. C. (2011). Neuronal death induced by nanomolar amyloid beta is mediated by primary phagocytosis of neurons by microglia. *J. Biol. Chem.* 286, 39904–39913.
- Neukomm, L. J., Frei, A. P., Cabello, J., Kinchen, J. M., Zaidel-Bar, R., Ma, Z., Haney, L. B., Hardin, J., Ravichandran, K. S., Moreno, S., and Hengartner, M. O. (2011). Loss of the RhoGAP SRGP-1 promotes the clearance of dead and injured cells in *Caenorhabditis elegans. Nat. Cell Biol.* 13, 79–86.
- Neumann, H., Kotter, M. R., and Franklin, R. J. (2009). Debris clearance by microglia: an essential link between degeneration and regeneration. *Brain* 132, 288–295.
- Neumann, H., and Takahashi, K. (2007). Essential role of the microglial triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells-2 (TREM2) for central nervous tissue immune homeostasis. J. Neuroimmunol. 184, 92–99.
- Nimmerjahn, A., Kirchhoff, F., and Helmchen, F. (2005). Resting microglial cells are highly dynamic surveillants of brain parenchyma in vivo. *Science* 308, 1314–1318.
- Noda, M., Doi, Y., Liang, J., Kawanokuchi, J., Sonobe, Y., Takeuchi, H., Mizuno, T., and Suzumura, A. (2011). Fractalkine attenuates excito-neurotoxicity via microglial clearance of damaged neurons and antioxidant enzyme heme oxygenase-1 expression. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 2308–2319.
- Paolicelli, R. C., Bolasco, G., Pagani, F., Maggi, L., Scianni, M., Panzanelli, P., Giustetto, M., Ferreira, T. A., Guiducci, E., Dumas, L., Ragozzino, D., and Gross, C. T. (2011). Synaptic pruning by microglia is necessary for normal brain development. *Science* 333, 1456–1458.
- Park, S. Y., Jung, M. Y., Lee, S. J., Kang, K. B., Gratchev, A., Riabov, V., Kzhyshkowska, J., and Kim, I. S. (2009). Stabilin-1 mediates phosphatidylserine-dependent clearance of cell corpses in alternatively activated macrophages. *J. Cell. Sci.* 122, 3365–3373.
- Park, S. Y., Kim, S. Y., Jung, M. Y., Bae, D. J., and Kim, I. S. (2008). Epidermal growth factorlike domain repeat of stabilin-2 recognizes phosphatidylserine during cell corpse clearance. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 28, 5288–5298.
- Prinz, M., Priller, J., Sisodia, S. S., and Ransohoff, R. M. (2011). Heterogeneity of CNS myeloid cells and their roles in neurodegeneration. *Nat. Neurosci.* 13, 1227–1235.

- Ransohoff, R. M., and Perry, V. H. (2009). Microglial physiology: unique stimuli, specialized responses. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 27, 119–145.
- Ravichandran, K. S. (2003). "Recruitment signals" from apoptotic cells: invitation to a quiet meal. *Cell* 113, 817–820.
- Reddien, P., Cameron, S., and Horvitz, H. (2001). Phagocytosis promotes programmed cell death in *C. elegans*. *Nature* 412, 198–202.
- Rupp, N. J., Wegenast-Braun, B. M., Radde, R., Calhoun, M. E., and Jucker, M. (2011). Early onset amyloid lesions lead to severe neuritic abnormalities and local, but not global neuron loss in APPPS1 transgenic mice. *Neurobiol. Aging* 32, 2324 e2321–e2326.
- Savill, J., Dransfield, I., Gregory, C., and Haslett, C. (2002). A blast from the past: clearance of apoptotic cells regulates immune responses. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 2, 965–975.
- Scott, R. S., McMahon, E. J., Pop, S. M., Reap, E. A., Caricchio, R., Cohen, P. L., Earp, H. S., and Matsushima, G. K. (2001). Phagocytosis and clearance of apoptotic cells is mediated by MER. *Nature* 411, 207–211.
- Seitz, H. M., Camenisch, T. D., Lemke, G., Earp, H. S., and Matsushima, G. K. (2007). Macrophages and dendritic cells use different Axl/Mertk/Tyro3 receptors in clearance of apoptotic cells. *J. Immunol.* 178, 5635–5642.
- Shao, W. H., Zhen, Y., Eisenberg, R. A., and Cohen, P. L. (2009). The Mer receptor tyrosine kinase is expressed on discrete macrophage subpopulations and mainly uses Gas6 as its ligand for uptake of apoptotic cells. *Clin. Immunol.* 133, 138–144.
- Simard, A. R., Soulet, D., Gowing, G., Julien, J. P., and Rivest, S. (2006). Bone marrow-derived microglia play a critical role in restricting senile plaque formation in Alzheimer's disease. *Neuron* 49, 489–502.

- Sleegers, K., Brouwers, N., Maurer-Stroh, S., van Es, M. A., Van Damme, P., van Vught, P. W., van der Zee, J., Serneels, S., De Pooter, T., Van den Broeck, M., Cruts, M., Schymkowitz, J., De Jonghe, P., Rousseau, F., van den Berg, L. H., Robberecht, W., and Van Broeckhoven, C. (2008). Progranulin genetic variability contributes to amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Neurology* 71, 253–259.
- Soriano, S. G., Amaravadi, L. S., Wang, Y. F., Zhou, H., Yu, G. X., Tonra, J. R., Fairchild-Huntress, V., Fang, Q., Dunmore, J. H., Huszar, D., and Pan, Y. (2002). Mice deficient in fractalkine are less susceptible to cerebral ischemia-reperfusion injury. J. Neuroimmunol. 125, 59–65.
- Stefano, L., Racchetti, G., Bianco, F., Passini, N., Gupta, R. S., Panina Bordignon, P., and Meldolesi, J. (2009). The surface-exposed chaperone, Hsp60, is an agonist of the microglial TREM2 receptor. J. Neurochem. 110, 284–294.
- Stitt, T. N., Conn, G., Gore, M., Lai, C., Bruno, J., Radziejewski, C., Mattsson, K., Fisher, J., Gies, D. R., and Jones, P. F. (1995). The anticoagulation factor protein S and its relative, Gas6, are ligands for the Tyro 3/Axl family of receptor tyrosine kinases. *Cell* 80, 661–670.
- Stowell, S. R., Karmakar, S., Arthur, C. M., Ju, T., Rodrigues, L. C., Riul, T. B., Dias-Baruffi, M., Miner, J., McEver, R. P., and Cummings, R. D. (2009). Galectin-1 induces reversible phosphatidylserine exposure at the plasma membrane. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 20, 1408–1418.
- Streit, W. J., Walter, S. A., and Pennell, N. A. (1999). Reactive microgliosis. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 57, 563–581.
- Takahashi, K., Rochford, C. D., and Neumann, H. (2005). Clearance of apoptotic neurons without inflammation by microglial triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells-2. *J. Exp. Med.* 201, 647–657.
- Tanaka, T., Ueno, M., and Yamashita, T. (2009). Engulfment of axon debris by microglia requires p38

MAPK activity. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 21626–21636.

- Tansey, M. G., McCoy, M. K., and Frank-Cannon, T. C. (2007). Neuroinflammatory mechanisms in Parkinson's disease: potential environmental triggers, pathways, and targets for early therapeutic intervention. *Exp. Neurol.* 208, 1–25.
- Tyurina, Y., Basova, L., Konduru, N., Tyurin, V., Potapovich, A., Cai, P., Bayir, H., Stoyanovsky, D., Pitt, B., Shvedova, A., Fadeel, B., and Kagan, V. E. (2007). Nitrosative stress inhibits the aminophospholipid translocase resulting in phosphatidylserine externalization and macrophage engulfment: implications for the resolution of inflammation. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 8498–8509.
- Wakselman, S., Béchade, C., Roumier, A., Bernard, D., Triller, A., and Bessis, A. (2008). Developmental neuronal death in hippocampus requires the microglial CD11b integrin and DAP12 immunoreceptor. J. Neurosci. 28, 8138–8143.
- Wang, Y., and Neumann, H. (2010). Alleviation of neurotoxicity by microglial human Siglec-11. J. Neurosci. 30, 3482–3488.
- Wright, G. J., Puklavec, M. J., Willis, A. C., Hoek, R. M., Sedgwick, J. D., Brown, M. H., and Barclay, A. N. (2000). Lymphoid/neuronal cell surface OX2 glycoprotein recognizes a novel receptor on macrophages implicated in the control of their function. *Immunity* 13, 233–242.
- Yin, F., Banerjee, R., Thomas, B., Zhou, P., Qian, L., Jia, T., Ma, X., Ma, Y., Iadecola, C., Beal, M. F., Nathan, C., and Ding, A. (2010a). Exaggerated inflammation, impaired host defense, and neuropathology in progranulin-deficient mice. *J. Exp. Med.* 207, 117–128.
- Yin, F., Dumont, M., Banerjee, R., Ma, Y., Li, H., Lin, M. T., Beal, M. F., Nathan, C., Thomas, B., and Ding, A. (2010b). Behavioral deficits and progressive neuropathology in progranulin-deficient mice: a mouse model of frontotemporal dementia. *FASEB J.* 24, 4639–4647.

- Zhang, D., Hu, X., Qian, L., Chen, S. H., Zhou, H., Wilson, B., Miller, D. S., and Hong, J. S. (2011a). Microglial MAC1 receptor and PI3K are essential in mediating β-amyloid peptideinduced microglial activation and subsequent neurotoxicity. *J. Neuroinflammation* 8, 3.
- Zhang, W., Phillips, K., Wielgus, A. R., Liu, J., Albertini, A., Zucca, F. A., Faust, R., Qian, S. Y., Miller, D. S., Chignell, C. F., Wilson, B., Jackson-Lewis, V., Przedborski, S., Joset, D., Loike, J., Hong, J. S., Sulzer, D., and Zecca, L. (2011b). Neuromelanin activates microglia and induces degeneration of dopaminergic neurons: implications for progression of Parkinson's disease. *Neurotox. Res.* 19, 63–72.
- Zujovic, V., Benavides, J., Vigé, X., Carter, C., and Taupin, V. (2000). Fractalkine modulates TNF-alpha secretion and neurotoxicity induced by microglial activation. *Glia* 29, 305–315.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 22 November 2011; paper pending published: 09 January 2012; accepted: 12 February 2012; published online: 28 February 2012.

Citation: Neher JJ, Neniskyte U and Brown GC (2012) Primary phagocytosis of neurons by inflamed microglia: potential roles in neurodegeneration. Front. Pharmacol. **3**:27. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2012.00027

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Neuropharmacology, a specialty of Frontiers in Pharmacology.

Copyright © 2012 Neher, Neniskyte and Brown. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits noncommercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.

REVIEW ARTICLE published: 14 August 2012 doi: 10.3389/fphar.2012.00150



The role of the innate immune system in ALS

Sudarshan Phani^{1,2}, Diane Berengere Re^{1,2} and Serge Przedborski^{1,2}*

¹ Department of Pathology and Cell Biology, Columbia University, New York, NY, USA

² Center for Motor Neuron Disease, Department of Neurology, Columbia University, New York, NY, USA

Edited by:

Roger A. Barker, University of Cambridge and Addenbrooke' Hospital, UK

Reviewed by:

Raja S. Settivari, The Dow Chemical Company, USA Kevin Talbot, Oxford University, UK

*Correspondence:

Serge Przedborski, Department of Pathology, Cell Biology and Neurology, Center for Motor Neuron Disease, Columbia University, 630 West 168th Street, P&S 5-420 NY, USA.

e-mail: sp30@columbia.edu

Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) is a fatal, adult-onset neurodegenerative disease that is characterized by the death of upper and lower motor neurons. Recent studies have made it clear that although motor neurons are the primary targets of the degenerative process, other cell types play key roles in the death of motor neurons. Most notably, cells of the immune system, including astrocytes and microglia have come under increasing scrutiny, after multiple lines of evidence have shown these cells to be deleterious to motor neurons. Both in vitro and in vivo experiments have shown that astrocytes and microglia containing mutated SOD1 are harmful to motor neurons. Several studies on ALS and other neurodegenerative diseases have revealed that reactive astrocytes and microglia are capable of releasing pro-inflammatory factors such as cytokines and chemokines, which are harmful to neighboring neurons. In addition, it is believed that diseased astrocytes can specifically kill motor neurons through the release of toxic factors. Furthermore, in an animal model of the disease, it has been shown that the reduction of SOD1 in microglia may be able to slow the progression of ALS symptoms. Although the exact pathways of motor neuron death in ALS have yet to be elucidated, studies have suggested that they die through aBaxdependent signaling pathway. Mounting evidence suggests that neuroinflammation plays an important role in the degeneration of motor neurons. Based on these findings, antiinflammatory compounds are currently being tested for their potential to reduce disease severity; however, these studies are only in the preliminary stages. While we understand that astrocytes and microglia play a role in the death of motor neurons in ALS, much work needs to be done to fully understand ALS pathology and the role the immune system plays in disease onset and progression.

Keywords: amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, astrocyte, microglia, motor neuron, innate immune system

INTRODUCTION

Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis (ALS) is a fatal adult-onset neurodegenerative disorder that is characterized clinically by muscle weakness and wasting. Pathologically, it is identified by the degeneration of upper and lower motor neurons (Boillee et al., 2006a). Generally, death results from respiratory failure due to paralysis of the respiratory muscles. The incidence of ALS is reported to be between 1.5 and 3 per 100,000 in Europe and North America (Wijesekera and Leigh, 2009; Hardiman et al., 2011). ALS onset peaks between the ages of 50–75 and declines thereafter. These factors suggest that ALS may not be a disease of aging, but rather that age may be one of a multitude of contributing factors (Hardiman et al., 2011). Thus far, there are no effective treatments and no cure for ALS.

Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis is essentially a sporadic disorder, with greater than 90% of the cases originating from an unknown cause. However, approximately 10% of the cases are considered familial (FALS) and are generally inherited as a dominant disorder (Ince et al., 2011) due to mutations in a number of seemingly disparate genes. These include, but are not limited to, mutations in genes such as TAR DNA binding protein (TDP)-43 and Fused in Sarcoma (FUS) (Sreedharan et al., 2008; Kwiatkowski et al., 2009; Vance et al., 2009). Despite major

enthusiasm by the research community about the recent discoveries of mutations in FUS and TDP-43, the best characterized form of FALS still remains that which is linked to mutations in the copper-zinc superoxide dismutase gene (SOD1) and which accounts for 10-20% of all FALS cases (Andersen, 2001). Myriad mutations in SOD1 all seem to give rise to an ALS phenotype via a toxic gain-of-function mechanism, which is clinically almost indistinguishable from sporadic cases. Histopathologically, however, recent studies have found TDP-43 to be a reliable marker for differentiating sALS from SOD1-related fALS. These studies have shown that all of the cases of sporadic ALS and SOD1-negative fALS had neural and glial inclusions which were immunoreactive for both ubiquitin and TDP-43, whereas fALS cases with mutations in SOD1 were universally absent of TDP-43 immunoreactivity (MacKenzie et al., 2007; Tan et al., 2007).

More recently, studies have identified an expanded GGGGCC hexanucleotide repeat in a non-coding region of C9ORF72. This expansion has been shown to be linked to chromosome 9p-linked FTD and ALS. Interestingly, this same repeat expansion was also identified in the majority of families with a combined FTD/ALS phenotype and TDP-43 pathology. Extended studies have identified the C9ORF72 expansion as the most common

genetic abnormality in fALS (23.5%; DeJesus-Hernandez et al., 2011).

A number of studies have pointed to oxidative stress, protein aggregation, or mitochondrial dysfunction as mechanisms of mutant SOD1 toxicity. In addition, SOD1 toxicity has been shown to be linked to changes in the immune system, which has also been shown to contribute to the motor neuron pathology seen in ALS; however, the exact nature of the pathogenic mechanisms provoking motor neuron degeneration in mutant SOD1-linked ALS remains elusive (Ince et al., 2011). Interestingly, the repeat expansion in C9ORF72 results in the formation of nuclear RNA foci not seen in SOD1-linked pathology, suggesting multiple disease mechanisms (DeJesus-Hernandez et al., 2011).

While the discovery of the C9ORF72 repeat expansion has opened new avenues of ALS research, the abundance and wellstudied nature of SOD1-mutant animals make them the *de facto* models of choice to study ALS pathology for the time being. Although imperfect, these models allow for a great deal of insight into potential mechanisms involved in ALS pathology, with the hope that the mechanisms elucidated through the use of these models may also provide understanding of sALS and non-SOD1-mediated fALS.

INFLAMMATION AND NEURODEGENERATION

Although ALS is a disease primarily affecting upper and lower motor neurons, it is increasingly recognized that the entire pathogenic process of ALS is not restricted to a set of cell-autonomous deleterious mechanisms taking place within motor neurons. Instead, it is now believed that non-cell autonomous mechanisms, such as neuroinflammation may also contribute to the disease process.

Germane to this issue is the fact that the immune system has been found to be altered in sporadic ALS. Studies have shown immunological differences in the blood of ALS patients compared to healthy controls. These include increased levels of CD4+ cells, and reduced CD8+ T-lymphocytes (Mantovani et al., 2009). Interestingly, blood samples analyzed from patients at an earlier and less severe stage of the disease also show altered expression of immune cells, such as significant reductions in CD4+CD25+ Tregulatory (T-reg) cells as well as CD14+ monocytes (Mantovani et al., 2009). Additionally, T-reg cells have been shown to play significant roles as neuroprotectants responsible for modulating the neuroinflammatory response in mouse models of neurodegeneration (Kipnis et al., 2004). It is therefore possible to hypothesize that the reduction of T-reg cells in the blood of sporadic ALS patients might represent a recruitment of these cells from the periphery into the CNS in order to activate resident innate immune cells such as microglia, as well as anti-inflammatory cytokines such as interleukin-10 and transforming growth factor- β in an effort to protect the area most affected by the early effects of ALS degeneration (Kipnis et al., 2004; Mantovani et al., 2009).

Markers for resident innate immune cells have also been found to be altered in the brains of ALS patients as well as in animal models of ALS. For instance, immunostaining for glial fibrillary acid protein (GFAP), a common marker for astrocytes, is markedly increased in all forms of ALS in the precentral gyrus of human samples (Kawamata et al., 1992). In addition, staining for leukocyte common antigen (LCA), lymphocyte function associate molecule-1 (LFA-1), and complement receptors CR3 (CD11b) and CR4 (CD11c) are increased, supporting the idea that microglia and macrophages are activated in the areas of ALS degeneration, such as the motor cortex, brainstem, and corticospinal tract (Kawamata et al., 1992; Papadimitriou et al., 2010). Remarkably, it is believed that the early site of pathological changes in ALS is the neuromuscular junction, and while this particular site of the lower motor neuron pathway has been extensively studied, very little information exists about the immune response at that level. Nonetheless, the data reviewed above provide compelling evidence that a robust neuroinflammatory response is part of the neuropathological changes that characterize ALS. However, none of the aforementioned studies address the actual role, if any, of neuroinflammation in ALS. Investigations in other neurodegenerative disorders have shown that neuroinflammation may exert dual effects, that it can be protective or harmful. In order to distinguish between these two possibilities, efforts have generally concentrated on studying animal models of ALS.

The blood brain barrier renders the brain as immuneprivileged, therefore, the brain contains resident astrocytes and microglia that perform the duties of immune surveillance and act as an innate response system. Reactive astrocytes are most commonly recruited to the site of an injury, such as a spinal cord injury or ischemic events. Their main functions are to compact inflammatory cells, and to re-establish the blood brain barrier (Okada et al., 2006) they may also be involved in clearing CNS debris, such as amyloid plaques (Papadimitriou et al., 2010). Aside from astrocytes, the CNS immune system also consists of ramified resting microglial cells, whose processes play an active role in maintaining the homeostasis of the neural environment. Once activated by the presence of antigens and during times of distress, such as is the case during neurodegeneration, microglia, like other immune cells, become activated taking on an ameboid morphology. Once activated, microglia can secrete a myriad of neurotrophic factors and cytokines (Napoli and Neumann, 2009), and engage in the clearance of pathogens and debris through phagocytosis. However, unregulated activation of microglial activation may be harmful to neurons through the release of potentially harmful neurotoxins including quinolinic acid, reactive oxygen and nitrogen species (ROS; RNS), and pro-inflammatory cytokines. Although a large number of studies have shown that microglia and, to a lesser extent, astrocytes are activated in the affected areas of the CNS in ALS, thus far little attention has been paid to the determination of the actual phenotype of these cells. For instance, since activated resident immune cells can display either a pro-inflammatory or anti-inflammatory phenotype, sometimes referred to as M1 or M2, it will be critical to determine which phenotype they exhibit as a whole, and if possible as individual cells. It is also important to determine whether such profiles differ among the various affected structures of the CNS and stages of the disease. Aside from these outstanding questions, it is also critical to elucidate whether these inflammatory cells play a role in the pathogenesis of ALS. The use of animal models is greatly aiding in the attempts to answer the questions raised by the findings described above.

The most commonly studied animal models of ALS are rats and mice expressing mutant SOD1 (mSOD1). Although, as indicated

above, SOD 1 mutations only account for a small percentage of human cases, animal models using mSOD1 are used with the hope that the mechanisms leading the disease are shared across cases, and knowledge gained from these models can be used to understand the development of the disease in humans. Notably, evidence for increases in astrocytes and microglia have also been found in transgenic mice expressing different forms of mutant SOD1 (mSOD1), supporting human pathology studies (Fischer et al., 2004). Specifically, GFAP and CD11b staining showed evidence for significant increases in reactive astrocytes and microglia in the motor regions of transgenic mice containing mSOD1 (Fischer et al., 2004). Although both astrocytosis and microgliosis have been observed in rodent models, the timing of events seems to be unclear. Some studies using mSOD1 mice have suggested astrocytosis to be an early stage event, with microgliosis as a late stage reaction (Yang et al., 2011). However, others have suggested that microglial response occurs at a much earlier stage of the disease (Sanagi et al., 2010). Nevertheless, it does appear that microglial activation starts after motor neuron degeneration, and initially tries to protect motor neurons from degeneration (Fischer et al., 2004; Henkel et al., 2009).

IMMUNE CELL MEDIATED NON-CELL AUTONOMY IN ALS

Motor neuron death and degeneration has been implicated in causing the debilitating symptoms characteristic of ALS, however, mounting evidence indicates that motor neuron death is, at least in part, non-cell autonomous. In vivo studies have shown that mSOD1 expressed only in motor neurons of transgenic mice is either not sufficient to cause neurodegeneration or causes only a mild ALS-like phenotype (Jaarsma et al., 2008). Support for noncell autonomy comes from studies showing that when mSOD1 expression was reduced in microglia and macrophages in transgenic mice (Boillee et al., 2006b; Wang et al., 2009), motor neuron degeneration was decreased. Aside from microglia, evidence has shown that astrocytes may also play a role in motor neuron death. Early studies using transgenic mice expressing mSOD1 in astrocytes suggested the need for motor neurons to be impaired for a degenerative phenotype (Gong et al., 2000), however more recent studies have concluded that astrocytes expressing mSOD1 released toxic factor(s) which were sufficient to cause motor neuron degeneration in an in vitro model of ALS (Nagai et al., 2007).

THE ROLE OF ASTROCYTES IN ALS NON-CELL AUTONOMY

Astrocytes are one of the main cell types responsible for the clearance of potentially excitotoxic glutamate from the synaptic space, and as mentioned earlier, play a distinct role when they become activated by the immune system. Quite interestingly, glutamate handling has been reported to be modified in both sporadic and familial ALS (Boillee et al., 2006a). Studies have found that brain and spinal cord samples from ALS patients showed altered glutamate transport (Rothstein et al., 1992) resulting from changes in the glutamate transporter EAAT2 (Maragakis et al., 2004). Evidence suggests that EAAT2 is significantly decreased in the motor cortex and spinal cords of ALS patients (Fray et al., 1998), as well as in the spinal cords of mSOD1 transgenic mice (Bruijn et al., 1997) and rats (Howland et al., 2002). It should come as no coincidence then, that astrocytes were quickly targeted for their role in the ALS disease processes.

More interestingly in terms of inflammation, samples analyzed from the brains and spinal cords of ALS patients were found to contain greater numbers of activated or reactive astrocytes, a clear sign of an immune response (Sta et al., 2011). Of note, and useful for research purposes, increased reactive astrocyte expression has been found both in ALS patients and in animal models of ALS (Sta et al., 2011).

Although the main function of astrocytes in the synaptic space is the maintenance of a homeostatic environment for neurons though activities such as the clearance of neurotransmitters, reactive astrocytes gain properties that resting astrocytes do not exhibit. It has been shown that during and after injury, astrocytes have the ability to ameliorate symptoms by physically isolating the injured area through the formation of a glial scar, as well as release neurotrophins and growth factors such as IGF-1 which have been deemed beneficial to injured cells (Dong and Benveniste, 2001). Astrocytes have also been found to release NGF and induce additional sprouting both *in vitro* and *in vivo*, a key step in neuronal recovery (Chalmers et al., 1996; Wu et al., 1998).

Even though astrocytes do have the potential to be beneficial to neurons, the majority of evidence suggests that astrocytes actually contribute to neuronal degeneration during disease, with ALS being no exception. Interestingly, NGF release, which has generally been regarded as a positive attribute of reactive astrocytes, has been shown to directly lead to motor neuron apoptosis through the p75 pathway (Pehar et al., 2004). Notably, mSOD1containing astrocytes have been found to be even more toxic to their environments than reactive astrocytes alone. Studies have found that reducing mSOD1 expressing astrocyte levels in an in vivo model of ALS decreased motor neuron degeneration and correspondingly increased the life span of the affected animals (Lepore et al., 2008; Barbeito et al., 2010). Although the exact mechanisms for astrocyte-mediated motor neuron toxicity is not known, several lines of evidence have pointed to the activation and release of toxic or harmful products such as pro-inflammatory cytokine oxidative stressors. These include, but are not limited to prostaglandins, leukotrienes, and RNS (Hensley et al., 2006a,b). In addition, in vitro models of ALS have shown that astrocytes containing mSOD1 release toxic factors that are preferentially toxic to motor neurons. Furthermore, it was noted that even wildtype motor neurons die in the presence of mSOD1-containing astrocytes. Moreover, wild-type motor neurons die when grown in media conditioned by mSOD1 containing astrocytes. These in vitro studies have suggested the pro-apoptotic Bax pathway as another mechanism through which astrocytes mediate motor neuron cell death (Nagai et al., 2007).

THE ROLE OF MICROGLIA IN ALS

Microglial cells perform the duties of immune surveillance in the CNS, and once activated, such as is the case during neurodegeneration, these cells secrete cytokines and neurotrophins in order to help restore homeostasis to the neuronal environment (Napoli and Neumann, 2009). However, just as astrocytes may play a deleterious role in ALS, microglia have also been found to exacerbate neuronal injury. *In vivo* studies have shown that microglial cells increase their expression and release of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as TNF- α and IL-1 β in a mouse model of ALS. Additionally, activated microglia have been shown to promote the generation of reactive oxidative species, causing more harm than good to motor neurons (Henkel et al., 2009).

In the case of ALS, a number of studies have looked at mSOD1 expression in microglia, and its effect on ALS disease progression and motor neuron degeneration. Recent studies have found that diminishing mSOD1 levels in microglia in a mouse model of ALS did not alter the age of onset of paralysis, however it was able to significantly slow the disease progression (Boillee et al., 2006b). Yet, the lack of effects on onset must be regarded with caution, as one cannot exclude that the reduction in mSOD1 in microglia was only at the time when some actual motor neuron degeneration has already occurred. Indeed, the technology used in this study to reduce mSOD1 expression was driven by the microglial specific promoter CD11b which only acquires significant driving forces in response to pathological stimuli such as motor neuron degeneration. Accordingly, it would not be surprising that the disease phenotype in these mice has only been modified after the onset of motor neuron degeneration. It has also been found that mSOD1 containing microglia produce and release greater levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines and free radicals than their wildtype counterparts (Henkel et al., 2009). While the presence of mSOD1 in microglia has been shown to be deleterious, new evidence has begun to pinpoint the mechanisms that may control ALS-related microglial toxicity. Specifically, increases in the proinflammatory cytokines and prostaglandin E2 have been reported to be present in ALS patients (Papadimitriou et al., 2010). Additionally, in vitro data suggested that conditioned media obtained from activated microglia is sufficient to cause neuronal degeneration through the concurrent stimulation of TNF- α and NMDA receptors. These pathways are thought to up-regulate inducible nitric oxide synthase activity, thus causing oxidative stress which leads to cell death. Of note is the fact that activation of either the TNF- α or NMDA receptor alone was not found to cause cell death, and the blockade of either of these receptor pathways was found to alleviate cell death caused by microglial-conditioned media, suggesting that both of these receptors need to be activated for MN death to occur (Moisse and Strong, 2006).

Although there is compelling evidence supporting the notion that microglial activation could be sufficient to kill motor neurons in ALS, *in vivo* studies have cast doubt on this theory by showing that repopulating microglial-deficient mice with mSODcontaining microglia failed to cause motor neuron death. These studies have yet to be repeated (Boillee et al., 2006a,b). In addition, studies done in mSOD1 mice absent in TNF- α , a potent inflammatory signaling molecule, did not show any decrease in motor neuron death (Gowing et al., 2006). These data are perhaps suggestive of alternate inflammatory pathways, and may implicate inflammatory mechanisms as coincidental, but not causative.

When viewed together, mounting *in vitro* and *in vivo* evidence have given credence to the toxic effects of astrocytes and microglia on motor neurons and have suggested multiple mechanisms that may be involved. In addition to these, it must be noted that mSOD1 containing motor neurons are particularly vulnerable to Fas ligand and NO-triggered cell death (Moisse and Strong, 2006). Therefore, it is thought that the combined effects of mSOD1 in motor neurons as well as in neighboring astrocytes and microglia are what ultimately result in cell death and degeneration in ALS. While the discovery of the expansion repeat in C9ORF72 is too recent to know its relationship with the inflammatory system, it would be conceivable that the immune system response to such a widespread mutation would be equal to or greater than what has already been observed in other forms of ALS.

ANTI-INFLAMMATORY THERAPEUTICS IN ALS

With inflammation potentially playing a significant role in ALS pathogenesis and progression, it is logical to attempt antiinflammatory drugs for use as therapeutics in combating ALS. Using SOD1 mice, a number of groups have attempted to administer COX2 inhibitors such as cyclosporine, thalidomide, and lenalidomide to COX2-deficient mice in order to attenuate the negative effects of inflammation. Interestingly, the use of these drugs in mSOD1 animal models was sufficient to prolong lifespan (Karlsson et al., 2004; Kiaei et al., 2006). Cyclosporine is currently in clinical trials. Initial double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical trials suggest that men may benefit from cyclosporine administration when given within 18 months of initial diagnosis (Appel et al., 1988). Based on these results, the group of Karlsson et al. are currently running Phase II clinical trials.

Another approach to anti-inflammatory therapy was the use of the drug Copaxone, which has most often been used to treat patients diagnosed with multiple sclerosis. The active ingredient, glatiramer acetate, was used both in animal models as well as clinical trials. While there was initial excitement for the drug, which increased survival in mSOD1 mouse models of ALS (Angelov et al., 2003), these results could not be replicated (Turner and Talbot, 2008). Clinical trials with glatiramer acetate were also unsuccessful (Meininger et al., 2009), suggesting the mouse strain or the delivery mechanism in the original study may have played a greater role than initially indicated.

Perhaps the most well-known of the anti-inflammatory compounds used against ALS is minocycline, a second-generation tetracycline which has been shown to have anti-inflammatory properties (Yrjanheikki et al., 1999). The use of minocycline was shown to delay motor neuron degeneration as well as increase survival in several different mSOD1 mouse models of ALS (Kriz et al., 2002; Zhu et al., 2002). These studies found that minocycline may have had a direct impact on motor neurons by decreasing apoptosis through a reduction in cytochrome *c* release (Zhu et al., 2002; Moisse and Strong, 2006). Furthermore, it may have decreased the level of microglial activation and proliferation in mSOD1 mouse models of ALS (Kriz et al., 2002; Moisse and Strong, 2006). Given these promising results, minocycline was moved into clinical trials, and thus far, no observable difference was found between placebo and drug cohorts in phase III trials (Barbeito et al., 2010).

It should be noted however, that the use of anti-inflammatory drugs in animal models does not lead to direct knowledge of drug dosing and further study may be needed in order to find correct dosing levels, and potentially more importantly, dosing schedules. The use of animal models allows researchers to administer therapeutics before, during, after, or any combination therein relative to symptom onset. Unfortunately, patients being treated for neurodegenerative disorders do not have the luxury of being pre-treated for ALS symptoms before they arise, thus vastly complicating any therapeutic regimen.

CONCLUSION

Recent lines of evidence have given strong support to the role of astrocytes and microglia in ALS disease pathology. Tissue samples from ALS patients have been found to contain increased inflammatory by-products, and animal models of ALS have corroborated these increases. There is some debate as to whether inflammation in ALS could potentially be protective, however most studies have found the activation of microglia and astrocytes

REFERENCES

- Andersen, P. M. (2001). Genetics of sporadic ALS. Amyotroph. Lateral Scler. Other Motor Neuron Disord. 2(Suppl. 1), S37–S41.
- Angelov, D. N., Waibel, S., Guntinas-Lichius, O., Lenzen, M., Neiss, W. F., Tomov, T. L., Yoles, E., Kipnis, J., Schori, H., Reuter, A., Ludolph, A., and Schwartz, M. (2003). Therapeutic vaccine for acute and chronic motor neuron diseases: implications for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 100, 4790–4795.
- Appel, S. H., Stewart, S. S., Appel, V., Harati, Y., Mietlowski, W., Weiss, W., and Belendiuk, G. W. (1988). A double-blind study of the effectiveness of cyclosporine in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Arch. Neurol.* 45, 381–386.
- Barbeito, A. G., Mesci, P., and Boillee, S. (2010). Motor neuron-immune interactions: the vicious circle of ALS. *J. Neural Transm.* 117, 981–1000.
- Boillee, S., Vande Velde, C., and Cleveland, D. W. (2006a). ALS: a disease of motor neurons and their nonneuronal neighbors. *Neuron* 52, 39–59.
- Boillee, S., Yamanaka, K., Lobsiger, C. S., Copeland, N. G., Jenkins, N. A., Kassiotis, G., Kollias, G., and Cleveland, D. W. (2006b). Onset and progression in inherited ALS determined by motor neurons and microglia. *Science* 312, 1389–1392.
- Bruijn, L. I., Becher, M. W., Lee, M. K., Anderson, K. L., Jenkins, N. A., Copeland, N. G., Sisodia, S. S., Rothstein, J. D., Borchelt, D. R., Price, D. L., and Cleveland, D. W. (1997). ALSlinked SOD1 mutant G85R mediates damage to astrocytes and promotes rapidly progressive disease with SOD1-containing inclusions. *Neuron* 18, 327–338.
- Chalmers, G. R., Peterson, D. A., and Gage, F. H. (1996). Sprouting adult CNS cholinergic axons express NILE

and associate with astrocytic surfaces expressing neural cell adhesion molecule. *J. Comp. Neurol.* 371, 287–299.

- DeJesus-Hernandez, M., MacKenzie, I. R., Boeve, B. F., Boxer, A. L., Baker, M., Rutherford, N. J., Nicholson, A. M., Finch, N. A., Flynn, H., Adamson, J., Kouri, N., Wojtas, A., Sengdy, P., Hsiung, G. Y., Karydas, A., Seeley, W. W., Josephs, K. A., Coppola, G., Geschwind, D. H., Wszolek, Z. K., Feldman, H., Knopman, D. S., Petersen, R. C., Miller, B. L., Dickson, D. W., Boylan, K. B., Graff-Radford, N. R., and Rademakers, R. (2011). Expanded GGGGCC hexanucleotide repeat in noncoding region of C9ORF72 causes chromosome 9p-linked FTD and ALS. Neuron 72, 245-256
- Dong, Y., and Benveniste, E. N. (2001). Immune function of astrocytes. *Glia* 36, 180–190.
- Fischer, L. R., Culver, D. G., Tennant, P., Davis, A. A., Wang, M., Castellano-Sanchez, A., Khan, J., Polak, M. A., and Glass, J. D. (2004). Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis is a distal axonopathy: evidence in mice and man. *Exp. Neurol.* 185, 232–240.
- Fray, A. E., Ince, P. G., Banner, S. J., Milton, I. D., Usher, P. A., Cookson, M. R., and Shaw, P. J. (1998). The expression of the glial glutamate transporter protein EAAT2 in motor neuron disease: an immunohistochemical study. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 10, 2481–2489.
- Gong, Y. H., Parsadanian, A. S., Andreeva, A., Snider, W. D., and Elliott, J. L. (2000). Restricted expression of G86R Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase in astrocytes results in astrocytosis but does not cause motoneuron degeneration. J. Neurosci. 20, 660–665.
- Gowing, G., Dequen, F., Soucy, G., and Julien, J. P. (2006). Absence of tumor necrosis factor-alpha does not affect motor neuron disease caused by

to be more harmful than beneficial. These harmful effects may come through the up-regulation and increased release of proinflammatory cytokines and reactive oxidative species, as well as through decreased uptake of excitotoxic neurotransmitters such as glutamate from the synaptic space. One major unanswered question, however, is whether an external event causes neuroinflammatory activation leading to ALS, or whether an external event leads to ALS causing neuroinflammation. In either case, both ALS pathology and neuroinflammation seem to act concurrently to exacerbate the symptoms of neurodegeneration. Future therapies to combat motor neuron death may involve a combination of approaches which recognize the role of multiple mechanisms and cell types in the progression of ALS.

superoxide dismutase 1 mutations. J. Neurosci. 26, 11397–11402.

- Hardiman, O., Van Den Berg, L. H., and Kiernan, M. C. (2011). Clinical diagnosis and management of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Nat. Rev. Neurol.* 7, 639–649.
- Henkel, J. S., Beers, D. R., Zhao, W., and Appel, S. H. (2009). Microglia in ALS: the good, the bad, and the resting. *J. Neuroimmune Pharmacol.* 4, 389–398.
- Hensley, K., Abdel-Moaty, H., Hunter, J., Mhatre, M., Mou, S., Nguyen, K., Potapova, T., Pye, Q. N., Qi, M., Rice, H., Stewart, C., Stroukoff, K., and West, M. (2006a). Primary glia expressing the G93A-SOD1 mutation present a neuroinflammatory phenotype and provide a cellular system for studies of glial inflammation. J. Neuroinflammation 3, 2.
- Hensley, K., Mhatre, M., Mou, S., Pye, Q. N., Stewart, C., West, M., and Williamson, K. S. (2006b). On the relation of oxidative stress to neuroinflammation: lessons learned from the G93A-SOD1 mouse model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Antioxid. Redox Signal.* 8, 2075–2087.
- Howland, D. S., Liu, J., She, Y., Goad, B., Maragakis, N. J., Kim, B., Erickson, J., Kulik, J., Devito, L., Psaltis, G., Degennaro, L. J., Cleveland, D. W., and Rothstein, J. D. (2002). Focal loss of the glutamate transporter EAAT2 in a transgenic rat model of SOD1 mutant-mediated amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS). *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 99, 1604–1609.
- Ince, P. G., Highley, J. R., Kirby, J., Wharton, S. B., Takahashi, H., Strong, M. J., and Shaw, P. J. (2011). Molecular pathology and genetic advances in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: an emerging molecular pathway and the significance of glial pathology. *Acta Neuropathol.* 122, 657–671.
- Jaarsma, D., Teuling, E., Haasdijk, E. D., De Zeeuw, C. I., and Hoogenraad, C. C. (2008). Neuron-specific

expression of mutant superoxide dismutase is sufficient to induce amyotrophic lateral sclerosis in transgenic mice. *J. Neurosci.* 28, 2075–2088.

- Karlsson, J., Fong, K. S., Hansson, M. J., Elmer, E., Csiszar, K., and Keep, M. F. (2004). Life span extension and reduced neuronal death after weekly intraventricular cyclosporin injections in the G93A transgenic mouse model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. J. Neurosurg. 101, 128–137.
- Kawamata, T., Akiyama, H., Yamada, T., and McGeer, P. L. (1992). Immunologic reactions in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis brain and spinal cord tissue. *Am. J. Pathol.* 140, 691–707.
- Kiaei, M., Petri, S., Kipiani, K., Gardian, G., Choi, D. K., Chen, J., Calingasan, N. Y., Schafer, P., Muller, G. W., Stewart, C., Hensley, K., and Beal, M. F. (2006). Thalidomide and lenalidomide extend survival in a transgenic mouse model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *J. Neurosci.* 26, 2467–2473.
- Kipnis, J., Avidan, H., Caspi, R. R., and Schwartz, M. (2004). Dual effect of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells in neurodegeneration: a dialogue with microglia. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 101(Suppl. 2), 14663–14669.
- Kriz, J., Nguyen, M. D., and Julien, J. P. (2002). Minocycline slows disease progression in a mouse model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 10, 268–278.
- Kwiatkowski, T. J. Jr., Bosco, D. A., Leclerc, A. L., Tamrazian, E., Vanderburg, C. R., Russ, C., Davis, A., Gilchrist, J., Kasarskis, E. J., Munsat, T., Valdmanis, P., Rouleau, G. A., Hosler, B. A., Cortelli, P., De Jong, P. J., Yoshinaga, Y., Haines, J. L., Pericak-Vance, M. A., Yan, J., Ticozzi, N., Siddique, T., McKenna-Yasek, D., Sapp, P. C., Horvitz, H. R., Landers, J. E., and Brown, R. H. Jr. (2009). Mutations in the FUS/TLS gene on chromosome 16 cause familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Science* 323, 1205–1208.

- Lepore, A. C., Rauck, B., Dejea, C., Pardo, A. C., Rao, M. S., Rothstein, J. D., and Maragakis, N. J. (2008). Focal transplantationbased astrocyte replacement is neuroprotective in a model of motor neuron disease. *Nat. Neurosci.* 11, 1294–1301.
- MacKenzie, I. R., Bigio, E. H., Ince, P. G., Geser, F., Neumann, M., Cairns, N. J., Kwong, L. K., Forman, M. S., Ravits, J., Stewart, H., Eisen, A., McClusky, L., Kretzschmar, H. A., Monoranu, C. M., Highley, J. R., Kirby, J., Siddique, T., Shaw, P. J., Lee, V. M., and Trojanowski, J. Q. (2007). Pathological TDP-43 distinguishes sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis from amyotrophic lateral sclerosis with SOD1 mutations. *Ann. Neurol.* 61, 427–434.
- Mantovani, S., Garbelli, S., Pasini, A., Alimonti, D., Perotti, C., Melazzini, M., Bendotti, C., and Mora, G. (2009). Immune system alterations in sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis patients suggest an ongoing neuroinflammatory process. J. Neuroimmunol. 210, 73–79.
- Maragakis, N. J., Dietrich, J., Wong, V., Xue, H., Mayer-Proschel, M., Rao, M. S., and Rothstein, J. D. (2004). Glutamate transporter expression and function in human glial progenitors. *Glia* 45, 133–143.
- Meininger, V., Drory, V. E., Leigh, P. N., Ludolph, A., Robberecht, W., and Silani, V. (2009). Glatiramer acetate has no impact on disease progression in ALS at 40 mg/day: a double- blind, randomized, multicentre, placebocontrolled trial. *Amyotroph. Lateral Scler.* 10, 378–383.
- Moisse, K., and Strong, M. J. (2006). Innate immunity in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1762, 1083–1093.
- Nagai, M., Re, D. B., Nagata, T., Chalazonitis, A., Jessell, T. M., Wichterle, H., and Przedborski, S. (2007). Astrocytes expressing ALSlinked mutated SOD1 release factors

selectively toxic to motor neurons. *Nat. Neurosci.* 10, 615–622.

- Napoli, I., and Neumann, H. (2009). Microglial clearance function in health and disease. *Neuroscience* 158, 1030–1038.
- Okada, S., Nakamura, M., Katoh, H., Miyao, T., Shimazaki, T., Ishii, K., Yamane, J., Yoshimura, A., Iwamoto, Y., Toyama, Y., and Okano, H. (2006). Conditional ablation of Stat3 or Socs3 discloses a dual role for reactive astrocytes after spinal cord injury. *Nat. Med.* 12, 829–834.
- Papadimitriou, D., Le Verche, V., Jacquier, A., Ikiz, B., Przedborski, S., and Re, D. B. (2010). Inflammation in ALS and SMA: sorting out the good from the evil. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 37, 493–502.
- Pehar, M., Cassina, P., Vargas, M. R., Castellanos, R., Viera, L., Beckman, J. S., Estevez, A. G., and Barbeito, L. (2004). Astrocytic production of nerve growth factor in motor neuron apoptosis: implications for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *J. Neurochem.* 89, 464–473.
- Rothstein, J. D., Martin, L. J., and Kuncl, R. W. (1992). Decreased glutamate transport by the brain and spinal cord in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. N. Engl. J. Med. 326, 1464–1468.
- Sanagi, T., Yuasa, S., Nakamura, Y., Suzuki, E., Aoki, M., Warita, H., Itoyama, Y., Uchino, S., Kohsaka, S., and Ohsawa, K. (2010). Appearance of phagocytic microglia adjacent to motoneurons in spinal cord tissue from a presymptomatic transgenic rat model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. J. Neurosci. Res. 88, 2736–2746.
- Sreedharan, J., Blair, I. P., Tripathi, V. B., Hu, X., Vance, C., Rogelj, B., Ackerley, S., Durnall, J. C., Williams, K. L., Buratti, E., Baralle, F., De Belleroche, J., Mitchell, J. D., Leigh, P. N., Al-Chalabi, A., Miller, C. C., Nicholson, G., and Shaw, C. E. (2008). TDP-43

mutations in familial and sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Science* 319, 1668–1672.

- Sta, M., Sylva-Steenland, R. M., Casula, M., De Jong, J. M., Troost, D., Aronica, E., and Baas, F. (2011). Innate and adaptive immunity in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: evidence of complement activation. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 42, 211–220.
- Tan, C. F., Eguchi, H., Tagawa, A., Onodera, O., Iwasaki, T., Tsujino, A., Nishizawa, M., Kakita, A., and Takahashi, H. (2007). TDP-43 immunoreactivity in neuronal inclusions in familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis with or without SOD1 gene mutation. Acta Neuropathol. 113, 535–542.
- Turner, B. J., and Talbot, K. (2008). Transgenics, toxicity and therapeutics in rodent models of mutant SOD1-mediated familial ALS. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 85, 94–134.
- Vance, C., Rogelj, B., Hortobagyi, T., De Vos, K. J., Nishimura, A. L., Sreedharan, J., Hu, X., Smith, B., Ruddy, D., Wright, P., Ganesalingam, J., Williams, K. L., Tripathi, V., Al-Saraj, S., Al-Chalabi, A., Leigh, P. N., Blair, I. P., Nicholson, G., De Belleroche, J., Gallo, J. M., Miller, C. C., and Shaw, C. E. (2009). Mutations in FUS, an RNA processing protein, cause familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis type 6. *Science* 323, 1208–1211.
- Wang, L., Sharma, K., Grisotti, G., and Roos, R. P. (2009). The effect of mutant SOD1 dismutase activity on non-cell autonomous degeneration in familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 35, 234–240.
- Wijesekera, L. C., and Leigh, P. N. (2009). Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Orphanet. J. Rare Dis. 4, 3.
- Wu, V. W., Nishiyama, N., and Schwartz, J. P. (1998). A culture model of reactive astrocytes: increased nerve growth factor synthesis and reexpression of cytokine responsiveness. *J. Neurochem.* 71, 749–756.

- Yang, W. W., Sidman, R. L., Taksir, T. V., Treleaven, C. M., Fidler, J. A., Cheng, S. H., Dodge, J. C., and Shihabuddin, L. S. (2011). Relationship between neuropathology and disease progression in the SOD1(G93A) ALS mouse. *Exp. Neurol.* 227, 287–295.
- Yrjanheikki, J., Tikka, T., Keinanen, R., Goldsteins, G., Chan, P. H., and Koistinaho, J. (1999). A tetracycline derivative, minocycline, reduces inflammation and protects against focal cerebral ischemia with a wide therapeutic window. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 96, 13496–13500.
- Zhu, S., Stavrovskaya, I. G., Drozda, M., Kim, B. Y., Ona, V., Li, M., Sarang, S., Liu, A. S., Hartley, D. M., Wu, D. C., Gullans, S., Ferrante, R. J., Przedborski, S., Kristal, B. S., and Friedlander, R. M. (2002). Minocycline inhibits cytochrome c release and delays progression of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis in mice. *Nature* 417, 74–78.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 28 March 2012; accepted: 13 July 2012; published online: 14 August 2012.

Citation: Phani S, Re DB and Przedborski S (2012) The role of the innate immune system in ALS. Front. Pharmacol. **3**:150. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2012.00150

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Neuropharmacology, a specialty of Frontiers in Pharmacology.

Copyright © 2012 Phani, Re and Przedborski. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and subject to any copyright notices concerning any third-party graphics etc.



Microglia function in Alzheimer's disease

Egle Solito¹ and Magdalena Sastre²*

² Centre for Neuroscience, Division of Experimental Medicine, Imperial College London, London, UK

Edited by:

Roger A. Barker, University of Cambridge and Addenbrooke' Hospital, UK

Reviewed by:

Emmanuel Planel, Centre Hospitalier de l'Université Laval, Canada Mariela Fermanda Perez, Universidad Nacional de Cordoba, Argentina

*Correspondence:

Magdalena Sastre, Centre for Neuroscience, Division of Experimental Medicine, Imperial College London, Hammersmith Hospital, Du Cane Road, London W12 0NN, UK. e-mail: m.sastre@imperial.ac.uk

Contrary to early views, we now know that systemic inflammatory/immune responses transmit to the brain. The microglia, the resident "macrophages" of the brain's innate immune system, are most responsive, and increasing evidence suggests that they enter a hyper-reactive state in neurodegenerative conditions and aging. As sustained overproduction of microglial pro-inflammatory mediators is neurotoxic, this raises great concern that systemic inflammation (that also escalates with aging) exacerbates or possibly triggers, neurological diseases (Alzheimer's, prion, motoneuron disease). It is known that inflammation has an essential role in the progression of Alzheimer's disease (AD), since amyloid- β (A β) is able to activate microglia, initiating an inflammatory response, which could have different consequences for neuronal survival. On one hand, microglia may delay the progression of AD by contributing to the clearance of A β , since they phagocyte A β and release enzymes responsible for A^β degradation. Microglia also secrete growth factors and anti-inflammatory cytokines, which are neuroprotective. In addition, microglia removal of damaged cells is a very important step in the restoration of the normal brain environment, as if left such cells can become potent inflammatory stimuli, resulting in yet further tissue damage. On the other hand, as we age microglia become steadily less efficient at these processes, tending to become over-activated in response to stimulation and instigating too potent a reaction, which may cause neuronal damage in its own right. Therefore, it is critical to understand the state of activation of microglia in different AD stages to be able to determine the effect of potential anti-inflammatory therapies. We discuss here recent evidence supporting both the beneficial or detrimental performance of microglia in AD, and the attempt to find molecules/biomarkers for early diagnosis or therapeutic interventions.

Keywords: microglia, amyloid-β, Alzheimer's disease, inflammation, NSAIDs, annexin A1, immunity

INTRODUCTION

For many years, the central nervous system (CNS) was considered to be immune privileged, neither susceptible nor contributing to infection/inflammation. It is now evident that CNS infection and neurological diseases trigger local inflammation and consequently activation of the immune response. In particular, the response to aggression is driven by the resident immune cells, the microglia distributed throughout the normal adult brain (Perry and Andersson, 1992; Nimmerjahn et al., 2005). Specifically, Alzheimer's disease (AD) is characterized by an inflammatory response to Amyloid- β (A β), inducing the activation of microglia and the recruitment of astrocytes to the sites where A β deposits occur (Sastre et al., 2006a).

It is nowadays accepted that there is a dynamic microglia turnover in the brain and that microglia phenotype may change depending on aging, stage of the disease, and/or the presence of peripheral inflammation. In the brain there are also infiltrated macrophages, which play an essential role in the immune response.

The purpose of this review is first, to describe microglia as a cell of the immune system and the effects of peripheral inflammation on their activation. Secondly, our aim is to describe how this system is altered in a neurodegenerative disease, such as AD. Therefore, targeting microglia could serve as a potential therapy to treat AD patients.

MICROGLIA THE INNATE IMMUNITY CELL COMPONENT Role of Microglia and Macrophages in the Brain

Microglia represent around 10% of the cells in the nervous system. Although there are many theories concerning the origin of microglia, the general consensus today is its hematopoietic origin, derived from myeloid precursor cells, which enter the developing CNS during embryogenesis. Many questions remain about the recruitment and the life of the resident microglial in adult and aging brain (Chan et al., 2007).

Microglia constitute the first line of defense against invading pathogens or other types of brain tissue injury. The general agreement is that microglia are the "sentinels" of the CNS. Their fundamental role is sensing both pathogen- and hostderived ligands within the CNS. By detecting the type of insult and consequently directing the innate to the adaptive immune response (e.g., removal of pathogen) they are fundamental to the resolution of inflammation. Under pathological situations, such as neurodegenerative disease, stroke, and tumor invasion, microglia become activated, surround damaged and dead cells,

¹ Centre for Translational Medicine and Therapeutics, William Harvey Research Institute, Barts and The London, Queen Mary's School of Medicine and Dentistry, London, UK

and clear cellular debris from the area, in analogy to phagocytic macrophages of the immune system (Fetler and Amigorena, 2005). This process plays a fundamental part in the reorganization of neural circuitry and repair mechanisms that arise following injury (Neumann et al., 2009; Neher et al., 2011). As part of a beneficial role microglial phagocytosis is a highly regulated process, with activated microglia expressing a wide, and redundant, variety of distinct receptors for the removal of pathogenic organisms, e.g., Toll-like receptors (TLRs; Neumann et al., 2009), or of apoptotic cell debris, e.g., CD36 and integrins (Napoli and Neumann, 2009; Lue et al., 2010). The microglial phagocytic response is thus a central part of the brain's defense mechanisms, and is a powerful contributor to the systems in place that ensure healthy neural function.

Activated microglia also up-regulate other cell-surface receptors, including the major histocompatibility complex and complement receptors (Liu and Hong, 2003). Microglia experience dramatic morphological changes from ramified cells to activated amoeboid microglia (Kreutzberg, 1996). In addition, when microglia become activated they generate inflammatory mediators like cytokines, chemokines, prostaglandins, inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2), free radicals, and stimulating an adaptive immune response (Nimmerjahn et al., 2005; Ransohoff and Perry, 2009). The principal goals of such reactions include the repair and the restoration of the homeostasis, but complications often arise, resulting in detrimental effects and actual exacerbation of the occurring damage (Lehnardt, 2010).

Apart from resident microglia, in the brain there are monocytederived macrophages (Schwartz and Shechter, 2010). Perivascular macrophages have a phagocytic role and are also implicated in the presentation of antigens to T cells that have been activated in the periphery, thereby facilitating the recognition of CNS antigens (Perry et al., 2010). The macrophage and microglia phenotype has been defined as M1 (classically activated via TLRs or interferon γ) and M2 (alternatively activated by interleukin 4 or interleukin 13), although it is assumed that a mixed population of both phenotypes exists (Cameron and Landreth, 2010; Perry et al., 2010). Because most techniques are unable to differentiate between both populations of microglia and macrophages in the brain, they are collectively referred as microglia. However, both microglia and infiltrated monocytes are not functionally redundant and have different properties, so they are both necessary to display functions such as brain repair.

IMPACT OF PERIPHERAL INFLAMMATION IN THE BRAIN

Inflammation is a response mounted by the innate immune system in response to injury and infections in order to promote recovery. It was long thought that the brain was protected from systemic inflammation. However, growing evidence shows that systemic inflammatory stimuli, such as infection, also trigger a central response through microglia with consequent release of pro-inflammatory mediators (cytokines, lipid metabolites, free radicals). As part of the host-defense process, this stimulates autonomic, neuroendocrine, and behavioral responses that promote recovery. Under normal conditions the neuroinflammatory response resolves and microglia resume their "resting" state and role of monitoring the microenvironment. However, increasing experimental and clinical evidence indicates that systemic inflammation can worsen, or possibly trigger, neurological diseases (Weller et al., 2005; Ransohoff and Perry, 2009). These include stroke (McColl et al., 2007), Alzheimer's, prion, and motoneuron diseases (Nguyen et al., 2004; Perry, 2004; Rogers et al., 2007). Although the underlying mechanisms are not clear, mounting evidence suggests that microglia enter a primed/hyper-sensitive state in neurodegenerative conditions. This pre-disposes to an exaggerated production of toxic pro-inflammatory mediators in response to systemic inflammogens, thereby exacerbating neuronal loss (Streit et al., 2004; Godbout et al., 2005; Perry et al., 2007).

Understanding the routes of communication between peripheral immune responses and the brain has not been an easy challenge (Perry et al., 2007). The general belief is that immune messages are passed to the brain mainly through three different pathways: first, peripherally derived signals (mainly proinflammatory cytokines like IL-1 β , TNF- α , and IL-6) and even pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs; for example the lipopolysaccharide (LPS), the main cell-wall component of Gramnegative bacteria) can access the nervous system through brain sites that lack a proper blood brain barrier (BBB), or through fenestrated capillaries (Rivest, 2003); secondly, on-going peripheral reactions can be sensed and transmitted to the brain via neural afferent pathways, mainly through the vagus nerve (Gao et al., 2008); lastly, the BBB itself, through the role of its numerous cellular components like endothelial cells and perivascular macrophages can sense circulating signals and respond to them, affecting behavior of neurons, astrocytes, and especially resident microglia population (Rivest, 2009; Figure 1).

MICROGLIA IN AGING

Despite the similarities with the innate immune response in the peripheral system, there are important differences with brain environment, where the microglia activity could be sometimes deleterious for the brain. This in-balance phenotype is determined by the fact that neuroinflammation may be chronic or acute (Colton, 2009). Both chronic low-grade peripheral inflammation (Ouchi et al., 2005) and microglial priming/hypersensitivity are associated with aging.

It is well known that microglia exhibit significant phenotypic changes during normal aging. Microglia cells from both aged humans and rodents show profoundly altered morphology, characterized by dystrophic processes, and abnormal clustering (Perry et al., 1996; Streit et al., 2008). These changes in morphology are accompanied by increased expression of activation markers such as MHCII and RAGE (Perry et al., 1993), raised basal production of the pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF α , IL-6, and IL-1 β (Ye and Johnson, 1999; Xie et al., 2003; Sierra et al., 2007), and hyperresponsiveness to inflammatory stimulation (Njie et al., 2012), together suggesting that microglia become progressively dysfunctional with age. A likely explanation for this fact lies in the loss of endogenous factors which would normally control/drive prevent excessive microglial activation, and promote the beneficial, anti-inflammatory, phenotype. We could further hypothesize that microglia turnover with aging is reduced and that newly attracted



monistic cells may acquire a wrong phenotype once enriched the brain environment (Kofler and Wiley, 2011).

In summary, microglial activation presents a double-edged sword: from one side we can define it as neuroprotective, forming the first line of defense in the CNS; from the other, it can become a neurodegenerative force, when its power is excessive and to represent risk factors for developing age-associated neurodegenerative disease (AD), contributing to the worsening of symptoms that occur after systemic infection (Perry et al., 2007). Understanding the shift between these two opposite and the changes that occurring with aging will allow us to minimize the harmful and capitalize the beneficial effects and consequently the treatment of neurodegenerative diseases (Yong and Rivest, 2009).

MICROGLIA IN ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE

IMPLICATIONS OF AD PATHOGENESIS IN MICROGLIA ACTIVATION

Inflammation has been implicated in neuronal damage, increased $A\beta$ generation, increased phosphorylation of tau, and cognitive impairment in AD. Cause or consequence of disease progression is still not clear. Clinical work and studies in animal models suggest that microglial activation precede amyloid plaques and

tangles formation (Griffin et al., 1989; Heneka et al., 2005a) while PET studies have reported inflammatory changes in one-third of amnestic mild cognitive impairment (MCI; Cagnin et al., 2001; Okello et al., 2009).

Many of the cytokines and chemokines secreted by microglia such as IL-1 β , IL-6, TNF- α , IL-8, TGF- β , and macrophage inflammatory protein-1 α (MIP-1 α) have been found to have altered expression in AD patients compared to control individuals (Sastre et al., 2006a). Animal models of AD, including the APP transgenic line Tg2567 carrying the Swedish mutation, also show elevated levels for TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-1 α , chemoattractant protein-1, COX-2, and complement component 1q (Benzing et al., 2000; Matsuoka et al., 2001). In addition, an increased risk of AD has been associated with several polymorphisms of pro-inflammatory genes, including IL-1 (Nicoll et al., 2000), IL-6 (Capurso et al., 2004), TNF- α (McCusker et al., 2001; Perry et al., 2001), and α 1-antichymotrypsin (Kamboh et al., 1995).

Amyloid peptides and their precursor protein (APP) are strong glial activators (Barger and Harmon, 1997) and knockdown of APP gene and its proteolytic products delay and decrease microglial activation (DeGiorgio et al., 2002). The extent of astrocytosis and microglial activation is directly dependent on the amyloid load, and treatment with B-sheet breaker peptides leads to reduced brain inflammation (Permanne et al., 2002). A β is able to activate a NFkB-dependent pathway that is required for cytokine production (Combs et al., 2001). In addition, the C-terminal (CT) 100 amino acids of β APP, which is also present in senile plaques, can induce gliosis and neuronal death. CT100 exposure results in activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathways as well as NFkB (Bach et al., 2001). At the same time, inflammation may increase $A\beta$ generation by affecting the transcription of the β -secretase (BACE1), the main enzyme responsible for A β generation (Sastre et al., 2006b, 2008), therefore creating a feed-forward cycle.

In addition, neuroinflammation participates in tau-mediated neurodegeneration (Jaworski et al., 2011). Animal models of tauopathy such as the P301S tau transgenic mice exhibit accumulation of activated microglial cells around tau-positive nerve cells (Yoshiyama et al., 2007). Eventually, pro-inflammatory cytokines are also able to modify the activity of kinases involved in Tau phosphorylation (Arnaud et al., 2006). Products of inflammation might change the substrate specificity of kinases/phosphatases leading to tau phosphorylation at pathological sites. It was shown recently that inflammation induced by infection increased GSK3 activity in the triple-transgenic mouse model of AD, associated with a shift of tau from the detergent-soluble to the detergent-insoluble fraction (Sy et al., 2011).

On the other hand, other proteins involved in AD, such as presenilin, have been implicated in inflammation. Presenilin conditional knockout mice present differential up-regulation of inflammatory markers in the cerebral cortex, such as strong microglial activation, and elevated levels of glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP), complement component C1q, and cathepsin S (Beglopoulos et al., 2004). In fact, γ -secretase inhibitors have been reported to impair microglial activity as measured in gene expression, protein levels, and migration ability, which resulted in a reduction of soluble β -amyloid phagocytosis. Moreover, microglia

deficient in presenilin 1 and 2 showed impairment in phagocytosis of soluble β -amyloid (Farfara et al., 2011).

MECHANISMS OF A β -INDUCED MICROGLIAL ACTIVATION

As indicated above, $A\beta$ is able to bind and activate microglia. The mechanism of action for this is through interaction with pattern recognition receptors (PRRS). Microglia express many PRRs (Farina et al., 2007; Falsig et al., 2008), which recognize and bind to both PAMPs, or danger-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs), such as $A\beta$ (Salminen et al., 2009). Interaction of microglia with $A\beta$, via PRRs provokes their inflammatory actions.

Toll-like receptors

Toll-like receptors are a type-1 integral glycoproteins (Pancer and Cooper, 2006; Miyake, 2007). Among the cell-surface TLRs, TLR2 and 4 can recognize A β (Carty and Bowie, 2011). Several studies have confirmed that TLR4 mediates microglial-induced neurotoxicity both *in vivo* and *in vitro* (Lehnardt et al., 2003; Walter et al., 2007).

Toll-like receptor activation is regulated by co-receptors, including MD-2, CD14, and CD36 (Akashi-Takamura and Miyake, 2006). Research using knockout mice for TLR4 or TLR2 demonstrated an increase in A β deposition and acceleration in cognitive decline (Tahara et al., 2006; Richard et al., 2008). These results suggest that TLR2 and TLR4 may be involved in A β clearance *in vivo* and hence provide neuroprotection in AD. In fact, it was shown that response of microglial cells to fibrillar forms of A β requires the participation of TLRs and the co-receptor CD14 (Reed-Geaghan et al., 2009). However, microglia internalize soluble A β through a non-saturable, fluid phase macropinocytic mechanism that is distinct from phagocytosis and receptor-mediated endocytosis (Mandrekar et al., 2009).

Receptor for advanced end glycation products (RAGE)

RAGE is a member of the immunoglobulin superfamily of cellsurface proteins (Schmidt et al., 2001; Chavakis et al., 2003; Bierhaus et al., 2005). It is a multiligand receptor, which recognizes A β peptides and fibrils (Knapp and Prince, 2007). Interestingly, RAGE-expressing microglia are upregulated in AD, and microglial RAGE is reported to mediate the pro-inflammatory effects of A β (Yan et al., 1996; Lue et al., 2001; Arancio et al., 2004). This is supported by recent work whereby it was demonstrated in transgenic AD models that the interaction of microglial RAGE with A β activates signal transduction cascades (MAP kinase, p38, and ERK1/2), enhances cytokines production (IL- β and TNF- α), and accelerates or amplifies the inflammatory response, leading to recruitment or activation of microglia and astrocytes (Fang et al., 2010).

Scavenger receptors

Scavenger receptor (SR) type-A (SR-A), type B1 (SR-B1), CD36, and CD40 are established receptors for insoluble fibrillar A β aggregates, and are expressed by activated microglia, mediating the endocytosis of oligomeric and fibrillar A β (El Khoury et al., 1996; Paresce et al., 1996; Coraci et al., 2002; Husemann et al., 2002). Microglial adherence via SR-A binding to fibrillar A β leads to microglial immobilization, production of ROS, secretion of cytokines such as TNF- α and complement proteins (El Khoury et al., 1996).

Formyl peptide receptors

Aß can also bind to members of the seven-transmembrane G protein coupled receptors known as formyl peptide receptors (FPRs; Le et al., 2002). FPR, FPR-like 1 (FPRL-1), and FPR-like 2 (FPRL2) have been characterized as series of receptors, for which the main endogenous ligand is Annexin A1 (ANXA1; Solito et al., 2008). These receptors bind with high affinity to N-formylated bacterial peptides. FPRs are expressed on several immune cells including leukocytes, monocytes, and microglia. Among them the FPRL-1 mediates the chemotactic activity of Aβ42 for mononuclear phagocytes and therefore appear to be pathophysiologically relevant in the AD (Iribarren et al., 2005). In addition, AB bound to FPRL-1 is rapidly internalized into the cytoplasmic region as ligand/receptor complexes in mononuclear phagocytes. This process may represent responses of host-defense aiming at the clearance of abnormally elevated, pathogenic AB. However, the AB interaction with FPRL-1 is clearly associated with cell activation (Cui et al., 2002) and the release of pro-inflammatory and neurotoxic mediators (Pan et al., 2011). Interestingly FPRL-1 is highly express in mononuclear phagocytes surrounding and infiltrating Congo red-positive plaques in AD patients' brain tissue (Le et al., 2001).

Complement receptors

Complement receptors are one of the categories of cell-surface molecules on microglia that are upregulated in response to the activation of these cells (Liu and Hong, 2003). A β -induced complement activation leads to generation of C1q, C4, and C3 activation fragments around the plaques. Here microglia express complement proteins C1q, C3, and receptors C1qR, CR3, CR4, and C5aR, which support phagocytic uptake (Keene et al., 2011). Inhibition of the complement system results in an increase of A β plaque formation and neurodegeneration in AD transgenic mice (Shen and Meri, 2003).

In contrast, lack of C1q in mice models of AD results in decrease pathology (Hafer-Macko et al., 2000). This indicates that one mechanism by which microglia could recruit further reactive cells to the site of a plaque and cause neurotoxic damage is by activating the classic complement pathway and the inflammatory machinery associated with it (pro-inflammatory cytokines, oxidative products) through production of C1q (McGeer and McGeer, 1998; Bonifati and Kishore, 2007).

The demonstration that the peripheral benzodiazepine receptor is upregulated in activated microglia led to the development of a ligand, $[^{11}C](R)$ -PK11195, which binds to this receptor also known as the 18-kDa translocator protein (TSPO). Extensive amyloid deposition and microglial activation can be demonstrated in the same group of AD patients *in vivo* by PET using $[^{11}C]$ PK11195 and a negative correlation between microglial activation and levels of cognition has been reported. Both amyloid deposition and microglial activation can be detected *in vivo* with PET in around 50% of patients with MCI. However, amyloid deposition and microglial activation are not necessarily correlated in MCI suggesting both can occur in the absence of the other (Okello et al., 2009; Sastre et al., 2011). On the other hand, a significant age-dependent increase in specific $[^{3}H](R)$ -PK11195 binding was also demonstrated in a transgenic mouse model of AD (TASTPM: APPswxPS1M146V; Roberts et al., 2009). This was consistent with immunohistochemical data showing age-dependent increases in CD68 immunoreactivity co-localized with AB deposits. CD68 is a 110-kDa transmembrane glycoprotein, expressed by monocyte/macrophage lineages and serves as a marker for microglia. Interestingly, an antibody to human TSPO revealed induction of TSPO-positive microgliosis by tau fibrils in tauopathy brains. In addition, in transgenic PS19 mice, carrying the P301S Tau mutation, radiolabeling of TSPO with [11C]AC-5216 was linearly proportional to the amount of phospho-tau immunolabeling (Maeda et al., 2011). The results of that study indicated that TSPO immunoreactivities are associated with NFTs, neuropil threads, and plaque neuritis rather than AB deposits. All together, the analysis of microglia by PET in AD and MCI patients plus the studies of microglial activation over time in animal models suggest that microglia activation occurs before Aß deposition and correlates better with cognitive deficits and tau phosphorylation.

MICROGLIAL ACTIVATION IN DIFFERENT STAGES OF AD

It has been hypothesized that early microglial activation in AD delays disease progression by promoting clearance of AB before formation of senile plaques. It is conceivable that glial activation is protective early in the disease (Wyss-Coray et al., 2003; Maragakis and Rothstein, 2006; Wyss-Coray, 2006). In fact, studies have shown that blood derived macrophages (BMDM) are able to efficiently eliminate amyloid and confer neuroprotection by secretion of growth factors such as the glia-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF), which are potentially beneficial to the survival of neurons (Liu and Hong, 2003). Activated microglia in early stages of AD can reduce AB accumulation by increasing its phagocytosis, clearance, and degradation (Frautschy et al., 1998; Qiu et al., 1998). The mechanism by which $A\beta$ is phagocytosed depends on the physical properties of $A\beta$ and whether it is soluble or fibrillar. Secreted A\u00f31-40 and A\u00f31-42 peptides are constitutively degraded by neprilysin and the insulin degrading enzyme (IDE), a metalloprotease released by microglia and other neural cells, whose enzymatic activity is enhanced by inflammatory events, such as LPS stimulation (Qiu et al., 1997).

In later stages, with persistent production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, microglia lose their protective effect (Hickman et al., 2008; Jimenez et al., 2008) and may become detrimental through the release of cytokines and chemokines (Hickman et al., 2008). These inflammatory mediators modulate immune and inflammatory function and may also alter neuronal function. In addition, microglia from old transgenic mice have a decrease in the expression of the Aβ-binding SR-A, CD36 and RAGE, and the Aß degrading enzymes IDE, neprilysin, and matrix metalloprotease 9 (MMP9), compared with wild-type controls (Hickman et al., 2008). Therefore, all the evidences support the idea that over-activated microglia could cause uncontrolled inflammation that may drive the chronic progression of AD by exacerbating Aß deposition and stimulating neuronal death (Mrak and Griffin, 2005; Gao and Hong, 2008). This concept constitutes the "Neuroinflammatory hypothesis."

By comparison, the "Microglial dysfunction hypothesis" stipulates that rather than an increase of inflammatory function there is a loss of the microglial neuroprotective function in AD (Polazzi and Monti, 2010). Research has shown that the phagocytic abilities of microglia are altered in aging and impaired in neurodegenerative diseases. Therefore this "senescent" or dystrophic microglia can also contribute to the onset of sporadic AD (Streit et al., 2004, 2009).

In addition, other studies have shown that inadequate recruitment of blood monocytes with aging might be a critical event that leads to disease onset. Because the dynamics of the local and systemic inflammatory response may vary with aging and stage of the disease, this would important for the outcome of immunosuppressive treatments (Schwartz and Shechter, 2010).

Studies with animal models have provided controversial data regarding the role of microglia in AD. Experiments crossing APP animal models with Iba1-TK mice, leading to nearly complete ablation of microglia, did not display differences in plaque formation (Grathwohl et al., 2009). These results suggest that microglia may not have a direct role on AB deposition, but affect neuronal function. These results also reinforce the role of blood monocytes, which may support the phagocytic function of microglia. However, another study, using two-photon microscopy, performed in tripletransgenic mice crossed with the microglial chemokine receptor CX3CR1 knockout mouse, revealed that microglia is involved in neuron elimination, indicated by locally increased number and migration velocity of microglia around lost neurons (Fuhrmann et al., 2010). Microglia were recruited to the neuron before and not after the elimination of the neuron. Furthermore, CX3CR1 knockout prevented neuronal loss, indicating that neuronal loss depends on the communication between neurons and microglia (Fuhrmann et al., 2010).

MICROGLIA AS TARGET FOR AD THERAPY Anti-inflammatory drugs

Microglia associated with the senile plaques is thought to be a potential target of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs). A study by Mackenzie and Muñoz (1998) carried out in non-demented patients showed that those treated with NSAIDs had three times less activated microglia as non-treated controls. These data have been confirmed by in vivo treatment with NSAIDs such as ibuprofen in mouse models of AD, which have shown decreases in microglial activation and in inflammatory mediators such as iNOS, cyclooxygenase (COX), and cytokines (Lim et al., 2000; Heneka et al., 2005b). Experiments performed using cultured microglia have revealed that incubation with NSAIDs decreased the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines and may increase Aß phagocytosis (Lleo et al., 2007). However, the reduction of activated microglia and astroglia by NSAIDs was not significant in AD patients, indicating an age or stage dependent difference in the glial response, i.e., in their activation rate (Alafuzoff et al., 2000). Microglia in aged or diseased brains are primed and usually behave differently to those in younger individuals (Gao and Hong, 2008). Thus, it is likely that microglia do not respond equally to anti-inflammatory therapy in old age and therefore, treatment of patients with NSAIDs in advanced stages of the disease may not produce any benefit. In this regard, NSAIDs have been shown to have beneficial effects in young individuals with robust immune systems. In aged patients, these drugs may affect the weak systemic immune response of the patients, exacerbating

the local damage by eliminating the capacity of the immune system to introduce disease-modifying factors to the inflamed area (Sastre and Gentleman, 2010) (**Figure 2**).

A potential downstream target of some NSAIDs such as ibuprofen, indomethacin, and naproxen is the peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor- γ (PPAR- γ ; Lehmann et al., 1997; Willson et al., 2000). Several PPAR- γ activators including NSAIDs, drugs of the thiazolidinedione class, and the natural ligand prostaglandin J2 (15d-PGJ2) have been shown to be able to inhibit the β -amyloidstimulated secretion of pro-inflammatory products by microglia and monocytes responsible for neurotoxicity and astrocyte activation (Combs et al., 2000). Furthermore 15d-PGJ(2) caused microglial death, which terminates brain inflammation (Yang et al., 2006).

Interestingly, anti-TNF α treatment reduced A β and Tau phosphorylation in transgenic mice. Treatment with the antibody against TNF- α Infliximab increased the number of CD11c-positive dendritic-like cells and the expression of CD11c. These data suggested that the CD11c-positive dendritic-like cells might contribute to the Infliximab-induced reduction of AD-like pathology (Shi et al., 2011).

Therapeutic vaccination with A β antibodies in mice evidenced the Fc-mediated uptake and clearance of A β antibody complexes by local activated microglia (Bard et al., 2000; Weiner and Selkoe, 2002). Therefore, it was proposed that microglial activation by active immunization might be a valid mechanism for clearance of senile plaques (Gelinas et al., 2004).

Endogenous molecule for the control of microglia detrimental action

The major breakthrough in the therapy of neurodegenerative disease would be controlling the switch between the beneficial versus the detrimental microglia phenotype in order to control inflammation.

Because A β stimulates microglia phagocytosis with consequent release of toxic factors, many studies have reported possible mechanism of action implicating receptors on microglia surface. In this regard, therapeutic agents that are able to disrupt the interaction between $A\beta 42$ and FPR may prove beneficial in the treatment of AD.

We have recently published data providing strong indication for a protective role of a protein called annexin A1 (ANXA1), a glucocorticoid anti-inflammatory mediator in the peripheral system (Perretti and D'Acquisto, 2009). ANXA1 plays a key role in ensuring the effective and selective removal of apoptotic neuron-like cells under inflammatory and non-inflammatory conditions which is a ligand for FPRL-1 receptor (McArthur et al., 2010).

Our studies have shown that ANXA1 is upregulated in human microglia in AD, supporting a possible role for the protein in regulating the microglial response to amyloid plaques and inflammatory response in neurodegeneration. This view is strongly supported by further findings in which recombinant ANXA1 administration *in vitro* suppress microglial activation following an inflammatory challenge (McArthur et al., 2010).

The identification of microglial FPRL-1 as a receptor for ANXA1, together with our identification of strong expression of ANXA1 in neuritic plaque-associated microglia in AD, suggests a fascinating connection with published data indicating a link between A β and FPRL-1 (Heurtaux et al., 2010). Microglia have clearly been shown to phagocytose A β through this receptor, but they appear unable to digest this protein, leading to persistent internalization of A β /FPRL-1 complexes and culminating in intracellular fibril formation and apoptosis (Pan et al., 2011). The binding of ANXA1 to FPRL-1 in microglia may thus be able to disrupt the interaction of the receptor with A β , potentially being of significant benefit in the treatment of AD (**Figure 3**).

CONCLUSION

Microglia effects on AD seem to have double component. On one hand their activation seems to be neuroprotective at early stages of the disease but at older ages and in severely ill patients the effects could be counterproductive. There is therefore the need





to investigate the changes in phenotype of resident microglia and how they react to anti-inflammatory therapy over age. In

REFERENCES

- Akashi-Takamura, S., and Miyake, K. (2006). Toll-like receptors (TLRs) and immune disorders. J. Infect. Chemother. 12, 233–240.
- Alafuzoff, I., Overmyer, M., Helisalmi, S., and Soininen, H. (2000). Lower counts of astroglia and activated microglia in patients with Alzheimer's disease with regular use of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. J. Alzheimers Dis. 2, 37–46.
- Arancio, O., Zhang, H. P., Chen, X., Lin, C., Trinchese, F., Puzzo, D., Liu, S., Hegde, A., Yan, S. F., Stern, A., Luddy, J. S., Lue, L. F., Walker, D. G., Roher, A., Buttini, M., Mucke, L., Li, W., Schmidt, A. M., Kindy, M., Hyslop, P. A., Stern, D. M., and Du Yan, S. S. (2004). RAGE potentiates Abetainduced perturbation of neuronal function in transgenic mice. *EMBO* J. 23, 4096–4105.
- Arnaud, L., Robakis, N. K., and Figueiredo-Pereira, M. E. (2006). It may take inflammation, phosphorylation and ubiquitination to 'tangle' in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurode*gener. Dis. 3, 313–319.
- Bach, J. H., Chae, H. S., Rah, J. C., Lee, M. W., Park, C. H., Choi, S. H., Choi, J. K., Lee, S. H., Kim, Y. S., Kim, K. Y., Lee, W. B., Suh, Y. H., and Kim, S. S. (2001). C-terminal fragment of amyloid precursor protein induces astrocytosis. *J. Neurochem.* 78, 109–120.
- Bard, F., Cannon, C., Barbour, R., Burke, R. L., Games, D., Grajeda, H., Guido, T., Hu, K., Huang, J., Johnson-Wood, K., Khan, K., Kholodenko, D., Lee, M., Lieberburg, I., Motter, R.,

Nguyen, M., Soriano, F., Vasquez, N., Weiss, K., Welch, B., Seubert, P., Schenk, D., and Yednock, T. (2000). Peripherally administered antibodies against amyloid beta-peptide enter the central nervous system and reduce pathology in a mouse model of Alzheimer disease. *Nat. Med.* 6, 916–919.

- Barger, S. W., and Harmon, A. D. (1997). Microglial activation by Alzheimer amyloid precursor protein and modulation by apolipoprotein E. *Nature* 388, 878–881.
- Beglopoulos, V., Sun, X., Saura, C. A., Lemere, C. A., Kim, R. D., and Shen, J. (2004). Reduced b-amyloid production and increased inflammatory responses in presenilin conditional knock-out mice. *J. Biol. Chem.* 279, 46907–46914.
- Benzing, W. C., Wujek, J. R., Ward, E. K., Shaffer, D., Ashe, K. H., Younkin, S. G., and Brunden, K. R. (2000). Evidence for glial-mediated inflammation in aged APPSw transgenic mice. *Neurobiol. Aging* 16, 523–530.
- Bierhaus, A., Humpert, P. M., Morcos, M., Wendt, T., Chavakis, T., Arnold, B., Stern, D. M., and Nawroth, P. P. (2005). Understanding RAGE, the receptor for advanced glycation end products. *J. Mol. Med. (Berl.)* 83, 876–886.
- Bonifati, D. M., and Kishore, U. (2007). Role of complement in neurodegeneration and neuroinflammation. *Mol. Immunol.* 44, 999–1010.
- Cagnin, A., Brooks, D. J., Kennedy, A. M., Gunn, R. N., Myers, R., Turkheimer, F. E., Jones, T., and Banati, R. B. (2001).

addition, it would be relevant to determine the role of monocytederived macrophages along different stages of the disease. One could speculate that the use of BMDM, which are more effective at degrading A β could compensate the defective functions of senescent resident microglia (Davoust et al., 2008).

In the future, the combined use of amyloid and microglial imaging should allow one to determine how different anti-amyloid strategies exert their therapeutic effects. Follow-up and further imaging of patients at risk of developing AD with radiotracers that bind to the TSPO/peripheral benzodiazepine receptor will enable a better understanding of both the pattern and the time course of microglial activation and will also provide the opportunity to monitor the pathophysiological effects of anti-inflammatory agents in these patients *in vivo*.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Prof. Glenda Gillies (Imperial College London) for critical reading of the manuscript and the Alzheimer's Research UK for their support. We also thank The Wellcome Trust.

In-vivo measurement of activated microglia in dementia. *Lancet* 358, 461–467.

- Cameron, B., and Landreth, G. E. (2010). Inflammation, microglia, and Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol. Dis*. 37, 503–509.
- Capurso, C., Solfrizzi, V., D'Introno, A., Colacicco, A. M., Capurso, S. A;, Capurso, A., and Panza, F. (2004). Interleukin 6-174 G/C promoter gene polymorphism and sporadic Alzheimer's disease: geographic allele and genotype variations in Europe. *Exp. Gerontol.* 39, 1567–1573.
- Carty, M., and Bowie, A. G. (2011). Evaluating the role of Toll-like receptors in diseases of the central nervous system. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 81, 825–837.
- Chan, W. Y., Kohsaka, S., and Rezaie, P. (2007). The origin, and cell lineage of microglia: new concepts. *Brain Res. Rev.* 53, 344–354.
- Chavakis, T., Bierhaus, A., Al-Fakhri, N., Schneider, D., Witte, S., Linn, T., Nagashima, M., Morser, J., Arnold, B., Preissner, K. T., and Nawroth, P. P. (2003). The pattern recognition receptor (RAGE) is a counterreceptor for leukocyte integrins: a novel pathway for inflammatory cell recruitment. *J. Exp. Med.* 198, 1507–1515.
- Colton, C. A. (2009). Heterogeneity of microglial activation in the innate immune response in the brain. *J. Neuroimmune Pharmacol.* 4, 399–418.
- Combs, C. K., Johnson, D. E., Karlo, J. C., Cannady, S. B., and Landreth, G. E. (2000). Inflammatory

mechanisms in Alzheimer's disease: inhibition of b-amyloid stimulated proinflammatory responses and neurotoxicity by PPARg agonists. *J. Neurosci.* 20, 558–567.

- Combs, C. K., Karlo, J. C., Kao, S. C., and Landreth, G. E. (2001). b-Amyloid stimulation of microglia and monocytes results in TNFadependent expression of inducible nitric oxide synthase and neuronal apoptosis. *J. Neurosci.* 21, 1179–1188.
- Coraci, I. S., Husemann, J., Berman, J. W., Hulette, C., Dufour, J. H., Campanella, G. K., Luster, A. D., Silverstein, S. C., and El-Khoury, J. B. (2002). CD36, a class B scavenger receptor, is expressed on microglia in Alzheimer's disease brains and can mediate production of reactive oxygen species in response to betaamyloid fibrils. Am. J. Pathol. 160, 101–112.
- Cui, Y., Le, Y., Yazawa, H., Gong, W., and Wang, J. M. (2002). Potential role of the formyl peptide receptor-like 1 (FPRL1) in inflammatory aspects of Alzheimer's disease. J. Leukoc. Biol. 72, 628–635.
- Davoust, N., Vuaillat, C., Androdias, G., and Nataf, S. (2008). From bone marrow to microglia: barriers and avenues. *Trends Immunol.* 29, 227–234.
- DeGiorgio, L. A., Shimizu, Y., Chun, H. S., Kim, Y. S., Sugama, S., Son, J. H., Joh, T. H., and Volpe, B. T. (2002). Amyloid precursor protein gene disruption attenuates degeneration of substantia nigra compacta neurons following axotomy. *Brain Res.* 938, 38–44.

- El Khoury, J., Hickman, S. E., Thomas, C. A., Cao, L., Silverstein, S. C., and Loike, J. D. (1996). Scavenger receptor-mediated adhesion of microglia to beta-amyloid fibrils. *Nature* 382, 716–719.
- Falsig, J., van Beek, J., Hermann, C., and Leist, M. (2008). Molecular basis for detection of invading pathogens in the brain. *J. Neurosci. Res.* 86, 1434–1447.
- Fang, F., Lue, L. F., Yan, S., Xu, H., Luddy, J. S., Chen, D., Walker, D. G., Stern, D. M., Yan, S., Schmidt, A. M., Chen, J. X., and Yan, S. S. (2010). RAGEdependent signaling in microglia contributes to neuroinflammation, Abeta accumulation, and impaired learning/memory in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *FASEB J.* 24, 1043–1055.
- Farfara, D., Trudler, D., Segev-Amzaleg, N., Galron, R., Stein, R., and Frenkel, D. (2011). γ-Secretase component presenilin is important for microglia β-amyloid clearance. *Ann. Neurol.* 69, 170–180.
- Farina, C., Aloisi, F., and Meinl, E. (2007). Astrocytes are active players in cerebral innate immunity. *Trends Immunol.* 28, 138–145.
- Fetler, L., and Amigorena, S. (2005). Neuroscience. Brain under surveillance: the microglia patrol. *Science* 309, 392–393.
- Frautschy, S. A., Yang, F., Irrizarry, M., Hyman, B., Saido, T. C., Hsiao, K., and Cole, G. M. (1998). Microglial response to amyloid plaques in APPsw transgenic mice. *Am. J. Pathol.* 152, 307–317.
- Fuhrmann, M., Bittner, T., Jung, C. K., Burgold, S., Page, R. M., Mitteregger, G., Haass, C., Laferla, F. M., Kretzschmar, H., and Herms, J. (2010). Microglial Cx3cr1 knockout prevents neuron loss in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Nat. Neurosci.* 13, 411–413.
- Gao, H. M., and Hong, J. S. (2008). Why neurodegenerative diseases are progressive: uncontrolled inflammation drives disease progression. *Trends Immunol.* 29, 357–365.
- Gao, H. M., Kotzbauer, P. T., Uryu, K., Leight, S., Trojanowski, J. Q., and Lee, V. M. (2008). Neuroinflammation and oxidation/nitration of alpha-synuclein linked to dopaminergic neurodegeneration. *J. Neurosci.* 28, 7687–7698.
- Gelinas, D. S., DaSilva, K., Fenili, D., St George-Hyslop, P., and McLaurin, J. (2004). Immunotherapy for Alzheimer's disease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 101(Suppl. 2), 14657–14662.

- Godbout, J. P., Chen, J., Abraham, J., Richwine, A. F., Berg, B. M., Kelley, K. W., and Johnson, R. W. (2005). Exaggerated neuroinflammation and sickness behavior in aged mice following activation of the peripheral innate immune system. *FASEB J.* 19, 1329–1331.
- Grathwohl, S. A., Kälin, R. E., Bolmont, T., Prokop, S., Winkelmann, G., Kaeser, S. A., Odenthal, J., Radde, R., Eldh, T., Gandy, S., Aguzzi, A., Staufenbiel, M., Mathews, P. M., Wolburg, H., Heppner, F. L., and Jucker, M. (2009). Formation and maintenance of Alzheimer's disease beta-amyloid plaques in the absence of microglia. *Nat. Neurosci.* 12, 1361–1363.
- Griffin, W. S., Stanley, L. C., Ling, C., White, L., MacLeod, V., Perrot, L. J., White, C. L. III, and Araoz, C. (1989). Brain interleukin 1 and S-100 immunoreactivity are elevated in down syndrome and Alzheimer disease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 86, 7611–7615.
- Hafer-Macko, C. E., Dyck, P. J., and Koski, C. L. (2000). Complement activation in acquired and hereditary amyloid neuropathy. *J. Peripher. Nerv. Syst.* 5, 131–139.
- Heneka, M. T., Sastre, M., Dumitrescu-Ozimek, L., Dewachter, I., Walter, J., Klockgether, T., and Van Leuven, F. (2005a). Focal glial activation coincides with increased BACE1 activation and precedes amyloid plaque deposition in APP(V717I) transgenic mice. J. Neuroinflammation 2, 22.
- Heneka, M. T., Sastre, M., Dumitrescu-Ozimek, L., Kreutz, A., Dewachter, I., Kuiperi, C., Klockgether, T., Van Leuven, F., and Landreth, G. (2005b). The PPARγ agonist pioglitazone reduces inflammation and Aβ1-42 levels in APP V717I transgenic mice. *Brain* 128, 1442–1453.
- Heurtaux, T., Michelucci, A., Losciuto, S., Gallotti, C., Felten, P., Dorban, G., Grandbarbe, L., Morga, E., and Heuschling, P. (2010). Microglial activation depends on beta-amyloid conformation: role of the formylpeptide receptor 2. J. Neurochem. 114, 576–586.
- Hickman, S. E., Allison, E. K., and El Khoury, J. (2008). Microglial dysfunction and defective betaamyloid clearance pathways in aging Alzheimer's disease mice. J. Neurosci. 28, 8354–8360.
- Husemann, J., Loike, J. D., Anankov, R., Febbraio, M., and Silverstein, S. C. (2002). Scavenger receptors in neurobiology and neuropathology: their role on microglia and other

cells of the nervous system. *Glia* 40, 195–205.

- Iribarren, P., Zhou, Y., Hu, J., Le, Y., and Wang, J. M. (2005). Role of formyl peptide receptor-like 1 (FPRL1/FPR2) in mononuclear phagocyte responses in Alzheimer disease. *Immunol. Res.* 31, 165–176.
- Jaworski, T., Lechat, B., Demedts, D., Gielis, L., Devijver, H., Borghgraef, P., Duimel, H., Verheyen, F., Kügler, S., and Van Leuven, F. (2011). Dendritic degeneration, neurovascular defects, and inflammation precede neuronal loss in a mouse model for tau-mediated neurodegeneration. Am. J. Pathol. 179, 2001–2015.
- Jimenez, S., Baglietto-Vargas, D., Caballero, C., Moreno-Gonzalez, I., Torres, M., Sanchez-Varo, R., Ruano, D., Vizuete, M., Gutierrez, A., and Vitorica, J. (2008). Inflammatory response in the hippocampus of PS1_{M146L}/APP_{751SL} mouse model of Alzheimer's disease: age-dependent switch in the microglial phenotype from alternative to classic. J. Neurosci. 28, 11650–11661.
- Kamboh, M. I., Sanghera, D. K., Ferrell, R. E., and DeKosky, S. T. (1995). APOE*4-associated Alzheimer's disease risk is modified by alpha 1-antichymotrypsin polymorphism. *Nat. Genet.* 10, 486–488.
- Keene, C. D., Cudaback, E., Li, X., Montine, K. S., and Montine, T. J. (2011). Apolipoprotein E isoforms and regulation of the innate immune response in brain of patients with Alzheimer's disease. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 21, 920–928.
- Knapp, M., and Prince, M. (2007). Dementia UK the Full Report. London: Alzheimer's Society.
- Kofler, J., and Wiley, C. A. (2011). Microglia: key innate immune cells of the brain. *Toxicol. Pathol.* 39, 103–114.
- Kreutzberg, G. W. (1996). Microglia: a sensor for pathological events in the CNS. *Trends Neurosci.* 19, 312–318.
- Le, Y., Gong, W., Tiffany, H. L., Tumanov, A., Nedospasov, S., Shen, W., Dunlop, N. M., Gao, J. L., Murphy, P. M., Oppenheim, J. J., and Wang, J. M. (2001). Amyloid (beta)42 activates a G-protein-coupled chemoattractant receptor, FPR-like-1. J. Neurosci. 21, RC123.
- Le, Y., Murphy, P. M., and Wang, J. M. (2002). Formyl-peptide receptors revisited. *Trends Immunol.* 23, 541–548.
- Lehmann, J. M., Lenhard, J. M., Oliver, B. B., Ringold, G. M., and Kliewer, S. A. (1997). Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors α and γ are activated by indomethacin

and other non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs. *J. Biol. Chem.* 272, 3406–3410.

- Lehnardt, S. (2010). Innate immunity and neuroinflammation in the CNS: the role of microglia in Toll-like receptor-mediated neuronal injury. *Glia* 58, 253–263.
- Lehnardt, S., Massillon, L., Follett, P., Jensen, F. E., Ratan, R., Rosenberg, P. A., Volpe, J. J., and Vartanian, T. (2003). Activation of innate immunity in the CNS triggers neurodegeneration through a Toll-like receptor 4-dependent pathway. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 100, 8514–8519.
- Lim, G. P., Yang, F., Chu, T., Chen, P., Beech, W., Teter, B., Tran, T., Ubeda, O., Ashe, K. H., Frautschy, S. A., and Cole, G. M. (2000). Ibuprofen suppresses plaque pathology and inflammation in a mouse model for Alzheimer's disease. *J. Neurosci.* 20, 5709–5714.
- Liu, B., and Hong, J.-S. (2003). Role of microglia in inflammationmediated neurodegenerative diseases: mechanisms and strategies for therapeutic intervention. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 304, 1–7.
- Lleo, A., Galea, E., and Sastre, M. (2007). Molecular targets of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs in neurodegenerative diseases. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 64, 1403–1418.
- Lue, L. F., Kuo, Y. M., Beach, T., and Walker, D. G. (2010). Microglia activation and anti-inflammatory regulation in Alzheimer's disease. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 41, 115–128.
- Lue, L. F., Walker, D. G., Brachova, L., Beach, T. G., Rogers, J., Schmidt, A. M., Stern, D. M., and Yan, S. D. (2001). Involvement of microglial receptor for advanced glycation endproducts (RAGE) in Alzheimer's disease: identification of a cellular activation mechanism. *Exp. Neurol.* 171, 29–45.
- Mackenzie, I. R., and Muñoz, D. G. (1998). Nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drug use and Alzheimer-type pathology in aging. *Neurology* 50, 986–990.
- Maeda, J., Zhang, M. R., Okauchi, T., Ji, B., Ono, M., Hattori, S., Kumata, K., Iwata, N., Saido, T. C., Trojanowski, J. Q., Lee, V. M., Staufenbiel, M., Tomiyama, T., Mori, H., Fukumura, T., Suhara, T and Higuchi, M. (2011). In vivo positron emission tomographic imaging of glial responses to amyloid-beta and tau pathologies in mouse models of Alzheimer's disease and related disorders. J. Neurosci. 31, 4720–4730.
- Mandrekar, S., Jiang, Q., Lee, C. Y., Koenigsknecht-Talboo, J.,

Holtzman, D. M., and Landreth, G. E. (2009). Microglia mediate the clearance of soluble Abeta through fluid phase macropinocytosis. *J. Neurosci.* 29, 4252–4262.

- Maragakis, N. J., and Rothstein, J. D. (2006). Mechanisms of disease: astrocytes in neurodegenerative disease. *Nat. Clin. Pract. Neurol.* 2, 679–689.
- Matsuoka, Y., Picciano, M., Malester, B., LaFrancois, J., Zehr, C., Daeschner, J. M., Olschowka, J. A., Fonseca, M. I., O'Banion, M. K., Tenner, A. J., Lemer, C. A., and Duff, K. (2001). Inflammatory responses to amyloidosis in a transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Am. J. Pathol. 158, 1345–1354.
- McArthur, S., Cristante, E., Paterno, M., Christian, H., Roncaroli, F., Gillies, G. E., and Solito, E. (2010). Annexin A1: a central player in the antiinflammatory and neuroprotective role of microglia. *J. Immunol.* 185, 6317–6328.
- McColl, B. W., Rothwell, N. J., and Allan, S. M. (2007). Systemic inflammatory stimulus potentiates the acute phase and CXC chemokine responses to experimental stroke and exacerbates brain damage via interleukin-1- and neutrophil-dependent mechanisms. J. Neurosci. 27, 4403–4412.
- McCusker, S. M., Curran, M. D., Dynan, K. B., McCullagh, C. D., Urquhart, D. D., Middleton, D., Patterson, C. C., McIlroy, S. P., and Passmore, A. P. (2001). Association between polymorphism in regulatory region of gene encoding tumour necrosis factor alpha and risk of Alzheimer's disease and vascular dementia: a casecontrol study. *Lancet* 357, 436–439.
- McGeer, P. L., and McGeer, E. G. (1998). Mechanisms of cell death in Alzheimer disease – immunopathology. J. Neural Transm. Suppl. 54, 159–166.
- Miyake, K. (2007). Innate immune sensing of pathogens and danger signals by cell surface toll-like receptors. *Semin. Immunol.* 19, 3–10.
- Mrak, R. E., and Griffin, W. S. T. (2005). Glia and their cytokines in progression of neurodegeneration. *Neurobiol. Aging* 26, 349–354.
- Napoli, I., and Neumann, H. (2009). Microglial clearance function in health and disease. *Neuroscience* 158, 1030–1038.
- Neher, J. J., Neniskyte, U., Zhao, J. W., Bal-Price, A., Tolkovsky, A. M., and Brown, G. C. (2011). Inhibition of microglial phagocytosis is sufficient to prevent inflammatory neuronal death. J. Immunol. 186, 4973–4983.

- Neumann, H., Kotter, M. R., and Franklin, R. J. (2009). Debris clearance by microglia: an essential link between degeneration and regeneration. *Brain* 132, 288–295.
- Nguyen, M. D., D'Aigle, T., Gowing, G., Julien, J. P., and Rivest, S. (2004). Exacerbation of motor neuron disease by chronic stimulation of innate immunity in a mouse model of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *J. Neurosci.* 24, 1340–1349.
- Nicoll, J. A., Mrak, R. E., Graham, D. I., Stewart, J., Wilcock, G., Mac-Gowan, S., Esiri, M. M., Murray, L. S., Dewar, D., Love, S., Moss, T., and Griffin, W. S. (2000). Association of interleukin-1 gene polymorphisms with Alzheimer's disease. *Ann. Neu*rol. 47, 365–368.
- Nimmerjahn, A., Kirchhoff, F., and Helmchen, F. (2005). Resting microglial cells are highly dynamic surveillants of brain parenchyma in vivo. *Science* 308, 1314–1318.
- Njie, E. G., Boelen, E., Stassen, F. R., Steinbusch, H. W., Borchelt, D. R., and Streit, W. J. (2012). Ex vivo cultures of microglia from young and aged rodent brain reveal age-related changes in microglial function. *Neurobiol. Aging* 33, 195.e1–195.e12.
- Okello, A., Edison, P., Archer, H. A., Turkheimer, F. E., Kennedy, J., Bullock, R., Walker, Z., Kennedy, A., Fox, N., Rossor, M., and Brooks, D. J. (2009). Microglial activation and amyloid deposition in mild cognitive impairment: a PET study. *Neurology* 72, 56–62.
- Ouchi, Y., Yoshikawa, E., Sekine, Y., Futatsubashi, M., Kanno, T., Ogusu, T., and Torizuka, T. (2005). Microglial activation and dopamine terminal loss in early Parkinson's disease. Ann. Neurol. 57, 168–175.
- Pan, X. D., Zhu, Y. G., Lin, N., Zhang, J., Ye, Q. Y., Huang, H. P., and Chen, X. C. (2011). Microglial phagocytosis induced by fibrillar beta-amyloid is attenuated by oligomeric beta-amyloid: implications for Alzheimer's disease. *Mol. Neurodegener.* 6, 45.
- Pancer, Z., and Cooper, M. D. (2006). The evolution of adaptive immunity. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 24, 497–518.
- Paresce, D. M., Ghosh, R. N., and Maxfield, F. R. (1996). Microglial cells internalize aggregates of the Alzheimer's disease amyloid betaprotein via a scavenger receptor. *Neuron* 17, 553–565.
- Permanne, B., Adessi, C., Saborio, G. P., Fraga, S., Frossard, M. J., Van Dorpe, J., Dewachter, I., Banks, W. A., Van Leuven, F., and Soto, C. (2002). Reduction of amyloid load

and cerebral damage in a transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer's disease by treatment with a b-sheet breaker peptide. *FASEB J.* 16, 860–862.

- Perretti, M., and D'Acquisto, F. (2009). Annexin A1 and glucocorticoids as effectors of the resolution of inflammation. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 9, 62–70.
- Perry, R. T., Collins, J. S., Wiener, H., Acton, R., and Go, R. C. P. (2001). The role of TNF and its receptors in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol. Aging* 22, 873–883.
- Perry, V. H. (2004). The influence of systemic inflammation on inflammation in the brain: implications for chronic neurodegenerative disease. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 18, 407–413.
- Perry, V. H., and Andersson, P. B. (1992). The inflammatory response in the CNS. *Neuropathol. Appl. Neurobiol.* 18, 454–459.
- Perry, V. H., Anthony, D. C., Bell, M. D., Lawson, L. J., Reid, D. M., and Gordon, S. (1996). Microglia activation and inflammation in the CNS. *J. Neurochem.* 66, S70.
- Perry, V. H., Cunningham, C., and Holmes, C. (2007). Systemic infections and inflammation affect chronic neurodegeneration. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 7, 161–167.
- Perry, V. H., Matyszak, M. K., and Fearn, S. (1993). Altered antigen expression of microglia in the aged rodent CNS. *Glia* 7, 60–67.
- Perry, V. H., Nicoll, J. A., and Holmes, C. (2010). Microglia in neurodegenerative disease. *Nat. Rev. Neurol.* 6, 193–201.
- Polazzi, E., and Monti, B. (2010). Microglia and neuroprotection: from in vitro studies to therapeutic applications. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 92, 293–315.
- Qiu, W. Q., Walsh, D. M., Ye, Z., Vekrellis, K., Zhang, J., Podlisny, M. B., Rosner, M. R., Safavi, A., Hersh, L. B., and Selkoe, D. J. (1998). Insulindegrading enzyme regulates extracellular levels of amyloid b-protein by degradation. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 32730–32738.
- Qiu, W. Q., Ye, Z., Kholodenko, D., Seubert, P., and Selkoe, D. J. (1997). Degradation of amyloid b-protein by a metalloprotease secreted by microglia and other neural and nonneural cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 272, 6641–6646.
- Ransohoff, R. M., and Perry, V. H. (2009). Microglial physiology: unique stimuli, specialized responses. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 27, 119–145.
- Reed-Geaghan, E. G., Savage, J. C., Hise, A. G., and Landreth, G. E. (2009). CD14 and toll-like receptors 2 and

4 are required for fibrillar A{beta}stimulated microglial activation. *J. Neurosci.* 29, 11982–11992.

- Richard, K. L., Filali, M., Préfontaine, P., and Rivest, S. (2008). Toll-like receptor 2 acts as a natural innate immune receptor to clear amyloid beta 1-42 and delay the cognitive decline in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. J. Neurosci. 28, 5784–5793.
- Rivest, S. (2003). Molecular insights on the cerebral innate immune system. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 17, 13–19.
- Rivest, S. (2009). Regulation of innate immune responses in the brain. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 9, 429–439.
- Roberts, J. C., Friel, S. L., Roman, S., Perren, M., Harper, A., Davis, J. B., Richardson, J. C., Virley, D., and Medhurst, A. D. (2009). Autoradiographical imaging of PPARgamma agonist effects on PBR/TSPO binding in TASTPM mice. *Exp. Neurol.* 216, 459–470.
- Rogers, J., Mastroeni, D., Leonard, B., Joyce, J., and Grover, A. (2007). Neuroinflammation in Alzheimer's disease and Parkinson's disease: are microglia pathogenic in either disorder? Int. Rev. Neurobiol. 82, 235–246.
- Salminen, A., Ojala, J., Kauppinen, A., Kaarniranta, K., and Suuronen, T. (2009). Inflammation in Alzheimer's disease: amyloid-beta oligomers trigger innate immunity defence via pattern recognition receptors. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 87, 181–194.
- Sastre, M., and Gentleman, S. M. (2010). NSAIDs: how they work and their prospects as therapeutics in Alzheimer's disease. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 2:20. doi:10.3389/fnagi.2010.00020
- Sastre, M., Klockgether, T., and Heneka, M. T. (2006a). Contribution of inflammatory processes to Alzheimer's disease: molecular mechanisms. *Int. J. Dev. Neurosci.* 24, 167–176.
- Sastre, M., Roßner, S., Bogdanovic, N., Rosen, E., Dewachter, I., Thal, D., Evert, B., Klockgether, T., van Leuven, F., and Heneka, M. T. (2006b). Non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs repress betasecretase gene promoter activity by the activation of PPARgamma. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 443–448.
- Sastre, M., Richardson, J., Gentleman, S. M., and Brooks, D. (2011). Inflammatory risk factors and pathologies associated with Alzheimer's disease. *Curr. Alzheimer Res.* 8, 132–141.
- Sastre, M., Walter, J., and Gentleman, S. M. (2008). Interactions between APP secretases and inflammatory

mediators. J. Neuroinflammation 5, 25.

- Schmidt, A. M., Yan, S. D., Yan, S. F., and Stern, D. M. (2001). The multiligand receptor RAGE as a progression factor amplifying immune and inflammatory responses. *J. Clin. Invest.* 108, 949–955.
- Schwartz, M., and Shechter, R. (2010). Systemic inflammatory cells fight off neurodegenerative disease. *Nat. Rev. Neurol.* 6, 405–410.
- Shen, Y., and Meri, S. (2003). Yin and Yang: complement activation and regulation in Alzheimer's disease. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 70, 463–472.
- Shi, J. Q., Shen, W., Chen, J., Wang, B. R., Zhong, L. L., Zhu, Y. W., Zhu, H. Q., Zhang, Q. Q., Zhang, Y. D., and Xu, J. (2011). Anti-TNF-α reduces amyloid plaques and tau phosphorylation and induces CD11c-positive dendritic-like cell in the APP/PS1 transgenic mouse brains. *Brain Res.* 1368, 239–247.
- Sierra, A., Gottfried-Blackmore, A. C., McEwen, B. S., and Bulloch, K. (2007). Microglia derived from aging mice exhibit an altered inflammatory profile. *Glia* 55, 412–424.
- Solito, E., McArthur, S., Christian, H., Gavins, F., Buckingham, J. C., and Gillies, G. E. (2008). Annexin A1 in the brain – undiscovered roles? *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 29, 135–142.
- Streit, W., Braak, H., Xue, Q. S., and Bechmann, I. (2009). Dystrophic (senescent) rather than activated microglial cells are associated with tau pathology and likely precede neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's

disease. Acta Neuropathol. 118, 475–485.

- Streit, W. J., Miller, K. R., Lopes, K. O., and Njie, E. (2008). Microglial degeneration in the aging brain – bad news for neurons? *Front. Biosci.* 13, 3423–3438.
- Streit, W. J., Sammons, N. W., Kuhns, A. J., and Sparks, D. L. (2004). Dystrophic microglia in the aging human brain. *Glia* 45, 208–212.
- Sy, M., Kitazawa, M., Medeiros, R., Whitman, L., Cheng, D., Lane, T. E., and Laferla, F. M. (2011). Inflammation induced by infection potentiates tau pathological features in transgenic mice. *Am. J. Pathol.* 178, 2811–2822.
- Tahara, K., Kim, H. D., Jin, J. J., Maxwell, J. A., Li, L., and Fukuchi, K. (2006). Role of toll-like receptor signalling in Abeta uptake and clearance. *Brain* 129, 3006–3019.
- Walter, S., Letiembre, M., Liu, Y., Heine, H., Penke, B., Hao, W., Bode, B., Manietta, N., Walter, J., Schulz-Schuffer, W., and Fassbender, K. (2007). Role of the toll-like receptor 4 in neuroinflammation in Alzheimer's disease. *Cell. Physiol. Biochem.* 20, 947–956.
- Weiner, H. L., and Selkoe, D. J. (2002). Inflammation and therapeutic vaccination in CNS diseases. *Nature* 420, 879–884.
- Weller, C., Oxlade, N., Dobbs, S. M., Dobbs, R. J., Charlett, A., and Bjarnason, I. T. (2005). Role of inflammation in gastrointestinal tract in aetiology and pathogenesis of idiopathic parkinsonism.

FEMS Immunol. Med. Microbiol. 44, 129–135.

- Willson, T. M., Brown, P. J., Sternbach, D. D., and Henke, B. R. (2000). The PPARs: from orphan receptors to drug discovery. J. Med. Chem. 43, 527–550.
- Wyss-Coray, T. (2006). Inflammation in Alzheimer disease: driving force, bystander or beneficial response? *Nat. Med.* 12, 1005–1015.
- Wyss-Coray, T., Loike, J. D., Brionne, T. C., Lu, E., Anankov, R., Yan, F., Silverstein, S. C., Husemann, J. (2003). Adult mouse astrocytes degrade amyloid-beta in vitro and in situ. *Nat. Med.* 9, 453–457.
- Xie, Z., Morgan, T. E., Rozovsky, I., and Finch, C. E. (2003). Aging and glial responses to lipopolysaccharide in vitro: greater induction of IL-1 and IL-6, but smaller induction of neurotoxicity. *Exp. Neurol.* 182, 135–141.
- Yan, S. D., Chen, X., Fu, J., Chen, M., Zhu, H., Roher, A., Slattery, T., Zhao, L., Nagashima, M., Morser, J., Migheli, A., Nawroth, P., Stern, D., and Schmidt, A. M. (1996). RAGE and amyloid-beta peptide neurotoxicity in Alzheimer's disease. *Nature* 382, 685–691.
- Yang, M. S., Ji, K. A., Jeon, S. B., Jin, B. K., Kim, S. U., Jou, I., and Joe, E. (2006). Interleukin-13 enhances cyclooxygenase-2 expression in activated rat brain microglia: implications for death of activated microglia. *J. Immunol.* 177, 1323–1329.
- Ye, S. M., and Johnson, R. W. (1999). Increased interleukin-6

expression by microglia from brain of aged mice. *J. Neuroimmunol.* 93, 139–148.

- Yong, V. W., and Rivest, S. (2009). Taking advantage of the systemic immune system to cure brain diseases. *Neuron* 64, 55–60.
- Yoshiyama, Y., Higuchi, M., Zhang, B., Huang, S. M., Iwata, N., Saido, T. C., Maeda, J., Suhara, T., Trojanowski, J. Q., and Lee, V. M. (2007). Synapse loss and microglial activation precede tangles in a P301S tauopathy mouse model. *Neuron* 53, 337–351.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 14 November 2011; accepted: 21 January 2012; published online: 10 February 2012.

Citation: Solito E and Sastre M (2012) Microglia function in Alzheimer's disease. Front. Pharmacol. **3**:14. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2012.00014

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Neuropharmacology, a specialty of Frontiers in Pharmacology.

Copyright © 2012 Solito and Sastre. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.



Aspects of innate immunity and Parkinson's disease

Yue Huang^{1,2} and Glenda M. Halliday^{1,2}*

¹ Neuroscience Research Australia, Sydney, NSW, Australia

² University of New South Wales, Sydney, NSW, Australia

Edited by:

Roger A. Barker, University of Cambridge and Addenbrooke's Hospital, UK

Reviewed by:

Jason B. Wu, Cedars-Sinai Medical Center, USA Andreas Hartmann, Assistance Publique des Hopitaux de Paris, Hopital de la Pitie-Salpetriere, France Tamas Revesz, Institute of Neurology, University College London, UK

*Correspondence:

Glenda M. Halliday, Neuroscience Research Australia, Barker Street, Randwick, NSW 2031, Australia. e-mail: g.halliday@neura.edu.au

Genetic studies on PARK genes have identified dysfunction in proteasomal, lysosomal, and mitochondrial enzymes as pathogenic for Parkinson's disease (PD). We review the role of these and similar enzymes in mediating innate immune signaling. In particular, we have identified that a number of PARK gene products as well as other enzymes have roles in innate immune signaling as well as DNA repair and regulation, ubiquitination, mitochondrial functioning, and synaptic trafficking. PD enzymatic dysfunction is likely to contribute to inadequate innate immune responses to a variety of extra- and intra-cellular stimuli, with a number of the innate immunity related enzymes found in the characteristic Lewy body pathology of PD. The decrease in innate immunity in PD is associated with an increase in markers of adaptive immunity, and recent GWAS studies have identified variants in human leukocyte antigen region as associated with late-onset sporadic PD (Hamza et al., 2010; Hill-Burns et al., 2011). Intriguing new data also suggest that peripheral immune responses may be involved, giving some potential to alleviate such peripheral dysfunction more directly in patients with PD. It is now important to identify the cell type specific immune responses contributing to the initial changes that occur in PD, as well as to the propagating immune responses important for the progression of PD pathology between cells and within the brain. Overall, a complex interplay between different types of immunity appear to be involved in the underlying pathology of PD.

Keywords: immunity, mitochondrial dysfunction, Parkinson's disease, synapse dysfunction, ubiquitination

INTRODUCTION

Although Parkinson's disease (PD) is the most common progressive movement disorder in the elderly, there is still considerable uncertainty about its etiology. Recent advances in genetics have identified a number of PARK genes in families with PD, which have pointed to common underlying intrinsically driven intracellular pathways (Corti et al., 2011). These include dysfunction of the proteosome (McNaught et al., 2001), lysosome (Shin et al., 2005), and mitochondria (Muqit et al., 2006). In particular, leucine repeat rich kinase 2 (LRRK2, PARK8) and PTEN-induced kinase 1 (PINK1, PARK6) are linked to familial dominant and recessive PD respectively. PINK1 deletion causes aberrant expression of genes that regulate innate immune responses (Akundi et al., 2011). LRRK2 expression is enriched in human immune cells and is a target gene of IFN- γ (Gardet et al., 2010). Increased LRRK2 expression occurs

when an immune response is required (see below). As mutations in these proteins cause PD, this suggests that innate immunity may play a more fundamental role in PD. How these systems interact to cause the fundamental pathology of PD (intracellular Lewy body inclusions made from fibrilized α -synuclein protein) to occur within affected neurons needs to be addressed.

Despite considerable organelle dysfunction, neuronal death occurs slowly, initially, and selectively targeting certain brainstem regions with a predisposition for the substantia nigra (Fearnley and Lees, 1991). Neuronal death does not occur in isolation, but is accompanied by considerable neuroinflammation (Orr et al., 2002; Wilms et al., 2003) and intrinsically driven glial cell changes (Halliday and Stevens, 2011). These changes include the accumulation of α -synuclein in glia, with many of the PARK gene proteins also concentrating in glia in the human brain (LRRK2, PINK1, DJ-1, parkin; Gandhi et al., 2006; Huang et al., 2008; Halliday and Stevens, 2011; Song et al., 2011). As glia interact most closely with the immune system, we will review how innate immunity is involved in these processes.

The innate immune system is an immediate, non-specific, first line of defense against pathogen invasion, contrasting with the delayed and targeted adaptive immune response (Stone et al., 2009). The specific molecular structure of pathogens (pathogenassociated molecular patterns or PAMPs), like lipopolysaccharides (LPS) or the bacterial DNA motif polycytosine guanine (CpG), are directly recognized by phagocytes, granulocytes, and natural killer cells of the immune system (West et al., 2006). These PAMPs

Abbreviations: CARD, caspase recruitment domain; CpG, polycytosine guanine; ER, endoplasmic reticulum; HDAC, histone deacetylase; IKK, IkB kinase; IRAK, interleukin-1 receptor-associated kinase; JNK, c-Jun N-terminal kinase; LPS, lipopolysaccharides; LRRK2, leucine-rich repeat kinase 2; MAPK, mitogen-activated protein kinase; MAPKK, MAPK kinase; MAVS, mitochondrial antiviral signaling; Mda5, melanoma differentiation-associated gene 5; MPTP, 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1, 2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine; PAMPs, pathogen-associated molecular pattern; PARP, poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase; PD, Parkinson's disease; PINK1, PTEN-induced putative kinase 1; PKR, Protein kinase RNA-activated; RIG-I, RNA helicases protein retinoic acid-inducible gene I protein; TAK1, Transforming growth factor-betaactivated kinase 1; TBK-1, TANK-binding kinase 1; TLR, Toll-like receptor; TRAF6, tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated factor 6.

bind to Toll-like receptors (TLR) on cells, triggering a cascade of signaling that results in pro-inflammatory cytokine release and complement activation to clear the pathogen or the infected/dead cell through macroautophagy (West et al., 2006).

Pathogens activate cells by binding to specific TLRs through characteristic extracellular multiple leucine-rich repeats domains of TLR (Nguyen et al., 2002). The ultimate induction of interferons and inflammatory cytokines by different pathogens is led by several phosphorylation and subsequent ubiquitination events, with activation of TBK-1 and IKK ε , JNK and p38 kinase, IKK, MAPK and MAPKK, IRAK, and TAK1 [detailed in previous reviews (Kawai and Akira, 2006; Seth et al., 2006)]. A major pathway is NF- κ B activation by its release from I κ B allowing its nuclear translocation and the subsequent activation of target genes to occur. I κ B release occurs following I κ B phosphorylation and consequent degradation through the lysine 48 linked ubiquitin–proteasome system (Silverman and Maniatis, 2001; Wu et al., 2006).

INNATE IMMUNITY AND PD

Classic PD is not considered an immune disease like multiple sclerosis, and can not be associated with common infectious agents. However, Parkinsonian symptoms can occur after Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) encephalitic infection in patients, with EBV DNA detected in the brain (Espay and Henderson, 2011). This shows that an immune activation in the brain can produce PD-like symptoms, and a number of genetic studies suggest the immune system is commonly involved. Genome-wide association studies (GWAS) show that common variants in human leukocyte antigen (HLA) region are associated with late-onset sporadic PD (Hamza et al., 2010; Hill-Burns et al., 2011). The brains of individuals with PD show upregulation of HLA-DR antigens and the presence of HLA-DR-immunopositive and highly reactive microglia (McGeer et al., 1988). Microglia are the only cells in the substantia nigra that express the initial recognition component of the complement cascade, C1q (Carlsson et al., 2011). Finally, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs reduce PD risk (Wahner et al., 2007; Steurer, 2011), further supporting some involvement of the immune system in PD.

From a PARK gene perspective, it is of interest that both parkin (PARK2) and LRRK2 (PARK8) are genes associated with leprosy (Cardoso et al., 2011), which is a chronic infectious disease of peripheral nerves. LRRK2 is also a risk gene for inflammatory bowel disease (Van Limbergen et al., 2009; Torkvist et al., 2010; Umeno et al., 2011), and there is much discussion about PD being initiated from peripheral neurons within the gut (enteric nervous system; Braak et al., 2003). In an animal model of ulcerative colitis, there is an alteration of the blood-brain-barrier (BBB) permeability that leads to more substantive cell loss to pathogen-induced cell loss of the substantia nigra (Villaran et al., 2010). Interestingly, treatment of the ulcerative colitis ameliorated cell loss in the brain in this model (Villaran et al., 2010). This could suggest a more direct link between immune defense mechanisms in peripheral neurons and the later onset of PD. Deletions within PINK1 (PARK6) or DJ-1 (PARK7) genes cause aberrant expression of genes involved in the p38 MAP kinase/NF-kB signaling pathway causing changes in the regulation of the innate immune response (Cornejo Castro et al., 2010; Akundi et al., 2011). This

suggests that many PARK genes also have significant influence on the immune system which may be important for the onset and/or progression of PD.

A number of animal models of the neuronal loss in PD use direct initiation of the innate immune system to model this aspect of PD. Administration of LPS induces dramatic cell loss in primary neuronal cultures and direct injection of LPS into the substantia nigra produces progressive nigrostriatal degeneration and movement abnormalities in animal models of PD (Liu, 2006; Dutta et al., 2008). These LPS PD models trigger TLR4 mediated signaling pathways (Carvey et al., 2003; Visintin et al., 2003). Even intraperitoneal and in utero injections of LPS cause degeneration of the nigrostriatal system (Ling et al., 2002; Perry, 2004), consistent with peripheral effects causing PD-like neurodegeneration. These innate immunity models of PD cause neurodegeneration and microglial activation in a time and LPS dose dependent manner (Liu, 2006; Dutta et al., 2008). Similar direct injections of TLR3 into the substantia nigra produce nigrostriatal degeneration (Deleidi et al., 2010). These studies show that strong stimulators of the innate immune system and increased numbers of innate immune receptors can produce significant site-specific neurodegeneration, perhaps suggesting that the nigrostriatal system is particularly vulnerable to immune activation.

Innate immune signaling also plays a role in the abnormal deposition of α -synuclein. In α -synuclein overexpressing models, ablation of TLR4 augments the deposition of α -synuclein due to disruption of the ability of microglia to adequately phagocytose α -synuclein (Stefanova et al., 2011). This suggests that certain aspects of innate immunity are required for initial protection from excessive extracellular α -synuclein. Whether these mechanisms play a role in patients is more difficult to determine. Overall, these studies suggest that the innate immune system can play both neuroprotective and neurotoxic roles depending on the circumstances.

ADAPTIVE IMMUNITY AND PD

In contrast to the "non-specific" innate immune system, the adaptive immune response is cell mediated and highly specialized to remove a specific antigen. It is mainly composed of two parts: humoral immunity, which is mediated by B-lymphocytes, and cell mediated immunity, which is mediated by T-lymphocytes. The CNS was traditionally considered as an "immune privileged" site due to its protection by the BBB, which prevents toxins and infections from reaching the CNS. However, in PD the BBB is disrupted due to activated microglia and monocytes in PD brain (Stone et al., 2009). IgG, but not IgM, has been shown bound to dopamine neurons in the substantia nigra of idiopathic and familial PD patients, but not in age-matched controls (Orr et al., 2005). In addition, LRRK2, a causative gene for PD (see above), regulates B2-lymphocyte function (Kubo et al., 2010). This suggests that adaptive immunity may also be involved in the progression of PD (Figure 1).

Apart from B-lymphocyte involvement in PD, both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T-lymphocytes have been found in the SN of PD patients, and CD4⁺ T-lymphocytes are responsible for the T-cell-mediated immunopathology (Brochard et al., 2009). The expression of CD95 ligand (Fas) has been shown to be important for the capacity



FIGURE 1 | Innate and adaptive immunity in PD. Innate and adaptive immunity are both thought to affect the cellular response to PD. Both produce cytokines facilitating microglial activation. Innate immune signaling is initiated by PAMP binding. Innate immunity influences cell functions through different organelles, such as the nucleus to affect DNA, the mitochondria and proteasome, and through impacting on synaptic trafficking. Adaptive immunity is a subsequent response. Antigen specific adaptive immune processes occur as immune cells survey the brain. In response to stimuli, B cells secrete IgG and CD4 T cells are activated impacting on selective neuronal degeneration.

of T-lymphocytes to induce neuronal death (Brochard et al., 2009). T-lymphocyte cells and T cell receptor (TCR) associated CD3, a polypeptide complex comprised of four distinct chains (CD3 γ , CD3 δ , CD3 ϵ , and CD3 ζ), are found in the PD characteristic Lewy body lesions (Castellani et al., 2011), providing another direct link between cell mediated immunity and PD pathology (**Figure 1**).

Through activation of both the adaptive and innate immune systems, cytokines are induced and secreted. Circulating IL-12 and IL-10 are significantly elevated in PD patients compared with controls (Rentzos et al., 2009) and our data show that the protein levels of IL-10 and GM-CSF are elevated in the cortex of patients with PD (unpublished data). Intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1)-positive glia are increased in the substantia nigra of PD brains (Miklossy et al., 2006). Further analysis of these immune responses in the brains of patients with PD may provide more specific cytokine targets for modifying detrimental immune responses in PD.

INNATE IMMUNITY AND DNA REPAIR AND REGULATION IN PD

The presence of genomic DNA single and double-strand breaks is very common in PD affected brain regions (Hegde et al., 2006). At early stages of DNA damage, DNA sensing molecules (such as PARP and ATM) activate and cause a signaling cascade for repair (Herceg and Wang, 2001). Histone deacetylases (HDAC) are important suppressors of gene transcription, but also deacetylates the p62 subunit of NF- κ B increasing its binding to IκB and suppressing innate immunity and interferon-stimulated transcription (Babic et al., 2004; Into et al., 2010). HDACs have been localized to Lewy bodies in patients with PD (Takahashi-Fujigasaki and Fujigasaki, 2006), indicating that they are involved in PD pathogenesis. Inhibiting HDAC alleviates dopamine depletion in models of PD (Outeiro et al., 2007) and is protective by enhancing α-synuclein expression in neurons (Nusinzon and Horvath, 2003; Leng and Chuang, 2006), possibly in concert with an increased innate immune response.

Poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase catalyzes the attachment of ADP ribose units from NAD to nuclear proteins after DNA damage, resulting in three major outcomes, DNA repair, activation of transcription factors (notably NF- κ B), and/or cell death due to NAD depletion and release of apoptosis releasing factor from mitochondria (Kauppinen and Swanson, 2007). PARP negatively regulates α -synuclein expression by binding to the α -synuclein promoter Rep1 region (Chiba-Falek et al., 2005) and α -synuclein protein suppresses PARP activity (Adamczyk and Kazmierczak, 2009). Inhibition of PARP activation protects mice from MPTP-induced parkinsonism (Mandir et al., 1999; Leng and Chuang, 2006). PARP may protect against PD through increasing innate immune signaling.

ATM is a kinase that is recruited to phosphorylate histones for DNA repair, signaling molecules for cell cycle arrest or apoptosis, and nuclear IKKy (NF-kB essential modulator; Habraken and Piette, 2006; Hinz et al., 2010; Hadian and Krappmann, 2011). Phosphorylation of IKKy leads to its ubiquitination and cytoplasmic translocation where it associates with the rest of the IKK complex, resulting in IKK activation followed by subsequent NF-KB activation and inflammatory cytokines production (Chen, 2005). ATM has also recently been shown to regulate proteasomemediated protein turnover through suppression of the ISG15 pathway (Wood et al., 2011). ISG15 is an interferon-stimulated gene activated by viral infection and important in antiviral defense and innate immunity (Skaug and Chen, 2010). It is a ubiquitin-like protein that can be attached to both host and viral proteins (Skaug and Chen, 2010). ATM-deficient mice exhibit a selective loss of dopamine nigrostriatal neurons (Eilam et al., 1998), implicating dysfunction of ubiquitination as a factor in PD neurodegeneration, and specifically of ubiquitination in the innate immune system.

INNATE IMMUNITY AND UBIQUITINATION IN PD

The expression of ISG15 is increased in Crohn's disease (Labbe et al., 2011), an inflammatory bowel disorder sharing common genetic and environmental risk factors with PD (Bihari and Lees, 1987; Bialecka et al., 2007). Both ISG15 and LRRK2 (PARK8) are targets of interferon regulation (**Figure 2**). Interferon also regulates proteasome processing of ubiquitinated protein degradation into small peptides (Rivett et al., 2001; Piccinini et al., 2003; **Figure 2**). Ubiquitin is a small molecule and through lysine 48 and lysine 63 forms polyubiquitin chains for protein degradation and cellular localization (Ikeda and Dikic, 2008).

Among PARK genes, parkin has a variety of functions. It not only promotes lysine 48 linked ubiquitination for substrate degradation via the proteasome, but also functions in lysine 63 ubiquitin chain assembly to regulate diverse cellular processes, such as ribosome control, protein sorting and trafficking, and endocytosis of



FIGURE 2 | Innate immunity and the ubiquitin-proteasome system in PD. Innate immunity is used by the cell to increase proteasome degradation of unwanted proteins by direct and indirect stimulation of the protesome through interferon-y and ISG15, a ubiquitin-like protein that can be attached to both host and viral proteins. ATM (and appropriately functioning LRRK2) usually stimulates innate immune signaling when necessary. However, ATM also regulates proteasome-mediated protein turnover through suppression of the ISG15 pathway, and together with dysfunctional LRRK2 could decrease proteasome activity necessary for an adequate immune response and the degradation of normal cellular protein substrates, like dimer or tetramer forms of α -synuclein. As these forms are normally degraded through the ubiquitin/proteasome and lysosome/autophagy pathways, along with other cellular substrates, dysfunction in these pathways would increase α-synuclein to form toxic oligomeric species that also inhibit the proteasome and autophagy pathways, as well as innate immunity. This scenario would lead to the increase in toxic oligomers of α-synuclein that aggregate into fibrils to form Lewy bodies over time.

membrane proteins (Doss-Pepe et al., 2005). Lysine 63 linked ubiquitin chains promote the degradation of membrane proteins by the lysosome (Doss-Pepe et al., 2005). It is notable that α -synuclein is degraded via both the proteasome and lysosome pathways (Shin et al., 2005), suggestive that lysine 48 and lysine 63 linked ubiquitin chains are both important in the pathogenesis of PD (**Figure 2**). UCH-L1 has two opposing enzymatic activities, deubiquitination and ubiquityl ligase. The UCH-L1 ligase activity forms lysine 63 linked polyubiquitin chains (Liu et al., 2002). Lysine 63 multiubiquitin chains are also stimulated by α -synuclein (Doss-Pepe et al., 2005), and α -synuclein filaments and oligomers or its mutants inhibit proteasome function (Tanaka et al., 2001; Lindersson et al., 2004). These three genetically linked PD proteins all contribute to lysine 63 multiubiquitin chain formation. Dysfunction of this system is likely to decrease innate immune responses in PD.

Both lysine 48 and lysine 63 linked ubiquitin chains are known to be involved in anti-pathogen signaling cascades. In particular, lysine 63 linked ubiquitination is essential for NF- κ B activation (detailed in review of Wu et al., 2006). Phosphorylation of I κ B that releases NF- κ B only occurs when the kinase IKK β is released from its complex following IKK γ phosphorylation and lysine 63 linked degradation. Some other key immune response signaling molecules, such as TRAF6, also function as the lysine 63 linked ubiquitin E3 ligase to activate kinase activity (Kawai and Akira, 2006), and TRAF5 has been identified as a downstream target of VISA (see below) that mediates both IRF-3 and NF- κ B activation (Tang and Wang, 2010).

INNATE IMMUNITY AND MITOCHONDRIAL FUNCTION IN PD

The proper functioning of mitochondria is crucial for adequate innate immune defense (Oi et al., 2007; Tang and Wang, 2010; West et al., 2011). Intracellular double-stranded RNA originating from viruses or virus replication is recognized by RIG-I and Mda5, which contain a caspase recruitment domain (CARD; Figure 3). Activated RIG-I/Mda5 passes the signal to mitochondrial antiviral signaling (MAVS/VISA) proteins via a CARD-CARD domain interaction (Figure 3). The C-terminal of MAVS/VISA bind to mitochondria to activate NF-κB and start interferon α and β production (Oi et al., 2007; Figure 3). Upon viral infection, MAVS/VISA immigrate from the outer membrane into the mitochondrial detergent-resistant membrane fraction, suggesting that mitochondria react and contribute to antiviral signaling (Qi et al., 2007; Figure 3). In addition to regulating antiviral signaling, there is mounting evidence that mitochondria facilitate antibacterial immunity by generating reactive oxygen species and contributing to innate immune activation following cellular damage and stress (Nakahira et al., 2011).

Most nuclear encoded PARK gene products are located within mitochondria (**Table 1**), such as PINK1, DJ-1, Omi/HtrA2, and LRRK2, suggesting mitochondrial dysfunction is common in PD. The mitochondrial complex I has been shown to be selectively reduced in PD vulnerable regions, such as the substantia nigra (Schapira et al., 1989). The mitochondrial complex I inhibitor rotenone and mitochondrial toxin MPTP (1-methyl 4-phenyl 1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine) induce selective dopamine neuron loss and a parkinsonian syndrome and have been used as a major model for studying the tissue aspects of PD (Langston and Ballard, 1984; Betarbet et al., 2000). These changes may decrease the cellular responses of the innate immune system in PD.

INNATE IMMUNITY AND SYNAPTIC TRAFFICKING IN PD

Most enveloped animal RNA and DNA viruses enter host cells via receptor-medicated endocytosis or viral membrane fusion with the plasma membrane in order to replicate. Endocytosis impinges on viral infection at a number of different cellular levels, from the plasma membrane to endosome to lysosome or alternatively to Golgi, and to ER (**Figure 4**; Hacker et al., 1998; Leadbetter et al., 2002; Diebold et al., 2004). Viral proteins accumulate in the ER during viral replication and elicit ER stress. Viral replication induced ER stress disturbs vesicle trafficking within the intracellular membranous web (Goodridge et al., 2011).

Many PARK genes are associated with endocytosis and synaptic vesicle trafficking. α -Synuclein, parkin and UCH-L1 concentrate in the presynapse and associate with synaptic vesicles, anchoring and regulating the undocked pool of presynaptic vesicles (Di Rosa et al., 2003; Ferrer, 2009). α -Synuclein acts as a molecular



Table 1 | Cellular localization and functions PARK and related genes

	Cellular location indicative functions in mitochondria and synaptic trafficking	Ubiquitination	Reference
Parkin	Outer mitochondrial membrane Synaptic vesicles and the synaptic membrane	Lysine 48-, 63-linked ubiquitin E3 ligase	Kubo et al. (2001); Darios et al. (2003)
DJ-1	Mitochondrial matrix and inter-membrane space	NA	Zhang et al., 2005)
PINK1	Mitochondria	Upstream of parkin	Valente et al. (2004)
Omi/HtrA2	Mitochondrial inter-membrane space	NA	Strauss et al. (2005)
LRRK2	Outer mitochondrial membrane	NA	West et al. (2005)
α-synuclein	Presynaptic terminal	Promote 63 linked ubiquitin assemble	Iwai et al. (1995)
UCH-L1	Synaptic vesicle	Lysine 63 linked ubiquitin E3 ligase	Liu et al. (2002)
VISA	Outer mitochondrial membrane	NA	Seth et al. (2005)

NA, not available.



synaptic dysfunction in PD. Left: The endoplasmic reticulum is composed of a membranous network of tubes and cisternae enclosed in a membrane. It is continuous with the membrane surrounding the nuclear membrane and connects with the Golgi network via the vesicles carrying newly synthesized proteins. Certain vesicle-trafficking steps are required for the translocation of a vesicle from the Golgi apparatus to the plasma membrane. A transport vesicle is tethered and docked at the target membrane to form a tight SNARE complex, thus to merge the vesicle membrane with the target membrane and evacuate neurotransmitters into the extracellular space. The vesicle releasing process is under the assistance of α -synuclein, CDCrel-1, and synaptotagmin. Right: Viruses enter host cells through endosomes. Late endosomes fuse with or convert to lysosomes to degrade its contents, or alternatively it forms budding vesicles that pass to the trans-Golgi region and translocate to the Golgi and endoplasmic reticulum. The endoplasmic reticulum is coated with ribosomes, which assemble the viral amino acids into viral proteins.

chaperone, assisting in the folding and refolding of synaptic proteins called SNAREs, which are crucial for the release of neurotransmitters at the neuronal synapse, vesicle recycling, and synaptic integrity (Chandra et al., 2005). Upon the arrival of action potentials at the synaptic terminal, SNARE complexes, assembly of vesicle membrane (v-SNARE) and the presynaptic plasma membrane (t-SNARE), fuse the vesicle at the plasma membrane to release neurotransmitter into the synaptic cleft (Chandra et al., 2005; Fortin et al., 2005). Parkin ubiquitinates and regulates the turnover of the synaptic vesicle-associated protein, CDCrel-1, a synaptic vesicle-enriched septin GTPase implicated in the inhibition of exocytosis through its interactions with the SNARE complex component, syntaxin (Zhang et al., 2000). Another substrate of parkin is synaptotagmin XI, a member of the synaptotagmin family that is well characterized in vesicle formation and docking by interaction with SNAREs (Huynh et al., 2003). Loss of function of α -synuclein, parkin, or DJ-1 reduces neurotransmission and synaptic vesicle trafficking (Abeliovich et al., 2000; Goldberg et al., 2005). UCH-L1 deficient mice also show altered vesicle transport gene expression (Bonin et al., 2004). Reduced innate

immunity allowing for pathogen replication would significantly exacerbate any loss of synaptic function caused by PARK gene products (**Figure 4**) precipitating frank degeneration.

CONCLUSION

A number of intrinsically driven cellular pathways shown to be dysfunctional in PD are important in mediating innate immune signaling. These important intracellular pathways have been identified through genetic studies in patients with PD. More recent genetic studies have also implicated immune pathways in the pathogenesis of PD. In particular, we have identified a number of PARK gene products as well as other enzymes that have dual roles in innate immune signaling as well as proteasome, lysosome, and mitochondrial functioning. The additional enzymes identified are important for DNA repair and regulation, ubiquitination, mitochondrial function, and synaptic trafficking. These pathways appear to lose their ability to mount an adequate innate immune response to PD and experimental manipulation of many of these intracellular molecules has been associated with characteristic PD pathologies in animal models. Intriguing new data also suggest that peripheral immune responses may be involved, with the potential to alleviate such peripheral dysfunction more directly in patients with PD.

Most important, the molecular pathways involved are likely to function in a cell type specific manner (Ledesma et al., 2002), a concept that has not yet been evaluated substantially in patients with PD. The cross-talk between neurons and glia is crucial for an adequate immune response, with astrocytes considered particularly important (Halliday and Stevens, 2011; Schmidt et al., 2011). Astrocytic endfeet form part of the BBB and may serve as ideal sentinel cells able to sense the appearance of toxins and viral pathogens (Scumpia et al., 2005), similar to their cousins found in the gut (Savidge et al., 2007; Daneman and Rescigno, 2009). Astroglia in both the brain and gut regulate barrier function and membrane permeability (Savidge et al., 2007; Daneman and Rescigno, 2009), functions which may be important for the cell to cell transfer of α -synuclein

REFERENCES

- Abeliovich, A., Schmitz, Y., Farinas, I., Choi-Lundberg, D., Ho, W. H., Castillo, P. E., Shinsky, N., Verdugo, J. M., Armanini, M., Ryan, A., Hynes, M., Phillips, H., Sulzer, D., and Rosenthal, A. (2000). Mice lacking alpha-synuclein display functional deficits in the nigrostriatal dopamine system. *Neuron* 25, 239–252.
- Adamczyk, A., and Kazmierczak, A. (2009). Alpha-synuclein inhibits poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase-1 (PARP-1) activity via NO-dependent pathway. *Folia Neuropathol.* 47, 247–251.
- Akundi, R. S., Huang, Z., Eason, J., Pandya, J. D., Zhi, L., Cass, W. A., Sullivan, P. G., and Bueler, H. (2011). Increased mitochondrial calcium sensitivity and abnormal expression of innate immunity genes precede dopaminergic defects in Pink1-deficient mice. *PLoS ONE* 6, e16038. doi:10.1371/journal.pone. 0016038
- Babic, I., Jakymiw, A., and Fujita, D. J. (2004). The RNA binding protein Sam68 is acetylated in tumor cell lines, and its acetylation correlates with enhanced RNA binding activity. *Oncogene* 23, 3781–3789.
- Betarbet, R., Sherer, T. B., Mackenzie, G., Garcia-Osuna, M., Panov, A. V., and Greenamyre, J. T. (2000). Chronic systemic pesticide exposure reproduces features of Parkinson's disease. *Nat. Neurosci.* 3, 1301–1306.
- Bialecka, M., Kurzawski, M., Klodowska-Duda, G., Opala, G., Juzwiak, S., Kurzawski, G., Tan, E. K., and Drozdzik, M. (2007). CARD15 variants in patients with sporadic Parkinson's disease. *Neurosci. Res.* 57, 473–476.

- Bihari, K., and Lees, A. J. (1987). Cigarette smoking, Parkinson's disease and ulcerative colitis. *J. Neurol. Neu*rosurg, Psychiatr. 50, 635.
- Bonin, M., Poths, S., Osaka, H., Wang, Y. L., Wada, K., and Riess, O. (2004). Microarray expression analysis of gad mice implicates involvement of Parkinson's disease associated UCH-L1 in multiple metabolic pathways. *Brain Res. Mol. Brain Res.* 126, 88–97.
- Braak, H., Rub, U., Gai, W. P., and Del Tredici, K. (2003). Idiopathic Parkinson's disease: possible routes by which vulnerable neuronal types may be subject to neuroinvasion by an unknown pathogen. J. Neural Transm. 110, 517–536.
- Brochard, V., Combadiere, B., Prigent, A., Laouar, Y., Perrin, A., Beray-Berthat, V., Bonduelle, O., Alvarez-Fischer, D., Callebert, J., Launay, J. M., Duyckaerts, C., Flavell, R. A., Hirsch, E. C., and Hunot, S. (2009). Infiltration of CD4+ lymphocytes into the brain contributes to neurodegeneration in a mouse model of Parkinson disease. J. Clin. Invest. 119, 182–192.
- Cardoso, C. C., Pereira, A. C., De Sales Marques, C., and Moraes, M. O. (2011). Leprosy susceptibility: genetic variations regulate innate and adaptive immunity, and disease outcome. *Future Microbiol.* 6, 533–549.
- Carlsson, T., Schindler, F. R., Hollerhage, M., Depboylu, C., Arias-Carrion, O., Schnurrbusch, S., Rosler, T. W., Wozny, W., Schwall, G. P., Groebe, K., Oertel, W. H., Brundin, P., Schrattenholz, A., and Hoglinger, G. U. (2011). Systemic administration of neuregulin-1beta1 protects dopaminergic neurons in a mouse model of Parkinson's disease. J. Neurochem. 117, 1066–1074.

pathology as well as more traditional infectious agents. The increased expression of PARK gene proteins in astrocytes (see above) and their lack of activation to PD pathology in patients (Mirza et al., 2000; Halliday and Stevens, 2011) lends weight to a loss of innate immunity and BBB function in PD that potentially increases membrane and cellular permeability leading to increased toxin and pathogen infiltration in the brain. In addition to the direct cellular damage to vulnerable neurons this would initiate, pathogen exposure may also activate the alternate adaptive immune responses that are thought to participate in propagating the pathology of PD.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We wish to thank Heidi Cartwight for the figurework. Yue Huang is funded by a University of New South Wales Goldstar award. Glenda M. Halliday is funded as a Senior Principal Research Fellow of the National Health and Medical Research Council of Australia.

- Carvey, P. M., Chang, Q., Lipton, J. W., and Ling, Z. (2003). Prenatal exposure to the bacteriotoxin lipopolysaccharide leads to longterm losses of dopamine neurons in offspring: a potential, new model of Parkinson's disease. *Front. Biosci.* 8, s826–s837.
- Castellani, R. J., Nugent, S. L., Morrison, A. L., Zhu, X., Lee, H. G., Harris, P. L., Bajic, V., Sharma, H. S., Chen, S. G., Oettgen, P., Perry, G., and Smith, M. A. (2011). CD3 in Lewy pathology: does the abnormal recall of neurodevelopmental processes underlie Parkinson's disease. *J. Neural Transm.* 118, 23–26.
- Chandra, S., Gallardo, G., Fernandez-Chacon, R., Schluter, O. M., and Sudhof, T. C. (2005). Alphasynuclein cooperates with CSPalpha in preventing neurodegeneration. *Cell* 123, 383–396.
- Chen, Z. J. (2005). Ubiquitin signalling in the NF-kappaB pathway. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 7, 758–765.
- Chiba-Falek, O., Kowalak, J. A., Smulson, M. E., and Nussbaum, R. L. (2005). Regulation of alphasynuclein expression by poly (ADP ribose) polymerase-1 (PARP-1) binding to the NACP-Rep1 polymorphic site upstream of the SNCA gene. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 76, 478–492.
- Cornejo Castro, E. M., Waak, J., Weber, S. S., Fiesel, F. C., Oberhettinger, P., Schutz, M., Autenrieth, I. B., Springer, W., and Kahle, P. J. (2010). Parkinson's diseaseassociated DJ-1 modulates innate immunity signaling in Caenorhabditis elegans. J. Neural Transm. 117, 599–604.
- Corti, O., Lesage, S., and Brice, A. (2011). What genetics tells us about

the causes and mechanisms of Parkinson's disease. *Physiol. Rev.* 91, 1161–1218.

- Daneman, R., and Rescigno, M. (2009). The gut immune barrier and the blood-brain barrier: are they so different? *Immunity* 31, 722–735.
- Darios, F., Corti, O., Lucking, C. B., Hampe, C., Muriel, M. P., Abbas, N., Gu, W. J., Hirsch, E. C., Rooney, T., Ruberg, M., and Brice, A. (2003). Parkin prevents mitochondrial swelling and cytochrome c release in mitochondria-dependent cell death. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 12, 517–526.
- Deleidi, M., Hallett, P. J., Koprich, J. B., Chung, C. Y., and Isacson, O. (2010). The Toll-like receptor-3 agonist polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid triggers nigrostriatal dopaminergic degeneration. J. Neurosci. 30, 16091–16101.
- Di Rosa, G., Puzzo, D., Sant'Angelo, A., Trinchese, F., and Arancio, O. (2003). Alpha-synuclein: between synaptic function and dysfunction. *Histol. Histopathol.* 18, 1257–1266.
- Diebold, S. S., Kaisho, T., Hemmi, H., Akira, S., and Reis E Sousa, C. (2004). Innate antiviral responses by means of TLR7-mediated recognition of single-stranded RNA. *Science* 303, 1529–1531.
- Doss-Pepe, E. W., Chen, L., and Madura, K. (2005). Alpha-synuclein and parkin contribute to the assembly of ubiquitin lysine 63-linked multiubiquitin chains. *J. Biol. Chem.* 280, 16619–16624.
- Dutta, G., Zhang, P., and Liu, B. (2008). The lipopolysaccharide Parkinson's disease animal model: mechanistic studies and drug discovery. *Fundam. Clin. Pharmacol.* 22, 453–464.

- Eilam, R., Peter, Y., Elson, A., Rotman, G., Shiloh, Y., Groner, Y., and Segal, M. (1998). Selective loss of dopaminergic nigro-striatal neurons in brains of Atm-deficient mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 95, 12653–12656.
- Espay, A. J., and Henderson, K. K. (2011). Postencephalitic parkinsonism and basal ganglia necrosis due to Epstein-Barr virus infection. *Neurology* 76, 1529–1530.
- Fearnley, J. M., and Lees, A. J. (1991). Ageing and Parkinson's disease: substantia nigra regional selectivity. *Brain* 114 (Pt 5), 2283–2301.
- Ferrer, I. (2009). Early involvement of the cerebral cortex in Parkinson's disease: convergence of multiple metabolic defects. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 88, 89–103.
- Fortin, D. L., Nemani, V. M., Voglmaier, S. M., Anthony, M. D., Ryan, T. A., and Edwards, R. H. (2005). Neural activity controls the synaptic accumulation of alpha-synuclein. *J. Neurosci.* 25, 10913–10921.
- Gandhi, S., Muqit, M. M., Stanyer, L., Healy, D. G., Abou-Sleiman, P. M., Hargreaves, I., Heales, S., Ganguly, M., Parsons, L., Lees, A. J., Latchman, D. S., Holton, J. L., Wood, N. W., and Revesz, T. (2006). PINK1 protein in normal human brain and Parkinson's disease. *Brain* 129, 1720–1731.
- Gardet, A., Benita, Y., Li, C., Sands, B. E., Ballester, I., Stevens, C., Korzenik, J. R., Rioux, J. D., Daly, M. J., Xavier, R. J., and Podolsky, D. K. (2010). LRRK2 is involved in the IFN-gamma response and host response to pathogens. *J. Immunol.* 185, 5577–5585.
- Goldberg, M. S., Pisani, A., Haburcak, M., Vortherms, T. A., Kitada, T., Costa, C., Tong, Y., Martella, G., Tscherter, A., Martins, A., Bernardi, G., Roth, B. L., Pothos, E. N., Calabresi, P., and Shen, J. (2005). Nigrostriatal dopaminergic deficits and hypokinesia caused by inactivation of the familial Parkinsonism-linked gene DJ-1. *Neuron* 45, 489–496.
- Goodridge, H. S., Reyes, C. N., Becker, C. A., Katsumoto, T. R., Ma, J., Wolf,
 A. J., Bose, N., Chan, A. S., Magee,
 A. S., Danielson, M. E., Weiss, A.,
 Vasilakos, J. P., and Underhill, D.
 M. (2011). Activation of the innate immune receptor Dectin-1 upon formation of a 'phagocytic synapse'. *Nature* 472, 471–475.
- Habraken, Y., and Piette, J. (2006). NF-kappaB activation by doublestrand breaks. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 72, 1132–1141.

- Hacker, H., Mischak, H., Miethke, T., Liptay, S., Schmid, R., Sparwasser, T., Heeg, K., Lipford, G. B., and Wagner, H. (1998). CpG-DNA-specific activation of antigen-presenting cells requires stress kinase activity and is preceded by non-specific endocytosis and endosomal maturation. *EMBO J.* 17, 6230–6240.
- Hadian, K., and Krappmann, D. (2011). Signals from the nucleus: activation of NF-kappaB by cytosolic ATM in the DNA damage response. *Sci. Signal.* 4, pe2.
- Halliday, G. M., and Stevens, C. H. (2011). Glia: initiators and progressors of pathology in Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 26, 6–17.
- Hamza, T. H., Zabetian, C. P., Tenesa, A., Laederach, A., Montimurro, J., Yearout, D., Kay, D. M., Doheny, K. F., Paschall, J., Pugh, E., Kusel, V. I., Collura, R., Roberts, J., Griffith, A., Samii, A., Scott, W. K., Nutt, J., Factor, S. A., and Payami, H. (2010). Common genetic variation in the HLA region is associated with late-onset sporadic Parkinson's disease. *Nat. Genet.* 42, 781–785.
- Hegde, M. L., Gupta, V. B., Anitha, M., Harikrishna, T., Shankar, S. K., Muthane, U., Subba Rao, K., and Jagannatha Rao, K. S. (2006). Studies on genomic DNA topology and stability in brain regions of Parkinson's disease. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 449, 143–156.
- Herceg, Z., and Wang, Z. Q. (2001). Functions of poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP) in DNA repair, genomic integrity and cell death. *Mutat. Res.* 477, 97–110.
- Hill-Burns, E. M., Factor, S. A., Zabetian, C. P., Thomson, G., and Payami, H. (2011). Evidence for more than one Parkinson's disease-associated variant within the HLA region. *PLoS ONE* 6, e27109. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0027109
- Hinz, M., Stilmann, M., Arslan, S. C., Khanna, K. K., Dittmar, G., and Scheidereit, C. (2010). A cytoplasmic ATM-TRAF6-cIAP1 module links nuclear DNA damage signaling to ubiquitin-mediated NFkappaB activation. *Mol. Cell* 40, 63–74.
- Huang, Y., Song, Y. J., Murphy, K., Holton, J. L., Lashley, T., Revesz, T., Gai, W. P., and Halliday, G. M. (2008). LRRK2 and parkin immunoreactivity in multiple system atrophy inclusions. *Acta Neuropathol.* 116, 639–646.
- Huynh, D. P., Scoles, D. R., Nguyen, D., and Pulst, S. M. (2003). The autosomal recessive juvenile Parkinson

disease gene product, parkin, interacts with and ubiquitinates synaptotagmin XI. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 12, 2587–2597.

- Ikeda, F., and Dikic, I. (2008). Atypical ubiquitin chains: new molecular signals. "Protein Modifications: Beyond the Usual Suspects" review series. *EMBO Rep.* 9, 536–542.
- Into, T., Inomata, M., Niida, S., Murakami, Y., and Shibata, K. (2010). Regulation of MyD88 aggregation and the MyD88-dependent signaling pathway by sequestosome 1 and histone deacetylase 6. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 35759–35769.
- Iwai, A., Masliah, E., Yoshimoto, M., Ge, N., Flanagan, L., De Silva, H. A., Kittel, A., and Saitoh, T. (1995). The precursor protein of non-A beta component of Alzheimer's disease amyloid is a presynaptic protein of the central nervous system. *Neuron* 14, 467–475.
- Kauppinen, T. M., and Swanson, R. A. (2007). The role of poly (ADPribose) polymerase-1 in CNS disease. *Neuroscience* 145, 1267–1272.
- Kawai, T., and Akira, S. (2006). Innate immune recognition of viral infection. *Nat. Immunol.* 7, 131–137.
- Kubo, M., Kamiya, Y., Nagashima, R., Maekawa, T., Eshima, K., Azuma, S., Ohta, E., and Obata, F. (2010). LRRK2 is expressed in B-2 but not in B-1 B cells, and downregulated by cellular activation. *J. Neuroimmunol.* 229, 123–128.
- Kubo, S. I., Kitami, T., Noda, S., Shimura, H., Uchiyama, Y., Asakawa, S., Minoshima, S., Shimizu, N., Mizuno, Y., and Hattori, N. (2001). Parkin is associated with cellular vesicles. *J. Neurochem.* 78, 42–54.
- Labbe, C., Boucher, G., Foisy, S., Alikashani, A., Nkwimi, H., David, G., Beaudoin, M., Goyette, P., Charron, G., Xavier, R. J., and Rioux, J. D. (2011). Genome-wide expression profiling implicates a MAST3regulated gene set in colonic mucosal inflammation of ulcerative colitis patients. *Inflamm. Bowel Dis.* doi: 10.1002/ibd.21887. [Epub ahead of print].
- Langston, J. W., and Ballard, P. (1984). Parkinsonism induced by 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6tetrahydropyridine (MPTP): implications for treatment and the pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease. *Can. J. Neurol. Sci.* 11, 160–165.
- Leadbetter, E. A., Rifkin, I. R., Hohlbaum, A. M., Beaudette, B. C., Shlomchik, M. J., and Marshak-Rothstein, A. (2002). Chromatin-IgG complexes activate B cells by dual engagement of IgM

and Toll-like receptors. *Nature* 416, 603–607.

- Ledesma, M. D., Galvan, C., Hellias, B., Dotti, C., and Jensen, P. H. (2002). Astrocytic but not neuronal increased expression and redistribution of parkin during unfolded protein stress. *J. Neurochem.* 83, 1431–1440.
- Leng, Y., and Chuang, D. M. (2006). Endogenous alpha-synuclein is induced by valproic acid through histone deacetylase inhibition and participates in neuroprotection against glutamate-induced excitotoxicity. J. Neurosci. 26, 7502–7512.
- Lindersson, E., Beedholm, R., Hojrup, P., Moos, T., Gai, W., Hendil, K. B., and Jensen, P. H. (2004). Proteasomal inhibition by alpha-synuclein filaments and oligomers. *J. Biol. Chem.* 279, 12924–12934.
- Ling, Z., Gayle, D. A., Ma, S. Y., Lipton, J. W., Tong, C. W., Hong, J. S., and Carvey, P. M. (2002). In utero bacterial endotoxin exposure causes loss of tyrosine hydroxylase neurons in the postnatal rat midbrain. *Mov. Disord.* 17, 116–124.
- Liu, B. (2006). Modulation of microglial pro-inflammatory and neurotoxic activity for the treatment of Parkinson's disease. *AAPS J.* 8, E606–E621.
- Liu, Y., Fallon, L., Lashuel, H. A., Liu, Z., and Lansbury, P. T. Jr. (2002). The UCH-L1 gene encodes two opposing enzymatic activities that affect alpha-synuclein degradation and Parkinson's disease susceptibility. *Cell* 111, 209–218.
- Mandir, A. S., Przedborski, S., Jackson-Lewis, V., Wang, Z. Q., Simbulan-Rosenthal, C. M., Smulson, M. E., Hoffman, B. E., Guastella, D. B., Dawson, V. L., and Dawson, T. M. (1999). Poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase activation mediates 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1, 2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP)induced parkinsonism. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 96, 5774–5779.
- McGeer, P. L., Itagaki, S., Boyes, B. E., and McGeer, E. G. (1988). Reactive microglia are positive for HLA-DR in the substantia nigra of Parkinson's and Alzheimer's disease brains. *Neurology* 38, 1285–1291.
- McNaught, K. S., Olanow, C. W., Halliwell, B., Isacson, O., and Jenner, P. (2001). Failure of the ubiquitinproteasome system in Parkinson's disease. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 2, 589–594.
- Miklossy, J., Doudet, D. D., Schwab, C., Yu, S., Mcgeer, E. G., and Mcgeer, P. L. (2006). Role of ICAM-1 in persisting

inflammation in Parkinson disease and MPTP monkeys. *Exp. Neurol.* 197, 275–283.

- Mirza, B., Hadberg, H., Thomsen, P., and Moos, T. (2000). The absence of reactive astrocytosis is indicative of a unique inflammatory process in Parkinson's disease. *Neuroscience* 95, 425–432.
- Muqit, M. M., Gandhi, S., and Wood, N. W. (2006). Mitochondria in Parkinson disease: back in fashion with a little help from genetics. *Arch. Neurol.* 63, 649–654.
- Nakahira, K., Haspel, J. A., Rathinam, V. A., Lee, S. J., Dolinay, T., Lam, H. C., Englert, J. A., Rabinovitch, M., Cernadas, M., Kim, H. P., Fitzgerald, K. A., Ryter, S. W., and Choi, A. M. (2011). Autophagy proteins regulate innate immune responses by inhibiting the release of mitochondrial DNA mediated by the NALP3 inflammasome. *Nat. Immunol.* 12, 222–230.
- Nguyen, M. D., Julien, J. P., and Rivest, S. (2002). Innate immunity: the missing link in neuroprotection and neurodegeneration? *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 3, 216–227.
- Nusinzon, I., and Horvath, C. M. (2003). Interferon-stimulated transcription and innate antiviral immunity require deacetylase activity and histone deacetylase 1. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 100, 14742–14747.
- Orr, C. F., Rowe, D. B., and Halliday, G. M. (2002). An inflammatory review of Parkinson's disease. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 68, 325–340.
- Orr, C. F., Rowe, D. B., Mizuno, Y., Mori, H., and Halliday, G. M. (2005). A possible role for humoral immunity in the pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease. *Brain* 128, 2665–2674.
- Outeiro, T. F., Kontopoulos, E., Altmann, S. M., Kufareva, I., Strathearn, K. E., Amore, A. M., Volk, C. B., Maxwell, M. M., Rochet, J. C., Mclean, P. J., Young, A. B., Abagyan, R., Feany, M. B., Hyman, B. T., and Kazantsev, A. G. (2007). Sirtuin 2 inhibitors rescue alphasynuclein-mediated toxicity in models of Parkinson's disease. *Science* 317, 516–519.
- Perry, V. H. (2004). The influence of systemic inflammation on inflammation in the brain: implications for chronic neurodegenerative disease. *Brain Behav, Immun.* 18, 407–413.
- Piccinini, M., Mostert, M., Croce, S., Baldovino, S., Papotti, M., and Rinaudo, M. T. (2003). Interferongamma-inducible subunits are incorporated in human brain 20S proteasome. J. Neuroimmunol. 135, 135–140.

- Qi, B., Huang, Y., Rowe, D., and Halliday, G. (2007). VISA – a pass to innate immunity. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.* 39, 287–291.
- Rentzos, M., Nikolaou, C., Andreadou, E., Paraskevas, G. P., Rombos, A., Zoga, M., Tsoutsou, A., Boufidou, F., Kapaki, E., and Vassilopoulos, D. (2009). Circulating interleukin-10 and interleukin-12 in Parkinson's disease. *Acta Neurol. Scand.* 119, 332–337.
- Rivett, A. J., Bose, S., Brooks, P., and Broadfoot, K. I. (2001). Regulation of proteasome complexes by gamma-interferon and phosphorylation. *Biochimie* 83, 363–366.
- Savidge, T. C., Sofroniew, M. V., and Neunlist, M. (2007). Starring roles for astroglia in barrier pathologies of gut and brain. *Lab. Invest.* 87, 731–736.
- Schapira, A. H., Cooper, J. M., Dexter, D., Jenner, P., Clark, J. B., and Marsden, C. D. (1989). Mitochondrial complex I deficiency in Parkinson's disease. *Lancet* 1, 1269.
- Schmidt, S., Linnartz, B., Mendritzki, S., Sczepan, T., Lubbert, M., Stichel, C. C., and Lubbert, H. (2011). Genetic mouse models for Parkinson's disease display severe pathology in glial cell mitochondria. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 20, 1197–1211.
- Scumpia, P. O., Kelly, K. M., Reeves, W. H., and Stevens, B. R. (2005). Double-stranded RNA signals antiviral and inflammatory programs and dysfunctional glutamate transport in TLR3-expressing astrocytes. *Glia* 52, 153–162.
- Seth, R. B., Sun, L., and Chen, Z. J. (2006). Antiviral innate immunity pathways. *Cell Res.* 16, 141–147.
- Seth, R. B., Sun, L., Ea, C. K., and Chen, Z. J. (2005). Identification and characterization of MAVS, a mitochondrial antiviral signaling protein that activates NF-kappaB and IRF 3. *Cell* 122, 669–682.
- Shin, Y., Klucken, J., Patterson, C., Hyman, B. T., and Mclean, P. J. (2005). The co-chaperone carboxyl terminus of Hsp70-interacting protein (CHIP) mediates alphasynuclein degradation decisions between proteasomal and lysosomal pathways. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 23727–23734.
- Silverman, N., and Maniatis, T. (2001). NF-kappaB signaling pathways in mammalian and insect innate immunity. *Genes Dev.* 15, 2321–2342.
- Skaug, B., and Chen, Z. J. (2010). Emerging role of ISG15 in antiviral immunity. *Cell* 143, 187–190.

- Song, Y. J., Huang, Y., and Halliday, G. M. (2011). Clinical correlates of similar pathologies in parkinsonian syndromes. *Mov. Disord.* 26, 499–506.
- Stefanova, N., Fellner, L., Reindl, M., Masliah, E., Poewe, W., and Wenning, G. K. (2011). Toll-like receptor 4 promotes alpha-synuclein clearance and survival of nigral dopaminergic neurons. *Am. J. Pathol.* 179, 954–963.
- Steurer, J. (2011). [Nonsteroidal analgesics have a protective effect against Parkinson disease]. *Praxis (Bern* 1994) 100, 617–618.
- Stone, D. K., Reynolds, A. D., Mosley, R. L., and Gendelman, H. E. (2009). Innate and adaptive immunity for the pathobiology of Parkinson's disease. *Antioxid. Redox Signal.* 11, 2151–2166.
- Strauss, K. M., Martins, L. M., Plun-Favreau, H., Marx, F. P., Kautzmann, S., Berg, D., Gasser, T., Wszolek, Z., Muller, T., Bornemann, A., Wolburg, H., Downward, J., Riess, O., Schulz, J. B., and Kruger, R. (2005). Loss of function mutations in the gene encoding Omi/HtrA2 in Parkinson's disease. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 14, 2099–2111.
- Takahashi-Fujigasaki, J., and Fujigasaki, H. (2006). Histone deacetylase (HDAC) 4 involvement in both Lewy and Marinesco bodies. *Neuropathol. Appl. Neurobiol.* 32, 562–566.
- Tanaka, Y., Engelender, S., Igarashi, S., Rao, R. K., Wanner, T., Tanzi, R. E., Sawa, A., V, L. D., Dawson, T. M., and Ross, C. A. (2001). Inducible expression of mutant alpha-synuclein decreases proteasome activity and increases sensitivity to mitochondria-dependent apoptosis. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 10, 919–926.
- Tang, E. D., and Wang, C. Y. (2010). TRAF5 is a downstream target of MAVS in antiviral innate immune signaling. *PLoS ONE* 5, e9172. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0009172
- Torkvist, L., Halfvarson, J., Ong, R. T., Lordal, M., Sjoqvist, U., Bresso, F., Bjork, J., Befrits, R., Lofberg, R., Blom, J., Carlson, M., Padyukov, L., D'Amato, M., Seielstad, M., and Pettersson, S. (2010). Analysis of 39 Crohn's disease risk loci in Swedish inflammatory bowel disease patients. *Inflamm. Bowel Dis.* 16, 907–909.
- Umeno, J., Asano, K., Matsushita, T., Matsumoto, T., Kiyohara, Y., Iida, M., Nakamura, Y., Kamatani, N., and Kubo, M. (2011). Meta-analysis of published studies identified eight additional common susceptibility

loci for Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis. *Inflamm. Bowel. Dis.* 17, 2407–2415.

- Valente, E. M., Abou-Sleiman, P. M., Caputo, V., Muqit, M. M., Harvey, K., Gispert, S., Ali, Z., Del Turco, D., Bentivoglio, A. R., Healy, D. G., Albanese, A., Nussbaum, R., Gonzalez-Maldonado, R., Deller, T., Salvi, S., Cortelli, P., Gilks, W. P., Latchman, D. S., Harvey, R. J., Dallapiccola, B., Auburger, G., and Wood, N. W. (2004). Hereditary early-onset Parkinson's disease caused by mutations in PINK1. Science 304, 1158–1160.
- Van Limbergen, J., Wilson, D. C., and Satsangi, J. (2009). The genetics of Crohn's disease. Annu. Rev. Genomics Hum. Genet. 10, 89–116.
- Villaran, R. F., Espinosa-Oliva, A. M., Sarmiento, M., De Pablos, R. M., Arguelles, S., Delgado-Cortes, M. J., Sobrino, V., Van Rooijen, N., Venero, J. L., Herrera, A. J., Cano, J., and Machado, A. (2010). Ulcerative colitis exacerbates lipopolysaccharideinduced damage to the nigral dopaminergic system: potential risk factor in Parkinson's disease. J. Neurochem. 114, 1687–1700.
- Visintin, A., Latz, E., Monks, B. G., Espevik, T., and Golenbock, D. T. (2003). Lysines 128 and 132 enable lipopolysaccharide binding to MD-2, leading to Toll-like receptor-4 aggregation and signal transduction. *J. Biol. Chem.* 278, 48313–48320.
- Wahner, A. D., Bronstein, J. M., Bordelon, Y. M., and Ritz, B. (2007). Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs may protect against Parkinson disease. *Neurology* 69, 1836–1842.
- West, A. B., Moore, D. J., Biskup, S., Bugayenko, A., Smith, W. W., Ross, C. A., Dawson, V. L., and Dawson, T. M. (2005). Parkinson's diseaseassociated mutations in leucine-rich repeat kinase 2 augment kinase activity. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 102, 16842–16847.
- West, A. P., Koblansky, A. A., and Ghosh, S. (2006). Recognition and signaling by Toll-like receptors. *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol.* 22, 409–437.
- West, A. P., Shadel, G. S., and Ghosh, S. (2011). Mitochondria in innate immune responses. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 11, 389–402.
- Wilms, H., Rosenstiel, P., Sievers, J., Deuschl, G., Zecca, L., and Lucius, R. (2003). Activation of microglia by human neuromelanin is NFkappaB dependent and involves p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase: implications for Parkinson's disease. *FASEB J.* 17, 500–502.

- Wood, L. M., Sankar, S., Reed, R. E., Haas, A. L., Liu, L. F., Mckinnon, P., and Desai, S. D. (2011). A novel role for ATM in regulating proteasome-mediated protein degradation through suppression of the ISG15 conjugation pathway. *PLoS ONE* 6, e16422. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0016422
- Wu, C. J., Conze, D. B., Li, T., Srinivasula, S. M., and Ashwell, J. D. (2006). NEMO is a sensor of Lys 63-linked polyubiquitination and functions in NF-kappaB activation. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 8, 398–406.
- Zhang, Y., Gao, J., Chung, K. K., Huang, H., Dawson, V. L., and Dawson, T. M. (2000). Parkin functions as an E2dependent ubiquitin- protein ligase and promotes the degradation of the synaptic vesicle-associated protein, CDCrel-1. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 97, 13354–13359.
- Zhang, L., Shimoji, M., Thomas, B., Moore, D. J., Yu, S. W., Marupudi, N. I., Torp, R., Torgner, I. A., Ottersen, O. P., Dawson, T. M., and Dawson, V. L. (2005). Mitochondrial localization of the Parkinson's disease related protein

DJ-1: implications for pathogenesis. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 14, 2063–2073.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 16 December 2011; paper pending published: 07 February 2012; accepted: 19 February 2012; published online: 08 March 2012. Citation: Huang Y and Halliday GM (2012) Aspects of innate immunity and Parkinson's disease. Front. Pharmacol. **3**:33. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2012.00033 This article was submitted to Frontiers in Numerpharmerology a specialty of

in Neuropharmacology, a specialty of Frontiers in Pharmacology. Copyright © 2012 Huang and Halliday. This is an open-access article dis-

tributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits noncommercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.


The glial response to intracerebrally delivered therapies for neurodegenerative disorders: is this a critical issue?

Francesca Cicchetti^{1,2}* and Roger A. Barker^{3*}

¹ Axe Neurosciences, Centre de Recherche du CHU de Québec, Québec, QC, Canada

² Département de Psychiatrie et Neurosciences, Université Laval, Québec, QC, Canada

³ John van Geest Centre for Brain Repair, Department of Clinical Neuroscience, University of Cambridge, Cambridge, UK

Edited by:

Eero Vasar, University of Tartu, Estonia

Reviewed by:

Bruno Pierre Guiard, University of Paris XI, France Maria-Grazia Martinoli, Université du Québec, Canada

*Correspondence:

Francesca Cicchetti, Axe Neurosciences, Centre de Recherche du CHU de Québec, T2-50, 2705 Boulevard Laurier, Québec, QC G1V 4G2, Canada e-mail: francesca.cicchetti@ crchul.ulaval.ca; Roger A. Barker, John van Geest Centre for Brain Repair, Department of Clinical Neurosciences, University of Cambridge, Cambridge CB2 0PY, UK

e-mail: rab46@cam.ac.uk

The role of glial cells in the pathogenesis of many neurodegenerative conditions of the central nervous system (CNS) is now well established (as is discussed in other reviews in this special issue of Frontiers in Neuropharmacology). What is less clear is whether there are changes in these same cells in terms of their behavior and function in response to invasive experimental therapeutic interventions for these diseases. This has, and will continue to become more of an issue as we enter a new era of novel treatments which require the agent to be directly placed/infused into the CNS such as deep brain stimulation (DBS), cell transplants, gene therapies and growth factor infusions. To date, all of these treatments have produced variable outcomes and the reasons for this have been widely debated but the host astrocytic and/or microglial response induced by such invasively delivered agents has not been discussed in any detail. In this review, we have attempted to summarize the limited published data on this, in particular we discuss the small number of human post-mortem studies reported in this field. By so doing, we hope to provide a better description and understanding of the extent and nature of both the astrocytic and microglial response, which in turn could lead to modifications in the way these therapeutic interventions are delivered.

Keywords: gene therapy for neurodegenerative diseases, cell transplantation, deep brain stimulation, Alzheimer's disease, Huntington's disease, Parkinson's disease, astrocytes, microglia

INTRODUCTION

Over the last 30 years, there has been a burgeoning of new therapeutic approaches to treat chronic neurodegenerative conditions of the central nervous system (CNS). These approaches have essentially been of two main types:

- (i) Better symptomatic agents most notably deep brain stimulation (DBS) for Parkinson's Disease (PD) as well as gene therapy approaches (e.g., AAV2-GAD; ProSavin®; hAADC gene therapy).
- (ii) Restorative agents such as growth factor administration or cell transplants. This has involved either directly infusing growth factors into the CNS (e.g., GDNF in the case of PD) or the use of viral delivery systems (e.g., AAV2-Neurturin). In the case of cell therapies a number of different cell types have been grafted into the diseased brain especially in patients with PD (e.g., adrenal medulla; carotid body; ventral mesencephalon, amongst others) and Huntington's Disease (HD) (fetal striatal cells).

Whilst the efficacy of these approaches has been the subject of many reviews, one area that has received rather less attention is the host response to these therapeutic agents. This involves not only an anticipated and beneficial response (e.g., cell integration, fiber sprouting, synapse formation, and so on) but also a glial reaction to it, involving both astrocytes and microglia. In the adult CNS, astrocytes constitute the predominant glial cell type that function to control the CNS environment by removing excess ions and recycling neurotransmitters, supporting endothelial cells that form the blood-brain-barrier, as well as playing a key role in tissue scarring and repair following injury. In recent years, the importance of cross-communication between astrocytes, as well as between astrocytes and neuronal cells has started to be better understood. Microglial cells, in contrast, have more of a phagocytic function but like astrocytes, are known to release cytokines in inflammatory/infectious conditions. Whilst both astrocytes and microglia react to, and convey messages within their immediate environment, they also can communicate over extended distances through syncytial networks.

In this review, we will discuss the extent to which the glial response may limit, or possibly augment, the potential effects of intracerebrally delivered therapeutic approaches for neurodegenerative disorders. The focus of this mini review will be largely restricted to the astrocytic and microglial responses in human post-mortem studies, as there is no published data on the oligodendroglial response to these types of treatments. However, because of the importance of pre-clinical data in this field, we have also summarized studies that have reported on the nature of the glial response in the context of DBS (**Table 1**), neurotrophic therapies (**Table 2**), and neural grafting (**Table 3**) *in vivo*.

DEEP BRAIN STIMULATION AND THE GLIAL RESPONSE

In the last 20 years, DBS has been used to treat a range of neurological disorders, most notably in patients with advancing PD and those with essential tremor refractory to medical therapy (Lyons, 2011). DBS involves applying high frequency stimulation (HFS) via implanted electrodes into strategic CNS nuclei which serves to modulate the output of these nuclei with therapeutic benefits in the majority of patients. This benefit persists for many years and has encouraged the adoption of this approach for a whole range of new indications including neuropsychiatric conditions and pain, as well as in earlier stage PD. However, the host CNS glial response to the implantation of this foreign body and the HFS that it delivers has been the subject of only a few reports, especially in the clinical field.

In contrast, there has been a significant amount of experimental work over the years to look at how the CNS reacts to chronically implanted electrodes, although more often in the context of micro-recording than DBS. This is because micro-recording is a well-established method for studying CNS function and DBS has been developed for use primarily in non-human primates and man rather than rodents. Nevertheless, as one would expect, the insertion of a metal electrode into the parenchyma of the brain will induce an astrocytic response (both in terms of the number and degree of astrocytes activated), the magnitude of which may be dependent, in part, on the electrode architecture (Szarowski et al., 2003; Groothuis et al., 2014), and the biomaterial being used (Ereifej et al., 2011). Studies of this type have led some to look at non-metallic electrodes with the hope that this will induce less of a glial response (Ereifej et al., 2011). For example, stainlesssteel, as oppose to platinum-iridium or tungsten electrodes, are more prone to electrolytic dissolution which may increase the likelihood of local cell death and a secondary astroglial response (Harnack et al., 2004).

In all cases, the astrocytic and microglial responses-which typically include a change in cell morphology and density of activated cells as well as the release of various pro-inflammatory molecules-are evident soon after implantation (Figure 1.1), persist for years (Jarraya et al., 2003) and seem to occur independently of where the electrode is placed in the brain and the clinical condition for which it is being used (Moss et al., 2004). The extent to which this reactive astroglial and microglial response changes over time is unknown (although see Griffith and Humphrey, 2006), as are the effects that such changes have on the efficacy of current delivered by the stimulating electrode. Nevertheless, a number of experimental studies have shown that these glial reactions could adversely affect electrode impedance and thus efficacy (Spataro et al., 2005; Polikov et al., 2009; Frampton et al., 2010). Indeed, there is even some evidence that chronically implanted electrodes cause sustained local inflammation and neurodegeneration (McConnell et al., 2009). For example, in a study performed in rodents, McConnell et al. demonstrated that heightened levels of chronic inflammation correlated with increased neuronal and dendritic loss, a phenomenon which was more pronounced at 16 weeks than at 8 weeks post-implantation. Remarkably, this local but progressive neurodegeneration was accompanied by axonal pathology, as evidenced by tau phosphorylation, a prominent feature of neurodegenerative conditions. Exactly how this tau

pathology arises is unclear but it does suggest that inflammation may be able to induce some forms of proteinopathy.

Additionally, in a recent paper by Vedam-Mai et al. they have interestingly shown in patients that there are variable responses to chronic DBS electrodes, ranging from minimal astrocytosis and microglia activation in the majority of cases to the formation of a dense collagenous band at the electrode tip in at least one case (Vedam-Mai et al., 2012b). In this paper, the authors comment on the possibility of gliotic encapsulation altering electrical thresholds of the stimulating electrode and with this its clinical efficacy-although this study would suggest that this is a rare event. Understanding and predicting such tissue responses to the stimulating and recording electrodes, or even just cannula guidewires, is critical as the magnitude of the foreign body response can lead to electrode failure (Groothuis et al., 2014) and suboptimal clinical outcomes. However, in this study, they did not look to see whether the inflammation induced altered the pathology within the brain, which is of course not straightforward in patients with pre-existing neurodegenerative disorders.

Based on data of this type, some experimental studies have sought to minimize this microglial and inflammatory response, or so-called foreign body response, by using agents such as minocycline and steroids in combination with the stimulating electrode (Rennaker et al., 2007; Zhong and Bellamkonda, 2007) as well as nanoparticle delivery systems (Kim and Martin, 2006; Mercanzini et al., 2010). These different strategies are all predicated on the grounds that suppressing the microglial/inflammatory response to DBS will improve the brain-electrode interface in these chronically implanted micro-electrodes and thus maintain efficacy. Whether this is really a problem in patients with DBS is unknown (see above and Vedam-Mai et al., 2012a,b), but one interesting study by Hirshler et al. (2010) (see also Table 1) in rats showed that merely inserting an electrode into the brain could induce widespread and chronic (i.e., over weeks) neuroinflammation which was correlated with deficits in cognitive function-deficits which are also seen in patients who have had DBS (Witt et al., 2008). No such studies using microglia markers and positron emission tomography (PET) have been performed clinically, although a recent study found that in patients with DBS of the pedunculopontine nucleus, there was an improvement in cognition in association with improvements in cortical activity as measured by fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG)-PET (Stefani et al., 2010). This aspect of DBS, namely its ability to induce widespread inflammation (i.e., not just at the site of implantation of the electrode) across whole neural networks may prove to be much more important in understanding the positive and negative effects on cognition in the large number of conditions for which it is now being used. However, this is clearly complicated by the fact that the stimulation itself will alter the function of neural networks directly, as has been seen in studies looking at cognitive function in patients in receipt of subthalamic DBS (Funkiewiez et al., 2006).

However, more recently, others have argued that the induction of a significant astrocytic response actually enhances any DBS-mediated effects (Fenoy et al., 2014). Fenoy et al. suggest that the inevitable stimulation of astrocytes by DBS can set in motion the release of gliotransmitters (e.g., glutamate, adenosine,



and D-serine) that can in turn trigger axonal activation which mediates part of the therapeutic benefits of the stimulation. For example, application of adenosine A1-receptor antagonists abolishes HFS-induced suppression of thalamic neuronal activity. More specifically, adenosine, which results from the conversion of ATP by astrocytes, significantly increases in the electrodes' surroundings, endorsing its role in stimulation-mediated effects on tremor (Bekar et al., 2008). In support of this, the release of glutamate and adenosine both terminate oscillations generated by HFS in thalamic sites (Tawfik et al., 2010).

Table 1 | Glial response to DBS and electrode implantation in *in vivo* models.

References	Species	Condition	Target site	Type of stimulation	Period of experimentation/ observation	Nature of the glial response
Han et al., 2012	Cat	Normal	Inferior colliculus	Chronic	3–18 months	Observable astrogliosis near the probe at 2 months, but reduced at 5 months
Morimoto et al., 2011	Male Wistar rat	Stroke	Striatum	Chronic	1 week	Diminished microglial activation with stimulation
Hirshler et al., 2010	Male Sprague-Dawley rat	Normal	Subthalamic nucleus	Electrode implantation only	1–8 weeks	Astrocytic and microglial activation; more significant in cortex, striatum, and thalamus
Baba et al., 2009	Wistar rat	Stroke	Cortex (ischemic boundary)	Chronic	1 week	Diminished microglial and astrocytic proliferation
Harnack et al., 2008	Male Wistar rat	Normal	Subthalamic nucleus	Chronic	3 weeks	Increased number of GFAP ⁺ astrocytes at all anatomical sites as well as thickening of processes
Leung et al., 2008	Rat	Normal	Cortex	Electrode implantation only	12 weeks	Observable activated microglia attached to the electrodes' external coatings
Biran et al., 2007	Male Fischer-344 rat	Normal	Cortex	Electrode implantation only	2–4 weeks	Microglia and astrocyte activation around the electrode
Lenarz et al., 2007	Cat	Normal	Inferior colliculus	Semi-chronic (4 h/day)	Implantation: 3 months Stimulation: 60 days beginning 4 weeks post-implantation	Increased GFAP ⁺ cell density around the electrode (greater with the stimulated than the non-stimulated electrode)
Stice et al., 2007	Female Sprague-Dawley rat	Normal	Cortex	Electrode implantation only	2 and 4 weeks	Astrocytic scar around the electrodes
Griffith and Humphrey, 2006	Rhesus macaque	Normal	Cortex	Electrode implantation only	3 months and 3 years	Persistent reactive astrogliosis around the electrodes (3 months to 3 years). Transient microglial reaction (present at 3 months but not at 3 years)
Biran et al., 2005	Male Fischer-344 rat	Normal	Cortex	Electrode implantation only	4 weeks	Persistent activated microglia around the electrode
Kim et al., 2004	Male Fischer-344 rat	Normal	Striatum	Electrode implantation only	4 weeks	Significant increase in activated microglia in all brain regions

Astrocytes, which have the capacity to interact with up to 2 million synapses in the human brain, can have a profound effect on synaptic activity as well as other astrocytes across large neural networks (Oberheim et al., 2006). The contact that astrocytes have with blood vessels also uniquely enables them to regulate local blood flow in response to increased neuronal activity, which again may help explain the beneficial effects of DBS (Takano et al., 2006). Using in vivo two-photon imaging and photolysis, the authors elegantly demonstrated the association between increases in Ca²⁺ levels in astrocytic end feet with vasodilation, a process which more specifically involves COX-1 metabolites. Finally, DBS can also promote the proliferation of "neurogenic astrocytes" which can differentiate into functional neurons (Vedam-Mai et al., 2012a) (Figure 1). Taken together, this data suggests a prominent role for astrocytes in DBS-mediated effects implying that there may be an optimal balance in the astrocytic response, in terms of positive and negative effects on the stimulated neural pathways, which may in part be responsible for determining the clinical success of this treatment.

In summary, DBS electrodes will induce an astrocytic and microglial response (**Figure 1.1**) although the extent to which this adversely affects their efficacy in patients is unproven. Indeed, recent data may even suggest the opposite (Moro et al., 2010). However, the data is limited and there is therefore a need to collect systemically more information in this area and moves are afoot to do this (Vedam-Mai et al., 2011), with the expectation that this will enable us to better understand this hitherto poorly described effect of DBS (Vedam-Mai et al., 2011).

NEUROTROPHIC THERAPIES AND THE GLIAL RESPONSE GENE THERAPY

There are a number of gene therapy trials that have been undertaken in PD which seek to either improve the delivery of dopaminergic stimulation to the striatum; restore to normal the abnormal circuitry of the basal ganglia or promote host repair through rescuing dopaminergic neurons and their striatal innervation (reviewed in Berry and Foltynie, 2011). Other gene therapy trials have targeted HD (Bloch et al., 2004) and Alzheimer's disease (AD) (Mandel, 2010). In this last respect, Nerve growth Factor (NGF) transfected fibroblasts were used and one patient died shortly after receiving the therapy for unrelated reasons. At post-mortem, the brain showed surviving cells and NGF expression, and although the glial response to the therapy was not explicitly studied, they did comment there was a minimal inflammatory and glial response, as evidenced by the fact that they found a few granulomatous cells only (Tuszynski et al., 2005).

In the PD studies, again only a few patients have come to post-mortem, so any data as to the host response to these virally delivered agents is very limited and most have concentrated on the extent of tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) fiber sprouting and the volume of distribution of the therapeutic agent, as well as systemic toxicity and local inflammation (e.g., Herzog et al., 2008, 2009; Bartus et al., 2011). However, there are studies showing that these agents may have a primary effect on the astrocytic compartment and that this is the route by which they actually rescue neurons. For example, Hauck et al. (2006) showed that GDNF works indirectly on photoreceptors to rescue them via Mueller glial cells, and so unlike other invasive therapies, part of their efficacy may actually be enhanced through the host glial compartment.

Overall, evidence to date would suggest that the viral delivery of neuroactive substances to the CNS induces very little glial and inflammatory cell responses, including AAV2-Neurturin (Jeff Kordower; Personal Commun.) (**Figure 1.2**) as well as pre-clinical reports pertaining to this field (**Table 2**).

DIRECT NEUROTROPHIC FACTOR INFUSION

The direct infusion of GDNF into the brain of patients with PD has been the subject of a number of trials. This was initially undertaken using an intraventricular delivery approach that proved ineffective (Nutt et al., 2003), almost certainly because the agent failed to reach the dopaminergic neurons and their projections. This would be consistent with the single post-mortem case from this study showing no evidence of regeneration within the affected nigrostriatal pathway (Kordower et al., 1999). This was then followed by a number of studies in which GDNF was directly infused into the brain parenchyma with variable efficacy-the open label studies showed benefits whilst a double blind placebo controlled study showed no such effects (Gill et al., 2003; Patel et al., 2005; Slevin et al., 2005, 2007; Lang et al., 2006). Although there are various reasons as to why this may have occurred (Barker, 2006), it is of interest to know whether the infusion provoked a glial reaction. This is important not only to see the extent to which chronically implanted catheters delivering neuroactive agents induce a glial response but, given that astrocytes themselves can actually release neurotrophic factors (e.g., Iravani et al., 2012), it is also critical to know whether they may also be capable of enhancing any regenerative response.

In the single post-mortem case looking at intra-parenchymal GDNF delivery in a patient with PD, there was evidence of host TH fiber sprouting around the catheter tip with a low grade astrocytic, microglial and T-cell response (Love et al., 2005). This patient showed a 38% improvement in their contralateral UPDRS (Unified Parkinson's disease rating scale) "off" motor score with a 91% increase in Fluoro-dopa signal in the infused posterior putamen. He died of a myocardial infarction, 3 months after stopping the GDNF therapy that he had been receiving for 43 months. Neuropathologically, there was a slight astrogliosis around the catheter track and tip with a few MHC class II expressing microglia and where this was most intense, there was a reduction in the synaptic protein, synaptophysin. Overall, the glial response to the chronic infusion of GDNF was localized.

NEURAL GRAFTING AND THE GLIAL RESPONSE

The experimental approach of cell transplantation is one in which the glial response has been more specifically addressed. Two distinct types of cell transplantation have been tested in the clinic—cell suspensions, prepared by mechanically dissociating the cells prior to implantation (Lindvall et al., 1990; Mendez et al., 2002; Freeman and Brundin, 2006) and solid grafts, where donor tissue is transplanted as small pieces (Freeman et al., 1995, 2000; Kordower et al., 1997; Olanow et al., 2003; Freeman and Brundin, 2006; Cicchetti et al., 2009). Each of these strategies is associated with a different pattern and intensity of gliosis. In addition, different cell types may induce different host responses, depending

References	Species	Condition	Vector	Delivery site	Nature of the glial response	
Rahim et al., 2012	MF1 mouse (fetal)	Normal	Ad5 and AAV pseudotypes 2/5, 2/8, 2/9	Lateral ventricle (trans-uterine injection)	No significant microglia-mediated immune response (with any of the vectors)	
Louboutin et al., 2011	Rhesus macaque	Normal	Recombinant SV40-derived vector	Caudate nucleus	No microglia or astrocyte reactions	
Rahim et al., 2011	MF1 mouse (fetal and neonatal)	Normal	AAV pseudotype 2/9	Intravenous	No microglia-mediated immune response	
Hadaczek et al., 2010 Male Rhesus macaque		PD (MPTP lesion)	AAV	Striatum	No signs of neuroinflammation or reactive gliosis up to 8 years	
attanzi et al., 2010 Mouse		Globoid cell or metachromatic leukodystrophy	Lentivirus (coding for External capsule beta- galactocerebrosidase or arylsulfatase A)		Decrease in activated astrocytes and microglia	
Snyder-Keller et al., 2010 B6.HDR6/1 mouse		HD	AAV2/1 (delivering anti-htt scFv-C4)	Striatum	Modest glial reaction (activated microglia) at the injection site	
Toupet et al., 2008 C57BI/6J mouse		Prion disease	Lentivirus	Hippocampus	Remarkable decrease in astrogliosis	
Louboutin et al., 2007 Female Sprague-Dawley		Normal	Recombinant SV40-derived	Caudate- putamen or lateral ventricle	Increased number of astrocytes along the needle track (suggested to be reparative gliosis in response to the minor lesion provoked by the needle)	
Zou et al., 2001	Zou et al., 2001 Male Fischer-344 rat		hdAdv and fgAdv	Intraventricular or hippocampus	Activation of microglia and astrocytes at injection sites: lower with hdAdv than with fgAdv	
Driesse et al., 1998 Rhesus macaque		Normal	Adenovirus	Frontal lobe white matter (unilateral)	Astrocyte activation	

Abbreviations: AAV, Adeno-associated virus; Ad5, Adenovirus serotype 5; fgAdv, first-generation adenoviral vectors; HD, Huntington's disease; hdAdv, Helperdependent adenovirus; htt, huntingtin; MPTP, 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine; PD, Parkinson's disease.

on their source of origin, preparation, and mode of implantation (see **Table 3**).

In PD, various post-mortem analyses conducted in transplanted patients have shown that solid grafts evoke a more robust and durable immune response in comparison to cell suspensions (Kordower et al., 1997; Olanow et al., 2003; Mendez et al., 2005, 2008; Freeman and Brundin, 2006; Cooper et al., 2009), a finding which is further supported by observations collected in grafted animal models of the disease (Leigh et al., 1994; see also **Table 3**). Few microglial cells are observed around the needle track with only a mild response around the graft deposits themselves. Similarly, the astrocytic response, which accompanies cell suspension grafts, is predominantly confined to the borders of the graft, with the core of the transplant largely devoid of this cell type (**Figure 1.3**).

Histological analyses in HD patients transplanted with solid embryonic neural grafts show microglial activation, particularly around the transplant and within the grafted areas expressing striatal markers (referred to as p-zones). Importantly, this significant microglial cuffing is still present 12 years following

Table 3 | Glial response to neural grafting in *in vivo* models.

Male FVB/NCrI mouse APP/PS1 double transgenic mouse Mouse Male Sprague-Dawley rat C57BI/6J mouse C56BI/6 mouse	Normal AD Irradiated PD Normal	Autologous mesenchymal stromal cells Adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells Syngenic enteric neural stem/progenitor cells Differentiated neurons from murine embryonic stem cells Mouse neural progenitor	Right hemisphere Hippocampus and cortex Hippocampus Striatum	 M1-microglia and severe astrogliosis surrounding the graft (2 weeks post-tp) Increased number of activated microglia in transplanted regions Microgliosis and astrogliosis associated with grafted cell clusters Increased expression of microglia-derived factors (CD11b and Iba1). Astrocytosis in the grafted region. Increase in GDNF
transgenic mouse Mouse Male Sprague-Dawley rat C57BI/6J mouse	Irradiated PD	Mesenchymal stem cells Syngenic enteric neural stem/progenitor cells Differentiated neurons from murine embryonic stem cells Mouse neural progenitor	cortex Hippocampus Striatum	activated microglia in transplanted regions Microgliosis and astrogliosis associated with grafted cell clusters Increased expression of microglia-derived factors (CD11b and Iba1). Astrocytosis in the grafted
Male Sprague-Dawley rat C57BI/6J mouse	PD	stem/progenitor cells Differentiated neurons from murine embryonic stem cells Mouse neural progenitor	Striatum	associated with grafted cell clusters Increased expression of microglia-derived factors (CD11b and Iba1). Astrocytosis in the grafted
Sprague-Dawley rat C57BI/6J mouse		from murine embryonic stem cells Mouse neural progenitor		microglia-derived factors (CD11b and Iba1). Astrocytosis in the grafted
	Normal		Striatum	
C56BI/6 mouse		cells	Stratum	Increased number of Iba1+ microglia in transplanted regions
		Neural stem cells	Below the capsula externa	Extensive invasion of GFAP ⁺ astrocytes and Iba1 ⁺ microglia (few CD11b ⁺) within graft sites. Astrocytic scar surrounding graft
Wistar Ob rat	PD (6-OHDA lesion)	Bone marrow-derived human mesenchymal stem cells (undifferentiated and neuronal-primed)	Striatum and substantia nigra	lba-1 ⁺ microglia and GFAP ⁺ astrocytes surrounding the grafts (7 days post-tp)
Female Sprague-Dawley rat	Normal	Allogeneic marrow stromal cells	Hippocampus or striatum	Massive infiltration of ED1 ⁺ microglia leading to graft rejection. Marked astrogliosis surrounding grafts
Male Fischer 344 rat	Normal	Autologous vs. allogeneic neural stem cells	Hippocampus	Astrocyte and microglia reactivity in the host tissue (lower in autologous than in allogeneic tp)
Monkey PD		Microencapsulated rat myoblasts transfected with the tyrosine hydroxylase gene	Striatum	No obvious gliosis around microcapsules
R6/2 mouse	HD	Syngenic striatal cell suspension	Striatum	Modest astroglial reaction at the graft-host border
Rat	Normal	Embryonic neural cell suspension (whole, or microglial and endothelial cell-depleted)	Striatum	Ameboid microglial cells within grafts early post-tp. By 30 days post-tp, microglia display a resting phenotype within grafts
	Wistar Ob rat Female Sprague-Dawley rat Male Fischer 344 rat Monkey R6/2 mouse	Cuprizone-treatedWistar Ob ratPD (6-OHDA lesion)Female Sprague-Dawley ratNormalMale Fischer 344 ratNormalMonkeyPDR6/2 mouseHD	Cuprizone-treatedWistar Ob ratPD (6-OHDA lesion)Bone marrow-derived human mesenchymal stem cells (undifferentiated and neuronal-primed)Female Sprague-Dawley ratNormalAllogeneic marrow stromal cellsMale Fischer 344 ratNormalAutologous vs. allogeneic neural stem cellsMonkeyPDMicroencapsulated rat myoblasts transfected with the tyrosine hydroxylase geneR6/2 mouseHDSyngenic striatal cell suspensionRatNormalEmbryonic neural cell suspension (whole, or microgial and endothelial	Cuprizone-treatedExternalexternalWistar Ob ratPD (6-OHDA lesion)Bone marrow-derived human mesenchymal stem cells (undifferentiated and neuronal-primed)Striatum and substantia nigraFemale Sprague-Dawley ratNormalAllogeneic marrow stromal cellsHippocampus or striatumMale Fischer 344 ratNormalAutologous vs. allogeneic neural stem cellsHippocampusMonkeyPDMicroencapsulated rat myoblasts transfected vith the tyrosine hydroxylase geneStriatumRe/2 mouseHDSyngenic striatal cell suspensionStriatumRatNormalEmbryonic neural cell suspension (whole, or microglial and endothelialStriatum

Table 3 | Continued

References	Species	Condition	Cell type	Implantation site	Nature of the glial response
Barker et al., 1996	Female Sprague-Dawley rat	PD (6-OHDA lesion)	Embryonic ventral mesencephalic tissue	Striatum	Transient astrogliosis and microglial reaction surrounding grafts
Kosno-Kruszewska et al., 1996	Rat	Normal	Cryopreserved ventral mesencephalic tissue	Striatum	Similar glial scar in both grafted and sham-lesion conditions
Duan et al., 1995	Female Sprague-Dawley rat	Normal	Dissociated embryonic ventral mesencephalic: (murine syngeneic, allogeneic, or xenogeneic)	Striatum	Similar reactions in syngeneic and allogeneic: activated microglia infiltration on day 4, decreasing at 6 weeks. More intense reaction in xenografts leading to rejection
Helm et al., 1993	Female Rhesus macaque	HD (ibotenic acid lesion)	Monkey fetal neostriatal neurons	Striatum	Dense gliosis of degenerating grafts at 8 months post-tp

Abbreviations: AD, Alzheimer's disease; GDNF, Glial cell line derived neurotrophic factor; HD, Huntington's disease; PD, Parkinson's disease; tp, transplantation; 6-OHDA, 6-hydroxydopamine.

transplantation (Cicchetti et al., 2009). As observed in cell suspension grafts, solid piece transplants induce little astrogliosis although a number of cells of a reactive phenotype are found around the grafted tissue (Cisbani et al., 2013) (**Figure 1.3**). This pattern of astroglial activation and distribution may have important implications for the survival of the grafts long-term, as astrocytes play not only a critical role in growth factor release but also in glutamate buffering, and thus excitotoxicity (Cicchetti et al., 2011).

Comparing the post-mortem analysis of HD and PD allografted tissue, irrespective of the type of graft implanted, there appears to be a distinctly different glial reaction. In HD, there seems to be a much more aggressive glial (both in terms of the number of activated cells and their phenotype) response whilst in PD, the evidence would suggest that the microglial response is much less obvious. Therefore, transplantation in different diseases may produce different glial responses which in turn may influence the long term survival, integration and outcome of the grafted issue (Cicchetti et al., 2011, 2014).

Furthermore, we have recently shown the presence of mutant huntingtin protein aggregates within genetically unrelated grafted tissue in HD patients. This observation, which is similar to that reported earlier with the discovery of lewy bodies in grafted fetal ventral mesencephalon tissue in PD patients, could also result, at least in part, from oxidative stress and the host inflammatory response induced by the graft (Li et al., 2008; Cicchetti et al., 2014).

Taken together, it is possible that the host response to solid grafts in the absence of immunosuppression (which was restricted to the first 6 months following transplantation in those HD post-mortem cases described above) generates enhanced antigenic stimulation and a stronger immunological/inflammatory response than with suspension grafts (Kordower et al., 1997; Olanow et al., 2003; Mendez et al., 2005, 2008; Freeman and Brundin, 2006; Redmond et al., 2008). Indeed, the type and duration of immunosuppressive treatment is likely to contribute to some of the discrepancies in the immune/glial responses observed using these different transplants. Nevertheless, the accumulating evidence of an attenuated glial response following transplantation of cell suspension grafts favors their use in future clinical cell transplant programs in patients with neurodegenerative disorders (Freeman and Brundin, 2006).

CONCLUSION

There are now a number of new therapies emerging for the treatment of chronic neurodegenerative disorders of the CNS which are invasive but seek to restore to normal the dysfunctional circuits that underlie these conditions. These approaches have generally used a targeted intracerebral delivery of a neuroactive substance or therapeutic device. To date, these therapies have produced mixed results and many explanations to account for this have been put forward including patient selection, disease stage and subtype, mode of delivery, dose given, trial design, and the nature and timing for the primary end-points. However, another area that requires further investigation is the glial and inflammatory response to the novel therapeutic agent as this may impact on its efficacy. To date there are very few studies looking at this and in this review we have sought to highlight this with reference to the limited literature on the microglial and astrocytic reactions to these therapies. At the present time, such responses seem likely to be less of an issue with growth factor infusions and gene therapies-although this may simply reflect the limited postmortem analyses on this to date-but may be highly relevant for the short and long term viability of neural transplants as well as DBS efficacy, and to a greater magnitude than originally thought. The only way such information can meaningfully be obtained is through the detailed analyses of the post-mortem cases that can be made available by such trials and which will allow us to understand which cells are affected and to what extent. Indeed, one of the critical questions will be the extent to which each cell type influences the behavior of another, as it is now clear that there is a dialog between the glial cells, neurons, and vasculature (**Figure 1.4**). An improved understanding of these interactions may ultimately impact on our ability to better treat patients using these novel approaches as well as modifications as to how they are can be optimally delivered.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Francesca Cicchetti is largely funded by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research and is a recipient of a National Researcher career award from the Fonds de recherche du Québec en santé (FRSQ) providing salary support and operating funds. Roger A. Barker receives support for his work from a number of sources but especially the NIHR Biomedical research Centre Award to the Addenbrooke's Hospital and University of Cambridge. The authors would like to thank Mr. Gilles Chabot for artwork, Dr. Daniel Skuk for assistance with literature review and Miss. Martine Saint-Pierre for assistance with manuscript handling.

REFERENCES

- Baba, T., Kameda, M., Yasuhara, T., Morimoto, T., Kondo, A., Shingo, T., et al. (2009). Electrical stimulation of the cerebral cortex exerts antiapoptotic, angiogenic, and anti-inflammatory effects in ischemic stroke rats through phosphoinositide 3-kinase/Akt signaling pathway. *Stroke* 40, e598–e605. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.109.563627
- Barker, R. A. (2006). Continuing trials of GDNF in Parkinson's disease. Lancet Neurol. 5, 285–286. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(06)70386-6
- Barker, R. A., Dunnett, S. B., Faissner, A., and Fawcett, J. W. (1996). The time course of loss of dopaminergic neurons and the gliotic reaction surrounding grafts of embryonic mesencephalon to the striatum. *Exp. Neurol.* 141, 79–93. doi: 10.1006/exnr.1996.0141
- Bartus, R. T., Herzog, C. D., Chu, Y., Wilson, A., Brown, L., Siffert, J., et al. (2011). Bioactivity of AAV2-neurturin gene therapy (CERE-120): differences between Parkinson's disease and nonhuman primate brains. *Mov. Disord.* 26, 27–36. doi: 10.1002/mds.23442
- Bekar, L., Libionka, W., Tian, G. F., Xu, Q., Torres, A., Wang, X., et al. (2008). Adenosine is crucial for deep brain stimulation-mediated attenuation of tremor. *Nat. Med.* 14, 75–80. doi: 10.1038/nm1693
- Berry, A. L., and Foltynie, T. (2011). Gene therapy: a viable therapeutic strategy for Parkinson's disease? J. Neurol. 258, 179–188. doi: 10.1007/s00415-010-5796-9
- Biran, R., Martin, D. C., and Tresco, P. A. (2005). Neuronal cell loss accompanies the brain tissue response to chronically implanted silicon microelectrode arrays. *Exp. Neurol.* 195, 115–126. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2005.04.020
- Biran, R., Martin, D. C., and Tresco, P. A. (2007). The brain tissue response to implanted silicon microelectrode arrays is increased when the device is tethered to the skull. *J. Biomed. Mater. Res. A* 82, 169–178. doi: 10.1002/jbm.a.31138
- Bloch, J., Bachoud-Levi, A. C., Deglon, N., Lefaucheur, J. P., Winkel, L., Palfi, S., et al. (2004). Neuroprotective gene therapy for Huntington's disease, using polymer-encapsulated cells engineered to secrete human ciliary neurotrophic factor: results of a phase I study. *Hum. Gene Ther.* 15, 968–975. doi: 10.1089/hum.2004.15.968
- Cicchetti, F., Lacroix, S., Cisbani, G., Vallieres, N., Saint-Pierre, M., St-Amour, I., et al. (2014). Mutant huntingtin is present in neuronal grafts in Huntington's disease patients. *Ann Neurol.* doi: 10.1002/ana.24174. [Epub ahead of print].
- Cicchetti, F., Saporta, S., Hauser, R. A., Parent, M., Saint-Pierre, M., Sanberg, P. R., et al. (2009). Neural transplants in patients with Huntington's disease undergo disease-like neuronal degeneration. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 12483–12488. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0904239106
- Cicchetti, F., Soulet, D., and Freeman, T. B. (2011). Neuronal degeneration in striatal transplants and Huntington's disease: potential mechanisms and clinical implications. *Brain* 134, 641–652. doi: 10.1093/brain/awq328
- Cisbani, G., Freeman, T. B., Soulet, D., Saint-Pierre, M., Gagnon, D., Parent, M., et al. (2013). Striatal allografts in patients with Huntington's disease: impact of diminished astrocytes and vascularization on graft viability. *Brain* 136, 433–443. doi: 10.1093/brain/aws359

- Cooper, O., Astradsson, A., Hallett, P., Robertson, H., Mendez, I., and Isacson, O. (2009). Lack of functional relevance of isolated cell damage in transplants of Parkinson's disease patients. *J. Neurol.* 256(Suppl. 3), 310–316. doi: 10.1007/s00415-009-5242-z
- Coyne, T. M., Marcus, A. J., Woodbury, D., and Black, I. B. (2006). Marrow stromal cells transplanted to the adult brain are rejected by an inflammatory response and transfer donor labels to host neurons and glia. *Stem Cells* 24, 2483–2492. doi: 10.1634/stemcells.2006-0174
- De Vocht, N., Lin, D., Praet, J., Hoornaert, C., Reekmans, K., Le Blon, D., et al. (2013). Quantitative and phenotypic analysis of mesenchymal stromal cell graft survival and recognition by microglia and astrocytes in mouse brain. *Immunobiology* 218, 696–705. doi: 10.1016/j.imbio.2012.08.266
- Driesse, M. J., Vincent, A. J., Sillevis Smitt, P. A., Kros, J. M., Hoogerbrugge, P. M., Avezaat, C. J., et al. (1998). Intracerebral injection of adenovirus harboring the HSVtk gene combined with ganciclovir administration: toxicity study in nonhuman primates. *Gene Ther.* 5, 1122–1129. doi: 10.1038/sj.gt.33 00695
- Duan, W. M., Widner, H., and Brundin, P. (1995). Temporal pattern of host responses against intrastriatal grafts of syngeneic, allogeneic or xenogeneic embryonic neuronal tissue in rats. *Exp. Brain Res.* 104, 227–242. doi: 10.1007/BF00242009
- Dunnett, S. B., Carter, R. J., Watts, C., Torres, E. M., Mahal, A., Mangiarini, L., et al. (1998). Striatal transplantation in a transgenic mouse model of Huntington's disease. *Exp. Neurol.* 154, 31–40. doi: 10.1006/exnr.1998.6926
- Ereifej, E. S., Khan, S., Newaz, G., Zhang, J., Auner, G. W., and VandeVord, P. J. (2011). Characterization of astrocyte reactivity and gene expression on biomaterials for neural electrodes. *J. Biomed. Mater. Res. A* 99, 141–150. doi: 10.1002/jbm.a.33170
- Fenoy, A. J., Goetz, L., Chabardes, S., and Xia, Y. (2014). Deep brain stimulation: are astrocytes a key driver behind the scene? CNS Neurosci. Ther. 20, 191–201. doi: 10.1111/cns.12223
- Frampton, J. P., Hynd, M. R., Shuler, M. L., and Shain, W. (2010). Effects of glial cells on electrode impedance recorded from neuralprosthetic devices *in vitro*. *Ann. Biomed. Eng.* 38, 1031–1047. doi: 10.1007/s10439-010-9911-y
- Freeman, T. B., and Brundin, P. (2006). Important Aspects of Surgical Methodology for Transplantation in Parkinson's disease. London: Springer.
- Freeman, T. B., Cicchetti, F., Hauser, R. A., Deacon, T. W., Li, X. J., Hersch, S. M., et al. (2000). Transplanted fetal striatum in Huntington's disease: phenotypic development and lack of pathology. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 97, 13877–13882. doi: 10.1073/pnas.97.25.13877
- Freeman, T. B., Olanow, C. W., Hauser, R. A., Nauert, G. M., Smith, D. A., Borlongan, C. V., et al. (1995). Bilateral fetal nigral transplantation into the postcommissural putamen in Parkinson's disease. *Ann. Neurol.* 38, 379–388. doi: 10.1002/ana.410380307
- Funkiewiez, A., Ardouin, C., Cools, R., Krack, P., Fraix, V., Batir, A., et al. (2006). Effects of levodopa and subthalamic nucleus stimulation on cognitive and affective functioning in Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 21, 1656–1662. doi: 10.1002/mds.21029
- Gill, S. S., Patel, N. K., Hotton, G. R., O'Sullivan, K., McCarter, R., Bunnage, M., et al. (2003). Direct brain infusion of glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor in Parkinson disease. *Nat. Med.* 9, 589–595. doi: 10.1038/nm850
- Griffith, R. W., and Humphrey, D. R. (2006). Long-term gliosis around chronically implanted platinum electrodes in the Rhesus macaque motor cortex. *Neurosci. Lett.* 406, 81–86. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2006.07.018
- Groothuis, J., Ramsey, N. F., Ramakers, G. M., and van der Plasse, G. (2014). Physiological challenges for intracortical electrodes. *Brain Stimul.* 7, 1–6. doi: 10.1016/j.brs.2013.07.001
- Hadaczek, P., Eberling, J. L., Pivirotto, P., Bringas, J., Forsayeth, J., and Bankiewicz, K. S. (2010). Eight years of clinical improvement in MPTP-lesioned primates after gene therapy with AAV2-hAADC. *Mol. Ther.* 18, 1458–1461. doi: 10.1038/mt.2010.106
- Han, M., Manoonkitiwongsa, P. S., Wang, C. X., and McCreery, D. B. (2012). *In vivo* validation of custom-designed silicon-based microelectrode arrays for longterm neural recording and stimulation. *IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng.* 59, 346–354. doi: 10.1109/TBME.2011.2172440
- Harnack, D., Meissner, W., Paulat, R., Hilgenfeld, H., Muller, W. D., Winter, C., et al. (2008). Continuous high-frequency stimulation in freely moving rats: development of an implantable microstimulation system. *J. Neurosci. Methods* 167, 278–291. doi: 10.1016/j.jneumeth.2007.08.019

- Harnack, D., Winter, C., Meissner, W., Reum, T., Kupsch, A., and Morgenstern, R. (2004). The effects of electrode material, charge density and stimulation duration on the safety of high-frequency stimulation of the subthalamic nucleus in rats. J. Neurosci. Methods 138, 207–216. doi: 10.1016/j.jneumeth.2004.04.019
- Hauck, S. M., Kinkl, N., Deeg, C. A., Swiatek-de Lange, M., Schoffmann, S., and Ueffing, M. (2006). GDNF family ligands trigger indirect neuroprotective signaling in retinal glial cells. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 26, 2746–2757. doi: 10.1128/MCB.26.7.2746-2757.2006
- Helm, G. A., Palmer, P. E., Simmons, N. E., diPierro, C. G., and Bennett, J. P. Jr. (1993). Degeneration of long-term fetal neostriatal allografts in the rhesus monkey: an electron microscopic study. *Exp. Neurol.* 123, 174–180. doi: 10.1006/exnr.1993.1150
- Herzog, C. D., Brown, L., Gammon, D., Kruegel, B., Lin, R., Wilson, A., et al. (2009). Expression, bioactivity, and safety 1 year after adeno-associated viral vector type 2-mediated delivery of neurturin to the monkey nigrostriatal system support cere-120 for Parkinson's disease. *Neurosurgery* 64, 602–612; discussion 612–603. doi: 10.1227/01.NEU.0000340682.06068.01
- Herzog, C. D., Dass, B., Gasmi, M., Bakay, R., Stansell, J. E., Tuszynski, M., et al. (2008). Transgene expression, bioactivity, and safety of CERE-120 (AAV2-neurturin) following delivery to the monkey striatum. *Mol. Ther.* 16, 1737–1744. doi: 10.1038/mt.2008.170
- Hirshler, Y. K., Polat, U., and Biegon, A. (2010). Intracranial electrode implantation produces regional neuroinflammation and memory deficits in rats. *Exp. Neurol.* 222, 42–50. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2009.12.006
- Iravani, M. M., Sadeghian, M., Leung, C. C., Jenner, P., and Rose, S. (2012). Lipopolysaccharide-induced nigral inflammation leads to increased IL-1β tissue content and expression of astrocytic glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor. *Neurosci. Lett.* 510, 138–142. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2012.01.022
- Jarraya, B., Bonnet, A. M., Duyckaerts, C., Houeto, J. L., Cornu, P., Hauw, J. J., et al. (2003). Parkinson's disease, subthalamic stimulation, and selection of candidates: a pathological study. *Mov. Disord.* 18, 1517–1520. doi: 10.1002/mds. 10607
- Jiang, Q., Li, S. Y., Liu, Z. G., Liu, J., Chen, S. D., Zheng, Z. C., et al. (1999). Preliminary study on gene therapy of PD monkey using microcapsulated rat transgenetic myoblasts. *Sheng Wu Hua Xue Yu Sheng Wu Wu Li Xue Bao* (*Shanghai*) 31, 155–158.
- Khoo, M. L., Tao, H., Meedeniya, A. C., Mackay-Sim, A., and Ma, D. D. (2011). Transplantation of neuronal-primed human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells in hemiparkinsonian rodents. *PLoS ONE* 6:e19025. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0019025
- Kim, D. H., and Martin, D. C. (2006). Sustained release of dexamethasone from hydrophilic matrices using PLGA nanoparticles for neural drug delivery. *Biomaterials* 15, 3031–3037. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2005.12.021
- Kim, Y. T., Hitchcock, R. W., Bridge, M. J., and Tresco, P. A. (2004). Chronic response of adult rat brain tissue to implants anchored to the skull. *Biomaterials* 25, 2229–2237. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2003.09.010
- Kordower, J. H., Palfi, S., Chen, E. Y., Ma, S. Y., Sendera, T., Cochran, E. J., et al. (1999). Clinicopathological findings following intraventricular glial-derived neurotrophic factor treatment in a patient with Parkinson's disease. *Ann. Neurol.* 46, 419–424.
- Kordower, J. H., Styren, S., Clarke, M., DeKosky, S. T., Olanow, C. W., and Freeman, T. B. (1997). Fetal grafting for Parkinson's disease: expression of immune markers in two patients with functional fetal nigral implants. *Cell Transplant.* 6, 213–219. doi: 10.1016/S0963-6897(97)00019-5
- Kosno-Kruszewska, E., Wierzba-Bobrowicz, T., Ilnicki, K., Lechowicz, W., and Dymecki, J. (1996). Evaluation of survival and maturation of cryopreserved dopaminergic fetal cells transplanted into rat striatum and an analysis of the host brain reaction to graft. *Folia Neuropathol.* 34, 1–6.
- Lang, A. E., Gill, S., Patel, N. K., Lozano, A., Nutt, J. G., Penn, R., et al. (2006). Randomized controlled trial of intraputamenal glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor infusion in Parkinson disease. *Ann. Neurol.* 59, 459–466. doi: 10.1002/ana.20737
- Lattanzi, A., Neri, M., Maderna, C., di Girolamo, I., Martino, S., Orlacchio, A., et al. (2010). Widespread enzymatic correction of CNS tissues by a single intracerebral injection of therapeutic lentiviral vector in leukodystrophy mouse models. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 19, 2208–2227. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddq099
- Leigh, K., Elisevich, K., and Rogers, K. A. (1994). Vascularization and microvascular permeability in solid versus cell-suspension embryonic neural grafts. *J. Neurosurg.* 81, 272–283. doi: 10.3171/jns.1994.81.2.0272

- Lenarz, M., Lim, H. H., Lenarz, T., Reich, U., Marquardt, N., Klingberg, M. N., et al. (2007). Auditory midbrain implant: histomorphologic effects of long-term implantation and electric stimulation of a new deep brain stimulation array. *Otol. Neurotol.* 28, 1045–1052. doi: 10.1097/MAO.0b013e318159e74f
- Leung, B. K., Biran, R., Underwood, C. J., and Tresco, P. A. (2008). Characterization of microglial attachment and cytokine release on biomaterials of differing surface chemistry. *Biomaterials* 29, 3289–3297. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2008.03.045
- Li, J. Y., Englund, E., Holton, J. L., Soulet, D., Hagell, P., Lees, A. J., et al. (2008). Lewy bodies in grafted neurons in subjects with Parkinson's disease suggest host-to-graft disease propagation. *Nat. Med.* 14, 501–503. doi: 10.1038/nm1746
- Lindvall, O., Brundin, P., Widner, H., Rehncrona, S., Gustavii, B., Frackowiak, R., et al. (1990). Grafts of fetal dopamine neurons survive and improve motor function in Parkinson's disease. *Science* 247, 574–577. doi: 10.1126/science.21 05529
- Louboutin, J. P., Marusich, E., Fisher-Perkins, J., Dufour, J. P., Bunnell, B. A., and Strayer, D. S. (2011). Gene transfer to the rhesus monkey brain using SV40-derived vectors is durable and safe. *Gene Ther.* 18, 682–691. doi: 10.1038/gt.2011.13
- Louboutin, J. P., Reyes, B. A., Agrawal, L., Van Bockstaele, E., and Strayer, D. S. (2007). Strategies for CNS-directed gene delivery: *in vivo* gene transfer to the brain using SV40-derived vectors. *Gene Ther.* 14, 939–949. doi: 10.1038/sj.gt.3302939
- Love, S., Plaha, P., Patel, N. K., Hotton, G. R., Brooks, D. J., and Gill, S. S. (2005). Glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor induces neuronal sprouting in human brain. *Nat. Med.* 11, 703–704. doi: 10.1038/nm0705-703
- Lyons, M. K. (2011). Deep brain stimulation: current and future clinical applications. Mayo Clin. Proc. 86, 662–672. doi: 10.4065/mcp.2011.0045
- Ma, T., Gong, K., Ao, Q., Yan, Y., Song, B., Huang, H., et al. (2013). Intracerebral transplantation of adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells alternatively activates microglia and ameliorates neuropathological deficits in Alzheimer's disease mice. *Cell Transplant.* 22(Suppl. 1), S113–S126. doi: 10.3727/096368913X672181
- Mandel, R. J. (2010). CERE-110, an adeno-associated virus-based gene delivery vector expressing human nerve growth factor for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease. *Curr. Opin. Mol. Ther.* 12, 240–247.
- McConnell, G. C., Rees, H. D., Levey, A. I., Gutekunst, C. A., Gross, R. E., and Bellamkonda, R. V. (2009). Implanted neural electrodes cause chronic, local inflammation that is correlated with local neurodegeneration. *J. Neural Eng.* 6:056003. doi: 10.1088/1741-2560/6/5/056003
- Mendez, I., Dagher, A., Hong, M., Gaudet, P., Weerasinghe, S., McAlister, V., et al. (2002). Simultaneous intrastriatal and intranigral fetal dopaminergic grafts in patients with Parkinson disease: a pilot study. Report of three cases. *J. Neurosurg.* 96, 589–596. doi: 10.3171/jns.2002.96.3.0589
- Mendez, I., Sanchez-Pernaute, R., Cooper, O., Vinuela, A., Ferrari, D., Bjorklund, L., et al. (2005). Cell type analysis of functional fetal dopamine cell suspension transplants in the striatum and substantia nigra of patients with Parkinson's disease. *Brain* 128, 1498–1510. doi: 10.1093/brain/awh510
- Mendez, I., Vinuela, A., Astradsson, A., Mukhida, K., Hallett, P., Robertson, H., et al. (2008). Dopamine neurons implanted into people with Parkinson's disease survive without pathology for 14 years. *Nat. Med.* 14, 507–509. doi: 10.1038/nm1752
- Mercanzini, A., Reddy, S. T., Velluto, D., Colin, P., Maillard, A., Bensadoun, J. C., et al. (2010). Controlled release nanoparticle-embedded coatings reduce the tissue reaction to neuroprostheses. J. Control. Release 145, 196–202. doi: 10.1016/ jconrel.2010.04.025
- Morimoto, T., Yasuhara, T., Kameda, M., Baba, T., Kuramoto, S., Kondo, A., et al. (2011). Striatal stimulation nurtures endogenous neurogenesis and angiogenesis in chronic-phase ischemic stroke rats. *Cell Transplant.* 20, 1049–1064. doi: 10.3727/096368910X544915
- Moro, E., Lozano, A. M., Pollak, P., Agid, Y., Rehncrona, S., Volkmann, J., et al. (2010). Long-term results of a multicenter study on subthalamic and pallidal stimulation in Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 25, 578–586. doi: 10.1002/mds.22735
- Mosher, K. I., Andres, R. H., Fukuhara, T., Bieri, G., Hasegawa-Moriyama, M., He, Y., et al. (2012). Neural progenitor cells regulate microglia functions and activity. *Nat. Neurosci.* 15, 1485–1487. doi: 10.1038/nn.3233
- Moss, J., Ryder, T., Aziz, T. Z., Graeber, M. B., and Bain, P. G. (2004). Electron microscopy of tissue adherent to explanted electrodes in dystonia

and Parkinson's disease. Brain 127, 2755–2763. doi: 10.1093/brain/awh292

- Muraoka, K., Shingo, T., Yasuhara, T., Kameda, M., Yuan, W., Hayase, H., et al. (2006). The high integration and differentiation potential of autologous neural stem cell transplantation compared with allogeneic transplantation in adult rat hippocampus. *Exp. Neurol.* 199, 311–327. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2005. 12.004
- Nutt, J. G., Burchiel, K. J., Comella, C. L., Jankovic, J., Lang, A. E., Laws, E. R., et al. (2003). Randomized, double-blind trial of glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) in PD. *Neurology* 60, 69–73. doi: 10.1212/WNL.60.1.69
- Oberheim, N. A., Wang, X., Goldman, S., and Nedergaard, M. (2006). Astrocytic complexity distinguishes the human brain. *Trends Neurosci.* 29, 547–553. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2006.08.004
- Olanow, C. W., Goetz, C. G., Kordower, J. H., Stoessl, A. J., Sossi, V., Brin, M. F., et al. (2003). A double-blind controlled trial of bilateral fetal nigral transplantation in Parkinson's disease. *Ann. Neurol.* 54, 403–414. doi: 10.1002/ana. 10720
- Osman, A. M., Zhou, K., Zhu, C., and Blomgren, K. (2013). Transplantation of enteric neural stem/progenitor cells into the irradiated young mouse hippocampus. *Cell Transplant*. doi: 10.3727/096368913X674648. [Epub ahead of print].
- Patel, N. K., Bunnage, M., Plaha, P., Svendsen, C. N., Heywood, P., and Gill, S. S. (2005). Intraputamenal infusion of glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor in PD: a two-year outcome study. *Ann. Neurol.* 57, 298–302. doi: 10.1002/ana.20374
- Pennell, N. A., and Streit, W. J. (1997). Colonization of neural allografts by host microglial cells: relationship to graft neovascularization. *Cell Transplant.* 6, 221–230. doi: 10.1016/S0963-6897(97)00030-4
- Polikov, V. S., Su, E. C., Ball, M. A., Hong, J. S., and Reichert, W. M. (2009). Control protocol for robust *in vitro* glial scar formation around microwires: essential roles of bFGF and serum in gliosis. *J. Neurosci. Methods* 181, 170–177. doi: 10.1016/j.jneumeth.2009.05.002
- Praet, J., Reekmans, K., Lin, D., De Vocht, N., Bergwerf, I., Tambuyzer, B., et al. (2012). Cell type-associated differences in migration, survival, and immunogenicity following grafting in CNS tissue. *Cell Transplant.* 21, 1867–1881. doi: 10.3727/096368912X636920
- Rahim, A. A., Wong, A. M., Ahmadi, S., Hoefer, K., Buckley, S. M., Hughes, D. A., et al. (2012). *In utero* administration of Ad5 and AAV pseudotypes to the fetal brain leads to efficient, widespread and long-term gene expression. *Gene Ther*. 19, 936–946. doi: 10.1038/gt.2011.157
- Rahim, A. A., Wong, A. M., Hoefer, K., Buckley, S. M., Mattar, C. N., Cheng, S. H., et al. (2011). Intravenous administration of AAV2/9 to the fetal and neonatal mouse leads to differential targeting of CNS cell types and extensive transduction of the nervous system. *FASEB J.* 25, 3505–3518. doi: 10.1096/fj.11-182311
- Redmond, D. E. Jr., Vinuela, A., Kordower, J. H., and Isacson, O. (2008). Influence of cell preparation and target location on the behavioral recovery after striatal transplantation of fetal dopaminergic neurons in a primate model of Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiol. Dis.* 29, 103–116. doi: 10.1016/j.nbd.2007. 08.008
- Rennaker, R. L., Miller, J., Tang, H., and Wilson, D. A. (2007). Minocycline increases quality and longevity of chronic neural recordings. J. Neural Eng. 4, L1–L5. doi: 10.1088/1741-2560/4/2/L01
- Slevin, J. T., Gash, D. M., Smith, C. D., Gerhardt, G. A., Kryscio, R., Chebrolu, H., et al. (2007). Unilateral intraputamenal glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor in patients with Parkinson disease: response to 1 year of treatment and 1 year of withdrawal. J. Neurosurg. 106, 614–620. doi: 10.3171/jns.2007.106.4.614
- Slevin, J. T., Gerhardt, G. A., Smith, C. D., Gash, D. M., Kryscio, R., and Young, B. (2005). Improvement of bilateral motor functions in patients with Parkinson disease through the unilateral intraputaminal infusion of glial cell line-derived neurotrophic factor. *J. Neurosurg.* 102, 216–222. doi: 10.3171/jns.2005.102.2.0216
- Snyder-Keller, A., McLear, J. A., Hathorn, T., and Messer, A. (2010). Early or latestage anti-N-terminal Huntingtin intrabody gene therapy reduces pathological features in B6.HDR6/1 mice. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 69, 1078–1085. doi: 10.1097/NEN.0b013e3181f530ec
- Spataro, L., Dilgen, J., Retterer, S., Spence, A. J., Isaacson, M., Turner, J. N., et al. (2005). Dexamethasone treatment reduces astroglia responses to inserted

neuroprosthetic devices in rat neocortex. Exp. Neurol. 194, 289–300. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2004.08.037

- Stefani, A., Pierantozzi, M., Ceravolo, R., Brusa, L., Galati, S., and Stanzione, P. (2010). Deep brain stimulation of pedunculopontine tegmental nucleus (PPTg) promotes cognitive and metabolic changes: a target-specific effect or response to a low-frequency pattern of stimulation? *Clin. EEG Neurosci.* 41, 82–86. doi: 10.1177/155005941004100207
- Stice, P., Gilletti, A., Panitch, A., and Muthuswamy, J. (2007). Thin microelectrodes reduce GFAP expression in the implant site in rodent somatosensory cortex. *J. Neural Eng.* 4, 42–53. doi: 10.1088/1741-2560/4/2/005
- Szarowski, D. H., Andersen, M. D., Retterer, S., Spence, A. J., Isaacson, M., Craighead, H. G., et al. (2003). Brain responses to micro-machined silicon devices. *Brain Res.* 983, 23–35. doi: 10.1016/S0006-8993(03)03023-3
- Takano, T., Tian, G. F., Peng, W., Lou, N., Libionka, W., Han, X., et al. (2006). Astrocyte-mediated control of cerebral blood flow. *Nat. Neurosci.* 9, 260–267. doi: 10.1038/nn1623
- Tawfik, V. L., Chang, S. Y., Hitti, F. L., Roberts, D. W., Leiter, J. C., Jovanovic, S., et al. (2010). Deep brain stimulation results in local glutamate and adenosine release: investigation into the role of astrocytes. *Neurosurgery* 67, 367–375. doi: 10.1227/01.NEU.0000371988.73620.4C
- Toupet, K., Compan, V., Crozet, C., Mourton-Gilles, C., Mestre-Frances, N., Ibos, F., et al. (2008). Effective gene therapy in a mouse model of prion diseases. *PLoS* ONE 3:e2773. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0002773
- Tripathy, D., Haobam, R., Nair, R., and Mohanakumar, K. P. (2013). Engraftment of mouse embryonic stem cells differentiated by default leads to neuroprotection, behaviour revival and astrogliosis in parkinsonian rats. *PLoS ONE* 8:e72501. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0072501
- Tuszynski, M. H., Thal, L., Pay, M., Salmon, D. P., U, H. S., Bakay, R., et al. (2005). A phase 1 clinical trial of nerve growth factor gene therapy for Alzheimer disease. *Nat. Med.* 11, 551–555. doi: 10.1038/nm1239
- Vedam-Mai, V., Krock, N., Ullman, M., Foote, K. D., Shain, W., Smith, K., et al. (2011). The national DBS brain tissue network pilot study: need for more tissue and more standardization. *Cell Tissue Bank.* 12, 219–231. doi: 10.1007/s10561-010-9189-1
- Vedam-Mai, V., van Battum, E. Y., Kamphuis, W., Feenstra, M. G., Denys, D., Reynolds, B. A., et al. (2012a). Deep brain stimulation and the role of astrocytes. *Mol. Psychiatry* 17, 124–131, 115. doi: 10.1038/mp.2011.61
- Vedam-Mai, V., Yachnis, A., Ullman, M., Javedan, S. P., and Okun, M. S. (2012b). Postmortem observation of collagenous lead tip region fibrosis as a rare complication of DBS. *Mov. Disord.* 27, 565–569. doi: 10.1002/mds.24916
- Witt, K., Daniels, C., Reiff, J., Krack, P., Volkmann, J., Pinsker, M. O., et al. (2008). Neuropsychological and psychiatric changes after deep brain stimulation for Parkinson's disease: a randomised, multicentre study. *Lancet Neurol.* 7, 605–614. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(08)70114-5
- Zhong, Y., and Bellamkonda, R. V. (2007). Dexamethasone-coated neural probes elicit attenuated inflammatory response and neuronal loss compared to uncoated neural probes. *Brain Res.* 1148, 15–27. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2007.02.024
- Zou, L., Yuan, X., Zhou, H., Lu, H., and Yang, K. (2001). Helper-dependent adenoviral vector-mediated gene transfer in aged rat brain. *Hum. Gene Ther.* 12, 181–191. doi: 10.1089/104303401750061249

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 28 March 2014; accepted: 24 May 2014; published online: 10 July 2014.

Citation: Cicchetti F and Barker RA (2014) The glial response to intracerebrally delivered therapies for neurodegenerative disorders: is this a critical issue? Front. Pharmacol. 5:139. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2014.00139

This article was submitted to Neuropharmacology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pharmacology.

Copyright © 2014 Cicchetti and Barker. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Current understanding of the glial response to disorders of the aging CNS

Roger A Barker¹* and Francesca Cicchetti^{2,3}*

¹ Department of Clinical Neuroscience, Cambridge Centre for Brain Repair, University of Cambridge, Cambridge, UK

² Centre de Recherche du CHUL (CHUQ), Axe Neurosciences, Québec, QC, Canada

³ Département de Psychiatrie et Neurosciences, Université Laval, Québec, QC, Canada

Edited by:

lan M. Stanford, Aston University, UK

Reviewed by:

Jason B. Wu, Cedars-Sinai Medical Center, USA Raja S. Settivari, The Dow Chemical Company, USA

*Correspondence:

Roger A Barker, Cambridge Center for Brain Repair, University of Cambridge, Cambridge, CB2 0PY, UK. e-mail: rab46@cam.ac.uk; Francesca Cicchetti, Centre de recherche du CHUQ (pavillon CHUL), 2705 Boulevard Laurier, T2-50, Québec, QC, Canada. e-mail: francesca.cicchetti@ crchul.ulaval.ca

INTRODUCTION

For many years, chronic neurodegenerative disorders of the central nervous system (CNS) were thought of in terms of primary neuronal dysfunction and loss with secondary glial and inflammatory responses. These responses were defined by an astrogliosis and the presence of a few activated microglia, but of late this theory has required revision.

Microglia, which account for approximately 10% of the adult brain cell population, were first described by Pio Del Rio Hortega in 1919 (McGeer and McGeer, 2012) and their identity as a discrete cell population was met with great skepticism. Nevertheless, the recognition of microglia as a distinct cell type was taken on by Ralph van Furth who proposed that they may have some function akin to phagocytes found in other parts of the body. However, it was not until the late 1980s that this field came of age when, using the new technique of immunohistochemistry, the McGeers showed that within the Alzheimer's disease (AD) brain there were large numbers of activated HLA-DR II positive microglia (McGeer et al., 1987). This paper, which struggled to find its way into publication, has now been cited many hundreds of times and paved the way for a whole new area of work on the glial response in neurodegenerative disorders. This first demonstration of class II positive microglial cells in AD led to further discoveries of such cells in a whole range of different neurodegenerative disorders and with it the concept of neuroinflammation. The pioneering work of the McGeers was to radically change how these diseases were seen as they went on to show that microglia were not only intimately bound to central inflammatory responses and antigen presentation, but in fact the whole innate immune system itself had a role to play in these CNS disorders.

In this special issue of Frontiers in Pharmacology, we have asked leading experts to comment and review the evidence that inflammatory cells play a leading role in the pathological processes underlying neurodegenerative disorders. We now seek to draw these various observations together into a conclusion, with the hope that this will inform further work in this area and result in the identification of new therapeutic targets that will have a disease modifying effect.

Keywords: inflammation, microglia, Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease, Huntington's disease, motorneuron disease

We now know that microglia continuously and actively survey the CNS microenvironment (Nimmerjahn et al., 2005), although their distribution is not uniform across the brain which may impact on their pathogenic capacity in different disease states (Lawson et al., 1990). They arise from the primitive myeloid progenitors and enter the developing CNS during embryogenesis and continue to be produced throughout life, sharing many similarities to peripheral macrophages. The original description of the phagocytic properties of microglia was taken to show that their primary function was to remove dying and dead cells and by so doing prevent the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines, chemoattractants, and infiltrating T-cells. However of late, Guy Brown and colleagues have shown that under certain conditions, activated microglia can actually phagocytose viable neurons and synapses and that this may be especially prominent in areas of CNS neuroinflammation as is seen in many, if not all, neurodegenerative disorders (Neher et al., 2012). This would fit well with their role in synaptic pruning in normal development as well as their emerging role in plasticity in the normal brain (Tremblay et al., 2011). In addition, microglia have an important role in adult neurogenesis through their ability to remove apoptotic cells and by so doing allow the integration of those cells that survive and mature into neurons [reviewed in Ekdahl (2012)]. Thus microglia have a repertoire of roles throughout life in the CNS.

MICROGLIA AND ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE

An appreciable number of brain diseases seem to share the common feature of a marked glial response and in this respect the role of microglia in AD has been particularly well studied following on from the original observations of the McGeers (McGeer et al., 1987). This disorder, the most common of the chronic neurodegenerative diseases, typically presents with an evolving amnesic syndrome and is characterized pathologically by the deposition of extracellular beta-amyloid plaques and intracellularly by tau tangles. The way in which these two pathologies interact with each other to cause disease is unclear, as is how they relate to the inflammation seen within the brains of patients dying with AD. Nevertheless, it is known that inflammation starts early in the disease process, probably ahead of any obvious amyloid deposition [reviewed in Politis et al. (2012)] and at post-mortem there is a substantial inflammatory response especially around the AB plaques. Indeed, AB itself can activate microglia which in turn can phagocytose neurons, suggesting that microglia are a critical determinant of neuronal cell loss in this condition (Fuhrmann et al., 2010). Neuroinflammation has also been linked to tau-mediated neurodegeneration as well.

For many years, though, the role of inflammation in AD, whilst being recognized as being present, was always relegated to be a secondary or downstream event. However, the recent GWAS in AD have shown that a number of genetic loci linked to the disease possibly code for inflammatory factors (Harold et al., 2009), which implies that they may be much more intimately involved in the actual disease process. In this respect, it is of interest to note that systemic inflammation can also influence what happens within the CNS, which has led some investigators to propose that it may be a critical initiating factor in the genesis of disorders such as AD, and it is through this non-CNS route that the GWAS loci mediate their susceptibility effects (Ransohoff and Perry, 2009).

Whilst microglia responses can be thought to be detrimental to neuronal viability and survival, it is possible that some of the microglia responses may actually be neuroprotective by virtue of the fact that they could help clear $A\beta$, remove damaged cells and secrete a range of growth factors and anti-inflammatory agents [reviewed in Solito and Sastre (2012)]. Whilst all this may be the case in the young CNS, there is now an emerging concept that AD results primarily from microglial senescence and a progressive breakdown of innate CNS immunity. This is because the major function of microglia is a neuroprotective one given their ability to phagocytose pathogens, secrete neurotrophic factors as well as dampen down free radical production and sequester glutamate in conjunction with astrocytes. Indeed, the astrocytic response has an equally important role in AD pathogenesis with evidence that astrocytes and neurons can interact in a vicious cycle of chronic, sustained, progressive neuroinflammation and cell death. For example, in advanced stages of AD, it has been shown that TRAIL secreted from astrocytes binds to death receptors on neurons to trigger apoptosis (Li et al., 2011).

All of this complexity of action of inflammatory cells in an aging CNS presents a challenge in knowing how best to target them therapeutically in AD.

MICROGLIA AND PARKINSON'S DISEASE

Parkinson's disease (PD) has long been described clinically through its motor manifestations of a resting tremor, rigidity, and bradykinesia and, pathologically, by the formation of alpha synuclein positive Lewy bodies in the substantia nigra with the loss of the nigrostriatal dopaminergic projection. However, it is now clear that the pathology, and the clinical features of PD, are much more extensive and that the disease may even start outside the CNS (Ferrer et al., 2011). This change in our understanding of the extent and pattern of evolution of PD pathology has led to a re-examination of the pathogenic process and with this the potential role for inflammation and microglia, as first suggested by McGeer et al. (1988a) as early as 1988.

Several studies have now shown that microglial activation and elevated levels of inflammatory cytokines accompany neurodegeneration in PD patients (McGeer et al., 1988b; Mogi et al., 1994, 1995a,b; Banati et al., 1998). For example, Langston et al. (1999) in the post-mortem analysis of MPTP intoxicated patients and Brownell et al. (1999) in primates exposed to the same toxin, pointed to the possibility of an inflammatory and glial response in MPTP induced nigral cell death [also see review by McGeer et al. (2001)]. Subsequent studies have confirmed that activated microglia can be seen in the brains of patients with idiopathic PD both using PET imaging [reviewed in Politis et al. (2012)] and pathologically (reviewed in Huang and Halliday (2012)). These changes occur early in the disease course and thereafter remain stable, which suggests that they may be an important initiating event (Ouchi et al., 2005). In this respect, it has now been shown that in animal models of PD, dopaminergic cell loss can be induced solely by inflammatory insults (e.g., Lipopolysaccharide, LPS; Cicchetti et al., 2009a) and that in more traditional neurotoxin induced animal models of PD, inflammation may be necessary for the full expression of the lesion (e.g., Drouin-Ouellet et al., 2011). Furthermore, it has been shown that α - synuclein itself can directly activate microglia (Zhang et al., 2005), and that many of the gene products from the mendelian forms of PD, not only have a role in the intracellular handling of PD related proteins, but also in modulating innate immune signaling (Huang and Halliday, 2012). This sits well with the recent genetic studies linking PD to HLA (Hamza et al., 2010; Saiki et al., 2010). Finally it is worth noting that activated microglial cells in PD are predominantly found in proximity to a key sign of aging namely free neuromelanin (McGeer et al., 1988b) – again highlighting the complex interplay between microglia, disease processes, and an aging CNS.

Other inflammatory cells, such as astrocytes, may also be important in PD not only by virtue of their known ability to support normal neuronal function but also through a role in maintaining the integrity of the blood brain barrier (BBB; Halliday and Stevens, 2011). This may be especially important as abnormalities in this structure (namely the BBB) could allow other parts of the immune system to gain access to the CNS and by so doing contribute to the pathology seen in PD (Kortekaas et al., 2005).

MICROGLIA AND HUNTINGTON'S DISEASE

Huntington's disease (HD) is a rare autosomal dominant disorder characterized by motor, cognitive, and psychiatric problems with extensive pathology across the CNS. Driven by this dominant genetic mutation in the *huntingtin* gene, the neuropathological signs of HD are visible in many structures of the CNS, but predominantly within the striatum and cortex from an early stage of disease. This prominent neuronal loss is accompanied by protein aggregates composed of the mutated form of the huntingtin protein and with this there is significant activation of microglia (Sapp et al., 2001). This activation has been shown in both premanifest (Tai et al., 2007) and manifest HD patients (Sapp et al., 2001) and there appears to be a correlation between the level of microglial activation and disease severity (Pavese et al., 2006), all of which suggests that the microglia are intimately involved in the disease process in HD.

There is now emerging evidence that the ubiquitous expression of the mutant huntingtin protein affects the function of cells outside the CNS. In particular, the mutant huntingtin protein interacts with the immune system with accumulating evidence that changes in this system may critically contribute to the pathology of HD. However, the nature of this contribution remains unclear, to the extent that it is not even known whether the immune system plays a beneficial or detrimental role in HD patients (Soulet and Cicchetti, 2011). What is clear is that analysis of blood samples from HD patients shows abnormal release of pro-inflammatory cytokines in early stages of the disease (Bjorkqvist et al., 2008).

The astrocytic response in HD is substantial and in fact defined early descriptions of the pathology. Indeed the original grading system of striatal atrophy and disease severity by Vonsattel et al. (1985) used this response. This work also highlighted how the astrocytic response follows neuronal loss such that the striking striatal atrophy following a dorso-ventral pattern is mirrored by the intensity of the astrocytosis.

As in the other neurodegenerative conditions we have discussed, the glia are not passive bystanders to the disease process, but seem to be an integral part of the pathological process from the time of disease onset.

MICROGLIA AND MOTORNEURON DISEASE

Motorneuron disease covers a range of disorders all of which are characterized by the loss of motorneurons (MNs), and the extent to which this selectively targets the upper or lower MN defines the disease type, e.g., primary lateral sclerosis (PLS) for a pure upper motor neuron (UMN) disorder whilst spinal muscular atrophy (SMA) singles out the lower motorneurons (LMNs). However, the commonest type involves both UMN and LMNs and is termed amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), and whilst there are known genetic forms of this disorder, the vast majority are sporadic in nature (Talbot, 2011). Nevertheless, the rare genetic forms of ALS, especially those with mutations in SOD1, have been used to model the disease in the laboratory and of late this has led to studies where the mutant gene has been differentially expressed in various cellular compartments within the CNS. These studies have clearly shown that the effects of the mutant gene in non-neuronal cells is not insignificant, and coupled to the pathological findings in patients dying with ALS, has suggested that the disorder is one that is critically dependent on events in neurons, astrocytes, and microglia (Phani et al, submitted).

Within the MN itself, many pathogenic pathways, which compromise that cell – subsequently leading to dysfunction and death – have been postulated (Ince et al., 2011). These pathways involve the production of abnormal reactive oxidative species (ROS) which in turn compromises mitochondrial function, energy production, and cell integrity. This abnormal production of ROS is enhanced in SOD mutant cells and can further be exacerbated by excessive glutamate stimulation of the MNs and calcium influx. These latter processes may be in part mediated by abnormal glutamate handling by astrocytes, as further supported by studies demonstrating the beneficial effects of glial cell grafts in transgenic models of ALS (Lepore et al., 2008).

In addition, whilst the astrocyte-neuron interactions may be a critical component in the disease process, it is also known that in the brains of patients dying with ALS there is a marked microglial response. As is common to other neurodegenerative disorders, the question arises as to where this reaction lies in the causal cascade of pathogenic events and whether this changes over time. In this respect, there is evidence in animal models that minocycline can have deleterious effects on microglia and astrocytes once the disease has begun (Keller et al., 2011), which is in line with a clinical study of this drug in ALS showing that it was ineffective and even harmful (Gordon et al., 2007). As such, it is likely that the microglia, as with the astrocytes, do play a role in the loss of MNs in ALS, although the extent to which selectively targeting them therapeutically will truly change the disease course is less clear. What is clear however, is that in ALS, the disease is not localized to the motorneuronal compartment and as such, strategies designed around studying patient specific induced pluripotent stem cell derived MNs may only give partial answers. This is especially true if such assays are being used for patient selective drug screens (Ebert et al., 2009).

INFLAMMATORY CELL TARGETING FOR FUTURE THERAPEUTIC APPROACHES TO NEURODEGENERATIVE DISORDERS

Initial views on the role of microglia suggested that these cells were simply there to scavenge up debris and dead cells, while astrocytes fulfilled some supportive role in the CNS. However, microglia are now recognized to have a complex array of supportive and destructive roles in the CNS and that the balance between the two may be critical in driving some aspects of disease processes. Astrocytes are now seen as being fundamental in shaping and maintaining the developing and mature CNS, including a role in adult neurogenesis, axonal regeneration, and the BBB. The dynamic interplay between all of these different CNS compartments is becoming more evident, such that some neurodegenerative disorders of the CNS may have a pathology as much in the glial cells as in the neurons themselves. This all means that understanding what happens in disease states is far more complex than originally conceived and that targeting each element of the interaction may be the route by which true disease modification can be achieved.

In this special issue of Frontiers in Pharmacology we have repeatedly seen how the glia, immune response, and neurons interact to drive disease, and that our abilities to more accurately define and follow this *in vivo* has enabled us to better understand the temporal relationships that exist between these cellular players and when and how they can best be modulated for therapeutic benefit. Indeed, our capacity to better visualize the glial cells in patients with neurodegenerative disorders especially with respect to microglia is well covered by Politis et al. (2012). This is particularly important given the limitations of animal models of neurodegeneration which includes the fact that they often model disease using a transgenic approach, even though the commonest neurodegenerative disorders (AD and PD) are largely sporadic in nature. In addition, these animals typically develop disease over weeks and months when in patients they evolve over months or years, and thus short acute therapies in the laboratory may not be relevant to the clinic. Finally, our capacity to better define the heterogeneity of patient populations has meant that the therapeutic idea that "one size fits all" is no longer tenable, and that disease processes may follow very different trajectories in different patients and as such require completely different therapeutic approaches (see, e.g., Williams-Gray et al., 2009). A point reinforced by the heterogeneity of glial responses as a function of age and disease state.

As we move toward an era of ever more sophisticated therapeutic agents, our ability to better understand networks of disease pathogenesis will become increasingly important as our capacity to dissect the role of each component will be critical to the success of any such therapy. This is perhaps best shown in the world of cellular transplants for HD, where simply delivering a cell replacement therapy to a diseased brain may not be useful in itself, not because there is anything intrinsically wrong with replacing dysfunctional and lost neurons, but because the necessary support for those cells is no longer there and may even be replaced by a hostile environment (Cicchetti et al., 2009b, 2011). It has even been proposed and demonstrated that in some animal models of motorneuron disease, transplanting glial cells is better than trying to replace the MNs *per se*, as the former have a more critical role in disease pathogenesis through their handling of glutamate (Lepore et al., 2008).

In conclusion, there is now a growing body of evidence from many different sources demonstrating that glial and inflammatory

REFERENCES

- Banati, R. B., Daniel, S. E., and Blunt, S. B. (1998). Glial pathology but absence of apoptotic nigral neurons in long-standing Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 13, 221–227.
- Bjorkqvist, M., Wild, E. J., Thiele, J., Silvestroni, A., Andre, R., Lahiri, N., Raibon, E., Lee, R. V., Benn, C. L., Soulet, D., Magnusson, A., Woodman, B., Landles, C., Pouladi, M. A., Hayden, M. R., Khalili-Shirazi, A., Lowdell, M. W., Brundin, P., Bates, G. P., Leavitt, B. R., Moller, T., and Tabrizi, S. J. (2008). A novel pathogenic pathway of immune activation detectable before clinical onset in Huntington's disease. J. Exp. Med. 205, 1869–1877.
- Brownell, A. L., Jenkins, B. G., and Isacson, O. (1999). Dopamine imaging markers and predictive mathematical models for progressive degeneration in Parkinson's disease. *Biomed. Pharmacother.* 53, 131–140.
- Cicchetti, F., Drouin-Ouellet, J., and Gross, R. E. (2009a). Environmental toxins and Parkinson's disease: what have we learned from pesticide-induced animal models? *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 30, 475–483.

- Cicchetti, F., Saporta, S., Hauser, R. A., Parent, M., Saint-Pierre, M., Sanberg, P. R., Li, X. J., Parker, J. R., Chu, Y., Mufson, E. J., Kordower, J. H., and Freeman, T. B. (2009b). Neural transplants in patients with Huntington's disease undergo disease-like neuronal degeneration. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 106, 12483–12488.
- Cicchetti, F., Soulet, D., and Freeman, T. B. (2011). Neuronal degeneration in striatal transplants and Huntington's disease: potential mechanisms and clinical implications. *Brain* 134, 641–652.
- Drouin-Ouellet, J., Gibrat, C., Bousquet, M., Calon, F., Kriz, J., and Cicchetti, F. (2011). The role of the MYD88-dependent pathway in MPTP-induced brain dopaminergic degeneration. J. Neuroinflammation 8, 137.
- Ebert, A. D., Yu, J., Rose, F. F. Jr., Mattis, V. B., Lorson, C. L., Thomson, J. A., and Svendsen, C. N. (2009). Induced pluripotent stem cells from a spinal muscular atrophy patient. *Nature* 457, 277–280.
- Ekdahl, C. T. (2012). Microglia activation tuning and pruning adult

responses are central to these diseases - this includes findings from epidemiological studies looking at anti-inflammatory drugs and the risk of PD and AD; the GWAS in AD and PD; pathological and imaging studies in patients as well as the study of peripheral markers of inflammation [e.g., in HD - reviewed in Wild et al. (2008)]. All of this makes for a very persuasive role for the glia and inflammation in chronic neurodegenerative disorders of the CNS, which will set the scene for a whole new approach to disease modifying therapeutics for a group of disorders that will become increasingly more common as the population ages. Exactly what form these agents will take is unresolved but may involve using drugs that are already in clinical use such as minocycline and non-steroidal anti-inflammatories (NSAIs). Indeed, the use of anti-inflammatory agents for treating AD has long been considered, outside of the amyloid immunization approach (Menendez-Gonzalez et al., 2011). Their efficacy has yet to be proven especially with respect to the commonly available NSAIs which appear to be much less effective in controlling the activation of aged, as compared to young microglia and are likely to be too wide-spectrum thereby suppressing both the detrimental (e.g., pro-inflammatory cytokines, oxidative stress, etc.) and beneficial roles (e.g., pro-repair processes, phagocytosis, and neuroprotection) of the immune cells (Soulet and Cicchetti, 2011). Thus selecting the right agent in the right aged patient group at the right stage of their disease will be critical, and as our understanding of the role of microglia, astrocytes and other related cells evolves, and how they relate to each other, so will our capacity to target them in disease settings.

neurogenesis. *Front. Pharmacol.* 3:41. doi:10.3389/fphar.2012.00041

- Ferrer, I., Martinez, A., Blanco, R., Dalfo, E., and Carmona, M. (2011). Neuropathology of sporadic Parkinson disease before the appearance of parkinsonism: preclinical Parkinson disease. *J. Neural Transm.* 118, 821–839.
- Fuhrmann, M., Bittner, T., Jung, C. K., Burgold, S., Page, R. M., Mitteregger, G., Haass, C., LaFerla, F. M., Kretzschmar, H., and Herms, J. (2010). Microglial Cx3cr1 knockout prevents neuron loss in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Nat. Neurosci.* 13, 411–413.
- Gordon, P. H., Moore, D. H., Miller, R. G., Florence, J. M., Verheijde, J. L., Doorish, C., Hilton, J. F., Spitalny, G. M., MacArthur, R. B., Mitsumoto, H., Neville, H. E., Boylan, K., Mozaffar, T., Belsh, J. M., Ravits, J., Bedlack, R. S., Graves, M. C., McCluskey, L. F., Barohn, R. J., and Tandan, R. (2007). Efficacy of minocycline in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a phase III randomised trial. *Lancet Neurol.* 6, 1045–1053.
- Halliday, G. M., and Stevens, C. H. (2011). Glia: initiators and

progressors of pathology in Parkinson's disease. *Mov. Disord.* 26, 6–17.

- Hamza, T. H., Zabetian, C. P., Tenesa, A., Laederach, A., Montimurro, J., Yearout, D., Kay, D. M., Doheny, K. F., Paschall, J., Pugh, E., Kusel, V. I., Collura, R., Roberts, J., Griffith, A., Samii, A., Scott, W. K., Nutt, J., Factor, S. A., and Payami, H. (2010). Common genetic variation in the HLA region is associated with lateonset sporadic Parkinson's disease. *Nat. Genet.* 42, 781–785.
- Harold, D., Abraham, R., Hollingworth, P., Sims, R., Gerrish, A., Hamshere, M. L., Pahwa, J. S., Moskvina, V., Dowzell, K., Williams, A., Jones, N., Thomas, C., Stretton, A., Morgan, A. R., Lovestone, S., Powell, J., Proitsi, P., Lupton, M. K., Brayne, C., Rubinsztein, D. C., Gill, M., Lawlor, B., Lynch, A., Morgan, K., Brown, K. S., Passmore, P. A., Craig, D., McGuinness, B., Todd, S., Holmes, C., Mann, D., Smith, A. D., Love, S., Kehoe, P. G., Hardy, I., Mead, S., Fox, N., Rossor, M., Collinge, J., Maier, W., Jessen, F., Schurmann, B., van den Bussche, H., Heuser, I., Kornhuber, I., Wiltfang, I., Dichgans, M., Frolich, L., Hampel, H., Hull, M., Rujescu, D., Goate,

A. M., Kauwe, J. S., Cruchaga, C., Nowotny, P. Morris, I. C., Mayo, K., Sleegers, K., Bettens, K., Engelborghs, S., De Deyn, P. P., Van Broeckhoven, C., Livingston, G., Bass, N. J., Gurling, H., McQuillin, A., Gwilliam, R., Deloukas, P., Al-Chalabi, A., Shaw, C. E., Tsolaki, M., Singleton, A. B., Guerreiro, R., Muhleisen, T. W., Nothen, M. M., Moebus, S., Jockel, K. H., Klopp, N., Wichmann, H. E., Carrasquillo, M. M., Pankratz, V. S., Younkin, S. G., Holmans, P. A., O'Donovan, M., Owen, M. J., and Williams, J. (2009). Genome-wide association study identifies variants at CLU and PICALM associated with Alzheimer's disease. Nat. Genet. 41, 1088-1093.

- Huang, Y., and Halliday, G. M. (2012). Aspects of innate immunity and Parkinson's disease. Front. Pharmacol. 3:33. doi:10.3389/fphar.2012.00033
- Ince, P. G., Highley, J. R., Kirby, J., Wharton, S. B., Takahashi, H., Strong, M. J., and Shaw, P. J. (2011). Molecular pathology and genetic advances in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: an emerging molecular pathway and the significance of glial pathology. *Acta Neuropathol.* 122, 657–671.
- Keller, A. F., Gravel, M., and Kriz, J. (2011). Treatment with minocycline after disease onset alters astrocyte reactivity and increases microgliosis in SOD1 mutant mice. *Exp. Neurol.* 228, 69–79.
- Kortekaas, R., Leenders, K. L., van Oostrom, J. C., Vaalburg, W., Bart, J., Willemsen, A. T., and Hendrikse, N. H. (2005). Blood-brain barrier dysfunction in parkinsonian midbrain in vivo. *Ann. Neurol.* 57, 176–179.
- Langston, J. W., Forno, L. S., Tetrud, J., Reeves, A. G., Kaplan, J. A., and Karluk, D. (1999). Evidence of active nerve cell degeneration in the substantia nigra of humans years after 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6tetrahydropyridine exposure. Ann. Neurol. 46, 598–605.
- Lawson, L. J., Perry, V. H., Dri, P., and Gordon, S. (1990). Heterogeneity in the distribution and morphology of microglia in the normal adult mouse brain. *Neuroscience* 39, 151–170.
- Lepore, A. C., Rauck, B., Dejea, C., Pardo, A. C., Rao, M. S., Rothstein, J. D., and Maragakis, N. J. (2008). Focal transplantation-based astro-

cyte replacement is neuroprotective in a model of motor neuron disease. *Nat. Neurosci.* 11, 1294–1301.

- Li, C., Zhao, R., Gao, K., Wei, Z., Yin, M. Y., Lau, L. T., Chui, D., and Hoi Yu, A. C. (2011). Astrocytes: implications for neuroinflammatory pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. *Curr. Alzheimer Res.* 8, 67–80.
- McGeer, P., and McGeer, E. (2012). History of innate immunity in neurodegenerative disorders. *Front. Pharmacol.* 2:77. doi:10.3389/fphar.2011.00077
- McGeer, P. L., Itagaki, S., Akiyama, H., and McGeer, E. G. (1988a). Rate of cell death in parkinsonism indicates active neuropathological process. Ann. Neurol. 24, 574–576.
- McGeer, P. L., Itagaki, S., Boyes, B. E., and McGeer, E. G. (1988b). Reactive microglia are positive for HLA-DR in the substantia nigra of Parkinson's and Alzheimer's disease brains. *Neurology* 38, 1285–1291.
- McGeer, P. L., Itagaki, S., Tago, H., and McGeer, E. G. (1987). Reactive microglia in patients with senile dementia of the Alzheimer type are positive for the histocompatibility glycoprotein HLA-DR. *Neurosci. Lett.* 79, 195–200.
- McGeer, P. L., Yasojima, K., and McGeer, E. G. (2001). Inflammation in Parkinson's disease. *Adv. Neurol.* 86, 83–89.
- Menendez-Gonzalez, M., Perez-Pinera, P., Martinez-Rivera, M., Muniz, A. L., and Vega, J. A. (2011). Immunotherapy for Alzheimer's disease: rational basis in ongoing clinical trials. *Curr. Pharm. Des.* 17, 508–520.
- Mogi, M., Harada, M., Kondo, T., Narabayashi, H., Riederer, P., and Nagatsu, T. (1995a). Transforming growth factor-beta 1 levels are elevated in the striatum and in ventricular cerebrospinal fluid in Parkinson's disease. *Neurosci. Lett.* 193, 129–132.
- Mogi, M., Harada, M., Kondo, T., Riederer, P., and Nagatsu, T. (1995b). Brain beta 2-microglobulin levels are elevated in the striatum in Parkinson's disease. J. Neural Transm. Park. Dis. Dement. Sect. 9, 87–92.
- Mogi, M., Harada, M., Kondo, T., Riederer, P., Inagaki, H., Minami, M., and Nagatsu, T. (1994). Interleukin-1 beta, interleukin-6, epidermal growth factor and transforming growth factor-alpha are elevated in the brain from parkinsonian patients. *Neurosci. Lett.* 180, 147–150.

- Neher, J. J., Neniskyte, U., and Brown, G. C. (2012). Primary phagocytosis of neurons by inflamed microglia: potential roles in neurodegeneration. *Front. Pharmacol.* 3:27. doi:10.3389/fphar.2012.00027
- Nimmerjahn, A., Kirchhoff, F., and Helmchen, F. (2005). Resting microglial cells are highly dynamic surveillants of brain parenchyma in vivo. *Science* 308, 1314–1318.
- Ouchi, Y., Yoshikawa, E., Sekine, Y., Futatsubashi, M., Kanno, T., Ogusu, T., and Torizuka, T. (2005). Microglial activation and dopamine terminal loss in early Parkinson's disease. *Ann. Neurol.* 57, 168–175.
- Pavese, N., Evans, A. H., Tai, Y. F., Hotton, G., Brooks, D. J., Lees, A. J., and Piccini, P. (2006). Clinical correlates of levodopa-induced dopamine release in Parkinson disease: a PET study. *Neurology* 67, 1612–1617.
- Politis, M., Su, P., and Piccini, P. (2012). Imaging of microglia in patients with neurodegenerative disorders. *Front. Pharmacol.* 3:96. doi:10.3389/fphar.2012.00096
- Ransohoff, R. M., and Perry, V. H. (2009). Microglial physiology: unique stimuli, specialized responses. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 27, 119–145.
- Saiki, M., Baker, A., Williams-Gray, C. H., Foltynie, T., Goodman, R. S., Taylor, C. J., Compston, D. A., Barker, R. A., Sawcer, S. J., and Goris, A. (2010). Association of the human leucocyte antigen region with susceptibility to Parkinson's disease. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatr. 81, 890–891.
- Sapp, E., Kegel, K. B., Aronin, N., Hashikawa, T., Uchiyama, Y., Tohyama, K., Bhide, P. G., Vonsattel, J. P., and DiFiglia, M. (2001). Early and progressive accumulation of reactive microglia in the Huntington disease brain. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 60, 161–172.
- Solito, E., and Sastre, M. (2012). Microglia function in Alzheimer's disease. Front. Pharmacol. 3:14. doi:10.3389/fphar.2012.00014
- Soulet, D., and Cicchetti, F. (2011). The role of immunity in Huntington's disease. *Mol. Psychiatry* 16, 889–902.
- Tai, Y. F., Pavese, N., Gerhard, A., Tabrizi, S. J., Barker, R. A., Brooks, D. J., and Piccini, P. (2007). Microglial activation in presymptomatic Huntington's disease gene carriers. *Brain* 130, 1759–1766.

- Talbot, K. (2011). Familial versus sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis – a false dichotomy? *Brain* 134, 3429–3431.
- Tremblay, M. E., Stevens, B., Sierra, A., Wake, H., Bessis, A., and Nimmerjahn, A. (2011). The role of microglia in the healthy brain. *J. Neurosci.* 31, 16064–16069.
- Vonsattel, J. P., Myers, R. H., Stevens, T. J., Ferrante, R. J., Bird, E. D., and Richardson, E. P. Jr. (1985). Neuropathological classification of Huntington's disease. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 44, 559–577.
- Wild, E., Bjorkqvist, M., and Tabrizi, S. J. (2008). Immune markers for Huntington's disease? *Expert Rev. Neurother.* 8, 1779–1781.
- Williams-Gray, C. H., Evans, J. R., Goris, A., Foltynie, T., Ban, M., Robbins, T. W., Brayne, C., Kolachana, B. S., Weinberger, D. R., Sawcer, S. J., and Barker, R. A. (2009). The distinct cognitive syndromes of Parkinson's disease: 5 year follow-up of the CamPaIGN cohort. *Brain* 132, 2958–2969.
- Zhang, W., Wang, T., Pei, Z., Miller, D. S., Wu, X., Block, M. L., Wilson, B., Zhou, Y., Hong, J. S., and Zhang, J. (2005). Aggregated alpha-synuclein activates microglia: a process leading to disease progression in Parkinson's disease. *FASEB J.* 19, 533–542.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 03 April 2012; paper pending published: 17 April 2012; accepted: 01 May 2012; published online: 28 May 2012.

Citation: Barker RA and Cicchetti F (2012) Current understanding of the glial response to disorders of the aging CNS. Front. Pharmacol. **3**:95. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2012.00095

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Neuropharmacology, a specialty of Frontiers in Pharmacology.

Copyright © 2012 Barker and Cicchetti. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.